UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

(Mark One)

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024 OR

TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

Commission file number 001-04321

TXO Partners, L.P. (Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware (State or other jurisdiction of

incorporation or organization)

32-0368858 (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

76102

(Zip Code)

400 West 7th Street, Fort Worth, Texas

(Address of Principal Executive Offices)

Registrant's telephone number, including area code: (817) 334-7800

| Title of each class | Trading Symbol(s) | Name of each exchange on which registered |
|---------------------|-------------------|---|
| Common Units | TXO | New York Stock Exchange |

Securities registered pursuant to section 12(g) of the Act: None

accounting firm that prepared or issued its audit report.

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act. Yes 🗆 No 🗵

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act.Yes No 🗵

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant: (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports); and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes 🖾 No 🗆

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files). Yes 🗵 No 🗆

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company or an emerging growth company. See the definitions of "large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer," "smaller reporting company" and "emerging growth company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

| Large accelerated filer | Accelerated filer | C |
|-------------------------|---------------------------|---|
| Non-accelerated filer | Smaller reporting company | [|
| | Emerging growth company | 0 |

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Ac

If securities are registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act, indicate by check mark whether the financial statements of the registrant included in the filing reflect the correction of an error to previously issued financial statement

Indicate by check mark whether any of those error corrections are restatements that required a recovery analysis of incentive-based compensation received by any of the registrant's executive officers during the relevant recovery period pursuant to §240.10D-1(b)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act). Yes 🗆 No 🗵

The aggregate market value of the common units held by non-affiliates of the registrant, based on the closing price of the common units on the New York Stock Exchange on June 28, 2024, was \$04.4 million.

The registrant had 41,167,625 Common Units outstanding as of March 4, 2025.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

None.

Table of Contents

| | | Table of Contents | |
|------------|--------------|---|------|
| | | | Page |
| Part I | | | |
| | Items 1 & 2. | Business and Properties | 4 |
| | Item 1A. | Risk Factors | 30 |
| | Item 1B. | Unresolved Staff Comments | 68 |
| | Item 1C. | Cybersecurity | 68 |
| | Item 3. | Legal Proceedings | 68 |
| | Item 4. | Mine Safety Disclosures | 69 |
| Part II | | | |
| | Item 5. | Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Unitholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities | 70 |
| | Item 6. | [Reserved] | 71 |
| | Item 7. | Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations | 71 |
| | Item 7A. | Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk | 89 |
| | Item 8. | Financial Statements and Supplementary Data | 92 |
| | Item 9. | Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosures | 93 |
| | Item 9A. | Controls and Procedures | 93 |
| | Item 9B. | Other Information | 93 |
| | Item 9C. | Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections | 94 |
| Part III | | | |
| | Item 10. | Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance | 95 |
| | Item 11. | Executive Compensation | 100 |
| | Item 12. | Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owner and Management and Related Unitholder Matters | 106 |
| | Item 13. | Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence | 107 |
| | Item 14. | Principal Accounting Fees and Services | 109 |
| Part IV | | | |
| | Item 15. | Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules | 110 |
| | Item 16. | Form 10-K Summary | 111 |
| Signatures | | | 112 |
| | | | |
| | | | |

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Some of the information in this Annual Report on Form 10-K may contain "forward-looking statements, other than statements of historical fact included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, regarding our strategy, future operations, financial position, estimated revenues and losses, projected costs, prospects, plans and objectives of management are forward-looking statements, when used in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, words such as "may," "assume," "forecast," "could," "should, "will," "plan," "believe," "anticipate," "intend," "estimate," "expect," "project," "budget" and similar expressions are used to identify forward-looking statements, although not all forward-looking statements contain such identifying words. These forward-looking statements are based on management "s current belief, based on currently available information, as to the outcome and timing of future events at the time such statement was made. When considering forward-looking statements, you should keep in mind the risk factors and other cautionary statements described under the heading "Risk Factors" included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

We caution you that these forward-looking statements are subject to all of the risks and uncertainties, most of which are difficult to predict and many of which are beyond our control, incident to the exploration for and development and production of oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids ("NGLs"). We disclose important factors that could cause our actual results to differ materially from our expectations as discussed under "Risk Factors" and "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Factors that could cause our actual results to differ materially from the results contemplated by such forward-looking statement include:

- commodity price volatility;
- the impact of epidemics, outbreaks or other public health events, and the related effects on financial markets, worldwide economic activity and our operations;
- uncertainties about our estimated oil, natural gas and NGL reserves, including the impact of commodity price declines on the economic producibility of such reserves, and in projecting future rates of production;
- · the concentration of our operations in the Permian Basin, the San Juan Basin and the Williston Basin;
- · difficult and adverse conditions in the domestic and global capital and credit markets;
- lack of transportation and storage capacity as a result of oversupply, government regulations or other factors;
- lack of availability of drilling and production equipment and services;
- . potential financial losses or earnings reductions resulting from our commodity price risk management program or any inability to manage our commodity risks;
- failure to realize expected value creation from property acquisitions and trades;
- access to capital and the timing of development expenditures;
- environmental, weather, drilling and other operating risks;
- . regulatory changes, including potential shut-ins or production curtailments mandated by the Railroad Commission of Texas;
- . competition in the oil and natural gas industry;
- . loss of production and leasehold rights due to mechanical failure or depletion of wells and our inability to re-establish their production;
- our ability to service our indebtedness;
- cost inflation;

political and economic conditions and events in foreign oil and natural gas producing countries, including embargoes, the Israel-Hamas war, attacks in the Red Sea and other continued hostilities in the Middle East and other sustained military campaigns, the armed conflict in Ukraine and associated economic sanctions on Russia, conditions in South America, Central America, China and Russia, and acts of terrorism or sabotage;

evolving cybersecurity risks such as those involving unauthorized access, denial-of-service attacks, malicious software, data privacy breaches by employees, insider or other with authorized access, cyber or phishing-attacks, ransomware, social engineering, physical breaches or other actions; and

· risks related to our ability to expand our business, including through the recruitment and retention of qualified personnel.

Reserve engineering is a process of estimating underground accumulations of oil and natural gas that cannot be measured in an exact way. The accuracy of any reserve estimate depends on the quality of available data, the interpretation of such data and price and cost assumptions made by reservoir engineers. In addition, the results of drilling, testing and production activities may justify revisions of estimates that were made previously. If significant, such revisions would change the schedule of any further production and development drilling. Accordingly, our reserve and PV-10 estimates may differ significantly from the quantities of oil, natural gas and NGLs that are ultimately recovered.

Should one or more of the risks or uncertainties described in this Annual Report on Form 10-K occur, or should underlying assumptions prove to be incorrect, our actual results and plans could differ materially from those expressed in any forward-looking statements.

All forward-looking statements, expressed or implied, included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are expressly qualified in their entirety by this cautionary statement. This cautionary statement should also be considered in connection with any subsequent written or oral forward-looking statements that we or persons acting on our behalf may issue.

Except as otherwise required by applicable law, we disclaim any duty to update any forward-looking statements, all of which are expressly qualified by the statements in this section, to reflect events or circumstances after the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Risk Factor Summary

An investment in our common units involves risks associated with our business, our partnership structure and the tax characteristics of our common units, among other things. You should carefully consider the risks described in "Risk Factors" and the other information in this Annual Report on Form 10-K before investing in our common units. Some of the most significant challenges and risks we face include the following:

Risks Related to Cash Distributions

We may not have sufficient available cash to pay any quarterly distribution on our common units following the establishment of cash reserves and payment of expenses.

Risks Related to Our Business and the Oil, Natural Gas and NGL Industry

- The volatility of oil, natural gas and NGL prices due to factors beyond our control greatly affects our financial condition, results of operations and cash available for distribution.
- Unless we replace the reserves we produce, our revenues and production will decline, which would adversely affect our cash flow from operations and our ability to make distributions to our unitholders.

• If commodity prices decline and remain depressed for a prolonged period, production from a significant portion of our properties may become uneconomic and cause downward adjustments of our reserve estimates and write downs of the value of such properties, which may adversely affect our financial condition and our ability to make distributions to our unitholders.

- Drilling for and producing oil, natural gas and NGLs are high-risk activities with many uncertainties that could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash distributions to unitholders.
- · We operate certain of our properties through a joint venture over which we have shared control.
- Declining general economic, business or industry conditions and inflation may have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, liquidity and financial condition.

Events outside of our control, including an epidemic or outbreak of an infectious disease, such as COVID-19, or the threat thereof, could have a material adverse effect on our business, liquidity, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and ability to pay distributions on our common units.

· We opportunistically use derivative instruments to economically hedge exposure to changes in commodity price and, as a result, are exposed to credit risk and market risk.

Our Credit Facility has restrictions and financial covenants that may restrict our business and financing activities and our ability to pay distributions to our unitholders.

• Reserve estimates depend on many assumptions that may ultimately be inaccurate. Any material inaccuracies in reserve estimates or underlying assumptions will materially affect the quantities and present value of our reserves.

Risks Related to Environmental and Regulatory Matters

We are subject to stringent federal, state and local laws and regulations related to environmental and occupational health and safety issues that could adversely affect the cost or feasibility of conducting our operations or expose us to significant liabilities.

• Our operations are subject to a series of risks arising out of the threat of climate change that could result in increased operating costs, limit the areas in which we may conduct oil, natural gas and NGL exploration and production activities, and reduce demand for the oil, natural gas and NGLs we produce.

Risks Inherent in an Investment in Us

- Our general partner and its affiliates own a controlling interest in us and will have conflicts of interest with, and owe limited duties to, us, which may permit them to favor their own interests to the detriment of us and our unitholders.
- Our partnership agreement replaces our general partner's fiduciary duties to us and our unitholders with contractual standards governing its duties, and restricts the remedies available to unitholders for actions taken by our general partner that might otherwise constitute breaches of fiduciary duty.
- Our general partner may amend our partnership agreement, as it determines necessary or advisable, to permit the general partner to redeem the units of certain non-citizen unitholders.
- Our unitholders have limited voting rights and are not entitled to elect our general partner or its board of directors (the "Board"), which could reduce the price at which our common units will trade.
- Our general partner has a limited call right that may require you to sell your common units at an undesirable time or price.
- Even if our unitholders are dissatisfied, they are limited in their ability to remove our general partner without its consent.
- Control of our general partner may be transferred to a third party without unitholder consent.
- Control of our general partiel may be transferred to a unit party without unitholder consent.
- Our general partner may elect to convert or restructure us from a partnership to an entity taxable as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes without unitholder consent.
- We may issue an unlimited number of additional units, including units that are senior to the common units, without unitholder approval.
- The NYSE does not require a publicly traded partnership like us to comply, and we do not intend to comply, with certain of its governance requirements generally applicable to corporations.

Tax Risks to Common Unitholders

Our tax treatment depends on our status as a partnership for federal income tax purposes, as well as our not being subject to a material amount of entity-level taxation by individual states. If the Internal Revenue Service were to treat us as a corporation for federal income tax purposes or if we were otherwise subject to a material amount of entity-level taxation to our unitholders could be reduced.

· Our unitholders may be required to pay taxes on their share of our income even if they do not receive any cash distributions from us.

Part I

Items 1 & 2. Business and Properties

Business Overview

We are focused on the acquisition, development, optimization and exploitation of conventional oil, natural gas, and natural gas liquid reserves in North America. Our management team has significant industry experience acquiring and exploiting conventional oil and natural gas properties in multiple resource plays and basins. As a result of such experience, our operations focus primarily on enhancing the development and operation of producing properties through our concentration on efficiency and optimizing exploitation of current wells. Our current acreage positions are concentrated in the Perminan Basin of West Texas and New Mexico, the San Juan Basin of New Mexico and Colorado and the Williston Basin of Montana and North Dakota, each of which we believe is characterized by low geologic risk, low decline rates and high recoveries relative to drilling and completion costs.

Our partnership agreement requires us to distribute all of our cash on hand at the end of each quarter, less reserves established by our general partner which we refer to as "available cash". We believe the low decline nature of our reserves and the relatively low cost to maintain production combined with our moderate leverage profile will support distributions to our unitholders. The amount of cash available for distribution with respect to any quarter, however, will be dependent on the then-prevailing commodity prices. To mitigate the risk associated with volatile commodity prices and to further enhance the stability of our cash flow available for distributions, from time to time we may opportunistically hedge a portion of our production volumes at prices we deem attractive to mitigate our exposure to price fluctuations on crude oil, natural gas liquids and natural gas sales. Nevertheless, our quarterly cash distributions may vary from quarter to quarter as a direct result of variations in the performance of our business, including those caused by fluctuations in the prices of oil and natural gas. Such variations may be significant and quarterly distributions paid to our unitholders may be zero.

We seek to maintain a flat to low growth production profile through a combination of low-risk development and exploitation of our existing properties, generally funded by cash flow from operating activities, and future acquisitions of producing properties. We believe this will allow us to increase our reserves and production and, over time, to increase distributions to our unitholders. To date we have been successful in offsetting the natural decline in production from reservoir depletion through acquisitions and drilling. Historically, funding sources for our capital expenditures, including acquisitions, have included proceeds from bank borrowings, cash from our partners and cash flow from operating activities. We expect to continue to fund our capital expenditures primarily with cash flow generated by operating activities, but may use borrowings under our Credit Facility in connection with acquisitions in particular. Additionally, we may seek to issue additional equity securities from time to time as market conditions allow to facilitate future acquisitions. Our development budget is approximately \$30 - \$50 million for 2025.

The members of our management team have over 30 years' experience in the oil and gas industry on average. Our management team has successfully executed on a strategy of acquiring and exploiting long-lived and low decline assets for more than 30 years, completing hundreds of acquisitions totaling over \$15 billion. Additionally, our management team has collectively invested more than \$500 million in us since our inception. We believe our management team has the experience, expertise and commitment to create significant value for our unitholders in the form of cash distributions combined with growth in revenues and production.

4

Our Business Strategies

Our primary business objective is to make increasing distributions to our unitholders over time. To achieve our objective, we intend to execute the following business strategies:

Focus on long-lived, low decline assets. We believe that by focusing on the exploitation of our existing assets, we can maintain current production using a portion of our operating cash flow, while utilizing the remainder of our operating cash flow to acquire additional assets to exploit and make distributions to our unitholders.

- Maximize ultimate hydrocarbon recovery from our assets through enhancement and optimization of producing properties. We continuously seek efficiencies in our drilling, completion and production techniques to optimize ultimate resource recoveries, rates of return
 and cash flows. We will continue to work to unlock additional value and will allocate capital towards next generation technologies where applicable. In addition, we intend to take advantage of under-development in basins where we operate by expanding our geologic
 investigation of additional producing horizons on our arceatege and adjacent acreage. We seek to expand our development beyond our known productive areas to add reserves to our inventory at attractive all-in costs.
- Focus on making cash distributions to, and providing long term value for, our unitholders. Our primary goal is to maximize investor returns through cash distributions and flat to low production and reserves growth over time in support of our strategy as a "production and distribution" enterprise.
- Maintain financial flexibility with a conservative capital structure and ample liquidity. We intend to conduct our operations primarily through cash flow generated from operations with a focus on maintaining a disciplined balance sheet with moderate outstanding debt.
 Due to our strong operating cash flows and liquidity, we have substantial flexibility to fund our capital budget and to potentially accelerate our drilling program as conditions warrant. Our focus is on the economic extraction of hydrocarbons while maintaining a prudent leverage ratio and strong liquidity profile. Although we may use leverage carcetive acquisitions, we will do so with the long-term goal of maintaining our debt at a level that does not exceed a net debt-to-EBITDAX ratio of one times. Further, we expect that our hedging strategy will reduce our exposure to commodity price volatility.
- Execute attractive acquisitions and optimize assets through effective integration. Our management team has a history of successfully identifying, acquiring and optimizing assets over the past three decades. We believe our acreage positions in the Permian Basin, San Juan
 Basin and Williston Basin provide opportunities to increase production and reserves through the implementation of mechanical and operational improvements, workovers, behind-pipe completions, secondary and tertiary recovery operations, new development wells and other
 development activities. We plan to use the expertise of our management team to strategically acquire properties that complement our operations.

Our Strengths

- We believe that the following strengths will allow us to successfully execute our business strategies:
- Experienced and personally invested management team with an extensive track record of value creation. We believe our management team's significant industry experience is a distinct competitive advantage. The members of our management team have over 30 years' experience in the oil and gas industry on average and have previously held executive roles at XTO Energy Inc. ("XTO"). Our management team has successfully executed on a strategy of acquiring and exploiting long-lived and low decline assets for more than 30 years. Members of our management team have collectively personally invested more than \$500 million in us since our inception.
- Stable, long-lived, conventional asset base with low production decline rates. The majority of our interests are in properties that have produced oil and natural gas for decades. As a result, the geology and reservoir characteristics are well understood, and new development well results are generally predictable, repeatable and present lower risk than unconventional resource plays. Our assets are characterized by long-lived reserves with low production decline rates, a stable development cost structure and low-geologic risk developmental drilling opportunities with predictable production profiles. For example, our base decline rate is currently estimated to be approximately 9%.
- Ability to source, integrate and optimize acquisitions. Our management team has demonstrated the ability to source and integrate acquisitions of various sizes. While at XTO, our management team completed hundreds of acquisitions for over \$15 billion in consideration
 and successfully integrated such acquisitions, ultimately driving significant returns for shareholders. We have successfully drawn on this experience to identify and complete multiple acquisitions to establish our anchor positions in the Permian Basin, San Juan Basin and
 Williston Basin. We expect that our expertise in sourcing and completing acquisitions will allow us to

successfully execute additional bolt-on acquisitions in our existing operating areas and, if and when appropriate, additional opportunistic acquisitions.

Conservatively capitalized balance sheet, strong liquidity profile and financial flexibility. We have a strong and conservative financial position that allows us to effectively allocate capital and grow our reserves and production. Due to the significant existing vertical
production and the predictable low-decline profiles associated with our existing production, our business generates significant operating cash flows. We expect to maintain a debt level that does not exceed a net debt-to-EBITDAX ratio of one times and to have substantial
liquidity, which will provide us with further financial flexibility to fund our capital expenditures and grow production and reserves as part of our existing strategic plan. We may also opportunistically hedge to protect our future operating cash flows from volatility in
commodity prices.

Our Properties

As of December 31, 2024, our assets consisted of 1,117,628 gross (549,229 net) leasehold and mineral acres located primarily in the Permian Basin, San Juan Basin and Williston Basin. As of December 31, 2024, our total estimated proved reserves were approximately 94 MMBoe, of which approximately 65% were liquids and approximately 89% were proved developed, both on a Boe basis. In 2024, we produced an average of 23,387 Boe per day, approximately 66% of which came from assets operated by us.

Permian Basin

We acquired our initial 79,970 gross leasehold and mineral acres in the Permian Basin in 2012 and 2013. We subsequently acquired 11,929 additional gross leasehold acres through leasing and multiple bolt-on acquisitions. In November 2021, we acquired producing properties, including 24,052 gross leasehold acres and a CO₂ processing plant in the Permian Basin within New Mexico and CO₂ assets in Colorado (the "Vacuum Properties") from Chevron Corporation ("Chevron"). In December 2021, we acquired additional producing properties, including 21,112 gross leasehold acres in the Permian Basin of New Mexico and CO₂ assets in Colorado (the "Vacuum Properties") from Chevron Corporation ("Chevron"). In December 2021, we acquired additional producing properties, including Permian Basin of New Mexico (the "Additional Interests in our producing properties and CO₂ as processing plant in the Permian Basin of New Mexico (the "Additional Interest Vacuum Acquisition").

The Permian Basin is one of the oldest and most prolific producing basins in North America. Consisting of approximately 75,000 square miles centered around Midland, Texas, the Permian spans across west Texas and southeast New Mexico. The Permian Basin has been a significant source of oil production in the United States since the 1920s and, according to the U.S. Energy Information Administration ("ELA"), accounted for approximately 43% of all oil production and approximately 23% of all natural gas production in the United States as of December 31, 2024. While horizontal development is the primary focus for many operators, there continues to be significant conventional oil and gas ardilling throughout the Permian Basin. Through enhanced oil recovery methods such as CO₂ injection, operators like us are able to unlock incremental additional hydrocarbon production in these older, conventional assets at comparatively lower costs as compared to the drilling and completion costs of horizontal wells.

Our management team believes the development and exploitation of conventional assets in the Permian Basin is among the most economic oil and natural gas plays in the United States. Since completing the 2021 Acquisitions, we initially focused our efforts on returning wells to production as well as on other low-risk maintenance projects. Recently, we have increased our drilling and recompletion work. Substantially all of our acreage in the Permian Basin is held by production, which means we do not have to drill any wells to maintain ownership of our leases. We drill or participate in the drilling of a prosving teil in the Permian Basin during 2024. Based on current commodity prices, we expect to drill or participate in the drilling of approximately 1 gross wells in 2025. We recompleted 3 gross wells in 2024 and expect to recomplete approximately 7 gross wells in 2025. Our base decline rate for our Permian Basin properties is currently estimated to be approximately 6%.

San Juan Basin

We acquired our initial 175,376 gross leasehold and mineral acres in the San Juan Basin in 2012 and 2013. We subsequently acquired 273,187 additional gross leasehold and mineral acres in June 2020.

The San Juan Basin covers approximately 7,500 square miles in northwestern New Mexico, southwestern Colorado, and parts of Utah and Arizona. Primarily producing natural gas, the San Juan Basin has multiple different formation targets

including conventional and unconventional tight sands, coalbed methane and shale. The San Juan is one of the oldest producing basins in the United States, with the first conventional natural gas well drilled in 1921. With the discovery and development of coalbed methane reserves, the San Juan Basin was one of the most prolific natural gas basins in the United States in the 1980s and 1990s. Development activity within the San Juan Basin awas need that significant pace until 2008. With the collapse of commodity prices in 2007, development activity dropped to a very low rate, falling from approximately 40 drilling rigs into 2007 to less than five rigs by 2012. More recently, however, activity until huan Basin has picked up through continued exploration of the unconventional Mancos Shale play. In 2016, the United States Geological Survey ("USGS") estimated that there were 66.3 trillion cubic feet of recoverable natural gas in the Mancos Shale, which is a forty-fold increase from the 1.6 trillion cubic feet of recoverable natural gas. 2003.

Our San Juan acreage includes substantial, predictable, low-decline natural gas production that provides for relatively stable cash flows. Our base decline rate for our San Juan Basin properties is currently estimated to be approximately 8%. Our existing production comes from primarily coalbed methane wells. Substantially all of our acreage in the San Juan Basin is held by production. Additionally, as of December 31, 2024, we own 84,679 gross acres in New Mexico in the Mancos Shale. We believe our Mancos Shale properties offer us significant potential upside that is held by production.

We drilled or participated in the drilling of 18 gross wells in the San Juan Basin during 2024. We expect to drill or participate in the drilling of approximately 14 gross wells in 2025 but we will periodically reassess our plans given the volatility in natural gas prices. We recompleted 14 gross wells in the San Juan Basin in 2024 and we expect to recomplete no gross wells in 2025.

Williston Basin

We acquired our initial 273,625 gross leasehold and mineral acres in the Williston Basin in 2024 in the Eagle Mountain Energy Partners and Kaiser Francis acquisitions ("the Williston Basin acquisitions").

Known today primarily for the Bakken formation, the Williston Basin of eastern Montana, western North Dakota, South Dakota, and southern Saskatchewan encompasses over 300,000 square miles. The Bakken formation was discovered to contain oil in 1953 and was primarily seen as the source rock feeding shallower conventional petroleum deposits. According to the EIA, the Bakken region produced an average of 1.2 million barrels of oil per day, accounting for 9% of total U.S. crude oil production. Additionally, 842 new wells were drilled in 2024 with an average of 34 active drilling rigs.

Our management team believes the development and exploitation of our non-conventional assets in the Williston Basin is among the most economic oil and natural gas plays in our portfolio. We expect that we will focus almost 50% of our drilling and recompletion work in 2025 in the Williston Basin assets. Substantially all of our accreage in the Williston Basin is held by production, which means we do not have to drill any wells to maintain ownership of our leases. We drilled or participated in the drilling of 2 gross wells in the Williston Basin during 2024. Based on current commodity prices, we expect to drill or participate in the drilling of approximately 6 gross wells in 2025. We recompleted 5 gross wells in the Williston Basin in 2024 and expect to recomplete approximately 3 gross wells in 2025. Our base decline rate for our Williston Basin properties is currently estimated to be approximately 17%.

2024 Revenue Breakdown

For year ended December 31, 2024, our consolidated revenues were derived 66% from oil revenues, 24% from natural gas revenues and 10% from NGL revenues, in each case excluding the unrealized effects of our commodity derivative contracts. After giving effect to unrealized commodity derivative contracts, our revenues were derived 70% from oil revenues, 20% from NGL revenues and 10% from NGL revenues over the same period. For the year ended December 31, 2024, our consolidated revenues were derived 387 Boe/d (approximately 32% oil, 54% oil, 3% natural gas, and 14% NGLs). Over the same period, our average production in the Permian Basin was 1,948 Boe/d (approximately 4% oil, 3% natural gas, and 16% NGLs), our average production in the Williston Basin was 1,926 Boe/d (approximately 7% oil, 11% natural gas, and 11% NGLs). Our average daily production in the Williston Basin was 1,926 Boe/d (approximately 7% oil, 11% natural gas, and 11% NGLs). Our average daily production in the Williston Basin was 1,926 Boe/d (approximately 7% oil, 11% natural gas, and 11% NGLs). Our average daily production in the Williston Basin was 1,926 Boe/d (approximately 7% oil, 11% natural gas, and 11% NGLs). Our average daily production in the Williston Basin was 1,926 Boe/d (approximately 7% oil, 11% natural gas, and 11% NGLs). Our average daily production in the Williston Basin was 1,926 Boe/d (approximately 7% oil, 11% natural gas, and 11% NGLs). Our average daily production in the Williston Basin vas 1,926 Boe/d (approximately 7% oil, 11% natural gas, and 11% NGLs). Our average daily production in the Williston Basin vas 1,926 Boe/d (approximately 7% oil, 11% natural gas, and 11% NGLs). Our average daily production in the Williston Basin daily average daily average daily production in the Williston Basin daily average daily av

7

Development Plan and Capital Budget

Historically, our business plan has focused on acquiring and then exploiting producing assets. Funding sources for our acquisitions have included proceeds from bank borrowings, cash from our partners and cash flow from operating

activities. We incurred \$28.0 million of development capital in 2024 and expect to incur approximately \$30 - \$50 million for development in 202.jMuch of our development time and capital is spent on workovers, recompletions and field optimizations of existing assets. We expect to use the additional information derived from this exploitation to inform our decisions about additional difficult is optimized to pursue, either in recently acquired assets or new acquisitions. To the extent that we complete any acquisitions during 2025, we may reduce our other expected capital plants to of fiset the acquired to temper production growth in favor of distributions to our unitholders.

During 2024, we spent approximately \$17.4 million to drill 26 gross wells (4.3 net wells) and on related equipment, \$8.5 million on recompletions of existing wells, \$2.0 million on capital workovers and \$0.1 million on other projects. We spent approximately \$10.2 million in the Permian Basin, approximately \$5.0 million in the San Juan Basin and approximately \$12.8 million in the Williston Basin in 2024.

We expect to allocate a portion of our 2025 budget to projects focused on enhancing existing production. Based on current commodity prices and our drilling success rate to date, we expect to be able to fund our 2025 capital development programs from cash flow from operations. We held our 2024 capital program essentially flat at \$28.0 million compared to \$29.8 million in 2023.

Oil, Natural Gas and NGL Data

Reserves

Summary of Oil, Natural Gas and NGL Reserves: The following table presents our estimated net proved oil, natural gas and NGL reserves as of December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022. The reserve estimates presented in the table below are based on reports prepared by Cawley, Gillespie & Associates, our independent petroleum engineers, which reports were prepared in accordance with current SEC rules and regulations regarding oil and natural gas reserve reporting.

| | | | TXO Partners As of December 31, | |
|--|----|-----------|------------------------------------|------------|
| | - | 2024 (1) | 2023 (1) | 2022 (1) |
| Proved Reserves: | - | | | |
| Oil (MBbls) | | 47,191.9 | 40,453.1 | 53,509.2 |
| NGLs (MBbls) | | 13,794.4 | 15,483.0 | 21,932.4 |
| Natural gas (MMcf) | | 197,035.7 | 265,827.6 | 407,877.2 |
| Total Proved Reserves (MBoe) | | 93,825.6 | 100,240.7 | 143,421.1 |
| Standardized Measure (in millions) | \$ | 976.6 | \$ 890.6 | \$ 1,969.8 |
| PV-10 (in millions)(2) | \$ | 1,032.5 | \$ 932.0 | \$ 2,005.7 |
| Proved Developed Reserves: | | | | |
| Oil (MBbls) | | 37,894.6 | 30,959.4 | 34,672.0 |
| NGLs (MBbls) | | 13,194.9 | 15,110.9 | 20,723.6 |
| Natural gas (MMcf) | | 196,013.7 | 264,934.4 | 385,188.6 |
| Total Proved Developed Reserves (MBoe) | | 83,758.5 | 90,226.0 | 119,593.7 |
| PV-10 (in millions)(2) | \$ | 879.0 | \$ 763.1 | \$ 1,560.1 |
| Proved Undeveloped Reserves: | | | | |
| Oil (MBbls) | | 9,297.3 | 9,493.7 | 18,837.2 |
| NGLs (MBbls) | | 599.5 | 372.1 | 1,208.8 |
| Natural gas (MMcf) | | 1,022.0 | 893.2 | 22,688.6 |
| Total Proved Undeveloped Reserves (MBoe) | | 10,067.1 | 10,014.7 | 23,827.4 |
| PV-10 (in millions)(2) | S | 153.5 | \$ 168.9 | \$ 445.6 |

(1) Our estimated net proved reserves were determined using average first-day-of-the-month prices for the prior 12 months in accordance with SEC regulations. The unweighted arithmetic average first-day-of-the-month prices for the prior 12 months were \$75.48 per barrel for oil and \$2.13 per MMBtu for natural gas at December 31, 2023 and were \$93.67 per barrel for oil and \$2.64 per MMBtu for natural gas at December 31, 2023 and were \$93.67 per barrel for oil and \$5.36 per MMBtu for natural gas at December 31, 2022. The base prices were based upon Henry Hub and WTI-Cushing spot prices, respectively. These base prices were adjusted for differentials on a per-property basis, which may include local basis differentials, transportation, gas shrinkage, gas heating value (BTU content) and/or crude quality and gravity corrections. After these net adjustments, the net realized prices for the SEC price case over the life of the proved properties was estimated to be \$73.73 per barrel for oil, and \$7.64 per there are adjustments, the net realized prices for the SEC price case over the life of the proved properties was estimated to be \$73.73 per barrel for oil.

\$17.70 per barrel for NGLs and \$1.14 per Mcf for natural gas for the year ended December 31, 2024, \$76.58 per barrel for oil, \$18.44 per barrel for NGLs and \$1.58 per Mcf for natural gas for the year ended December 31, 2023 and \$92.94 per barrel for oil, \$29.72 per barrel for NGLs and \$4.35 per Mcf for natural gas for the

\$17.70 per barrel for NGLs and \$1.14 per Mef for natural gas for the year ended December 31, 2024, \$1/6.38 per barrel tor out, \$18.44 per barrel tor NuLs and \$1.2 open NuLs and \$1.2 op (2)

Reserve engineering is and must be recognized as a subjective process of estimating volumes of economically recoverable oil and natural gas that cannot be measured in an exact manner. Due to the inherent uncertainties and the limited nature of reservoir data, such estimates are subject to change as additional information becomes available. The reserves actually recovered and the timing of production of these reserves may be substantially different from the original estimate. Revisions result primarily from new information obtained from development drilling and production history and from changes in economic factors.

Additional information regarding our proved reserves and estimated future cash flows therefrom can be found in the notes to our financial statements included in Item 8 and in the reserve reports prepared by Cawley, Gillespie & Associates that are filed as exhibits

Preparation of Reserve Estimates

Our reserve estimates as of December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are based on evaluations prepared by the independent petroleum engineering firm of Cawley, Gillespie & Associates in accordance with Standards Pertaining to the Estimating and Auditing of Oil and Gas Reserves Information promulgated by the Society of Petroleum Evaluation Engineers and definitions and guidelines established by the SEC. Our independent reserve engineers were selected for their historical experience and geographic expertise in engineering similar resources.

Under SEC rules, proved reserves are reserves which, by analysis of geoscience and engineering data, can be estimated with reasonable certainty to be economically producible from a given date forward from known reservoirs under existing economic conditions, operating methods and government regulations prior to the time at which contracts providing the right to operate expires, unless evidence indicates that renewal is reasonably certain, regardless of whether deterministic or probabilistic methods are used, there therm "reasonable certainty" implies a high degree of confidence that the quantities of oil or natural gas actually recovered will equal or exceed the estimate. The technical and economic data used in the estimation of our proved reserves include, but are not limited to, well logs, geologic maps, well-test data, production data (including flow rates), well data (including lateral lengths), historical price and cost information, and property ownership interests. Our independent reserve engineers use this technical data, together with standard engineering and geoscience methods, or a combination of nethods, including performance analysis, and analogy. The proved developed reserves and estimated ultimate recoveries ("EURs for each developed reserves in estimate on analysis, the stimates of the proved duveloped reserves and estimates of the proved duveloped estimates of the proved duveloped reserves and estimates of the proved duveloped estimates of the proved duveloped reserves and estimates of the proved duveloped reserves and estimates of the proved duveloped reserves and estimates of the

Internal Controls

Our internal staff of petroleum engineers and geoscience professionals work closely with our independent reserve engineers to ensure the integrity, accuracy and timeliness of data furnished to our independent reserve engineers in their preparation of reserve estimates. The accuracy of any reserve estimate is a function of the quality of available data and of engineering and geological interpretation. As a result, the estimates of different engineers often vary. In addition, the results of drilling, testing and production may justify revisions of such estimates. Accordingly, reserve estimates often differ from the quantities of oil, natural gas and NGLs that are ultimately be estimates. Related to Our Business and the Oil, Natural Gas and NGL Industry—Reserve estimates depend on many assumptions that may ultimately be inaccurate. Any material inaccuracies in reserve estimates of reservely in gasumptions will materially affect the quantities and present value of our reserves'' for more information. The reserves engineering group is responsible for the internal review of reserve estimates and includes Brandon Hudson, our Vice President—Reservoir Engineering. The

Reservoir Engineering Vice President is primarily responsible for overseeing the preparation of our reserve estimates and has more than 15 years of experience as a reserve engineer. The reserves engineering group is independent of any of our operating areas. The Reservoir Engineering Vice President is directly responsible for overseeing the reserves engineering group. The reserves engineering group reviews the estimates with our third-party petroleum consultants, Cawley, Gillespie & Associates, an independent petroleum engineering frm.

Cawley, Gillespie & Associates is a Texas Registered Engineering Firm (F-693), made up of independent registered professional engineers and geologists that have provided petroleum consulting services to the oil and gas industry for over 60 years. The lead evaluator that prepared the reserve report was W. Todd Brooker, P.E., President at Cawley Gillespie. Mr. Brooker has been a Petroleum Consultant at Cawley, Gillespie & Associates since 1992 and became President in 2017. He graduated with honors from the University of Texas at Austin in 1989 with a Bachelor of Science degree in Petroleum Engineering. Mr. Brooker is a State of Texas Licensed Professional Engineer (License #83462) and a member of the Society of Petroleum Evaluation Engineers (SPEE) and the Society of Petroleum Engineers (SPE). Mr. Brooker is a State of Texas Licensed Professional Engineer (License #83462) and a member of the Society of Petroleum Evaluation Engineers (SPEE) and the Society of Petroleum Evaluation Engineers (SPEE) and the Society of Petroleum Engineers (SPEE) and the Society of Petrol

Proved Undeveloped Reserves (PUDs)

As of December 31, 2024, our proved undeveloped reserves were composed of 9,297.3 MBbls of oil, 599.5 MBbls of NGLs and 1,022.0 MMcf of natural gas for a total of 10,067.1 MBoe. PUDs will be converted from undeveloped to developed as the applicable wells begin production.

The following table summarizes our changes in PUDs, for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 (in MBoe):

| Balance, December 31, 2021 | 23,334.6 |
|---------------------------------|------------|
| Purchases of reserves | 1,966.8 |
| Revisions of previous estimates | (990.5) |
| Transfers to proved developed | (483.5) |
| Balance, December 31, 2022 | 23,827.4 |
| Revisions of previous estimates | (13,812.7) |
| Transfers to proved developed | 0.0 |
| Balance, December 31, 2023 | 10,014.7 |
| Revisions of previous estimates | 52.4 |
| Transfers to proved developed | 0.0 |
| Balance, December 31, 2024 | 10,067.1 |
| | |

Revisions of previous estimates of 52 MBoe during the year ended December 31, 2024 resulted primarily from forecast changes (83 MBoe) partially offset by lower commodity prices and higher costs ((31) MBoe). Revisions of previous estimates of (13,813) MBoe during the year ended December 31, 2023 resulted primarily from forecast changes (due to our development plans to reduce the duration of the proved undeveloped reserves from five years to two years ((13,000) MBoe) and lower commodity prices and higher costs ((513) MBoe). Revisions of previous estimates of ((991) MBoe) during the year ended December 31, 2022 resulted primarily from forecast changes ((1,078) MBoe) partially offset by higher commodity prices (87 MBoe).

We converted none of our proved undeveloped reserves into proved developed reserves in 2024. Costs incurred relating to the development of oil and natural gas reserves were \$28.0 million during the year ended December 31, 2024. We converted none of our proved undeveloped reserves into proved developed reserves in 2023. Costs incurred relating to the development of oil and natural gas reserves were \$29.8 million during the year ended December 31, 2023. We converted 483.5 MBoe of our proved undeveloped reserves into proved developed reserves in 2022. Costs incurred relating to the development of oil and natural gas reserves were \$29.8 million during the year ended December 31, 2023. We converted 483.5 MBoe of our proved undeveloped reserves into proved developed reserves in 2022. Costs incurred relating to the development of oil and natural gas reserves were \$29.8 million during the year ended December 31, 2022.

We drilled or participated in the drilling of 6 gross wells in the Permian Basin during 2022, 19 gross wells in the Permian Basin during 2023, and 6 gross wells in the Permian Basin during 2024. We expect to drill or participate in the

drilling of approximately 1 gross wells in the Permian Basin during 2025. Also, we participated in the drilling of 18 gross wells in the San Juan Basin during 2022, 19 gross wells in the San Juan Basin during 2023, and 18 gross wells in the San Juan Basin during 2024. We expect to drill or participate in the drilling of approximately 14 gross wells in the San Juan Basin during 2025. In addition, we participated in the drilling of 2 gross wells in the Williston Basin during 2024. We expect to drill or participate in the drilling of approximately 14 gross wells in the San Juan Basin during 2025. In addition, we participated in the drilling of 2 gross wells in the Williston Basin during 2024. We expect to drill or participate in the drilling of approximately 6 gross wells in the Williston Basin during 2025.

All of our PUD drilling locations are scheduled to be drilled within two years of December 31, 2024. We drilled and completed or participated in the drilling and completion of no PUD locations during 2024. We anticipate drilling and completion of a pproximately 16 PUD locations during 2025 and 18 during 2026. These PUD locations relate to 10.1 MMBoe of PUD reserves. Our development costs relating to the development of our PUDs at December 31, 2024 are projected to be \$25.1 million in 2025 for a total of \$52.9 million of future development costs. All of these PUD drilling locations are part of a development plan adopted by management. We expect that the cash flow generated by our existing wells, in addition to availability under our Credit Agreement, will be sufficient to fund our drilling program, maintenance capital expenditures and PUD coversion in the orvel developed reserves in accordance with our development schedule. Please see "Risk Factors—Risks Related to Our Business and the Oil, Natural Gas and NGL Industry—Reserve estimates depend on many assumptions that may ultimately be inaccurate. Any material inaccuracies in reserve estimates or underlying assumptions will materially affect the quantities and present value of our reserves."

Natural Gas, Oil and NGL Production Prices and Production Costs

Production and Price History

The following table sets forth information regarding our production and operating data for the periods indicated.

Production data:

Sales:

| | | Year Ended December 31, | |
|----------------------------------|--------|-------------------------|--------|
| | 2024 | 2023 | 2022 |
| Permian Basin | | | |
| Natural gas sales (MMcf) | 519 | 655 | 728 |
| Natural gas liquids sales (MBbl) | 328 | 340 | 334 |
| Oil and condensate sales (MBbl) | 2,133 | 2,347 | 2,170 |
| Total (MBoe) | 2,548 | 2,796 | 2,626 |
| Total (MBoe per day) | 7 | 8 | 7 |
| San Juan | | | |
| Natural gas sales (MMcf) | 23,913 | 25,177 | 25,886 |
| Natural gas liquids sales (MBbl) | 798 | 883 | 991 |
| Oil and condensate sales (MBbl) | 27 | 19 | 28 |
| Total (MBoe) | 4,810 | 5,098 | 5,333 |
| Total (MBoe per day) | 13 | 14 | 15 |
| Williston Basin | | | |
| Natural gas sales (MMcf) | 462 | _ | _ |
| Natural gas liquids sales (MBbl) | 78 | _ | _ |
| Oil and condensate sales (MBbl) | 550 | _ | _ |
| Total (MBoe) | 705 | _ | _ |
| Total (MBoe per day) | 2 | _ | _ |
| Other | | | |
| Natural gas sales (MMcf) | 2,896 | 2,906 | 2,943 |
| Natural gas liquids sales (MBbl) | 7 | 9 | 9 |
| Oil and condensate sales (MBbl) | 7 | 10 | 8 |
| Total (MBoe) | 496 | 503 | 507 |
| Total (MBoe per day) | 1 | 1 | 1 |
| Total (MBoe) | 8,559 | 8,397 | 8,466 |

Table of Contents

Average realized sales prices:

| | | | Year Ended December 31, | |
|--|----|-------|-------------------------|-------------|
| | | 2024 | 2023 | 2022 |
| Permian Basin | | | | |
| Natural gas excluding effects of derivatives (per Mcf) | \$ | 0.70 | \$ 1.95 | \$ 5.36 |
| Natural gas liquids excluding effects of derivatives (per Bbl) | \$ | 35.81 | \$ 33.29 | \$ 47.85 |
| Oil and condensate excluding effects of derivatives (per Bbl) | S | 74.52 | \$ 75.98 | \$ 93.94 |
| San Juan | | | | |
| Natural gas excluding effects of derivatives (per Mcf) | s | 2.14 | \$ 5.29 | \$ 6.65 |
| Natural gas liquids excluding effects of derivatives (per Bbl) | s | 18.71 | \$ 18.39 | \$ 31.32 |
| Oil and condensate excluding effects of derivatives (per Bbl) | s | 69.05 | \$ 69.73 | \$ 76.30 |
| Williston Basin | | | | |
| Natural gas excluding effects of derivatives (per Mcf) | s | 0.95 | \$ _ | \$ _ |
| Natural gas liquids excluding effects of derivatives (per Bbl) | s | 33.13 | \$ _ | \$ _ |
| Oil and condensate excluding effects of derivatives (per Bbl) | s | 66.90 | \$ _ | \$ _ |
| Other | | | | |
| Natural gas excluding effects of derivatives (per Mcf) | s | 2.02 | \$ 5.14 | \$ 6.69 |
| Natural gas liquids excluding effects of derivatives (per Bbl) | s | 23.39 | \$ 21.76 | \$ 32.46 |
| Oil and condensate excluding effects of derivatives (per Bbl) | s | 73.45 | \$ 78.35 | \$ 88.55 |
| (\$ / Boe) | S | 33.34 | \$ 42.58 | \$ 53.11 |
| | | | | |

Table of Contents

Expense per Boe:

| | | Year Ended December 31, | |
|---|----------|-------------------------|----------|
| | 2024 | 2023 | 2022 |
| Permian Basin | | | |
| Production | \$ 39.47 | \$ 37.13 | \$ 34.21 |
| Taxes, transportation, and other | \$ 8.56 | \$ 8.08 | \$ 10.67 |
| Depreciation, depletion, and amortization | \$ 10.33 | \$ 12.24 | \$ 11.96 |
| San Juan | | | |
| Production | \$ 7.28 | \$ 7.15 | \$ 6.39 |
| Taxes, transportation, and other | \$ 6.95 | \$ 10.02 | \$ 12.13 |
| Depreciation, depletion, and amortization | \$ 2.59 | \$ 1.44 | \$ 1.20 |
| Williston Basin | | | |
| Production | \$ 14.14 | s — | s — |
| Taxes, transportation, and other | \$ 5.57 | s — | s — |
| Depreciation, depletion, and amortization | \$ 14.77 | s — | s — |
| Other | | | |
| Production | \$ 9.63 | \$ 8.90 | \$ 7.39 |
| Taxes, transportation, and other | \$ 2.62 | \$ 3.49 | \$ 4.52 |
| Depreciation, depletion, and amortization | \$ 6.51 | \$ 5.41 | \$ 7.06 |

Productive Wells

As of December 31, 2024, we owned interests in the following number of productive wells:

| | Oil Wells | Gas Wells | Total |
|-----------------|-----------|-----------|----------|
| Permian Basin | | | |
| Gross | 3,645.0 | 108.0 | 3,753.0 |
| Net | 659.2 | 10.9 | 670.1 |
| San Juan | | | |
| Gross | 52.0 | 11,353.0 | 11,405.0 |
| Net | 0.5 | 1,075.3 | 1,075.8 |
| Williston Basin | | | |
| Gross | 684.0 | _ | 684.0 |
| Net | 351.2 | _ | 351.2 |
| Other | | | |
| Gross | 740.0 | 2,165.0 | 2,905.0 |
| Net | _ | 87.0 | 87.0 |
| Total | | | |
| Gross | 5,121.0 | 13,626.0 | 18,747.0 |
| Net | 1,010.9 | 1,173.2 | 2,184.1 |
| | | | |

Developed and Undeveloped Acreage

The following table sets forth information as of December 31, 2024 relating to our developed and undeveloped acreage. Developed acreage is acres spaced or assigned to productive wells and does not include undrilled acreage held by production under the terms of the lease. Undeveloped acreage is acres on which wells have not been drilled or completed to a point that would permit the production of commercial quantities of oil or natural gas, regardless of whether such acreage contains proved reserves. A gross acre is an acre in which a working interest is owned. The number of gross acres is the total number of acres in which a working interest is owned. A net acre is deemed to exist when the sum of the fractional



ownership working interests in gross acres equals one. The number of net acres is the sum of the fractional working interests owned in gross acres expressed as whole numbers and fractions thereof.

| | Developed | Acres | Undevelo | ped Acres | Total | Acres |
|-----------------|-----------|---------|----------|-----------|-----------|---------|
| | Gross | Net | Gross | Net | Gross | Net |
| Permian Basin | 141,006 | 77,403 | _ | _ | 141,006 | 77,403 |
| San Juan Basin | 446,072 | 245,622 | 824 | 703 | 446,896 | 246,325 |
| Williston Basin | 273,625 | 177,856 | _ | _ | 273,625 | 177,856 |
| Other | 256,101 | 47,645 | | _ | 256,101 | 47,645 |
| Total | 1,116,804 | 548,526 | 824 | 703 | 1,117,628 | 549,229 |

Drilling Results

The following table sets forth the results of our drilling activity for the periods indicated. The information should not be considered indicative of future performance, nor should it be assumed that there is necessarily any correlation among the number of productive wells drilled, quantities of reserves found or economic value. Productive wells are those that produce, or are capable of producing, commercial quantities of hydrocarbons, regardless of whether they produce a reasonable rate of return.

| | | | Years Decem | | | |
|--------------------|----------|-----|-------------|-----|-------|-------|
| | 2024 (1) | | 2023 | (2) | 2022 | 2 (3) |
| | Gross | Net | Gross | Net | Gross | Net |
| Development wells: | | | | | | |
| Completed as: | | | | | | |
| Gas wells | 8 | 0.9 | 16 | 2.3 | 10 | 4.1 |
| Oil wells | 18 | 3.4 | 22 | 2.7 | 14 | 2.1 |
| Non-productive | _ | | _ | _ | _ | _ |
| Total | 26 | 4.3 | 38 | 5.0 | 24 | 6.2 |
| Exploratory wells: | | | | | | |
| Completed as: | | | | | | |
| Gas wells | _ | | _ | _ | _ | |
| Oil wells | _ | | _ | _ | _ | _ |
| Non-productive | _ | | _ | _ | _ | |
| Total | _ | _ | _ | | | _ |
| Total | 26 | 4.3 | 38 | 5.0 | 24 | 6.2 |
| | | | | | | |

(1) (2) (3)

These 26 wells do not include any gross wells drilled by other operators during the year ended December 31, 2024 in which we elected not to participate. These 38 wells do not include any gross wells drilled by other operators during the year ended December 31, 2023 in which we elected not to participate. These 24 wells do not include any gross wells drilled by other operators during the year ended December 31, 2022 in which we elected not to participate.

The following table sets forth information regarding our drilling activities as of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, including with respect to wells awaiting completion, undergoing completion activities and which we have begun drilling subsequent to December 31, 2024 and 2023.

| December 31, 2024 | Permian Basi | n | San Juan Basi | n | Williston Basir | |
|--|----------------------|--------|-----------------------|--------|--------------------------|-----|
| | Gross | Net | Gross | Net | Gross | Net |
| Drilling | | _ | _ | _ | _ | _ |
| Awaiting completion | _ | _ | 2 | _ | 4.0 | 0.5 |
| Undergoing completion activities | _ | _ | _ | _ | _ | _ |
| Drilling begun subsequent to December 31, 2024 | _ | _ | _ | _ | _ | _ |
| | | | | | | |
| December 31, 2023 | Permian Bas | in | San Juan Bas | in | Williston Basir | |
| December 31, 2023 | Permian Bas Gross | in Net | San Juan Bas Gross | in Net | Williston Basir Gross | Net |
| | | | | | | |
| Drilling | Gross | Net | | Net | Gross | Net |
| December 31, 2023 Dilling Awaiting completion Undergoing completion activities | Gross — | Net | | Net | Gross — | Net |

Operations

Genera

We operated wells responsible for approximately 66% of our production for the year ended December 31, 2024 and 67% for the year ended December 31, 2023. As operator, we design and manage the development, recompletion or workover for all of the wells we operate and supervise operation and maintenance activities on a day-to-day basis. We do not own the drilling rigs or other oil field services equipment used for drilling or maintenance on the properties we operate.

Independent contractors engaged by us provide a portion of the equipment and personnel associated with these activities. We currently engage independent contractors who are engineers and land professionals who work to improve production rates, increase reserves and lower the cost of operating our oil and natural gas properties.

Virtually all of our non-operated wells are managed by third-party operators who are typically independent oil and natural gas companies. Maverick Natural Resources Corporation, Occidental Petroleum Corporation and Jo Mill Oil Company are the operators on more than 50% of our non-operated acreage in the Permian Basin.

Our assets include a 50% interest in Cross Timbers Energy, LLC ("Cross Timbers"). Certain affiliates of Exxon and XTO, which we refer to collectively as the "XTO Entities," collectively own the remaining 50% interest in Cross Timbers. We account for our undivided interest in our investment in Cross Timbers and the consolidation method, pursuant to which we consolidate our proportionate share of assets (including reserves), liabilities, revenues and expenses of the joint venture. For the year ended December 31, 2024, Cross Timbers represents approximately 24% of our provenues excluding the effects of our commodity derivative contracts and approximately 24% of our proved reserves, on a proportional ownership basis, with assets primarily located in the Permian Basin of Texas and New Mexico and the San Juan Basin of New Mexico and Clorado.

In accordance with the limited liability company agreement governing Cross Timbers, or the "JV LLCA," Cross Timbers is managed by us and governed by a member management committee comprised of six members, three of whom are appointed by us and three of whom are appointed by the XTO Entities. The JV LLCA requires that certain matters, including certain material contracts or acquisitions, mergers, sale of substantially all assets or other change of control transactions, and transfers of our interest to a third party, be approved by unanimous consent of the voing members of the management committee enquire the approved of the XTO Entities. While Cross Timbers is required to distribute all net cash flow to the members pro rata in accordance with their respective membership interests on a quarterly basis pursuant to the JV LLCA, we do not have sole control of the amount of distributions to be made by Cross Timbers.

Cross Timbers is also a party to an operating and services agreement with us pursuant to which we provide all administrative services and conduct operations that are necessary or proper for the development, operation, notection and

maintenance of the assets held by Cross Timbers in exchange for a management fee. We earned management fees from Cross Timbers of \$5.1 million for year ended December 31, 2024 and \$6.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2023

Marketing and Customers

We market the majority of the natural gas, NGL, crude oil and condensate production from the properties on which we operate. We also market products produced by third party working interest owners who participate in various wells or production units on which we operate. We proportionately pay our royalty owners from the sales attributable to our working interest. Production from our properties is marketed using methods that are consistent with industry practice. Purchasers of our production are selected on the basis of price, credit quality and service reliability. Sales prices are negotiated based on factors normally considered in the industry, such as index or spot price, differentials based on the distance from tailgate of processing plants to end users, commodity quality qualt prevailing supply and demand, economic growth rates and other factors in the United States and world/wide have had, and will conditions to here. a significant effect on energy prices.

We sell the majority of our production under arm's length contracts with terms of 12 months or less, including on a month-to-month basis, to a relatively small number of customers, as is customary in our industry. We generally sell natural gas, NGL, crude oil and condensate production through production sale agreements with customary terms and conditions for the oil and natural gas industry at prevailing market prices, adjusted for quality, transportation fees, regional price differentials, and, in the case of natural gas, energy content. Typically, our sales contracts are based on pricing provisions that are tied to a market index or postings. None of our contracts have minimum volume commitments. We have no commitments beyond twelve months to deliver a fixed or determinable quantity of our oil or natural gas of 10 months.

Additionally, we market our excess CQ₂ production that we do not use for our enhanced oil recovery operations in the Permian Basin. This excess CQ is sold through a combination of an arm's length contract to an external counterparty and by participating in other CQ production working interest owner's sales under the terms of a unit agreement. The price we receive for this CO₂ is tied to oil prices as is customary in the industry.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, Chevron USA and Gunvor USA together accounted for almost 46% of our total revenues, excluding the impact of our commodity derivatives. For the year ended December 31, 2023, Chevron USA and CIMA Energy together accounted for more than 42% of our total revenues, excluding the impact of our commodity derivatives. No other purchaser accounted for more than 10% of our total revenue during such period. We generally do not have long-term contracts with our suchances but rather we sell the substantial majority of our total revenues (asciultant the revenues), such purchaser could materially adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations and ability to make distributions to our unitholders. However, based on the current demand for oil and natural gas and the availability of other purchasers, we believe that the loss of any such purchaser would not have a material adverse effect on urificant portancies and how and the availability of other purchasers, we believe that the loss of any such purchaser would not adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations and ability easily adversely affect and the use of any such purchasers we believe that the loss of any such purchasers and the 01. Natural Gas and NGL Industry—We depend upon several significant purchasers for the sale of most of our oil, natural gas and NGL production. The loss of one or more of these purchasers could, among other factors, limit our access to suitable markets for the oil and natural gas we produce."

Hedging

Our policy is to opportunistically hedge a portion of our production at commodity prices management deems attractive to mitigate our exposure to lower commodity prices. Effective with the Second Amendment entered in June 2023 (the "Second Amendment"), our hedge requirements are based on availability under the Credit Facility and the Leverage Ratio. If the Leverage Ratio is greater than 0.75 to 1.00, we are required to hedge at least 50% of reasonably anticipated projected production proved developed producing reserves for the 24 months following the end of the most recent quarter. If the Leverage Ratio is less than 0.75 to 1.00 and availability under the Credit Facility is greater than 0.75 w of the then current borrowing base, the minimum required hedge volume You or Vordet Verlage Second Amendment" on the second Amendment of the most recent quarter. If the Leverage Ratio is less than 0.75 to 1.00 and availability under the Credit Facility is greater than 06.7% of the then current borrowing base, there would be no minimum required hedge volum. Our Credit Facility prohibits us from hedging more than 90% of our reasonably projected production for any fiscal years.



Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources—Revolving credit agreement" for more information. While there is a risk that we may not be able to realize the benefits of rising prices, we enter into hedging agreements because of the benefits of predictable, stable cash flows.

We periodically enter futures contracts, energy swaps, options and basis swaps to hedge our exposure to price fluctuations on crude oil, natural gas liquids and natural gas sales. When actual commodity prices exceed the fixed price provided by these contracts we pay this excess to the counterparty, and when the commodity prices are below the contractually provided fixed price, we receive this difference from the counterparty. We also enter costless price collars, which set a ceiling and floor price to hedge our exposure to price fluctuations on natural gas sales. When actual commodity prices are below the contractually provided fixed price, we receive this difference from the counterparty. We also enter costless price collars, which set a ceiling and floor price to hedge our exposure to price falls in between the ceiling price to rovide the set on the counterparty and when the commodity prices are below the floor price, we receive this difference from the counterparty and when the commodity prices exceed the ceiling price to hedge our exposure to price falls in between the ceiling and floor price, here is no cash settlement. For more details, see "Risk Factors—Risks Related to Our Business and the Oil, Natural Gas and NGL Industry—We opportunistically use derivative instruments to economically hedge exposure to changes in commodity price and, as a result, are exposed to credit risk and market risk."

For a more detailed discussion of our hedging activities, please read "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources" and "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure About Market Risk."

Competition

The oil and natural gas industry is intensely competitive, and we compete with other companies that have greater resources. Many of these companies not only explore for and produce oil and natural gas, but also carry on midstream and refining operations and market petroleum and other products on a regional, national or worldwide basis. These companies may be able to pay more for productive oil and natural gas properties and exploratory prospects or to define, evaluate, bid for and purchase a greater number of properties than our financial or human resources permit. In addition, because we have fewer financial and human resources than many companies in our industry, we may be at a disadvantage in producing oil and natural gas properties, particularly during periods of low oil and natural gas market prices. Our larger or more integrated competitors may be able to absorb the burden of existing, and any changes to, federal, state and local laws and regulations more easily than we can, which would adversely affect our competitive position. Our ability to evaluate and select suitable properties and to discover reserves in the future will be dependent upon our ability to evaluate and select suitable properties and to consummate transactions in a highly competitive environment.

There is also competition between oil and natural gas producers and other industries producing energy and fuel and alternative technologies to reduce energy and fuel consumption. Furthermore, competitive conditions may be substantially affected by various forms of energy legislation and/or regulation considered from time to time by the governments of the United States and local jurisdictions in which we operate. It is not possible to predict the nature of any such legislation or regulation which may ultimately be adopted or its effects upon our future operations. Such laws and regulations may substantially increase the costs of exploring for, developing or producing oil and natural gas and may prevent or delay the commencement or continuation of a given operation.

Oil and Natural Gas Leases

The typical oil lease agreement covering our properties provides for the payment of royalties to the mineral owner for all hydrocarbons produced from any well drilled on the lease premises. The lessor royalties and other leasehold burdens on our properties range from less than 12.5% to 57.75%, resulting in a net revenue interest to us of 86.4% on average, on a 100% working interest basis. Based on the Standardized Measure, our value-weighted average net revenue interest on our properties was approximately 86.4%, on a 100% working interest basis, based on our December 31, 2024 reserve report. Substantially all of our leases are held by production and do not require continuous development.

Title to Properties

As is customary in the oil and natural gas industry, we initially conduct a cursory review of the title to the properties in connection with the acquisition of producing wells and/or additional acreage. Typically, that examination is limited to the seller's interest. At such time as we determine to conduct drilling operations, we administer a thorough title examination and perform curative work with respect to significant defects in title, prior to commencement of drilling operations. To the extent title opinions or other investigations reflect title defects and/or other curative matters relative to those properties, we are typically responsible for curing any title defects at our expense. We generally will not commence



drilling operations on a property until we have cured any material title defects on such property. We have obtained title reports on substantially all of our producing properties and believe that we have satisfactory title to our producing properties in accordance with standards generally accepted in the oil and natural gas industry.

Prior to completing an acquisition of producing oil and natural gas properties, we perform title reviews on the most significant leases and, depending on the materiality of properties, we will review previously obtained title opinions, update title, and in some cases have new title opinions rendered by a licensed oil and gas attorney. Our oil and natural gas properties are subject to customary royalty and perhaps other interests, possible liens for current taxes and potentially other encumbrances which we believe do not materially interfere with the use of or affect our carrying value of the properties.

We believe that we hold satisfactory title to all of our material assets. Although title to these properties is subject to certain encumbrances in some cases, such as customary interests generally retained in connection with the acquisition of real property, customary royally interests and contract terms and restrictions, liens under operating agreements, liens related to environmental liabilities associated with historical operations, liens for current taxes and other burdens, easements, restrictions and minor encumbrances customary in the oil and natural gas industry, we believe that none of these lines, restrictions, easements, here for our under some cases, and here burdens, easements, these properties or from our interest in these properties or from our interest in these properties or materially interfere with our use of these properties in the operation of our business. In addition, we believe that we have obtained sufficient rights of way grants and permits from public authorities and private parties for us to operate our business in all material respects as described in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Seasonality

Generally, but not always, the demand for natural gas decreases during the summer months and increases during the winter months. Seasonal anomalies such as mild winters or hot summers also may impact this demand. In addition, pipelines, utilities, local distribution companies and industrial end users utilize natural gas storage facilities and purchase some of their anticipated winter requirements during the summer. This can also impact the seasonality of demand. Due to these seasonal fluctuations, results of operations for individual quarterly periods may not be indicative of the results that may be realized on an annual basis.

In addition, our exploration, exploitation and development activities and equipment could be adversely affected by extreme weather conditions, such as hurricanes or lightning storms, which may cause a loss of production from temporary cessation of activity or lost or damaged facilities and equipment. See "Risk Factors—Risks Related to the Oil, Natural Gas and NGL Industry and Our Business—Extreme weather conditions could adversely affect our ability to conduct drilling activities in the areas where we operate."

Regulation of the Oil and Natural Gas Industry

Our operations are substantially affected by federal, state and local laws and regulations. Failure to comply with applicable laws and regulations can result in substantial penaltics. The regulatory burden on the industry increases the cost of doing business and affects profitability. Historically, our compliance costs have not had a material adverse effect on our results of operations; however, we are unable to predict the future costs or impact considered by Congress, the states, the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission ("FERC") and the courts. We cannot predict then materially differently than similarly situated competitors.

Regulation Affecting Production

The production of oil and natural gas is subject to United States federal and state laws and regulations, and orders of regulatory bodies under those laws and regulations, governing a wide variety of matters. All of the jurisdictions in which we own or operate producing properties have statutory provisions regulating the exploration for and production of oil and natural gas, including provisions related to permits for the drilling of wells, bonding requirements to drill or operate wells, the location of wells, the method of drilling and casing wells, the surface use and restoration of properties upon which wells are drilled, sourcing and disposal of water used in the drilling and completion process, and the abandonment of wells. Our operations subject to various conservation laws and regulations. These include the regulation of the size of drilling and spacing units or protation units, the number of wells which may be drilled in a area, and the unitization or pooling of oil and natural gas well as regulations that generally prohibit the venting of flaring of natural gas and impose certain requirements regarding the ratability or fair apportionment of production from fields and individual wells. These laws and regulations may limit the amount of oil and natural gas we can drill. Moreover, each state generally

imposes a production or severance tax with respect to the production and sale of oil, NGLs and natural gas within its jurisdiction. States do not regulate wellhead prices or engage in other similar direct regulation, but there can be no assurance that they will not do so in the future. The effect of such future regulations may be to limit the amounts of oil and natural gas that may be produced from our wells, negatively affect the economics of production from these wells or limit the number of locations we can drill.

The failure to comply with the rules and regulations of oil and natural gas production and related operations can result in substantial penalties. Although we believe we are in substantial compliance with all applicable laws and regulations, such laws and regulations are frequently anneded or reinterpreted. Therefore, we are unable to predict the future costs or impact of compliance. Additional proposals and proceedings affecting the oil and natural gas industry are regularly considered by congress, the states, regulatory authorities, including the FERC, and the courts. We cannot predict them or whether any such proposals may become effective. Our competitors in the oil and natural gas industry are subject to the same regulatory requirements and restrictions that affect our operations.

Regulation Affecting Sales and Transportation of Commodities

Sales prices of oil, natural gas, condensate and NGLs are not currently regulated and are made at market prices. Although prices of these energy commodities are currently unregulated, the United States Congress historically has been active in their regulation. We cannot predict whether new legislation to regulate oil, natural gas, or the prices charged for these commodities might be proposed, what proposals, if any, might actually be enacted by the United States Congress or the various state legislatures and what effect, if any, the proposals might have on our operations. Sales of oil and natural gas may be subject to certain state and federal reporting requirements.

The price and terms of service of transportation of the commodities, including access to pipeline transportation capacity, are subject to extensive federal and state regulation. Such regulation may affect the marketing of natural gas produced by us, as well as the revenues received for sales of such production. Gathering systems may be subject to state ratable take and common purchaser statutes. Ratable take statutes generally require gatherers to take, without undue discrimination, natural gas production that may be tendered to the gatherer for handling. Similarly, common purchaser statutes generally require gatherers to take, without undue discrimination as to source of supply or producer. These statutes are designed to prohibit discrimination in favor of one producer over another producer or one source of supply or another source of supply. These statutes may affect whether and to what extent gathering capacity is available for natural gas production, if any, of the drilling program and the cost of such capacity. Further state laws and regulations govern rates and terms of access to intrastate pipeline systems, which may similarly affect market access and cost.

The FERC regulates interstate natural gas pipeline transportation rates and service conditions. The FERC is continually proposing and implementing new rules and regulations affecting interstate transportation. The stated purpose of many of these regulatory changes is to ensure terms and conditions of interstate transportation service are not unduly discriminatory or unduly preferential, to promote competition among the various sectors of the natural gas industry and to promote market transportations. We do not believe that our drilling program will be affected by any such FERC action in a manner materially differently than other similarly situated natural gas producers.

In addition to the regulation of natural gas pipeline transportation, FERC has jurisdiction over the purchase or sale of natural gas or the purchase or sale of transportation services subject to FERC's jurisdiction pursuant to the EPAct 2005. Under the EPAct 2005, it is unlawful for "any entity," including producers such as us, that are otherwise not subject to FERC's jurisdiction under the NGA to use any deceptive or manipulative device or contrivance in connection with the purchase or sale of natural gas using to the jurisdiction ages or the jurisdiction services subject to FERC. For any entity, directly or indirectly, to use or employ any device, scheme or artifice to defraud; to make any untrue statement of material fact or omit to make any such statement necessary to make the statements means and or deceit upon any persone. EPAC 2005 is out of exercise of the particles of otherwise not misleding; or to engage in any act or for particles that operatives and pretices that operatives for any entity, directly or indirectly, to use or employ any device, scheme or artifice to defraud; to make any untrue statement of material fact or omit to make any such statement necessary to make the statements means and or deceit upon any persone. EPAC 2005 is out of the particles of otherwise non jurisdictional entities to the extent the activities are conducted "in connection with" natural gas asles, purchases or sale of natural Gas Policy Act of 1978 up to 51,490:035 reviolation per day. The anti-manipulation rule applies to activities of otherwise of otherwise non jurisdictional entities to the extent the activities are conducted "in connection with" natural gas asles, purchases or transportation subject to FERC jurisdiction, which includes the annual reporting requirements under FERC Order No. 704 (defined below).

In December 2007, FERC issued a final rule on the annual natural gas transaction reporting requirements, as amended by subsequent orders on rehearing ("Order No. 704"). Under Order No. 704, any market participant, including a

producer that engages in certain wholesale sales or purchases of natural gas that equal or exceed 2.2 million MMBtus of physical natural gas in the previous calendar year, must annually report such sales and purchases to FERC on Form No. 552 on May 1 of each year. Form No. 552 not May 1 of each year. Form

Through several issuances, FERC has signaled its intention of undertaking a "rigorous review" of reasonably foreseeable greenhouse gas ("GHG") emissions of new or expanded natural gas transportation facilities and their contribution to climate change, along with the enhanced consideration of other factors such as project need, landowner impacts and environmental justice, in determining the benefits of a project and the significance of its environmental impacts. FERC considers project benefits and environmental impacts in determining whether to issue a certificate to construct a new project under the Natural Gas Act and in its environmental analysis required under the National Environmental Policy Act. On March 24, 2022, FERC announced that it was seeking comments on these draft proposed policies, which initially had been issued as guidance. If adopted, these policy changes may create delays in, and potentially affect the outcomes of the read for and environmental impacts in determining whether a project is required by the present or future public convenience or necessity under the Natural Gas Act, which in turn may reduce the development of interstate natural gas pipeline projects and the future availability of pipeline capacity to transport our natural gas production.

The FERC also regulates rates and terms and conditions of service on interstate transportation of liquids, including NGLs, under the Interstate Commerce Act, as it existed on October 1, 1977 ("ICA"). Prices received from the sale of liquids may be affected by the cost of transporting those products to market. The ICA requires that certain interstate liquids pipelines maintain a tariff on file with FERC. The tariff sets forth the established rates as well as the rules and regulations governing the service. The ICA requires, among other things, that rates and terms and conditions of service on interstate common carrier pipelines be "just and reasonable." Such pipelines must also provide jurisdictional service in a manner that is not unduly discriminatory or unduly preferential. Shippers have the power to challenge new and existing rates and terms and conditions of service before FERC.

The rates charged by many interstate liquids pipelines are currently adjusted pursuant to an annual indexing methodology established and regulated by FERC, under which pipelines increase or decrease their rates in accordance with an index adjustment specified by FERC. For the five-year period beginning July 1, 2021, FERC established an annual index adjustment equal to the change in the producer price index for finished goods minus 0.21%. This adjustment is subject to review every five years. Under FERC's regulations, a liquids pipeline can request a rate increase the taxeceds the rate obtained through application of the indexing methodology by obtaining market based rate authority (demonstrating the pipeline lacks market power), establishing rates by settlement with all existing shippers, or through a cost of service approach (if the pipeline establishes that a substantial divergence exists between the actual costs experienced by the pipeline and the rates resulting from application of the indexing methodology). Increases in liquids transportation rates mark result in lower revenue and cash flows for us.

In addition, due to common carrier regulatory obligations of liquids pipelines, capacity must be prorated among shippers in an equitable manner in the event there are nominations in excess of capacity or for new shippers. Therefore, new shippers or increased volume by existing shippers may reduce the capacity available to us. Any prolonged interruption in the operation or curtailment of available capacity of the pipelines that we rely upon for liquids transportation could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. However, we believe that access to liquids pipeline transportation services generally will be available to us to the same extent as to our similarly situated competitors.

On February 17, 2022, FERC issued a Notice of Inquiry, seeking to explore oil pipeline capacity allocation issues that arise when anomalous conditions affect the demand for oil pipeline capacity and what actions FERC should consider to address those allocation issues. This proceeding was initiated in part by the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on jet fuel shippers' ability to access capacity on oil pipeline using historic-based protationing. However, the Notice of Inquiry sought comments on the broader issue of diminished access to oil pipeline capacity during anomalous conditions. Rates for intrastate pipeline transportation of liquids are subject to regulation by state regulatory commissions. The basis for intrastate liquids pipeline regulatory oversight and scruting given to intrastate liquids pipeline transportation.

rates, varies from state to state. We believe that the regulation of liquids pipeline transportation rates will not affect our operations in any way that is materially different from the effects on our similarly situated competitors

In addition to FERC's regulations, we are required to observe anti market manipulation laws with regard to our physical sales of energy commodities. In November 2009, the FTC issued regulations pursuant to the Energy Independence and Security Act of 2007, intended to prohibit market manipulation in the petroleum industry. Violators of the regulations face civil penalties of up to approximately \$1,426,319 per violation per day. In July 2010, Congress passed the Dodd-Frank Act, which incorporated an expansion of the authority of the CFTC to prohibit market manipulation authority. The rules subject violators to a civil penalty of up to the greater of approximately \$1,404,520 or triple the monetary gain to the person for each violation.

Regulation of Environmental and Occupational Safety and Health Matters

Our operations are subject to stringent federal, state and local laws and regulations governing occupational safety and health aspects of our operations, the discharge of materials into the environment and the protection of the environment and natural resources (including threatened and endangered species and their habitat). Numerous governmental entities, including the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency ("EPA") and analogous state agencies have the power to enforce compliance with these laws and regulations and the permits issued under them, often requiring difficult and costly actions.

These laws and regulations may, among other things (i) require the acquisition of permits to conduct drilling and other regulated activities; (ii) restrict the types, quantities and concentration of various substances that can be released into the environment or injected into formations in connection with oil and natural gas drilling and production activities; (iii) limit or prohibit drilling activities on certain lands lying within wilderness, wetlands and other protected areas; (iv) require remedial measures to mitigate pollution from former and ongoing operations, such as requirements to close pits and plug abandoned wells; (v) apply specific health and safety criteria addressing worker protection; and (vi) impose substantial liabilities for pollution resulting from drilling and production operations. Any failure to comply with these laws and regulations may result in the assessment of administrative, evil and activity in of corrective or remedial additions, the occurrence of delays or restrictions in periformance of professment of arms environment or injected areas, and the substantial liabilities for pollution resulting from drilling and production operations. Any failure to comply with these laws and regulations may or restrictions in periformance of performance of orders environment of a some or all of our operations. Private parties may also have the right to pursue legal actions to enforce compliance as well as to seek damages for non-compliance with environmental laws and regulations or for personal injury or property damage.

These laws and regulations may also restrict the rate of oil and natural gas production below the rate that would otherwise be possible. The regulatory burden on the oil and natural gas industry increases the cost of doing business in the industry and consequently affects profitability. The trend in environment regulation has been to place more restrictions and limitations on activities that may affect the environment, and thus any changes in environmental laws and regulations or re-interpretation of enforcement policies that result in more stringent and consequently affects profitability. The trend in environment regulation has been to place more restrictions and limitations or activities that may affect the environment, and thus any changes in environmental laws and regulations or re-interpretation of enforcement policies that result in more stringent and consequently affect us a material adverse effect on our function and results of operations. We may be unable to pass on such increased compliance costs to our customers. Moreover, accidental releases or spills may occur in the course of our operations, and we cannot assure you that we will not incur significant costs and liabilities as a result of such releases or spills, including any third-party claims for damage to property, natural resources op persons. The cost of continued compliance with existing requirements is not expected to materially affect us. However, there is no assurance that compliance costs will lemain the same in the future for such existing or any new laws and regulations or that costs related to such future compliance will not have a material adverse effect on our business and operating results.

In addition, governmental, scientific, and public concern over the threat of climate change arising from GHG emissions has resulted in increasing political and regulatory risks in the United States, including climate change related pledges made by certain elected public officials. Although President Biden issued several executive orders focused on addressing climate change during his time in office, including orders with a may impact the costs to produce, or demand for, oil and natural gas, actions undersken by the second trump sandary signal a shift in the United States "energy policy and profities. For example, on the first day of his second term, President Trump issued various executive orders directing cliental exercise emergency authorities to facilitate conventioned nergy production, including an executive order that revokes nearly 80 executive order issued by President Trump also orders directing events from the Paris climate change agreement, mandated ending financial commitments under the United Nations Framework Convention on O usand our customers' operations, if any.



The following is a summary of the more significant existing and proposed environmental and occupational safety and health laws, as amended from time to time, to which our business operations are or may be subject and for which compliance may have a material adverse impact on our capital expenditures, results of operations or financial position.

Hazardous Substances and Handling Wastes

The Resource Conservation and Recovery Act ("RCRA"), and comparable state statutes, regulate the generation, transportation, treatment, storage, disposal and cleanup of hazardous and non-hazardous wastes. Pursuant to rules issued by the EPA, the individual states administer some or all of the provisions of RCRA, sometimes in conjunction with their own, more stringent requirements. Drilling fluids, produced waters, and most of the other wastes associated with the exploration, development, and production of oil, natural gas and NGLs, if properly handled, are currently exempt from regulation as hazardous waste under RCRA and, instead, are regulated under RCRA's less stringent non-hazardous waste provisions, state laws or other federal laws. However, it is possible that certain natural gas drilling and production wastes nov classified as non-hazardous could be classified as hazardous wastes in the future. Any such change could result in an interease in our, as well as the oil and natural gas exploration and production function industry's costs to manage and dispose of wastes, which could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial position. In the course of our operations, we generate some amounts of ordinary industrial wastes, such as paint wastes, waste oils that may be regulated as hazardous wastes under RCRA.

The Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act ("CERCLA"), also known as the Superfund law, and comparable state laws impose joint and several liability, without regard to fault or legality of conduct, on classes of persons who are considered to be responsible for the release of a hazardous substance into the environment. These persons include the current and former owners and operators of the site where the release occurred and anyone who disposed of or arranged for the transportation or disposal of a hazardous substance released at the site. Under CERCLA, such persons may be subject to joint and several liability for the costs of cleaning up the hazardous substances that have been released into the environment, for damages to natural resources and for the costs of cleaning up the hazardous substances for the responsible classes of persons the costs they incur. In addition, it is not uncommon for neighboring landowners and other third parties to affect the first of the costs of our operations that may be regulated as hazardous substances uncomment. We generate materials in the course of our operations that may be regulated as hazardous substances under CERCLA.

We currently own, lease, or operate numerous properties that have been used for oil, natural gas and NGL exploration, production and processing for many years. Although we believe that we have utilized operating and waste disposal practices that were standard in the industry at the time, hazardous substances, wastes, or petroleum hydrocarbons may have been released on, under or from the properties owned or leased by us, or on, under or from other locations, including offsite locations, where such substances have been taken for treatment or disposal. In addition, some of our properties have been operated by third parties or by previous owners or operators whose treatment and disposal of hazardous substances, wastes, or petroleum hydrocarbons were not under our control. These properties and the substances disposed or released on, under or from ther may be subject to CERCLA, RCRA and malogues state laws. Under such laws, we could be required to undertake response or corrective measures, which could include removal of previously disposed substances and wastes, cleanup of contaminated property or performance of remedial plugging or pit closure operations to prevent future contamination, the costs of which could be substantial.

Water Discharges

The Federal Water Pollution Control Act, also known as the Clean Water Act ("CWA"), and analogous state laws, impose restrictions and strict controls with respect to the discharge of pollutants, including spills and leaks of hazardous substances, into state waters and waters of the United States ("WOTUS"). The discharge of pollutants into regulated waters is prohibited, except in accordance with the terms of a permit issued by the EPA or an analogous state agency. Spill prevention, control and contermessure plan requirements imposed under the CWA require appropriate containment berms and similar structures to help prevent the contamination of navigable waters in the event of a permit biorocarbon tank spill, rupture or leak. In addition, the CWA and analogous state agences and inclusion of avaigable waters in the event of a pertoleum hydrocarbon tank spill, rupture or leak. In addition, the CWA and analogous state agences and instructures of storm water runoff from certain types of facilities. Federal and state regulatory agencies can impose administrative, civil and criminal penalties for non-compliance with discharge permits or other requirements of the CWA and analogous state laws and regulations.



The CWA also prohibits the discharge of dredge and fill material in regulated waters, including wetlands, unless authorized by permit. The EPA and the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers ("Corps") has issued rules attempting to clarify the federal jurisdictional reach over WOTUS since 2015, including the Navigable Waters Protection Rule during the Tramp administration, rules reverting back to the 1986 WOTUS definition during the Biden administration, and rules reinstating the pre-2015 definition finalized in January of 2023. In May 2023, the Supreme Court decided Sackett v. EPA, which sharply curtailed the EPA's and Corps' jurisdictional reach by limiting the types of wetlands that fell under WOTUS. Sackett codified the definition of WOTUS as only "geographical features that are described in ordinary parlance as "streams, oceans, rivers, and lakes" and to adjacent wetlands that are "indistinguishable" from those bodies of water due to a continuous surface connection. The EPA issued corps jurisdiction on August 29, 2023. In September 2023. The Angulate the decision in Sackett. The final rule eliminated the "significant nexus" test from consideration when determining federal jurisdiction and clarified that the CORS published a direct-o-final rule redefining WOTUS to amend the January 2023 rule and align with the decision in Sackett. The final rule eliminated the "significant nexus" test from consideration when determining federal jurisdiction and clarified that the CWA only extends to relatively permanent bodies of water. The final rule is currently subject to challenges in federal distributer of the pending in tiggiation over the WOTUS rule, we could be subject to additional permitting obligations, which could lead to potential project delays and additional compliance costs.

The primary federal law related specifically to oil spill liability is the Oil Pollution Act of 1990 ("OPA"), which amends and augments the oil spill provisions of the CWA and imposes certain duties and liabilities on certain "responsible parties" related to the prevention of oil spill and damages resulting from such spills in or threatening waters of the United States or adjoining shorelines. For example, operators of certain oil and natural gas facilities must develop, implement and maintain facility response plans, conduct annual spill training for certain employees and provide varying degrees of financial assurance. Owners or operators of a facility, vessel or pieline that is a source of an oil discharge or that poses the substantial threat of discharge is one type of "responsible party who is liable. The OPA applies joint and several liability, without regard to fault, to each liable party for oil removal costs and a variety of public and private damages. Although defenses exist, they are limited. As such, a violation of the OPA has the potential to adversely affect our operations.

Subsurface Injections

In the course of our operations, we produce water in addition to oil, natural gas and NGLs. Water that is not recycled may be disposed of in disposal wells, which inject the produced water into non-producing subsurface formations. Underground injection operations are regulated pursuant to the Underground Injection Control ("UIC") program established under the federal Safe Drinking Water Act and analogous state laws. The UIC program requires permits from the EPA or an analogous shate agency for the construction and operations of disposal wells, established under the federal Safe Drinking Water Act and analogous state laws. The UIC program requires permits from the EPA or an analogous wells must be constructions, and restricts the types and quantities of fluids that may be disposed. A change in UIC disposal well regulations or the inability to obtain permits for new disposal wells in the future may affect our ability to dispose of produced water and ultimately increase the cost of our operations. For example, in response to recent estimic events near below ground disposal wells used for the injection of natural gas related wastewaters, federal and some state agency for the sub-type disposal wells used for the since science is have adopted, and other states are considering adopting, additional requirements related to esismic events have also led to an increase in tot lawsuits filed against exploration and production companies as well as the owners of underground injection wells. Increased costs associated with the transportation and disposal of produced water will have a material daverse effect on our operations.

Air Emissions

associated with oil and natural gas production and processing activities pursuant to the National Standards for Emission of Hazardous Air Pollutants program. With regard to production activities, these final rules require, among other things, the reduction of volatile organic compound ("VOC") emissions from certain fractured and refractured natural gas wells for which well completion operations are conducted and further requires that a subset of these selected wells use reduced emission completions, also known as "green completions." These regulations also establish specific new requirements regarding emissions from production related wet seal and reciprocating compressors, and from pneumatic controllers and storage vessels.

Additionally, the EPA in July 2023 issued a proposed rule to expand the scope of its Greenhouse Gas Reporting Program for certain petroleum and natural gas facilities. The proposed rule would make the reach of the program both broader and more granular, creating reporting obligations for a wider set of methane and other gas emissions events and requiring increased technical detail for certain other precising reporting obligations. The proposed rule indicated an intended effective date of January 1, 2025, but the final rule remains pending at this time and any final effective date thus remains uncertain. Should this rule go into effect without major changes, it could raise our costs of regulatory compliance.

The EPA has also imposed increasingly stringent performance standards on oil and gas operations. In 2016, the EPA issued regulations under NSPS OOOOa that require operators to reduce methane and VOC emissions from new, modified and reconstructed or and natural gas production gathering and booster stations, gas processing plants and natural gas transmission compressor stations. In December 2023, the EPA published a final version of the rule that expands and strengthens emissions reduction requirements for new, modified, and reconstructed oil and natural gas sources. Specifically, among other things, the rule requires the phase out of routine flaring of natural gas from new oil wells and routine leak monitorine leak monitorine is and compressor stations. Notably, the EPA updated the applicability date for Subparts OOOO hand OOOC to to becember 6, 2022, menting that sources considered existing sources, two years to develop and submit their plans for reducing methane from existing sources. The final emissions guidelines under Subpart OOOO pand color bas combered existing sources to the states' implementation of the states' singlementation plans, which will need to be approved by the EPA in individual rulemakings that could also be subject to legal challenge. As a result, future implementation of the states' singlementation and gas operations. For example, in 2022, the New Mexico Environment Department dopted new regulations establishing emission reduction requirements for storage vessels, compressors, turbines, states and compressor stations, and other equipment and processes. Increasingly stringent requirements on new oil and gas operations are subject.

The Bureau of Land Management (the "BLM") also finalized rules (the "BLM methane rule") in November 2016 that seek to limit methane emissions from exploration and production activities on federal lands by imposing limitations on venting and flaring of natural gas, as well as requirements for the implementation of leak detection and repair programs for certain processes and equipment. After attempts by the Trump administration to delay implementation of the BLM methane rule, and legal challenges both to the BLM methane rule and the delays, the BLM issued a final rule in September 2018 rescinding many of the provisions of the 2016 BLM methane rule, including the requirement to implement leak detection and repair programs, and imposing certain new requirements in a manner the BLM considered would reduce unnecessary compliance obligations on the industry. In November 2022, the BLM issued a new proposed rule to reduce the waste of natural gas, and legal enduring oil and gas production activities on federal and American Indian leases. BLM has now issued the final rule, which went into effect on June 10, 2024. The full impact of this new rule on our business is still not fully certain but could result in increases to our operating costs.

The EPA also finalized separate rules under the CAA in June 2016 regarding criteria for aggregating multiple sites into a single source for air quality permitting purposes applicable to the oil and natural gas industry. This rule could cause small facilities (such as tank batteries and compressor stations), on an aggregate basis, to be deemed a major source, thereby triggering more stringent air permitting requirements, which in turn could result in operational delays or require us to install costly pollution control equipment. In addition, in October 2015, the EPA source for air quality permitting the current standard of 75 pb for hour primary and secondary zones standards. And completed attainment/non-attainment designations in July 2018. EPA reviewed the 2015 standards in 2020, bur tretained the standard without revision. In October 2021, the EPA announced i will reconsidering advice provided by the Clena Air Scientific Advices of the exame standards of 75 pb for hour standards. and completed attainment/non-attainment designations in July 2018. EPA reviewed the 2015 standards in 2020, bur tretained the standard without revision. In October 2021, the EPA announced i will reconsidering advices provided by the Clena Air Scientific Advices Toron CasACC^{*}. As per of its new review. In EPA sought information from the scientific devices of the lengt and experiment as part of its new review. The EPA sought information from the scientific devices of the lengt advices of its new review, which will provide for

quantitative analyses to be considered in the policy assessment, remains forthcoming. Impacts associated with the 2015 standard vary by geographic location, but could include additional fees and more stringent permitting requirements, among other things. None of the counties in which we operate have been designated as non-attainment. In addition, in November 2021, the EPA revised the 2015 ozone NAAQS designations, which expanded a New Mexico non-attainment area to include parts of El Paso County, Texas and designated Weld County, Colorado as a non-attainment area. The EPA's designation of El Paso was vacated as impermissibly retroactive in June 2023 by the D.C. Circuit Court of Appeal, but the designation of Weld County was upheld. If the EPA were to adopt more stringent NAAQS for ground-level ozone spart of its reconsideration of the December 2020 exists are sequented to implement more stringent permitting and pollution control requirements as a result of this new final rule, which could apply to our operation. 10 2017, the EPA designated certain counties in southeastern New Mexico and West Texas located in the Permian Basin attainment/unclassifiable for the 2015 ozone NAAQS. In June 2022, EPA announced that it is considering a discretionary redesignation for these counties based on current monitoring data and other air quality factors, however EPA has yet to move forward with any redesignation. If the Permian Basin counties in which we operate were redesignated as nonattainment areas, this could subject us to increased regulatory burdens in the form of more stringent emission controls, emission offset requirements as and increased regulatory burdens in the form of more stringent emission controls, emission offset requirements and increased permitting delays and costs.

Compliance with one or more of these and other air pollution control and permitting requirements has the potential to delay the development of oil and natural gas projects and increase our costs of development and production, which costs could be significant. In addition, our failure to comply with these requirements could subject us to monetary penalties, injunctions, conditions or restrictions on operations and criminal enforcement actions.

Regulation of GHG Emissions (Climate Change)

In response to findings that emissions of carbon dioxide, methane and other GHGs present an endangerment to public health and the environment, the EPA has adopted regulations under existing provisions of the CAA that, among other things, establish Prevention of Significant Deterioration ("PSD") construction and Title V operating permit reviews for certain large stationary sources that are already potential major sources of certain principal, or criteria, pollutant emissions. Facilities required to obtain PSD permits for their GHG emission also will be required to meet "best available control technology" standards that typically will be established by state agencies. In addition, the EPA has adopted rules requiring the monitoring and annual reporting of GHG emissions from specified large, GHG emission sources in the United States, including certain onshore and offshore and offshore oil and natural gas production sources, which include certain of our operations. As discussed above, federal regulatory action with respect to GHG emissions from the oil and natural gas sector has focused on methane emissions; however, implementation of the federal methane rules is uncertain at this time.

In the United States, no comprehensive climate change legislation has been implemented at the federal level. However, the Inflation Reduction Act, adopted in 2022, imposes several new climate-related requirements on oil and gas operators, including a first-ever feo on GHG emissions from certain facilities through a fee for leaks or venting of methane, starting at \$900 per ton in 2024 and rising to \$1,200 per ton in 2025, and to \$1,500 per ton in and after 2026. The act also appropriates significant federal funding for renewable energy initiatives. In November 2024, the EPA issued a final rule to implement the emissions charge with an effective date of January 17, 2025 for reporting year 2024 emissions. However, in February 2025, Congress passed a joint resolution to repeal this rule, which is currently pending President Trump's approval. Further implementation of the emission charge under the Inflation Reduction Act is therefore uncertain at this time. These regulatory developments, along with ongoing uncertainties, may make it harder for the oil and gas industry to attract capital. Additionally, the BHA issued a final rule to fossil fuel industry, and increased emphasis on climate-related risks across government agencies and economic sectors. Additionally, the SEC issued a final rule in April 2024 that would mandate extensive disclosure of climate-related data, risks, and opportunities, including financial impacts, physical and transition risks, related governance and strategy, and GHG emissions, for certain public companies. However, the rule is stayed pending litigation, and Acting SEC Chairman Uyeda has instructed the SEC to revisit its position on the rule.

In the absence of comprehensive federal climate legislation, a number of state and regional cap and trade programs have emerged that typically require major sources of GHG emissions to acquire and surrender emission allowances in return for emitting those GHGs. Similarly, various states (including Colorado) have adopted or are considering adopting laws requiring certain climate disclosures. In addition, the United States is one of almost 200 nations that, in December 2015, agreed to the Paris Agreement, an international climate change agreement in Paris, France that calls for countrises to set their prevident Trump has initiated action to withdraw the United States from the Paris Agreement, this withdrawal is not immediate and may animate stronger actions by various other policymakers, including additional laws or regulations on the production or consumption of the fuels we produce.



Although it is not possible at this time to predict how new laws or regulations in the United States that may be adopted or issued to address GHG emissions would impact our business, any such future laws, regulations or legal requirements imposing reporting or permitting obligations on, or limiting emissions of GHGs from, our equipment and operations could require us to incur costs to reduce emissions of GHGs associated with our operations as well as delays or restrictions in our ability to permit GHG emissions from new or modified sources. New laws or regulations may also negatively impact evalvantage; for example, as discussed above, the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022 includes a variety of tax credits to incentivize the development and use of solar, wind, and other alternative energy sources while imposing several new requirements on oil and gas operators. In addition, substantial limitations on GHG emissions could adversely affect demand for the oil and natural gas we produce and lower the value of our reserves.

Hydraulic Fracturing Activities

Hydraulic fracturing is an important and common practice that is used to stimulate production of natural gas from dense subsurface rock formations. Hydraulic fracturing involves the injection of water, sand or alternative proppant and chemicals under pressure into targeted geological formations to fracture the surrounding rock and stimulate production. We engage in hydraulic fracturing as part of our operations currently and may continue to do so in the future.

Hydraulic fracturing is typically regulated by state oil and natural gas commissions. However, several federal agencies have asserted regulatory authority over certain aspects of the process. For example, the EPA published final CAA regulations in 2012 and, more recently, in June 2016 governing performance standards, including standards for the capture of air emissions released during oil and natural gas hydraulic fracturing, leak detection, and permitting and separately published in June 2016 an effluent limitation guideline final rule prohibiting the discharge of wastewater from onshore unconventional oil and natural gas extraction facilities to publicly owned wastewater treatment plants. In December 2016, the EPA released its final report on the potential impacts of hydraulic fracturing may inpact dirinking water resources. The final report concluded that "water cycle" activities associated with hydraulic fracturing on a gas routed or inking water resources. The final resources final rule to reduce the waste of natural gas from venting, nal leaks during oil and gas production activities on federal and American Indian leases.

Some states have adopted, and other states are considering adopting, regulations that could impose new or more stringent permitting, disclosure or well construction requirements on hydraulic fracturing operations. State and federal regulatory agencies have also recently focused on a possible connection between the operation of injection wells used for oil and natural gas waste disposal and seismic activity. Similar concerns have been raised that hydraulic fracturing may also contribute to seismic activity. Aside from state laws, local land use restrictions may restrict drilling in general or hydraulic fracturing in particular. Municipalities may adopt local ordinances attempting to prohibit hydraulic fracturing alogether or, at a minimum, allow such fracturing processes within their jurisdictions to proceed but regulating the time, place and manner of those processes.

From time to time, legislation has been introduced, but not enacted, in Congress to provide for federal regulation of hydraulic fracturing and to require disclosure of the chemicals used in the fracturing process. Meanwhile, the regulation of hydraulic fracturing has continued at the state level. In the event that a new, federal or state level of legal restrictions relating to the hydraulic fracturing process is adopted in areas where we operate, we may incur additional costs to comply with such federal requirements that may be significant in nature, and also could become subject to additional permitting requirements and experience added delays or curtailment in the pursuit of exploration, development, or production activities.

Activities on Federal Lands and State Lands

Oil and gas exploration, development and production activities on federal lands, including American Indian lands, are administered by the BLM. Operations on federal and tribal lands are frequently subject to permitting delays. Operations on these lands are also subject to the Stational Environmental Policy Act ("NEPA"). NEPA requires federal agencies, including the BLM, to evaluate major agency actions having the potential to significantly impact the environment. In the course of such evaluations, an agency will prepare an Environmental Assessment that assesses the potential direct, indirect and cumulative impacts of a proposed project and, if necessary, will prepare a more detailed Environmental Impact Statement that may be made available for public review and comment. In July 2020, the White House Council on Environmental Quality ("CEQ") issued a final rule amending NEPA regulations designed to overhaul the system and speed up federal agencies' approval of projects. Among other things, the rule narrows the definition of "effects" to exclude the terms "direct," "indirect," and "cumulative" and redefine the term to be "reasonably foreseeable" and having "a reasonably close causal relationship to the proposed action or alternatives." However, several states and environmental groups have filed challenges to this rulemaking, and CEQ's amendments are subject to reconsideration and may be subject to reversal or

change. CEQ issued an Interim Final Rule in June 2021, which extended the deadline by two years (to September 14, 2023) for federal agencies to develop or update their NEPA implementing procedures to conform to the CEQ regulations, and in April 2022, CEQ issued the Phase 1 Final Rule. The rule finalizes a narrow set of changes to generally restore regulatory provisions that were in effect for decades before the 2020 rule modified them for the first time. In June 2023, the Fiscal Responsibility Act was signed into law by Presidem Biden, which also included reforms to NEPA. In May 2024, the CEQ issued the Final Phase 2 Rule, which took effect on July 1, 2024. However, in January 2025, the D.C. Circuit Court declared in *Marin Audubon Society v. Federal Aviation Administration* that CEQ lacks authority to issue judicially enforceable regulations under NEPA. Additionally, on January 20, 2025, President Trump issued the Executive Order "Unleashing America Energy", which directs CEQ to provide guidance on implementing NEPA and propose rescinding CEQ's existing NEPA implementing regulations within 30 days.

The impact these updates may have to the NEPA regulations and statutory text still remains uncertain and could have an effect on our operations and our ability to obtain governmental permits. We currently have exploration, development and production activities on federal lands and our proposed exploration, development and production activities are expected to include leasing of federal mineral interests, which will require the acquisition of governmental permits or authorizations that are subject to the requirements of NEPA. This process has the potential to development of oil and natural gas projects. Authorizations under NEPA are also subject to protest, appeal or litigation, any or all of which may delay or halt projects. Moreover, depending on the mitigation strategies recommended in Environmental Assessments or Environmental Impact Statements, we could incur added costs, which may be substantial.

Moreover, the Biden administration's January 2021 climate change executive order directed the Secretary of the Interior to pause new oil and natural gas leasing on public lands and in offshore waters pending completion of a comprehensive review of the federal permitting and leasing practices. In November 2021, the U.S. Department of the Interior released its "Report On The Federal Oil And Gas Leasing Program," which assessed the current state of oil and gas leasing on federal lands and proposed several reforms, including raising royalty rates and implementing stricter standards for entities seeking to purchase oil and gas leases. In January 2022, a federal lastici court judge in Washington, D.C. vacated the results of the federal government's Lease Sale 257, effectively.") reinstated Lease Sale 257 in September 2022. In February 2022, a federal district court judge in Louisiana blocked the Biden Administration's method of calculating the social costs associated with GHGs, and specifically blocked federal agencies from considering the findings from the White House Interagency Working Group, which had been tasked with devising new metrics based on the Obama-era calculations. In response, also in February 2022, the Biden administration's and certain federal courts' focus on the elimite change impacts of federal projects could result in significant changes to the federal oil and gas leases. The Biden administration is not evising new metrics based on the Obama-era calculations. In response, also in February 2022, the Biden administration's and certain federal courts' focus on the elimite change impacts of federal projects could result in significant changes to the federal oil and gas leases the second Trumy Administration have signified as shift in the Biden-rea policies on the ability to obtain required permits, could have a material adverse impact on our operators and, in turn, our operations. Notably, executive actions in the early stages of the second Trumy Administration have signified as shift in the Biden-re

In addition, the New Mexico state legislature in 2019 considered House Bill 206, which, if passed, would have enacted an Environmental Review Act comparable to NEPA. Specifically, the Environmental Review Act would require state governmental agencies at all levels to consider the qualitative, technical and economic factors relating to a project that may impact public health, ecosystems and the environment, the long-term as well as short-term benefits and costs of the proposed project, the cumulative impacts of the proposed project, and reasonable alternatives to proposed actions affecting the environment, the project since and enacted in the future, the process contemplated by the Environmental Review Act has the potential, like NEPA, to delay or limit, or increase the cost of, the development of natural gas, oil and NGL projects in New Mexico, which costs could be substantial.

Endangered Species and Migratory Birds Considerations

The federal Endangered Species Act ("ESA"), and comparable state laws were established to protect endangered and threatened species. Pursuant to the ESA, if a species is listed as threatened or endangered, restrictions may be imposed on activities adversely affecting that species' habitat. Similar protections are offered to migrating birds under the Migratory Bird Treaty Act. We may conduct operations on oil and natural gas leases in areas where certain species that are listed as threatened or endangered are known to exist and where other species, such as the sage grouse, that potentially could be listed as threatened or endangered under the ESA may exist. Moreover, as a result of a 2011 settlement agreement, the



U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service ("FWS") was required to make a determination on listing numerous species as endangered or threatened under the ESA by no later than completion of the agency's 2017 fiscal year. The FWS did not meet that deadline, but continues to review species for listing under the ESA. In March 2024, the Biden Administration issued a final rule concerning the procedures and criteria used for listing, reclassifying, and delisting protected species, and designating critical habitat. The identification or designation of previously unprotected species as threatened or endangered in areas where underlying property operations are conducted could cause us to incur increased costs arising from species protection measures, time delays or limitations on our exploration and protocution activities that could have an adverse impact on our ability to develop and produce reserves. For example, the FWS to Stude final rule in November 2022 listing two Distinct Population Segements ("PDS") of the Lesser Prairic-Chicken as endangered, and the Northern DPS as threatened. In addition, in July, 2023, FWS promulgated a Final Rule under Section 10(j) of the Endangered Species Act pertaining to "experimental habitat for threatened or endangered species, enabling the introduction of such seques souside their probable historical habitats when the agency finds it to be "necessary and appropriate" under certain criteria. Designation of areas in which we operate as new experimental habitat for threatened or endangered species could slow or narrow our operations and adversely affect our financial performance.

Similarly, if we were to have a portion of our leases designated as critical or suitable habitat, it could adversely impact the value of our leases. In August 2019, the FWS and the National Marine Fisheries Service issued three rules amending the implementation of the ESA regulations, among other things revising the process for listing species and designating critical habitat. Two more rules were finalized in 2020, which narrowed the definition of habitat and revised the criteria for designating and excluding critical habitat. A coalition of states and environmental groups has challenged the three 2019 rules. In November 2022, the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of California remanded (without vacatur) the 2019 rules to FWS for further review, with potential changes to the remanded rules planned for 2023. The 2020 rules were rescricted in the summer of 2022. In addition, the federal government has issued indictiments under the Migratory Bird Treaty Act to several oil and natural gas companies after deal migratory birds were found ear review duin changes to the December 2017, the Department of Interior responded by issuing a new uplinion revoking its prior enforcement policy and concluded that an incidental take is not a violation of the Migratory Bird Treaty Act. In August 2020, a federal district court struck down the December 2017 opinion, and the Department of the Interior responded by issuing a new rule in January 2021 that reduced the activities that could incur liability under the MBTA. The Biden administration has since revoked the January 2021 rule; published an Advanced Notice of Proposed Rulemaking announcing an intent to solicit comments to help develop proposed regulations establishing a permitting system to authorize, under certain circumstances, the incidental take of migratory birds; order "establishing criteria for the types of conduct that will be a priority for enforcement activities with respect to incidental take of migratory birds."

OSHA

We are subject to the requirements of the OSHA and comparable state statutes whose purpose is to protect the health and safety of workers. In addition, the OSHA hazard communication standard, the Emergency Planning and Community Right to Know Act and comparable state statutes and any implementing regulations require that we organize and/or disclose information about hazardous materials used or produced in our operations and that this information be provided to employees, state and local governmental authorities and citizens.

Related Permits and Authorizations

Many environmental laws require us to obtain permits or other authorizations from state and/or federal agencies before initiating certain drilling, construction, production, operation, or other natural gas activities, and to maintain these permits and compliance with their requirements for on-going operations. These permits are generally subject to protest, appeal, or litigation, which can in certain cases delay or halt projects and cease production or operation of wells, pipelines, and other operations.

Related Insurance

We maintain insurance against some risks associated with above or underground contamination that may occur as a result of our exploration and production activities. There can be no assurance that this insurance will continue to be commercially available or that this insurance will be available at premium levels that justify its purchase by us. The occurrence of a significant event that is not fully insured or indemnified against could have a materially adverse effect on our financial condition and operations.

Human Capital Resources

As of December 31, 2024, we had 209 total employees, 201 of which were full-time employees. From time to time, we utilize the services of independent contractors to perform various field and other services. We are not a party to any collective bargaining agreements, and have not experienced any strikes or work stoppages. In general, we believe that employee relations are satisfactory.

We are focused on attracting, engaging, developing, retaining and rewarding top talent. We strive to enhance the economic and social well-being of our employees and the communities in which we operate. We are committed to providing a welcoming, inclusive environment for our workforce, with best-in-class training and career development opportunities to enable employees to thrive and achieve their career goals. The health, safety, and well-being of our employees is of the utmost importance.

Available Information

We file Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and related amendments, exhibits and other information with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC. You may access and read our filings without charge through the SEC's website at www.sec.gov or through our website at www.txopartners.com, as soon as reasonably practicable after such materials are electronically filed with or furnished to the SEC pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act. Information contained on, or accessible through, our website shall not be deemed incorporated into and is not a part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Our business involves a high degree of risk. Limited partner interests are inherently different from the capital stock of a corporation, although many of the business risks to which we are subject are similar to those that would be faced by a corporation engaged in a similar business. Additionally, new risks may emerge at any time and we cannot predict those risks or estimate the extent to which they may affect financial performance.

If any of the following risks actually occur, our business, financial condition or results of operations could be materially adversely affected. In that case, we might not be able to pay distributions on our common units, the trading price of our common units could decline and our unitholders could lose all or part of their investment.

Risks Related to Cash Distributions

We may not have sufficient available cash to pay any quarterly distribution on our common units following the establishment of cash reserves and payment of expenses.

We may not have sufficient available cash each quarter to pay distributions on our common units. Under the terms of our partnership agreement, the amount of cash available for distribution will be reduced by our operating expenses and the amount of any cash reserves established by our general partner to provide for future operations, future capital expenditures, including development, optimization and exploitation of our oil and natural gas properties, future debt service requirements and future cash distributions to our unitholders. The amount of available cash that we distribute to our unitholders will depend principally on the cash we generate from operations, which will depend on, among other factors:

- · the amount of oil, natural gas and NGLs we produce;
- · the prices at which we sell our oil, natural gas and NGL production;
- · the amount and timing of settlements on our commodity derivative contracts;
- · the level of our capital expenditures, including scheduled and unexpected maintenance expenditures;
- · the level of our operating costs, including payments to our general partner and its affiliates for general and administrative expenses; and

· the level of our interest expenses, which will depend on the amount of our outstanding indebtedness and the applicable interest rate.

Furthermore, the amount of cash we have available for distribution depends primarily on our cash flow, including cash from financial reserves and working capital or other borrowings, and not solely on profitability, which will be affected by non-cash items. As a result, we may make cash distributions during periods when we record net income for financial accounting purposes.

The amount of our quarterly cash distributions from our available cash, if any, may vary significantly both quarterly and annually and will be directly dependent on the performance of our business. We do not have a minimum quarterly distribution and could pay no distribution with respect to any particular quarter.

Our future business performance may be volatile, and our cash flows may be unstable. We do not have a minimum quarterly distribution. Because our quarterly distributions will significantly correlate to the cash we generate each quarter after payment of our fixed and variable expenses, future quarterly distributions paid to our unitholders will vary significantly from quarter to quarter and may be zero. Please read "Cash Distribution Policy."

Risks Related to Our Business and the Oil, Natural Gas and NGL Industry

The volatility of oil, natural gas and NGL prices due to factors beyond our control greatly affects our financial condition, results of operations and cash available for distribution.

Our revenues, operating results, cash available for distribution and the carrying value of our oil and natural gas properties depend significantly upon the prevailing prices for oil, natural gas and NGLs. Prices for oil, natural gas and NGLs are subject to wide fluctuations in response to relatively minor changes in supply and demand, market uncertainty and a variety of additional factors beyond our control. These factors include, but are not limited to:

- · worldwide and regional economic conditions impacting the supply and demand for oil, natural gas and NGLs;
- the level of global oil and natural gas exploration and production;
- political and economic conditions and events in foreign oil and natural gas producing countries, including embargoes, continued hostilities in the Middle East and other sustained military campaigns, the armed conflict in Ukraine and associated economic sanctions on Russia, conditions in South America, Central America, China and Russia, and acts of terrorism or sabotage;
- the ability of and actions taken by members of Organization of the Petroleum Exporting Countries ("OPEC") and other oil-producing nations in connection with their arrangements to maintain oil prices and production controls;
- · the impact on worldwide economic activity of an epidemic, outbreak or other public health events, such as COVID-19;
- · the proximity, capacity, cost and availability of gathering and transportation facilities;
- · localized and global supply and demand fundamentals;
- · weather conditions across the globe;
- technological advances affecting energy consumption and energy supply;
- · speculative trading in commodity markets, including expectations about future commodity prices;
- the proximity of our natural gas, NGL and oil production to, and capacity, availability and cost of, natural gas pipelines and other transportation and storage facilities, and other factors that result in differentials to benchmark prices;

- the impact of energy conservation efforts;
- the price and availability of alternative fuels;
- stockholder activitism or activities by non-governmental organizations to restrict the exploration, development and production of oil and natural gas to minimize the emission of greenhouse gases;
- · the impact of tariffs on energy products and other imports to and exports from foreign nations, including Mexico, Canada and China;
- · domestic, local and foreign governmental regulation and taxes; and
- overall domestic and global economic conditions.

These factors and the volatility of the energy markets make it extremely difficult to predict future oil and natural gas price movements accurately. Changes in oil, natural gas and NGL prices have a significant impact on the amount of oil, natural gas and NGL that we can produce economically, the value of our reserves and on our cash flows. Historically, oil, natural gas and NGL prices and markets have been volatile, and those prices and markets they loc ontinue to be volatile in the future. For example, during the period from January 1, 2022 through Deeperiod Total and the strate gas and market disruptions resulting from the Russia-Ukraine war and sanctions on Russia. Oil prices moderated over the second half of 2022 and the first half of 2022 the total sance that the second half of 2023 as a result of expected supply constraints and hostilities in the Middle East. Since these concerns did not materialize, oil prices declined in December 2023 but continuing hostilities and the prices higher in the first half of 2024. However, increased supply lot to lower prices in the second half of 2024. Any substantial decline in the price of oil and natural gas will likely have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and cash available for distribution.

Unless we replace the reserves we produce, our revenues and production will decline, which would adversely affect our cash flow from operations and our ability to make distributions to our unitholders.

We may be unable to pay quarterly distributions to our unitholders without substantial capital expenditures that maintain our asset base. Producing oil and natural gas reservoirs are characterized by declining production rates that vary depending upon reservoir characteristics and other factors. Our future reserves and production and, therefore, our cash flow and ability to make distributions are highly dependent on our success in efficiently developing, optimizing and exploiting our current reserves. Our production decline rates may be significantly higher than currently sufficiently function and exploiting our current reserves. Our production decline rate may be significantly higher than currently be may not be able to develop, find or acquire additional reserves to replace our current and future production on economically acceptable terms, which would adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations and reduce cash available for distribution to our unitholders.

If commodity prices decline and remain depressed for a prolonged period, production from a significant portion of our properties may become uneconomic and cause downward adjustments of our reserve estimates and write downs of the value of such properties, which may adversely affect our financial condition and our ability to make distributions to our unitholders.

Significantly lower commodity prices over extended periods of time may render many of our development projects unceconomic and result in a downward adjustment of our reserve estimates, which would negatively impact our borrowing base and ability to borrow to fund our operations or make distributions to our unitholders to a sensit, we may reduce the amount of distributions paid to our unitholders cases paying distributions. In addition, a significant or sustained decline in commodity prices could hinder our ability to effectively execute our hedging strategy. For example, during a period of declining commodity prices, we may enter into commodity derivative contracts at relatively unattractive prices in order to mitigate a potential decrease in our borrowing base upon a redetermination.

Prior to 2022, our historical impairment of proved properties included \$\$11.5 million of proved property impairments from 2014 through 2021Due to the improvement in commodity pricing environment and industry conditions, we did not record any impairments in 2022 or 2024. However, with the decline of commodity prices late in 2023, increased



costs and a change in our approach to recording proved undeveloped reserves, werecorded an impairment of long-lived assets of \$223.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. The impairment was related toour assets in the Texas Permian Basin that are within our Cross Timbers joint venture. In the future, if commodity prices fall below certain levels, our production, proved reserves and cash flows will be adversely impacted and we may be required to record additional impairments, which could be material. Lower oil and natural gas prices may also result in a reduction in the borrowing base under our Credit Facility, which may be determined at the discretion of our lenders. See "—Any significant reduction in the borrowing base under our Credit Facility as a result of periodic borrowing base redeterminations or otherwise may negatively impact our ability to fund our operations."

Currently, our producing properties are concentrated in the Permian, San Juan and Williston Basins, making us vulnerable to risks associated with operating in a limited number of geographic areas.

As a result of our geographic concentration, adverse industry developments in our operating areas could have a greater impact on our financial condition and results of operations than if we were more geographically diverse. We may also be disproportionately exposed to the impact of regional supply and demand factors, governmental regulations or midstream capacity constraints. Delays or interruptions caused by such adverse developments could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

Similarly, the concentration of our assets within a small number of producing formations exposes us to risks, such as changes in field wide rules, which could adversely affect development activities or production relating to those formations. In addition, in areas where exploration and production activities are increasing, as has recently been the case in our operating areas, we are subject to increasing competition for drilling rigs, workover rigs, tubulars and other well equipment, services and supplies as well as increased labor costs and a decrease in qualified personnel, which may lead to periodic shortages or delays. The curtailments arising from these and similar circumstances may last from a few days to several months and, in many cases, we may be provided only limited, if any, notice as to when these circumstances will arise and their duration.

Drilling for and producing oil, natural gas and NGLs are high-risk activities with many uncertainties that could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash distributions to unitholders.

Our future financial condition and results of operations, and therefore our ability to make cash distributions to our unitholders, will depend on the success of our acquisition, development, optimization and exploitation activities, which are subject to numerous risks beyond our control, including the risk that drilling will not result in commercially viable production.

Our decisions to purchase, develop, optimize or otherwise exploit prospects or properties will depend in part on the evaluation of data obtained through geophysical and geological analyses, production data and engineering studies, the results of which are often inconclusive or subject to varying interpretations. For a discussion of the uncertainty involved in these processes, see "—Reserve estimates depend on many assumptions that may ultimately be inaccurate. Any material inaccuracies in reserve estimates or underlying assumptions will materially affect the quantities and present value of our reserves." In addition, our cost of drilling, completing and operating wells is often uncertain before drilling commences.

Further, many factors may curtail, delay or cancel our scheduled drilling projects, including the following:

- · unexpected or adverse drilling conditions
- delays imposed by or resulting from compliance with environmental and other governmental or regulatory requirements including permitting requirements, limitations on or resulting from wastewater discharge and the disposal of exploration and production wastes, including subsurface injections;
- · elevated pressure or irregularities in geological formations;
- · shortages of or delays in obtaining equipment and qualified personnel;
- · facility or equipment failures or accidents;
- lack of available gathering facilities or delays in construction of gathering facilities;



- · lack of available capacity on interconnecting transmission pipelines;
- adverse weather conditions, such as hurricanes, lightning storms, flooding, tornadoes, snow or ice storms and changes in weather patterns;
- · issues related to compliance with, or changes in, environmental and other governmental regulations;
- environmental hazards, such as oil and natural gas leaks, pipeline and tank ruptures, encountering naturally occurring radioactive materials, and unauthorized discharges of brine, well stimulation and completion fluids, toxic gases or other pollutants into the surface and
 subsurface environment:
- · declines in oil, natural gas and NGL prices;
- · the availability and timely issuance of required governmental permits and licenses; and

title defects or legal disputes regarding leasehold rights.

We may be unable to make accretive acquisitions or successfully integrate acquired businesses or assets, and any inability to do so may disrupt our business and hinder our growth potential.

Our ability to grow and to increase distributions to our unitholders depends in part on our ability to make acquisitions that result in an increase in cash available for distribution. There is intense competition for acquisition opportunities in our industry and we may not be able to complete the acquisition, do so on commercially acceptable terms or obtain sufficient financing to do so. Competition for acquisitions may increase the cost of, or cause us to refrain from, completing acquisitions.

In addition, our Credit Facility imposes certain limitations on our ability to enter into mergers or combination transactions and to make certain investments. Our Credit Facility also limits our ability to incur certain indebtedness, which could indirectly limit our ability to engage in acquisitions. See "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources—Revolving credit agreement."

The success of any completed acquisition will depend on our ability to integrate effectively the acquired business into our existing operations. The process of integrating acquired businesses may involve unforeseen difficulties and may require a disproportionate amount of our managerial and financial resources. Our failure to achieve consolidation savings, to successfully integrate the acquired businesses and assets into our existing operations or to minimize any unforeseen operational difficulties could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

Properties we acquire may not produce as projected, and we may be unable to determine reserve potential, identify liabilities associated with the properties that we acquire or obtain protection from sellers against such liabilities.

Acquiring oil and natural gas properties requires us to assess reservoir and infrastructure characteristics, including recoverable reserves, development and operating costs and potential liabilities, including, but not limited to, environmental liabilities. Such assessments are inexact and inherently uncertain. For these reasons, the properties we have acquired or may acquired in the future may not produce as projected. In connection with the assessments, we perform a review of the subject properties, but such a review werey well, pipeline or associated facility. We cannot necessarily observe structural and environmental problems, such as projectoris on grandwater contaminities is performed. We may be unable to obtain contractual indemnities from any seller for liabilities arising from or attributable to the period prior to our purchase of the property. We may be required to assume the risk of the physical condition of the properties in addition to the risk that the properties may not perform in accordance with our expectations.

Increased costs of capital could adversely affect our business.

Our business could be harmed by factors such as the availability, terms and cost of capital, increases in interest rates or a reduction in our credit rating. For example, during 2022 and the first half of 2023, the Federal Reserve raised the target range for the federal funds rate by 525 basis points to a range of 5.25% to 5.50% as of August 2023. While the Federal Reserve lowered the federal funds rate during 2024 to a range of 4.25% to 4.50%, our interest rate on our Credit Facility remains elevated at 8.3% as of December 31, 2024. Changes in any one or more of these factors could cause our cost of

doing business to increase, limit our access to capital, limit our ability to pursue acquisition opportunities, reduce our cash flows available and place us at a competitive disadvantage. Continuing disruptions and volatility in the global financial markets may lead to an increase in interest rates or a contraction in credit availability impacting our ability to finance our activities. A significant reduction in the availability of credit could materially and adversely affect our ability to achieve our business strategy and cash flows.

We incurred significant indebtedness to finance the Williston Basin Acquisitions

As of December 31, 2024, we have \$150.0 million of outstanding borrowings under our Credit Facility. This resulted in an increase to our net debt-to-Adjusted EBITDAX ratio to approximately one times

This indebtedness will increase our borrowing costs and may have the effect, among other things, of reducing our flexibility to respond to changing business and economic conditions. Furthermore, our borrowings under our revolving credit facility bear interest at a variable rate, and such indebtedness will expose us to interest rate risk, as our debt service obligations could increase if interest rates increase. As a result, this indebtedness will require that an increased portion of our cash flows from operations be used for the payment of interest and principal on such indebtedness, thereby reducing our ability to use cash flows from operations to fund working capital, capital expenditures and acquisitions and our cash variable for distribution to our uniholders.

Drilling locations that we decide to drill may not yield oil, natural gas or NGLs in commercially viable quantities.

We may in the future explore potential drilling locations in areas where we currently own properties and in other areas. These potential drilling locations would be in various stages of evaluation, ranging from a location that is ready to drill to a location that will require substantial additional interpretation. There is no way to predict in advance of drilling any hettice any particular location will yield oil, natural gas or NGLs in sufficient quantities to recover drilling or completion costs or to be consonically viable. The use of technologies and the study of producing fields in the same area will not enable us to know conclusively, prior to drilling, whether oil, natural gas or NGLs will be present or, if present, whether oil, natural gas or NGLs will be present or in sufficient quantities to be consonically viable. The use of technologies and the study of producing fields will be again of the same area will not enable us to know conclusively, prior to drilling, whether oil, natural gas or NGLs wills present or, if present, whether oil, natural gas or NGLs will be present or in sufficient quantities to be consonically viable. The use of technologies and assume you that the analogies we draw from available data from other wells, more fully explored locations or production fields will be applicable to our other identified drilling locations. Further, initial production from the well or abandonment of the well. We cannot assume you that the analogies we draw from available data from other wells, more fully explored locations or production fields will be applicable to our other identified drilling locations. Further, initial production rates reported by us or other operators may not be indicative of future or long-term production rates. The cost of drilling, completing and wells is often uncertain, and new wells may not be productive.

Because of these uncertain factors, we do not know if the potential well locations we have identified, or will identify, will ever be drilled or if we will be able to produce oil, natural gas and NGLs from these or any other potential locations. As such, our actual drilling activities may materially differ from those presently identified.

Any drilling activities we are able to conduct on these potential locations may not be successful or result in our ability to add additional proved reserves to our overall proved reserves or may result in a downward revision of our estimated proved reserves, which could have a material adverse effect on our future business, financial condition and results of operations.

We may incur losses as a result of title defects in the properties in which we invest.

It is our practice in acquiring oil and natural gas leases or interests not to incur the expense of relationing lawyers to examine the title to the mineral interest at the time of acquisition. Rather, we rely upon the judgment of lease brokers of landmen who perform the fieldwork in examining records in the appropriate governmental office before attempting to acquire a lease or other interest in a specific mineral interest. The existence of a material title deficiency can render a lease or other interest worthless and can adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition. The failure of title on a lease, in a unit or any other mineral interest my not be discovered until after a well is drilled, in which case we may lose the lease and the right to produce all or a portion of the mineral under the property.

We operate certain of our properties through a joint venture over which we have shared control.

We conduct certain of our operations through Cross Timbers, a joint venture owned 50% by us and 50% by the XTO Entities. For the year endedDecember 31, 2024, our interest in Cross Timbers represented approximately 24% of our revenuesexcluding the effects of our commodity derivative contracts and approximately 24% of our proved reserves.

In accordance with the JV LLCA, Cross Timbers is managed by us and governed by a member management committee comprised of six members, three of whom are appointed by us and three of whom are appointed by the XTO Entities. The JV LLCA requires that certain matters, including certain material contracts or acquisitions, mergers, sale of substantially all assets or other change of control transactions, and transfers of our interest to a third party, be approved by unanimous consent of the voting members of the management committee and therefore such actions require the ATO Entities. Our ability to make distributions to our unitholders depends in part on the performance of this entity and its ability to distribute funds to us. We face certain risks associated with shared control, and the XTO Entities may at any time have economic, business or legal interests or goals that are inconsistent with ours.

We own non-operating interests in properties developed and operated by third parties and some of our leasehold acreage could be pooled by a third-party operator. As a result, we are unable, or may become unable as a result of pooling, to control the operation and profitability of such properties.

We participate in the drilling and completion of wells with third-party operators that exercise exclusive control over such operations. As a participant, we rely on the third-party operators to successfully operate these properties pursuant to joint operating agreements and other contractual arrangements. Similarly, our acreage in Colorado, Texas and New Mexico may be pooled by third-party operators under state law. If our acreage is involuntarily pooled under state forced pooling statutes, it would reduce our control over such acreage and we could lose operators in over a portion of four acreage that we plan to develop.

We may not be able to maximize the value associated with acreage that we own but do not operate in the manner we believe appropriate, or at all. We cannot control the success of drilling and development activities on properties operated by third parties, which depend on a number of factors under the control of a third-party operator, including such operator is determinations with respect to, among other things, the nature and timing of drilling and operational activities, the timing and amount of capital expenditures and the selection of suitable technology. In addition, the third-party operator's failure to adequately perform operations activities in a manner that we are unable to control. A third-party operator's failure to adequately perform operations of applicable agreements or failure to act in ways that are favorable to us could reduce our production and revenues, negatively impact our liquidity and cause us to spend capital in excess of our current plans, and have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Extreme weather conditions and other climatic phenomena could adversely affect our ability to conduct drilling activities in the areas where we operate.

The majority of the scientific community has concluded that climate change is expected to result in more frequent and/or more extreme weather events, changes in temperature and precipitation patterns, changes to ground and surface water availability, and other related phenomena, which could affect some, or all, of our operations. Our development, optimization and exploitation activities and equipment could be adversely affected by extreme weather conditions, such as hurricanes, thunderstorms, tornadoes and snow or ice storms, or other climate-related events such as wildfires, in each case which may cause a loss of production from temporary cessation of activity or lost or damaged facilities and equipment.

Such extreme weather conditions and events could also impact other areas of our operations, including access to our drilling and production facilities for routine operations, maintenance and repairs and the availability of, and our access to, necessary resources, such as water, and third-party services, such as guartering, processing, compression and transportation services. These constraints and the resulting shortages or high costs could delay or temporarily halt our operations and materially increase our operations and capital costs, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Climate change could result in various chronic impacts, such as changes to water levels and to ambient temperature and precipitation patterns. Such changes may also adversely impact our operations, including through the long-term reduction in the availability of water for hydraulic fracturing, changes to operational practices to respond to increased heat levels, or otherwise.

Declining general economic, business or industry conditions and inflation may have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, liquidity and financial condition.

Concerns over global economic conditions, energy costs, supply chain disruptions, increased demand, labor shortages associated with a fully employed U.S. labor force, geopolitical issues, inflation, the availability and cost of credit

and the United States financial market and other factors have contributed to increased economic uncertainty and diminished expectations for the global economy. During the year ended December 31, 2022, the U.S. economy experienced the highest rate of inflation in the past 40 years. Rising inflation has been pervasive since 2022, increasing the cost of salaries, wages, supplies, material, freight, and energy. While we have seen inflation moderate in 2024, inflation continues to run higher than the Federal Reserve target, resulting in higher costs. Though we incorporated inflationary factors into our 2025 business plan, inflation may outpace these assumptions. We continue to undertake actions and implement plans to address these pressures and protect the requisite access to commodities and services, however, these mitigation efforts may not succeed or to estimate the insufficient. Nevertheless, we expect for the foresceable future to experience inflationary pressure on our cost structure. Principally, commodity costs for steel and chemicals required for drilling, higher transportation and fue costs so real and yage increases have increased our operating costs. We do not expect these cost increases to reverse in the short term. Typically, as prices for oil and natural gas increase, so do associated costs. Conversely, in a period of declining prices, associated cost declines are likely to bag and may not adjust downward in proportion to prices. If we are unable to recover higher costs through higher commodity prices, our current revenue stream could be adversely impacted and result in reduced margins and production delays and, as a result, our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows could be materially and adversely affected.

We continue to take actions to mitigate inflationary pressures. We are working closely with other suppliers and contractors to ensure availability of supplies on site, especially fuel, steel and chemical suppliers which are critical to many of our operations. However, these mitigation efforts may not succeed or may be insufficient.

In addition, continued hostilities related to the Russian invasion of Ukraine, hostilities in the Middle East and the occurrence or threat of terrorist attacks in the United States or other countries could adversely affect the global economy. These factors and other factors, such as another surge in COVID-19 cases or decreased demand from China, combined with volatile commodity prices, and declining business and consumer confidence may contribute to an economic slowdown and a recession. Recent growing concerns about global economic growth have had a significant adverse impact on global financial markets and commodity prices. If the economic climate in the United States or abroad deteriorates, worldwide demand for petroleum products could diminish, which could impact the price at which we can sell our production, affect the ability of our vendors, suppliers and customers to continue operations and ultimately adversely impact our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Changes in U.S. trade policy, including the imposition of tariffs and the resulting consequences, could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial position and cash flows.

Cranges in C.S. rung proxy, inclusing in imposition of an jys that are restaining consequences, count are a materina and es register on our results of operations, junctum position in and cash jows. There is currently significant uncertaining who and the future relationship between the United States and various other countries with respect to trade policies, trateatis, tariffs, tarxes, and other limitations on cross-border operations. Changes in tariffs, price and exchange controls and other regulatory requirements, including trade restrictions and retainatory trade measures, could result in higher input costs for our products, disrupt our supply chain and logistics, cause adverse financial impacts due to volatility in foreign exchange rates and interest rates, inflationary pressures on raw materials and energy, and heighten cybersecurity threats and other restrictions. We may not be able to fully mitigate the impact of these increased costs or pass price increases on to our customers. Given the unpredictability of future developments, existing or future tariffs and related trade measures could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial position, and cash flows.

Events outside of our control, including an epidemic or outbreak of an infectious disease, such as COVID-19, or the threat thereof, could have a material adverse effect on our business, liquidity, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and ability to pay distributions on our common units.

We face risks related to epidemics, outbreaks or other public health events, or the threat thereof, that are outside of our control, and could significantly disrupt our business and operational plans and adversely affect our liquidity, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and ability to pay distributions on our common units. For example, the COVID-19 pandemic adversely affected the global economy and resulted in unprecedented governmental actions in the United States and countries around the world, including, among other things, social distancing guidelines, travel restrictions and stay-at-home orders, among other actions, which caused a significant decrease in activity in the global economy and the demand for oil, and to a lesser extent, natural gas and NGLs. Additionally, the effects of an epidemic, outbreak or other public health event might worsen the likelihood or the impact of other risks atready inherent in our business. Potential impacts of an epidemic, outbreak or other public health event might worsen include, but are not limited to, the following:

· disruption in the demand for oil, natural gas and other petroleum products;

- · intentional project delays until commodity prices stabilize;
- · potentially higher borrowing costs in the future;
- · a need to preserve liquidity, which could result in reductions, delays or changes in our capital expenditures;
- · liabilities resulting from operational delays due to decreased productivity resulting from stay-at-home orders affecting our workforce or facility closures;
- · future asset impairments, including impairment of our natural gas properties, oil properties, and other property and equipment; and
- · infections and quarantining of our employees and the personnel of vendors, suppliers and other third parties.
- New variants of a virus could cause further commodity market volatility and resulting financial market instability, or any other event described above. These are variables beyond our control and may adversely impact our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We opportunistically use derivative instruments to economically hedge exposure to changes in commodity price and, as a result, are exposed to credit risk and market risk.

We periodically enter into futures contracts, energy swaps, options, collars and basis swaps to hedge our exposure to price fluctuations on crude oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids sales. See "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates—Derivatives." By using derivative instruments to economically hedge exposure to changes in commodity prices, we could limit the benefit we would receive from increases in the prices for oil and natural gas, which could have an adverse effect on our financial condition. Likewise, to the extent our production is not hedged, we are exposed to declines in commodity prices, and our derivative arrangements may be inadequate to protect us from continuing and prolonged declines in commodity prices.

Changes in the fair value of commodity price derivatives are recognized currently in earnings. Realized and unrealized gains and losses on commodity derivatives are recognized in oil, NGL and natural gas revenues. Settlements of derivatives are included in cash flows from operating activities. While our price risk management activities decrease the volatility of cash flows, they may obscure our reported financial condition. As required under GAAP, we record derivative financial instruments at their fair value, representing projected gains and losses are generally offset by increases and decreases in the market value of our proved reserves, which are not reflected in the financial instantial statements. For example, revenues decreased \$97.9 million, or 26%, from \$380.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 to \$282.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2024. The decrease was primarily attributable to a decrease in the average selling price, excluding the effects of derivatives, on oil of 4%, resulted in a decrease in revenue of \$32.7 million and on gas of 60%, resulted in a decrease in provenue of \$89.5 million. Additionally, net losses on our hedging activity of \$25.7 million, of which \$11.3.6 million were related to increased unrealized losses. These decreases were revenue of \$2.2 million for the variable of sectors are revenue of \$2.2 million for the variable of field which related to increased unrealized losses. These decreases in the average selling price, excluding the effects of derivatives, on oil of 4%, resulted in a decrease of the which resulted in increased revenue of \$2.2 million for the year related to increased unrealized losses. These decreases were related to increased unrealized losses partially offset by \$87.9 million. Additionally, net losses on our hedging activity of \$25.7 million, of which \$11.5 million set with the williston Basin being offset by natural declines in San Juan Basin and an increase in the average selling price, excluding the effects of derivatives, on NGLs of \$%,

Additionally, our Credit Facility may hinder our ability to effectively execute our hedging strategy. See "-Our Credit Facility has restrictions and financial covenants that may restrict our business and financing activities and our ability to pay distributions to our unitholders" and "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources—Revolving credit agreement."

We also expose ourselves to credit risk resulting from the failure of the counterparty to perform under the terms of the applicable derivative contract. When the fair value of a derivative contract is positive, the counterparty owes us, which creates credit risk. Disruptions in the financial markets could lead to sudden decreases in a counterparty is liquidity, which could make it unable to perform under the terms of the contract and we may not be able to realize the benefit of the contract. We are unable to predict sudden changes in a counterparty's creditworthiness or ability to perform. Even if we do accurately predict sudden changes, our ability to negate the risk may be limited depending upon market conditions.

Reserve estimates depend on many assumptions that may ultimately be inaccurate. Any material inaccuracies in reserve estimates or underlying assumptions will materially affect the quantities and present value of our reserves.

The process of estimating oil, natural gas and NGL reserves is complex. It requires interpretations of available technical data and many assumptions, including assumptions relating to current and future economic conditions and commodity prices. Any significant inaccuracies in these interpretations or assumptions could materially affect the estimated quantities and present value of our reserves.

Furthermore, SEC rules require that, subject to limited exceptions, PUD reserves may only be recorded if they relate to wells scheduled to be drilled within five years after the date of booking. This rule may limit our potential to record additional PUD reserves as we pursue our drilling program. To the extent that natural gas and oil prices become depressed or decline materially from current levels, such condition could render uneconomic a number of our identified drilling locations, and we may be required to write down our PUD reserves if we do not drill those wells within the required for write associated volumes from our required to prove the resonance of not developed proves.

The preparation of reserve estimates requires the projection of production rates and the timing of development expenditures based on an analysis of available geological, geophysical, production and engineering data. The extent, quality and reliability of this data can vary. The process also requires economic assumptions about matters such as oil, natural gas and NGL prices, drilling and operating expenses, capital expenditures, taxes and availability of funds.

Actual future production, oil, natural gas and NGL prices, revenues, taxes, development expenditures, operating expenses and quantities of recoverable oil, natural gas and NGL reserves will vary from our estimates. Any significant variance could materially affect the estimated quantities and present value of our reserves. In addition, we may revise reserve estimates to reflect production history, results of exploration and development, existing commodity prices and other factors, many of which are beyond our control.

The standardized measure of our estimated proved reserves is not necessarily the same as the current market value of our estimated proved reserves.

The present value of future net cash flow from our proved reserves, or standardized measure, may not represent the current market value of our estimated proved oil, natural gas liquids and natural gas reserves. In accordance with SEC requirements, we base the estimated discounted future net cash flow from our estimated proved reserves on the 12-month average oil and natural gas index prices, calculated as the unweighted arithmetic average for the first-day-of-the-month price for each month and costs in effect as of the date of the estimate, holding the prices and costs constant throughout the life of the properties.

Actual future prices and costs may differ materially from those used in the net present value estimate, and future net present value estimates using then current prices and costs may be significantly less than current estimates. For example, our estimated proved reserves as of December 31, 2024 were calculated under SEC rules using the unweighted arithmetic average first day of the month prices for the prior 12 months of \$2,13/MMBu for natural gas and \$75,48/Bbl for oil aDecember 31, 2024, which, for certain periods during this period, were substantially different from the available spot prices. In addition, the 10% discount factor we use when calculating discounted future net cash flow for reporting requirements in compliance with Accounting Standards Codification 932, "*Extractive Activities—Oil and Gas*," may not be the nost appropriate discount factor based on in timerest rates in effect from time to time and risks associated with us or the oil and natural gas industry in general.

We depend upon several significant purchasers for the sale of most of our oil, natural gas and NGL production. The loss of one or more of these purchasers could, among other factors, limit our access to suitable markets for the oil and natural gas we produce.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, Chevron USA and Gunvor USA together accounted for almost 46% of our total revenues, excluding the impact of our commodity derivatives. For the year ended December 31, 2023, Chevron USA and CIMA Energy together accounted for more than 10% of our rotmarks with one than 21% of our total revenues, excluding the impact of our commodity derivatives. No other purchaser accounted for more than 10% of our rotmarks with one than 01% of our rotmarks with one than 21% of our total revenues, excluding the impact of our commodity derivatives. No other purchaser accounted for more than 10% of our rotmarks with one than 01% of our rotmarks with one substantial majority of our production under arm is length we functions of the inability or function and the rotmarks with one rotmarks of any one of these purchasers, the inability or function and the rotmarks of a purchaser to neet their obligations to us or their

insolvency or liquidation could materially adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations and ability to make distributions to our unitholders. We cannot assure you that any of our customers will continue to do business with us or that we will continue to have ready access to suitable markets for our future production. See "Business and Properties—Operations—Marketing and Customers."

The availability of a ready market for any hydrocarbons we produce depends on numerous factors beyond our control, including, but not limited to, the extent of domestic production and imports of oil, the proximity and capacity of natural gas and NGL pipelines, the availability of skilled labor, materials and equipment, the effect of state and federal regulation of oil, natural gas and NGL production and federal regulation of oil, natural gas and NGL sold in interstate commerce.

We may be unable to compete effectively with larger companies, which may adversely affect our ability to generate sufficient revenue to allow us to pay distributions to our unitholders.

The oil and natural gas industry is intensely competitive, and we compete with companies that possess and employ financial, technical and personnel resources substantially greater than ours. Our ability to acquire additional properties and to exploit reserves in the future will depend on our ability to evaluate and select suitable properties and to consummate transactions in a highly competitive environment. Many of our larger competitors not only drill for and produce oil and natural gas but also carry on refining operations and market petroleum and other products on a regional, national or worldwide basis. These companies may be able to pay more for properties and valuate, bid for and purchase a greater number of properties than our financial, technical or personnel resources permit. In addition, there is substantial competition for investment capital in the oil and natural gas industry. These larger companies may have a greater ability to continue development activities during periods of low oil prices and to absorb the burden of present and future federal, state, local and other laws and regulations. Any inability to compete effectively with larger companies could have a material adverse impact on our business activities, financial condition and results of operations and our ability to make distributions to our unitholders.

Our Credit Facility has restrictions and financial covenants that may restrict our business and financing activities and our ability to pay distributions to our unitholders.

- Our Credit Facility restricts, among other things, our ability to:
- · incur certain liens or permit them to exist;
- · merge or consolidate with another company;
- incur or guarantee additional debt;
- · make certain investments and acquisitions;
- · make or pay distributions on, or redeem or repurchase, common units, if an event of default or borrowing base deficiency exists;
- · enter into certain types of transactions with affiliates; and
- · transfer, sell or otherwise dispose of assets.

In addition, our Credit Facility will require us to comply with customary financial covenants and specified financial ratios, including that we maintain (i) a current ratio greater than 1.0 to 1.0 and (ii) a ratio of total indebtedness-to-EBITDAX of not greater than 3.00 to 1.00. If market or other economic conditions deteriorate, our ability to comply with these covenants may be impaired. If we violate any provisions of our Credit Facility that are not cured or waived within specific time periods, our lender may declare our indebtedness thereunder to be immediately due and payable, our ability to make distributions to our unitholders will be inhibited and our lenders' commitment to make further loans to us may terminate. Any such acceleration of such debt could also result in a cross-acceleration of other future indebtedness which we may incur. We might not have, or be able to obtain, sufficient funds to make these accelerated payments. In addition, our obligations under our Credit Facility are secured by substantially all of our assets, and if we are unable to repay our indebtedness under our Credit Facility, the lenders could seek to foreclose on our assets or force us to seek bankruptcy protection.



In addition, our Credit Facility may hinder our ability to effectively execute our hedging strategy. Our Credit Facility limits the maximum percentage of our production that we can hedge and the duration of those hedges, so we may be unable to enter into additional commodity derivative contracts during favorable market conditions and, thus, unable to lock in attractive future prices for our product sales. Conversely, our Credit Facility also requires us to hedge a minimum percentage of our production, which may cause us to enter into commodity derivative contracts at inopportune times. For example, during a period of declining commodity prices, we may enter into commodity derivative contracts at relatively unattractive prices in order to mitigate a potential decrease in our borrowing base upon a redetermination.

Any significant reduction in the borrowing base under our Credit Facility as a result of periodic borrowing base redeterminations or otherwise may negatively impact our ability to fund our operations.

Our Credit Facility limits the amount we can borrow up to a borrowing base amount. The administrative agent under our Credit Facility determines our borrowing base based on the value of our oil and natural gas properties. The borrowing base is subject to further adjustments for asset dispositions, material tilt deficiencies, certain terminations of hedge agreements and issuances of permitted additional indebtedness. As of August 30, 2024, the last date of redetermination, our borrowing base was 2275 million. Such amount will be redetermined semiannually on or before each March 15 and September 1 and will depend on the volumes of our proved oil and natural gas reserves and hows from these reserves and other information deemed relevant by the administrative agent under the Credit Facility, including our business, financial condition and debt obligations, the types of reserves, the value and effect of hedge contracts then in effect of gas imbalances. In addition, our lenders will have flexibility to reduce our borrowing base due to subjective factors.

In the future, we may not be able to access adequate funding under our Credit Facility (or a replacement facility) as a result of a decrease in the borrowing base due to the issuance of new indebtedness, the outcome of a subsequent borrowing base redetermination or an unwillingness or inability on the part of our lenders to meet their funding obligations. Declines in commodity prices could result in a determination by the lenders to decrease the borrowing base in the future and, in such a case, we could be required to promptly repay any indebtedness in excess of the redetermined borrowing base. As a result, we may be unable to implement our respective drilling and development plan, make acquisitions or otherwise carry out business plans, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations and impair our ability to service our indebtedness.

We may not be able to generate sufficient cash to service all of our indebtedness and may be forced to take other actions to satisfy our obligations under our debt arrangements, which may not be successful.

Our ability to make scheduled payments on or to refinance our indebtedness obligations, including our Credit Facility, depends on our financial condition and operating performance, which are subject to prevailing economic and competitive conditions and certain financial, business and other factors beyond our control. If oil, natural gas and NGL prices decline for an extended period of time, we may not be able to maintain a level of cash flows from operating activities sufficient to permit us to pay the principal, premium, if any, and interest on our indebtedness.

If our cash flows and capital resources are insufficient to fund debt service obligations, we may be forced to reduce or delay investments and capital expenditures, sell assets, seek additional equity or debt capital or restructure or refinance indebtedness or seek bankruptcy protection to facilitate a restructuring. Our ability to restructure or refinance indebtedness will depend on the condition of the capital markets and our financial condition at such time. Any refinancing of indebtedness could be at higher interest rates and may require us to comply with more onerous covenants, whice, and adopting some of these alternatives. In dadoins, may failure to make payments of interest and principal on outstanding indebtedness on a timely basis could harm our ability to incur additional indebtedness. In the absence of sufficient cash flows and capital resources, we could face substantial liquidity problems and might be required to dispose of material assets or operations. The resources and exprincipal constant and use of the proceeds from such disposition in certain circumstances. We may not be able to consummate these dispositions, and the proceeds of any such disposition may not be adequate to meet any debt service obligations.



Our level of indebtedness may increase and reduce our financial flexibility.

We may incur significant indebtedness, whether through future debt issuances or by drawing down on the availability under our Credit Facility, in the future in order to make acquisitions or to develop our properties or for other general corporate purposes. Such indebtedness could affect our operations in several ways:

- · a significant portion of our cash flows could be used to service our indebtedness;
- · a high level of debt would increase our vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions;
- the covenants contained in the agreements governing our outstanding indebtedness limit our ability to borrow additional funds, dispose of assets, pay distributions on our common units and make certain investments;
- a high level of debt may place us at a competitive disadvantage compared to our competitors that are less leveraged and therefore may be able to take advantage of opportunities that our indebtedness would prevent us from pursuing;
- · our debt covenants may also affect our flexibility in planning for, and reacting to, changes in the economy and our industry;
- · a high level of debt may make it more likely that a reduction in our borrowing base following a periodic redetermination could require us to repay a significant portion of our then-outstanding bank borrowings; and
- a high level of debt may impair our ability to obtain additional financing in the future for working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions, or other general corporate purposes.

A high level of indebtedness, if incurred in the future, increases the risk that we may default on our debt obligations. Our ability to meet our debt obligations and to reduce our level of indebtedness in such event depends on our future performance. General economic conditions, commodity prices, and financial, business, and other factors affect our operations and our future performance. Many of these factors are beyond our control. We may not be able to generate sufficient cash flows to pay the interest on our debt and future working capital, borrowings, or equity financing may not be available to pay or refinance such debt. Factors that will affect our ability to raise cash through an offering of our common units or a refinancing of our debt include financial market conditions (including any financial crisis), the value of our assets, and our performance at the time we need capital.

Our drilling and production programs may not be able to obtain access to truck transportation, pipelines and storage facilities, natural gas gathering facilities, and other transportation, processing and refining facilities to market our oil, natural gas and NGL production, and our initiatives to expand our access to midstream and operational infrastructure may be unsuccessful.

The marketing of oil, natural gas and NGL production depends in large part on the capacity and availability of trucks, pipelines and storage facilities, natural gas gathering systems and other transportation, processing and refining facilities. In order to market new or increased production, new facilities or expanded capacity on existing facilities may be required. Access to transportation, processing, and refining facilities, whether new or existing, is, in many respects, beyond our control. If these facilities are unavailable to us because we are unable to obtain services on commercially reasonable terms, the owners and operators of such facilities are unable to obtain permits for new or expanded capacity in compliance with environmental and other governmental or regulatory requirements or are delayed in obtaining such permits, or otherwise, we could be forced to shut in some production or delay or discontinue drilling plans and commercial production following a discovery of hydrocarbons. We rely (and expect to rely in the future) on facilities developed and owned by third parties in order to store, process, transmit and sell our oil, natural gas and NGL production.

Increases in activity in our operating areas could, in the future, contribute to bottlenecks in processing and transportation that could negatively affect our results of operations, and these adverse effects could be disproportionately severe to us compared to our more geographically diverse competitors. As a result, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

We could experience periods of higher costs if commodity prices rise. These increases could reduce our profitability, cash flows and ability to complete development activities as planned.

Historically, our capital and operating costs have risen during periods of increasing oil, natural gas and NGL prices. These cost increases result from a variety of factors beyond our control, such as increases in the cost of electricity, steel and other raw materials that we and our vendors rely upon; increased demand for experienced development crews and oil field equipment and services and materials as drilling activity increases; and increased taxes, which could restrict our ability to drill the wells and conduct the operations that we currently have planned. Any delay in the development of new wells or a significant increase in development costs could reduce our cash available for distribution to our unitholders. Decreased levels of drilling activity in the oil and natural gas industry in recent periods have led to declining costs of some drilling equipment, materials and supplies. However, such costs may rise faster than increases in our revenue if commodity prices rise, thereby negatively impacting our profitability, cash flows and ability to complete development activities as scheduled and on budget. This impact may be magnified to the extent that our ability to participate in the commodity price increases is limited by our derivative activities.

We are highly dependent on the services of our senior management and the loss of senior management or technical personnel could adversely affect our operations.

We depend on the services of our senior management and technical personnel. Our management team has over 30 years' experience in the oil and gas industry on average. There can be no assurance that we would be able to replace such members of management with comparable replacements or that such replacements would integrate well with our existing team. Further, the loss of the services of our senior management could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. In particular, the loss of the services of our senior management could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. In particular, the loss of the services of our or more members of our management team could disrupt our operations. We do not maintain, nor do we plan to obtain, "key person" life insurance policies on any of our employees. As a result, we are not insured against any losses resulting from the death of our key employees.

Our continued success will depend, in part, on our ability to attract and retain experienced technical personnel, including geologists, engineers and other professionals. Large numbers of technical personnel in the oil and gas industry are approaching the normal retirement age of 65 or otherwise accepted an early retirement during the COVID-19 pandemic. These and other factors may lead to a shortage of qualified, entry-level technical personnel and increased compensation costs. The foregoing factors may lead to additional competition from oil and gas industry may be unable to hire adequate numbers of technical personnel to meet their needs, resulting in disruptions, increased costs of operations, financial difficulties and other adverse effects, and these circumstances may become more severe in the future and thereby cause a material adverse effect on our business.

Past performance by our management team may not be indicative of future performance of an investment in us.

Information regarding performance by, or businesses associated with, TXO Partners and its affiliates is presented for informational purposes only. Past performance by TXO Partners and its affiliates, including our management team, is not a guarantee of future performance. You should not rely on the historical record of TXO Partners and its affiliates or our management team's prior performance as indicative of our future performance or the returns we will, or are likely to, generate going forward.

We are responsible for the decommissioning, abandonment, and reclamation costs for our facilities, which could decrease our cash available for distribution

We are responsible for compliance with all applicable laws and regulations regarding the decommissioning, abandonment and reclamation of our facilities at the end of their economic life, the costs of which may be substantial. It is not possible to predict these costs with certainty since they will be a function of regulatory requirements at the time of decommissioning, abandonment and reclamation. We may, in the future, determine it prudent or be required by applicable laws or regulations to establish and fund one or more decommissioning, abandonment and reclamation costs, which could decrease our cash available for distribution. In addition, such reserves, if established, may not be sufficient to satisfy such future decommissioning, abandonment and reclamation costs. and we sufficient to satisfy such future decommissioning, abandonment and reclamation costs and we will be responsible for the symmet of the balance of such costs.



Asset retirement obligations for our oil and gas assets and properties are estimates, and actual costs could vary significantly.

We are required to record a liability for the discounted present value of our estimated asset retirement obligations to plug and abandon inactive wells and related assets and non-producing oil and gas properties in which we have a working interest. Such asset retirement obligations may include complete structural removal and/or restoration of the land. At December 31, 2024, we had accrued asset retirement obligations of \$100.9 million. Athough management has used its best efforts to determine future asset retirement obligations, assumptions and estimates can be influenced by pany factors beyond management's control, including, but not limited to, changes in regulatory requisatory assumptions and started assets and on supply and demand, and/or extreme weather conditions, such as hurricanes and lightning storms, which may cause structural or other damage to oil and natural gas assets and properties. Accordingly, our estimate of future asset retirement obligations could differ materially from catual costs that may be incurred.

Our business could be negatively affected by security threats, including cybersecurity threats, and other disruptions.

As an oil, natural gas and NGL producer, we face various security threats, including cybersecurity threats to gain unauthorized access to sensitive information or to render data or systems unusable; threats to the security of our facilities and infrastructure, such as processing plants and pipelines; and threats from terrorist acts. The potential for such security threats has subjected our operations to increased risk that could have a material adverse effect on our business. In particular, our implementation of various procedures and controls to monitor and mitigate security threats and to increase escurity for our information, facilities and infrastructure or capabilities security breaches from occurring. If any of these security breaches were to occur, they could lead to losses of sensitive information, critical infrastructure or capabilities sesential to our operations of usiness and our reputation, financial position, results of operations or cash flows. Cybersecurity attacks in particular are becoming more sophisticated and include, but are not limited to, malicious software, phishing, ransonware, attempts to gain unauthorized access to data and systems, and other electronic security breaches that could lave sentes could lead to financial losses from remedial actions, loss of business or potential liability. Although we maintain insurance to protect against losses resulting from certain data protection breaches and cyber-attacks, our coverage for protecting against such risks may not be sufficient.

In addition, certain cyber incidents, such as surveillance, may remain undetected for an extended period, and our systems and insurance coverage for protecting against such cybersecurity risks may be costly and may not be sufficient. There can be no assurance that our cybersecurity risk management program and processes, including our policies, controls or procedures, will be fully implemented, complied with or effective in protecting our systems and information. As cyber-attackers become significant additional resources to continue to protect our business or remediate the damage from cyber-attacks. Furthermore, the continuing and evolving threat of cyber-attacks has resulted in increased regulatory required new protective measures or to investigate and remediate any information security vulnerabilities. To the extent we face increased regulatory requirements, we may be required to expend significant additional resources to continue to modify or enhance our protective measures or to investigate and remediate any information security vulnerabilities. To the extent we face increased regulatory requirements, we may be required to expend significant additional resources to continue to modify or enhance our protective measures or to investigate and remediate any information security vulnerabilities. To the extent we face increased regulatory requirements, we may be required to expend significant additional resources to meet such requirements.

We are subject to a number of privacy and data protection laws, rules and directives (collectively, data protection laws) relating to the processing of personal data.

The regulatory environment surrounding data protection laws is uncertain. Varying jurisdictional requirements could increase the costs and complexity of compliance with such laws, and violations of applicable data protection laws can result in significant penalties. A determination that there have been violations of applicable data protection laws could expose us to significant damage awards, fines and other penalties that could materially harm our business and reputation.

Any failure, or preceived failure, by us to comply with applicable data protection laws could result in proceedings or actions against us by governmental entities or others, subject us to significant fines, penalties, judgments and negative publicity, require us to change our business practices, increase the costs and complexity of compliance and adversely affect our business. As noted above, we are also subject to the possibility of security and privacy breaches, which themselves may result in a violation of these laws. Additionally, the acquisition of a company that is not in compliance with applicable data protection laws may result in a violation of these laws.



Loss of our information and computer systems could adversely affect our business.

We are dependent on our information systems and computer-based programs, including our well operations information, seismic data, electronic data processing and accounting data. If any of such programs or systems were to fail or create erroneous information in our hardware or software network infrastructure, possible consequences include our loss of communication links, an inability to find, produce, process and sell oil, natural gas and NGLs and an inability to automatically process commercial transactions or engage in similar automated or computerized business activities. Any such consequence could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Our acquisition, development, optimization and exploitation projects require substantial capital expenditures. We may be unable to obtain required capital or financing on satisfactory terms, which could lead to a decline in our ability to access or grow production and reserves.

The oil, natural gas and NGL industry is capital intensive. We make and expect to continue to make substantial capital expenditures for the acquisition, development, optimization and exploitation of oil and natural gas reserves. Funding sources for our capital expenditures have included proceeds from bank borrowings, cash from our partners and cash flow from operating activities. Our management has collectively invested more than \$500 million in us since our inception. We expect that we will not be able to rely on our management or our partners for capital and will need to utilize the public equity of debt markets and bank financings to fund acquisitions and capital expenditures. We expect to fund our 2025 capital expenditures with cash generated by operations; however, our cash flows from operations and access to capital ar subject to a number of variables, including:

- · our proved reserves;
- · the volume of hydrocarbons we are able to produce from existing wells;
- · the prices at which our production is sold;
- · our ability to acquire, locate and produce new reserves;
- · the extent and levels of our derivative activities;
- · the levels of our operating expenses; and
- · our ability to borrow under our Credit Facility.

If our revenues or the borrowing base under our Credit Facility decrease as a result of lower oil, natural gas and NGL prices, operating difficulties, declines in reserves or for any other reason, we may have limited ability to obtain the capital necessary to sustain our operations and growth at current levels. If additional capital is needed, we may not be able to obtain debt or equiry financing on terms acceptable to us; if at all. Even if we can obtain debt financing on terms acceptable to us, the issuance of additional indebtedness work at comparison to fund working capital, capital expenditures and acquisitions. Additionally, the market demand for equiry financing on us cash flows from operations to fund working capital, capital expenditures and acquisitions. Additionally, the market demand for equiry financing or us cash flows form operations to fund working capital, capital expenditures such the susance of additional guity securities may be dilutive to our uniholders. If cash flows generated by our operations reactions sufficient to mest or use cash flows generated by our operations reprired by market it nume ould lead to a decline in our reserves and production, and would adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. See "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources."

Continuing political and social concerns about the issues of climate change may result in changes to our business and significant expenditures, including litigation-related expenses.

Increasing attention to global climate change has resulted in increased investor attention and an increased risk of public and private litigation, which could increase our costs or otherwise adversely affect our business. Governmental and other entities in various states, such as California and New York, have filed lawsuits against coal, gas oil and petroleum companies. These suits allege damages for contributions to, or failure to disclose the impact of, climate change, and the plaintiffs are seeking unspecified damages and abatement under various tort theories. Similar lawsuits may be filed in other



jurisdictions both in the United States and globally. Though we are not currently a party to any such lawsuit, these suits present uncertainty regarding the extent to which companies engaged in oil and gas production face an increased risk of liability stemming from climate change, which risk would also adversely impact the oil and gas industry and impact demand for our services. The ultimate outcome and impact to us of any such litigation cannot be predicted with certainty, and we could incur substantial legal costs associated with defending any potential similar lawsuits in the future. See "Business and Properties—Regulation of CHG Emissions (Climate Change") for a further description of the laws and regulations that affect us. Separately, jaintiffs have also targeted various governents, arguing that their actions to chance on fossil fuel and/or climate policy violate human or other legal rights. For example, in December 2024, the Montana Supreme Court ruled in favor of plaintiffs and found that the environmental protection language in the state constitution precluded the state from ignoring the impact of greenhouse gas emissions in connection with permitting and other agency actions. While the ultimate impacts of this ruling are uncertain, this and any other successful litigation may result in additional legal restrictions on the production or consumption of fossil fuels, which may adversely impact our business.

Risks Related to Environmental and Regulatory Matters

We are subject to stringent federal, state and local laws and regulations related to environmental and occupational health and safety issues that could adversely affect the cost or feasibility of conducting our operations or expose us to significant liabilities

Our operations are subject to numerous stringent federal, state and local laws and regulations governing occupational safety and health aspects of our operations, the discharge of materials into the environment and the protection of the environment and natural resources (including threatened and endangered species). These laws and regulations may impose numerous obligations applicable to our operations including the acquisition of a permit before conducting drilling and other regulated activities, the restriction of types, quantities and concentration of materials that may be released into the environment; the limitation or prohibition of drilling activities on certain lands lying within wilderness, wethands and other protected areas; the application of specific health and safety criteria addressing worker protection; and the imposition of substantial liabilities for pollution resulting from our operations of naterials that may be released into the environment; the limitation or prohibition of traction costs. Numerous governmental authorities, such as the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency ("EPA") and analogous state engencies have the power to enforce compliance with these laws and regulations and the prostition of investigatory or remedial obligations, and the issuance of orders limiting or prohibiting some or all of our operations. Failure to comply with these laws and regulations may required permits, which may delay or interrupt our operations or specific projects and limit our growth and revenue.

There is inherent risk of incurring significant environmental costs and liabilities in the performance of our operations due to our handling of petroleum hydrocarbons and other hazardous substances and wastes, as a result of air emissions and wastewater discharges related to our operations, and because of historical operations and waste disposal practices at our leased and owned properties. Spills or other releases of regulated substances, including such spills and releases that occur in the future, could expose us to material losses, expenditures and liabilities on an expenditures and liability for the renewator of movel or remediation of contamination, regardless of whether we were responsible for the release or comtamination and even if our operations met previous standards in the industry at the time they were conducted. We may not be able to recover some or any of these costs from insurance. The trend in environmental regulation has been towards more stringent requirements, and any changes that result in more stringent or costly well drilling, construction, completion or water management activities, air emissions control or waste handling, storage, transport, disposal or cleanup requirements could require us to make significant expenditures to attain and maintain compliance and may otherwise effects on our results of operations, completive position or for example, in June 2016, the EPA finalized rules regarding criteria for aggregating multiple sites into a single source for air quality permitting purposes applicable to the oil and natural gas industry. This rule could cause small facilities on an aggregate basis, to be deemed a major source, thereby triggering more stringent air permitting requirements.

In October 2015, the EPA issued a new lower National Ambient Air Quality Standard ("NAAQS") for ground level ozone of 70 parts per billion. In 2017, the EPA designated certain counties in southeastern New Mexico and West Texas located in the Permian Basin attainment/unclassifiable for the 2015 ozone NAAQS. However, in June 2022, EPA announced that it is considering a discretionary redesignation. If the Permian Basin counties in which we operate were redesigned as no southeastern which we operate were redesigned as no southeaster in the form of more stringent emission controls, emission offset request permitting delays and costs.

The EPA has also imposed increasingly stringent performance standards on oil and gas operations. In 2016, the EPA issued regulations under NSPS OOOOa that require operators to reduce methane and volatile organic compound ("VOC") emissions from new, modified and reconstructed crude oil and natural gas wells and equipment located at natural gas production gathering and booster stations, gas processing plants and natural gas transmission compressor stations. In December 2023, the EPA announced finalized rules establishing more stringent standards of performance for methane emissions from situate plans to establishing more stringent date the proposed rule was published in the Federal Register and emissions guidelines, to inform state plans to establish similar standards for existing sources. The Bureau of Land Management ("BLM") also issued a proposed rule in November 2022 to reduce the waste of natural gas from venting, flaring, and leaks during oil and gas operations. For example, in 2022, the New Mexico Environment Department adopted new regulations stablishing emission activities on federal and American Indian leases. State agencies have similarly imposed increasing restrictions on emissions from oil and gas operations. For example, in 2022, the New Mexico Environment Department adopted new regulations stablishing emission culdued vater management units, and other equipment and processes. Compliance with these more stringent standards and other environmental regulations at the federal or state levels could delay or prohibit our ability to obtain permits for operations or require us to install additional pollution control equipment, the costs of which could be significant. See "Business and Properties—Regulation of Environmental additional Safety and Health Matters" for a further description of the laws and regulations that affect us.

Should we fail to comply with all applicable regulatory agency administered statutes, rules, regulations and orders, we could be subject to substantial penalties and fines.

Under the Energy Policy Act of 2005 ("EPAct 2005"), the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (the "FERC") has civil penalty authority under the Natural Gas Act of 1938 ("NGA") to impose penalties for current violations of \$1,544.521 per violation per day. The FERC may also impose administrative and criminal remedies and disgorgement of profits associated with any violation. While our operations have not been regulated by FERC as a natural gas company under the NGA, FERC has adopted regulations that may subject certain of our otherwise non-FERC jurisdictional facilities to FERC annual reporting requirements. We also must comply with the anti-market manipulation rules enforced by FERC. Additionally, the Federal Trade Commission ("TCT") has regulations intended to prohibit market manipulation in the petroleum industry with authority to fine violators of the regulations civil penalties of up to \$1,426,319 per violation per day, and the Commodity Futures Trading Commission ("CFTC") prohibits market manipulation in the petroleum industry with unbrity to fine violators of the regulations civil penalties of up to \$1,426,319 per violation per day, and the CPTC rules subject violators to a viol penalty of up to the greater of \$1,404,520 or triple the monetary gain to the person for each violation. Failure to comply with those regulations in the future could subject us to civil penalty liability, as described in "Business—Regulation of the Oil and Natural Gas Industry."

Our operations are subject to a series of risks arising out of the threat of climate change that could result in increased operating costs, limit the areas in which we may conduct oil, natural gas and NGL exploration and production activities, and reduce demand for the oil, natural gas and NGLs we produce.

In the United States, no comprehensive climate change legislation has been implemented at the federal level. However, following the U.S. Supreme Court finding that greenhouse gas ("GHG") emissions constitute a pollutant under the Clean Air Act (the "CAA"), the EPA has adopted regulations that, among other things, establish construction and operating permit reviews for emissions from certain large stationary sources, require the monitoring and annual reporting of GHG emissions from certain petroleum and natural gas system sources in the United States, and together with the Department of Transportation (the "DOT"), implement GHG emissions limits on vehicles manufactured for operation in the United States. The federal government has also increased regulation of methane from oil and gas facilities in recent years. For establishing more stringent statement located at natural gas vehicles of antural gas production gathering and booster stations, gas processing plants and natural gas transmission compressor stations. In December 2023, the EPA announced finalized rules proposed a rule to further reduce methane and VOC emissions from new, modified and reconstruction after the date the proposed rule was bublished in the Federal Register and emissions usidelines to inform state plans to establishis more stringent standards of performance for sources that commence construction, modification or reconstruction after the date the proposed rule was bublished in the Federal Register and emissions from state plans to establishis minuter state. The date the proposed rule was bublished in the Federal Register and emissions from state plans to establishis minuter states. The BLM also issued a proposed rule was to fautural gas from vehing, faring, and leaks during oil and gas production activities on clearal and American Indian leases. If finalized, these increasingly stringent methane and VOC requirements on new prodification or reconstruction after edocumplication of new requirements to suiting facilities, could essuit in addition

\$1,500 per ton in and after 2026, from certain facilities. The act also appropriates significant federal funding for renewable energy initiatives. In November 2024, the EPA issued a final rule to implement the emissions charge with an effective date of January 2025 for reporting year 2024 emissions. However, in February 2025, Congress passed a joint resolution to repeal this rule, which is currently pending President Trump's approval. Further implementation of the emissions charge under the Inflation Reduction Act is therefore uncertain at this time. These regulatory developments, along with ongoing uncertainties, may make it harder for the oil and gas industry to attract capital. Given the long-term trend toward increasing regulation, we expect there will be additional future federal GHG regulations of the oil and gas industry.

Additionally, various states and groups of states have adopted or are considering adopting legislation, regulations or other regulatory initiatives that are focused on such areas as GHG cap and trade programs, carbon taxes, reporting and tracking programs, and restriction of emissions. For example, the New Mexico Oil Conservation Commission has adopted regulations to restrict the venting of faring of methane from both upstream and midstream operations. Internationally, the United Nations-sponsored "Paris Agreement" requires member states to individually determine and submit non-binding emissions reduction targets every five years after 2020. While President Trump has initiated action to withdraw the United States from the Paris Agreement, this withdrawal is not immediate and may animate stronger actions by various other policymaters.

Governmental, scientific, and public concern over the threat of climate change arising from GHG emissions has resulted in increasing political risks in the United States, including climate change related pledges made by certain candidates elected to public office. The Biden Administration implemented various actions to accelerate the energy transition or otherwise increase the risks and costs associated with fossil fuel production. While President Trump has announced plans to reverse certain of these actions, various states and other policymakers are expected to continue to advance policies to promote a transition away from GSB fuels.

Litigation risks are also increasing, as a number of entities have sought to bring suit against oil and natural gas companies in state or federal court, alleging, among other things, that such companies created public nuisances by producing fuels that contributed to climate change. Suits have also been brought against such companies under shareholder and consumer protection haws, alleging that companies have been aware of the adverse effects of climate change but failed to adequately disclose those impacts. Litigation has also been brought against various governments, urging greater action on climate change; to the extent such suits are successful, it may result in further legal constraints on the production or consumption of the fuels we produce.

There are also increasing financial risks for fossil fuel producers as shareholders currently invested in fossil-fuel energy companies may elect in the future to shift some or all of their investments into other sectors. Institutional lenders who provide financing to fossil-fuel energy companies also have become more attentive to sustainable lending practices and some of them may elect not to provide funding for fossil fuel energy companies. Limitation of investments in and financings for fossil fuel energy companies could result in the restriction, delay or cancellation of drilling programs or development or production activities.

Additionally, various policymakers (including the SEC and the State of Colorado) have adopted or are considering adopting rules requiring the disclosure of certain climate-related information. While certain of these rules have been stayed or challenged, any such requirements may require us to incur additional costs or divert management's attention. In addition, enhanced climate disclosure requirements could accelerate the trend of certain stakeholders and lenders restricting or seeking more stringent conditions with respect to their investments in certain certain in certain stakeholders and lenders restricting or seeking more stringent conditions with respect to their investments in certain certain in the sector.

The adoption and implementation of new or more stringent international, federal, regional or state legislation, regulations or other regulatory initiatives that impose more stringent standards for GHG emissions from the oil and natural gas sector or otherwise restrict the areas in which this sector may produce oil and natural gas are generate GHG emissions could result in increased costs of compliance or costs of consuming, and thereby reduce demand for, oil and natural gas. Additionally, international or state legislation, regulation or other initiatives scould make alternative forms of energy more attractive in comparison to oil and natural gas, and thereby reduce demand for oil and natural gas. Moreover, political, litigation and financial risks may result in our restriction activities, incurring liability for infrastructure damages as a result of climatic changes, or having an impaired ability to continue to operate in an economic manner. One or more of these developments could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The physical climate change impacts, including increased frequency and severity of storms, severe and persistent drought conditions, winter storms, floods and other climatic events, may potentially have a large impact on our operations and financial results, and our customers' exploration and production operations. The potential impacts of climate change and climate change regulations are highly uncertain at this time, and thus we cannot currently anticipate or predict any

material adverse effect of climate change-related matters on our consolidated financial condition, results of operations, or how our cash flows may be effected as a result of climate change and climate change regulations

Increased attention to ESG matters and conservation measures may adversely impact our business.

Increasing attention to climate change, societal expectations on companies to address climate change, investor and societal expectations regarding voluntary ESG initiatives and disclosures, and consumer demand for alternative forms of energy may result in increased costs, capital markets. Increasing attention to climate change and environmental conservation, for example, may result in admand shifs for oil and natural gas products and additional governmental investigations and private litigation, and negative impacts on the price of our common units and access to capital markets. Increasing attention to climate change and environmental conservation, for example, may result in demand shifs for oil and natural gas products and additional governmental investigations and private litigation against us or our operators. To the extent that societal pressures or policital or other mitigating factors are involved, it is possible tas cuch liability could be imposed without regard to our causation to or or contribution to the asserted damage, or to other mitigating factors. Voluntary disclosures regarding ESG matters, as well as any ESG disclosures mandated by law, could result in private litigation or enforcement action regarding the sufficiency or validity of such disclosures. In addition, failure or a perception (whether or not valid) of failure to implement ESG strategies or achieve ESG goals or commitments, including any GHG reduction or neutralization goals or commitments, could result in governmental investigations or enforcement, private litigation and damage, or our investors or consumers to lose confidence in our Company, and negatively impact our operations.

Moreover, while we may engage in various initiatives (such as policies, certifications, or disclosures) regarding ESG matters from time to time, such efforts may require us to incur costs and may not have the desired effect. For example, we note that methodologies for monitoring and reporting on various ESG matters, including GHG emissions, as well as associated data continue to evolve. Our approach to such matters also evolves, and there can be no guarantee that our approach will align with the expectations or preferences of any particular stakeholder. Stakeholder stakeholde

In addition, organizations that voluntarily provide information to investors on corporate governance and related matters have developed ratings processes for evaluating companies on their approach to ESG matters. Such ratings are used by some investors to inform their investment and voting decisions. Unfavorable ESG ratings and recent activism directed at shifting funding away from companies with fossil fuel energy-related assets could lead to increased negative investor sentiment toward us and our industry and to the diversion of investments to other industries, which could have a negative impact on our access to and costs of capital. Also, institutional lenders may decide not to provide funding for fossil fuel energy companies based on climate change related concerns, which could affect our access to capital for potential growth projects.

Moreover, to the extent ESG matters negatively impact our reputation, we may not be able to compete as effectively to recruit or retain employees, which may adversely affect our operations. Such ESG matters may also impact our suppliers or customers, which may adversely impact our business, financial condition, or results of operations.

We may face various risks associated with the long-term trend toward increased activism against oil and gas exploration and development activities.

Opposition toward oil and gas drilling and development activity has been growing globally. Companies in the oil and gas industry are often the target of activist efforts from both individuals and non-governmental organizations regarding safety, environmental compliance and business practices. Anti-development activists are working to, among other things, reduce access to federal and state government lands and delay or cancel certain projects such as the development of oil and gas shale plays. For example, environmental activists continue to advocate for increased regulations or bans on shale drilling and hydraulic fracturing in the United States, even in jurisdictions that are among the most stringent in their regulation of the industry. Future activist efforts could result in the following:

- delay or denial of drilling permits;
- · shortening of lease terms and reduction in lease size;
- · restrictions on installation or operation of production, gathering or processing facilities;

· restrictions on the use of certain operating practices, such as hydraulic fracturing, or disposal of related waste materials, such as hydraulic fracking fluids and production;

- · increased severance and/or other taxes;
- cyber-attacks;
- · legal challenges or lawsuits;
- · negative publicity about our business or the oil and gas industry in general;
- increased costs of doing business;
- · reduction in demand for our products; and
- other adverse effects on our ability to develop our properties and expand production.
- We may need to incur significant costs associated with responding to these initiatives, and there is no guarantee that our responses will have the intended results. Complying with any resulting additional legal or regulatory requirements that are substantial could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, cash flows, results of operations and ability to pay distributions on our common units.

Prolonged negative investor sentiment toward upstream natural gas and oil focused companies could limit our access to capital funding, which would constrain liquidity.

Certain segments of the investor community have developed negative sentiment towards investing in our industry. Recent equity returns in the sector versus other sectors have led to lower natural gas and oil representation in certain key equity market indices. Some investors, including certain pension funds, private equity funds, university endowments and family foundations, have stated policies to reduce or eliminate their investments in the natural gas and oil sector based on social and environmental considerations. Certain other stakeholders have pressured commercial and investment banks to stop directly funding or raising enpited for hydroachon extraction, transportation or refining. If this negative sentiment continues or worsens, it may reduce the availability of capital funding for potential development projects or other strategic or operational purposes, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and ability to pay distributions on our common units.

Conservation measures and technological advances could reduce demand for oil, natural gas and NGLs.

Fuel conservation measures, alternative fuel requirements, increasing availability of, and consumer and industrial/commercial demand for, alternatives to oil, natural gas and NGLs (e.g., alternative energy sources) and products manufactured with, or powered by, non-oil and gas sources (e.g., electric vehicles and renewable residential and commercial power supplies), and technological advances in fuel economy and energy generation, transmission, storage and consumption of energy (e.g., wind, solar and hydrogen power, smart grid technology and battery technology), including incentives contained in the Inflation Reduction Act, could reduce demand for oil, natural gas and NGLs. The impact of the changing demand for oil and natural gas services and products may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

In addition, our business could be impacted by other governmental initiatives to incentivize the conservation of energy or the use of alternative energy sources. For example, in November 2021, the Biden Administration released "The Long-Term Strategy of the United States: Pathways to Net-Zero Greenhouse Gas Emissions by 2050," which establishes a roadmap to net zero emissions in the United States by 2050 through, among other things, improving energy efficiency; decarbonizing energy sources via electricity, hydrogen, and sustainable biofuels; and reducing non-CO₂ GHG emissions, such as methane and nitrous oxide. Further, the U.S. Department of Transportation recently issued more stringent fuel economy standards. These initiatives or similar state or federal initiatives to reduce energy consumption or incentivize a shift away from fossil fuels could reduce demand for hydrocarbons and have a material adverse effect on our earnings, cash flows and financial condition.



Federal, state and local legislative and regulatory initiatives relating to hydraulic fracturing as well as governmental reviews of such activities could result in increased costs and additional operating restrictions or delays in the completion of unconventional natural gas wells and adversely affect our production.

Hydraulic fracturing is an important and common practice that is used to stimulate production of natural gas from dense subsurface rock formations. Hydraulic fracturing involves the injection of water, sand or alternative proppant and chemicals under pressure into targeted geological formations to fracture the surrounding rock and stimulate production. A significant portion of our operated wells are drilled conventionally; however, from time to time, a portion of our wells are horizontally completed. This will be especially true in the Williston Basin.

Hydraulic fracturing is typically regulated by state oil and natural gas commissions. However, several federal agencies have asserted regulatory authority over certain aspects of the process. For example, the EPA published final CAA regulations in 2012 and, more recently, in June 2016 governing CAA performance standards, including standards for the capture of air emissions released during oil and natural gas hydraulic fracturing, leak detection, and permitting and separately published in June 2016 an effluent limitation guideline final rule prohibiting the discharge of wastewater from onshore unconventional oil and natural gas extraction facilities to publicly owned wastewater treatment plants. In December 2016, the EPA nelessed its final report on the polential impacts of hydraulic fracturing on drinking water resources under certain limited circumstances. To date, the EPA has taken no further action in response to the December 2010 report. In addition, the BLM infaultz fracturing on the polential impacts of hydraulic fracturing on federal and American Indian lands, including well casing and wastewater torage requirements and an obligation for exploration and production operators to disclose what chemicals they are using in fracturing entities. In December 2017, BLM issued a final rule repealing the LDM's recession of the rule was challenged by several environmental groups and states in the United States District Court for the Northern District of California upheld the BLM's recession of the rule was challenged by several environmental groups and states in the United States District Court for the Northern District of California upheld the BLM's recession of the rule was challenged by several environmental groups and states in the United States District Court for the Northern District of California upheld the BLM's recession of the rule was challenged by several environmental groups and to require disclosure of the chemicals used in the fracturing process. Meanwhile, states have continued to regulate hydraulic

At the state level, several states have adopted or are considering legal requirements that could impose more stringent permitting, disclosure and well construction requirements on hydraulic fracturing activities. Local governments also may seek to adopt ordinances within their jurisdictions regulating the time, place and manner of drilling activities in general or hydraulic fracturing activities in particular. State and federal regulatory agencies have also recently focused on a possible connection between the operation of injection wells used for natural gas and oil waste disposal and estimist, activity. Increased regulation and attention given to induced seismicity could lead to greater opposition concerning, production or development activities utilizing hydraulic fracturing activities. None believe that we follow applicable standard industry practices and legal requirements for groundwater protection in our hydraulic fracturing activities. None believe that we follow applicable standard industry practices and legal requirements when horizontally completing wells, which may be significant in matre, and also could become subject to additional permitting requirements and experience added delays or curtailment in the pursuit of exploration, development, or production are diverse effect on our business and results of operations.

See "Business and Properties-Regulation of Environmental and Occupational Safety and Health Matters" for a further description of the laws and regulations that affect us.

Restrictions on drilling activities intended to protect certain species of wildlife may adversely affect our ability to conduct drilling activities in areas where we operate.

Oil and natural gas operations in our operating areas may be adversely affected by seasonal or permanent restrictions on drilling activities designed to protect various wildlife. Seasonal restrictions may limit our ability to operate in protected areas and can intensify competition for drilling rigs, equipment, services, supplies and qualified personnel, which may lead to periodic shortages when drilling is allowed. These constraints and the resulting shortages or high costs could delay our operations or materially increase our operating and capital costs. Permanent restrictions imposed to protect endangered species in areas or require the implementation of expensive mitigation measures. The designation of previously unprotected species in areas where we operate as threatened or endangered could cause us to incur increased costs arising from species protection measures or could result in limitations on our exploration and production activities that could have a material adverse impact on our ability to develop and produce our reserves. There is

also increasing interest in nature-related matters beyond protected species, such as general biodiversity, which may similarly require us to incur costs or take other measures which may materially impact our business or operations. See "Business and Properties—Endangered Species and Migratory Birds Considerations" for a further description of the laws and regulations that affect us.

The third parties on whom we rely for transportation services are subject to complex federal, state, tribal and local laws that could adversely affect the cost, manner or feasibility of conducting our business.

The operations of the third parties on whom we rely for transportation services are subject to comply each stringent laws and regulations that require obtaining and maintaining numerous permits, approvals and certifications from various federal, state, tribal and local government authorities. These third parties may incur substantial costs in order to comply with suiting laws and regulations and and regulations governing such third-parties each maintain and there pay for such services. Similarly, a failure to comply with such laws and regulations become applicable to their operations, these changes may affect the costs that we pay for such services. Similarly, a failure to comply with such laws and regulations by the third parties on whom we rely could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and ability to make distributions to our unitholders. Please read "Business and Properties—Environmental Matters and Regulation" and "Business and Properties—Regulation of the Oil and Natural Gas Industry" for a description of the laws and regulations that affect the third parties on whom we rely.

Derivatives regulation could have an adverse effect on our ability to use derivative contracts to reduce the effect of commodity price, interest rate and other risks associated with our business.

The Dodd-Frank Act, enacted on July 21, 2010, established federal oversight and regulation of the over-the-counter derivatives market and of entities, such as us, that participate in that market. The Dodd-Frank Act nequires the CFTC and the SEC to promulgate rules and regulations implementing the Dodd-Frank Act. In is rulemaking under the Dodd-Frank Act, the CFTC has adopted rules that place limits on positions in certain core futures and equivalent swaps contracts for or linked to certain physical commodities, subject to exceptions for certain bond fide hedging transactions. These limitations could increase the costs to us of entering into, or lessen the availability of derivative contracts to hedge or mitigate our exposure to volatility in 0; gas and NGL prices and doubter commercial risks, the order commercial risks, the order commercial risks affecting our business. The Dodd-frank Act and Strong requirements for or qualify for the events evection requirements (or to qualify for the event exception on start exception on the exception on the exception of sub recently adopted final rules establishing minimum margin requirements for or qualify for the events availability of the swaps that we use for hedging. In addition, if any of our swaps do not qualify for the commercial rules are exception on sub recently adopted for the swaps that we use for hedging. In addition, if any of our swaps do not qualify for the could ispatificantly increase the cost of derivative contracts, rule tash twe use for hedging. In addition, if any of our swaps do not qualify for the could applied for the swaps the exception addition of the EVTC rules on the timing of such effects. The Dodd-Frank Act and CFTC rules on the timing of such effects of the Dodd-Frank Act and CFTC rules on the timing of such effects are availability of there availability of period event evaluation in the ord or our or rules to of derivative contracts, rules the availability of period events and requisation addition, the EVTC rules on the timing of such effect

We may be involved in legal proceedings that could result in substantial liabilities

Like many oil and natural gas companies, we are, from time to time, involved in various legal and other proceedings in the ordinary course of our business, such as title, royalty or contractual disputes, regulatory compliance matters and personal injury or property damage matters. Such legal proceedings are inherently uncertain and their results cannot be predicted. Regardless of the outcome, such proceedings could have an adverse impact on us because of legal costs, diversion of management and other personnel and other factors. In addition, it is possible that a resolution of one or more



such proceedings could result in liability, penalties or sanctions, as well as judgments, consent decreas or orders requiring a change in our business practices, which could materially and adversely affect our business, operating results and financial condition. Accruals for such liability, penalties or sanctions may be insufficient. Judgments and estimates to determine accruals or range of losses related to legal and other proceedings could change from one period to the next, and such changes could be material.

We may incur substantial losses and be subject to substantial liability claims as a result of our operations. Additionally, we may not be insured for, or our insurance may be inadequate to protect us against, these risks.

We are not insured against all risks. Losses and liabilities arising from uninsured and under insured events could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations.

Our exploration and production activities are subject to all of the operating risks associated with drilling for and producing oil, natural gas and NGLs, including the possibility of:

- environmental hazards, such as uncontrollable releases of oil, natural gas, brine, well fluids, toxic gas or other pollution into the environment, including groundwater, air and shoreline contamination;
- · abnormally pressured formations;
- well blowouts;
- · mechanical difficulties, such as stuck oilfield drilling and service tools and casing collapses;
- · fires, explosions and ruptures of pipelines;
- personal injuries and death;
- natural disasters; and

· terrorist attacks targeting oil and natural gas related facilities and infrastructure.

Any of these risks could adversely affect our ability to conduct operations or result in substantial loss to us as a result of claims for:

injury or loss of life;

- · damage to and destruction of property, natural resources and equipment;
- pollution and other environmental damage;
- regulatory investigations and penalties;
- · suspension of our operations; and
- · repair and remediation costs.

We may elect not to obtain insurance for any or all of these risks if we believe that the cost of available insurance is excessive relative to the risks presented. Moreover, insurance may not be available in the future at commercially reasonable costs and on commercially reasonable terms. Also, pollution and environmental risks generally are not fully insurable. The occurrence of an event that is not covered or fully covered by insurance and any delay in the payment of insurance proceeds for covered events could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.



Limitation or restrictions on our ability to obtain or dispose of water may have an adverse effect on our operating results.

Water is an essential component of shale oil and natural gas development during both the drilling and hydraulic fracturing processes. Our access to water to be used in these processes may be adversely affected due to reasons such as periods of extended drought, private, thirdparty competition for water in localized areas or the implementation of local or state governmental programs to monitor or restrict the beneficial use of water subject to their jurisdiction for hydraulic fracturing to assure adequate local water subjects. In addition, treatment and disposal of water is becoming more highly regulated and restricted. Thus, our costs for obtaining and disposing of water could increase eignificantly. In addition, the use, treatment and disposal of water has become a focus of certain investors. Which may result in activism, negative reputational impacts, increased costs or other adverse effects on our business, results of operations and financial condition. Duri mability to locate or contractually acquire and sustain the receipt of sustar very produce in an economical and environmentally sate manner.

The effects of climate change may also further exacerbate water scarcity in certain regions, including the areas in which we are active. If distinct weather events or gradual climatic processes were to require us to discontinue or curtail our operations, this could impair ability to economically produce our reserves and would have an adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Risks Inherent in an Investment in Us

Our general partner and its affiliates own a controlling interest in us and will have conflicts of interest with, and owe limited duties to, us, which may permit them to favor their own interests to the detriment of us and our unitholders.

Our general partner has control over all decisions related to our operations. Bob R. Simpson, our Chief Executive Officer and Chairman, Brent W. Clum, our President of Business Operations, Chief Financial Officer and Director, and Keith A. Hutton, a Director (collectively, the "Founders") own a majority interest in the membership interests in the sole member of our general partner. Although our general partner has a duty to manage us in a manner that is not adverse to the best interests of us and our unitholders, the executive officers and directors of our general partner also have a duty, in certain cases, to manage our general partner at the direction of MSOG, which is majority-owned and controlled by the Founders. As a result of these relationships, conflicts of interest may arise in the future between the Founders and their respective affiliates, including our general partner, the following:

- Our partnership agreement replaces the fiduciary duties that would otherwise be owed by our general partner with contractual standards governing its duties, limiting our general partner's liabilities and restricting the remedies available to our unitholders for actions that, without the limitations, might constitute breaches of fiduciary duty;
- Neither our partnership agreement nor any other agreement requires the Founders or their respective affiliates (other than our general partner) to pursue a business strategy that favors us;
- The Founders and their affiliates are not limited in their ability to compete with us, including with respect to future acquisition opportunities, and are under no obligation to offer or sell assets to us;
- Our general partner determines the amount and timing of our development operations and related capital expenditures, asset purchases and sales, borrowings, issuance of additional partnership interests, other investments, including investment capital expenditures in other partnerships with which our general partner is or may become affiliated, and cash reserves, each of which can affect the amount of cash that is distributed to unitholders;
- Except in limited circumstances, our general partner has the power and authority to conduct our business without unitholder approval;
- · Our general partner determines which costs incurred by it and its affiliates are reimbursable by us;

- Our partnership agreement does not restrict our general partner from causing us to pay it or its affiliates for any services rendered to us or entering into additional contractual arrangements with any of these entities on our behalf;
- Our general partner intends to limit its liability regarding our contractual and other obligations and, in some circumstances, is entitled to be indemnified by us;
- Our general partner may exercise its limited right to call and purchase common units if it and its affiliates own more than 80% of the common units;
- · Our general partner controls the enforcement of obligations owed to us by our general partner and its affiliates; and
- · Our general partner decides whether to retain separate counsel, accountants or others to perform services for us.

Our partnership agreement does not restrict our Founders and their respective affiliates from competing with us. Certain of our directors and officers may in the future spend significant time serving, and may have significant duties with, investment partnerships or other private entities that compete with us in seeking out acquisitions and business opportunities and, accordingly, may have conflicts of interest in allocating time or pursuing business opportunities.

Our partnership agreement provides that our general partner is restricted from engaging in any business activities other than acting as our general partner and those activities incidental to its ownership of interests in us. Affiliates of our general partner are not prohibited from owning projects or engaging in businesses that compete directly or indirectly with us. Similarly, our partnership agreement does not limit our Founders' or their respective affiliates' ability to compete with us and our Founders do not have any obligation to present business of poputanities to us.

In addition, certain of our officers and directors may in the future hold similar positions with investment partnerships or other private entities that are in the business of identifying and acquiring mineral and royalty interests. In such capacities, these individuals would likely devote significant time to such other businesses and would be compensated by such other businesses for the services rendered to them. The positions of these directors and officers may give rise to duries that are in conflict with duries owed to us. In addition, these individuals may become aware of business opportunities that may be appropriate for presentation to us as well as the other entities with which they are or may be affiliated. Due to these potential future affiliations, they may have duries to present potential business opportunities to mean their respective affiliates will be under no obligation to make any acquisition opportunities available to us.

Under the terms of our partnership agreement, the doctrine of corporate opportunity, or any analogous doctrine, does not apply to our general partner or any of its affiliates, including its executive officers and directors, our Founders and their respective affiliates. Any such person or entity that becomes aware of a potential transaction, agreement, arrangement or other matter that may be an opportunity for us will not have any duty to communicate or offer such opportanity to us. Any such person or entity will not be liable to us or to any limited partner for breach of any fiduciary duty or other duty by reason of the fact that such person or entity muscles or acquires such opportunity for usel, diportable to us or to any limited partner potential conflicts of interest between us and affiliates of our general partner and result in less than favorable treatment of us and holders of our common units.

Our partnership agreement requires that we distribute all of our available cash, which could limit our ability to grow our reserves and production and make acquisitions.

Our partnership agreement provides that we distribute each quarter all of our available cash, which we define as cash on hand at the end of each quarter, less reserves established by our general partner. As a result, we expect to rely primarily upon our cash reserves and external financing sources, including the issuance of additional common units and other partnership securities and borrowings under our Credit Facility, to fund future acquisitions and finance our growth. To the extent we are unable to finance growth with our cash reserves and external sources of capital, the requirement in our partnership agreement to distribute all of our available cash may impair our ability to grow.

A number of factors will affect our ability to issue securities and borrow money to finance growth, as well as the costs of such financings, including:

· general economic and market conditions, including interest rates, prevailing at the time we desire to issue securities or borrow funds;

- conditions in the oil and gas industry;
- · the market price of, and demand for, our common units;
- · our results of operations and financial condition; and
- prices for oil, natural gas and NGLs.

In addition, because we distribute all of our available cash, our growth may not be as fast as that of businesses that reinvest their available cash to expand ongoing operations. To the extent we issue additional units in connection with any acquisitions or expansion capital expenditures, the payment of distributions on those additional units in connection with any acquisitions or expansion capital including units ranking senior to the common units. The incurrence of additional commercial borrowings or other debt to finance our growth strategy would result in increased interest expense, which, in turn, may impact the available cash that we have to distribute to our unitholders.

Our partnership agreement replaces our general partner's fiduciary duties to us and our unitholders with contractual standards governing its duties, and restricts the remedies available to unitholders for actions taken by our general partner that might otherwise constitute breaches of fiduciary duty.

Our partnership agreement contains provisions that eliminate the fiduciary standards to which our general partner would otherwise be held by state fiduciary duty law and replaces those duties with different contractual standards. For example, our partnership agreement provides that:

- whenever our general partner (acting in its capacity as our general partner), the Board or any committee thereof (including the conflicts committee) makes a determination or takes, or declines to take, any other action in their respective capacities, our general partner, the Board and any committee thereof (including the conflicts committee) have such determination, or take or decline to take such other action, in good faith, meaning that it subjectively believed that the decision was not adverse to our best interests, and, except as specifically provided by our partnership agreement, will not be subject to any other or different standard imposed by our partnership agreement, Delaware law, or any other law, rule or regulation, or equitable principle;
- our general partner may make a number of decisions in its individual capacity, as opposed to in its capacity as our general partner, free of any duties to us and our unitholders other than the implied contractual covenant of good faith and fair dealing, which means that a court
 will enforce the reasonable expectations of the partners at the time our partnership agreement was entered into where the language in the partnership agreement does not provide for a clear course of action. This provision entitles our general partner to consider only the interests
 and factors that it desires and relieves it of any duty or obligation to give any consideration to any interest of, or factors affecting, us, our affiliates or our limited partners. Examples of decisions that our general partner may make in its individual capacity include:
 - · how to allocate corporate opportunities among us and its other affiliates;
 - · whether to exercise its limited call right;
 - · whether to seek approval of the resolution of a conflict of interest by the conflicts committee of the Board;
 - how to exercise its voting rights with respect to the units it owns;
 - · whether to sell or otherwise dispose of any units or other partnership interests it owns; and



- · whether or not to consent to any merger or consolidation of the partnership or amendment to the partnership agreement.
- our general partner will not have any liability to us or our unitholders for breach of any duty in connection with decisions made in its capacity as general partner so long as it acted in good faith (meaning that it subjectively believed that the decision was not adverse to our best
 interest);
- our general partner and its officers and directors will not be liable for monetary damages to us, our limited partners or assignees for any acts or omissions unless there has been a final and non-appealable judgment entered by a court of competent jurisdiction determining that our general partner or its officers and directors acted in bad faith or engaged in intentional fraud or willful misconduct or, in the case of a criminal matter, acted with knowledge that the conduct was criminal; and
- our general partner will not be in breach of its obligations under the partnership agreement (including any duties to us or our unitholders) if a transaction with an affiliate or the resolution of a conflict of interest is:
 - · approved by the conflicts committee of the Board, although our general partner is not obligated to seek such approval;
 - · approved by the vote of a majority of the outstanding common units, excluding any common units owned by our general partner and its affiliates;
 - · determined by the Board to be on terms no less favorable to us than those generally being provided to or available from unrelated third parties; or
 - determined by the Board to be fair and reasonable to us, taking into account the totality of the relationships among the parties involved, including other transactions that may be particularly favorable or advantageous to us.

In connection with a situation involving a transaction with an affiliate or a conflict of interest, any determination by our general partner or the conflicts committee must be made in good faith. If an affiliate transaction or the resolution of a conflict of interest is not approved by our common unitholders or the conflicts committee and the Board determines that the resolution or course of action taken with respect to the affiliate transaction or conflict of interest satisfies either of the standards set forth in the third and fourth sub-bullet points above, then it will be presumed that, in making its decision, the Board acted in good faith, and in any proceeding brought by or on behalf of any limited partner or the Partnership challenging such determination, the person bringing or prosecuting such proceeding will have the burden of overcoming such presumption.

Increases in interest rates could adversely impact our unit price and our ability to issue additional equity and incur debt.

Interest rates on future credit facilities and debt offerings could be higher than current levels, causing our financing costs to increase. In addition, as with other yield-oriented securities, our unit price is impacted by the level of our cash distributions to our unitholders and implied distribution yield. This implied distribution yield is often used by investors to compare and rank similar yield-oriented securities for investment decision-making purposes. Therefore, changes in interest rates, either positive or negative, may affect the yield requirements of investors who invest in our common units, and a rising interest rate environment could have an adverse impact on our unit price and our ability to issue additional equity or incur debt. See "—Increased costs of capital could adversely affect our business."

Our general partner may amend our partnership agreement, as it determines necessary or advisable, to permit the general partner to redeem the units of certain non-citizen unitholders.

Our general partner may amend our partnership agreement, as it determines necessary or advisable, to obtain proof of the U.S. federal income tax status and/or the nationality, citizenship or other related status of our limited partners (and their owners, to the extent relevant) and to permit our general partner to redeem the units held by any person (i) whose nationality, citizenship or related status creates substantial risk of cancellation or forfeiture of any of our property and/or (ii) who fails to comply with the procedures established to obtain such proof. The redemption price in the case of such a redemption will be the average of the daily closing prices per unit for the 20 consecutive trading days immediately prior to the date set for redemption.

Our unitholders have limited voting rights and are not entitled to elect our general partner or the Board, which could reduce the price at which our common units will trade.

Unlike the holders of common stock in a corporation, unitholders have only limited voting rights on matters affecting our business and, therefore, limited ability to influence management's decisions regarding our business. Our unitholders will have no right on an annual or ongoing basis to elect our general partner or its board of directors. The Board, including the independent directors, is chosen entirely by the Founders, as a result of their ownership of our general partner, and not by our unitholders. Unlike publicly traded corporations, we will not conduct annual meetings of our unitholers to elect directors or conduct other matters routinely conducted at annual meetings of oroprations. As a result of these limitations, the price at which the common units will trade could be diminished because of the absence or reduction of a takeover premium in the trading price.

Our general partner has control over all decisions related to our operations. Since affiliates of our general partner (including the Founders) collectively own and control the voting of an aggregate of approximately 31% of our outstanding common units, the other unitholders will not be an entering into any transactions. However, our partnership agreement can generally be amended with the consent of our general partner (including the Founders). Assuming we do not issue any additional common units including the founders) will generally be avented with the consent of our general partner (including the Founders). Assuming we do not issue any additional common units including the Founders) will generally be avented with the affiliates of our general partner (including the Founders). Assuming we do not issue any additional common units including the Founders) will generally have the ability to significantly influence any amendment to our partnership agreement, including ur policy to distribute all of our cash available for distribution to our unitholders. Furthermore, the goals and objectives of our general partner (including the Founders) will us to say to the sonistent with those of a majority of the other unitholders. Please read "—Our general partner and its affiliates own a controlling interest in us and will have conflicts of interest with, and owe limited duties to, us, which may permit them to favor their own interests to the detriment of us and our unitholders."

Even if our unitholders are dissatisfied, they are limited in their ability to remove our general partner without its consent.

The public unitholders will be very limited in their ability to remove our general partner without its consent because the Founders own sufficient units to be able to strongly influence a vote with respect to the removal of our general partner. The vote of the holders of at least 66.67% of all outstanding units voting together as a single class is required to remove our general partner. The Founders own approximately 22% of our outstanding voting units.

Control of our general partner may be transferred to a third party without unitholder consent.

Our general partner may transfer its general partner interest to a third party without the consent of the unitholders. Furthermore, our partnership agreement does not restrict the ability of the Founders, who majority-own and control MSOG, which wholly owns our general partner, from transferring all or a portion of their ownership interests in MSOG (or from causing MSOG to transfer all or a portion of its ownership interest in our general partner) to a third party. The new owner of our general partner would then be in a position to replace the Board and officers of our general partner with their own choices and thereby influence the decisions made by the Board and officers.

We may issue an unlimited number of additional units, including units that are senior to the common units, without unitholder approval.

Our partnership agreement does not limit the number of additional common units that we may issue at any time without the approval of our unitholders. In addition, we may issue an unlimited number of units that are senior to the common units in right of distribution, liquidation and voting. The issuance by us of additional common units or other equity interests of equal or senior rank will have the following effects:

- · our unitholders' proportionate ownership interest in us will decrease;
- · the amount of cash available for distribution on each unit may decrease;
- · the ratio of taxable income to distributions may increase;

· the relative voting strength of each previously outstanding unit may be diminished; and

the market price of our common units may decline.

Our partnership agreement restricts the voting rights of unitholders owning 20% or more of our common units.

Our partnership agreement restricts unitholders' limited voting rights by providing that any common units held by a person, entity or group owning 20% or more of any class of common units then outstanding, other than our general partner, its affiliates, their transferees and persons who acquire as do common units with the prior approval of the Board, cannot vote on any matter. Our partnership agreement also contains provisions limiting the ability of common unitholders to call meetings or to acquire information about our operations, as well as other provisions limiting the ability of our common unitholeres to influence the manner or direction of management.

Affiliates of our general partner may sell common units in the public markets, which sales could have an adverse impact on the trading price of the common units.

Affiliates of our general partner (including the Founders) own 12,947,878 common units, or approximately 31% of our limited partner interest. Under our partnership agreement, we have agreed to register for resale under the Securities Act and applicable state securities laws any common units or other partnership interests proposed to be sold by our general partner or any of its affiliates, which includes the Founders. The sale of these units in the public markets could have an adverse impact on the price of the common units or on any trading market that may develop.

Our general partner has a limited call right that may require you to sell your common units at an undesirable time or price.

If at any time our general partner and its affiliates own more than 80% of the then outstanding common units, our general partner will have the right, but not the obligation, which it may assign to any of its affiliates or to us, to acquire all, but not less than all, of the common units held by unaffiliated persons at a price that is not less than their then-current market price, as calculated pursuant to the terms of our partnership agreement. As a result, you may be required to sell your common units, at an undesirable time or price and may not receive any return on your investment. You may also incur a tax liability upon a sale of your common units. Our general partner to obligated to obtain a fairness opinion regarding the value of the common units to be repurchased by it upon exercise of the limited call right. There is no restriction in our partnership agreement that prevents our general partner from easing us to issue additional common units all right. The exercises its limited call right, the effect would be to take us private and, if the units were subsequently deregistered, we would no longer be subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act. Affiliates of our general partner from agreement subsequently 31% of our common units.

Our partnership agreement has designated the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware as the exclusive forum for certain types of actions and proceedings that may be initiated by our unitholders which would limit our unitholders' ability to choose the judicial forum for disputes with us or our general partner or its directors, officers or other employees.

Our partnership agreement provides that, with certain limited exceptions, the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware (or, if such court does not have subject matter jurisdiction thereof, any other court in the State of Delaware with subject matter jurisdiction) will be the exclusive forum for any claims, suits, actions or proceedings (1) arising out of or relating in any way to our partnership agreement (including any claims, suits or actions to interpret, apply or enforce the provisions of our partnership agreement to the duties, obligations or liabilities among limited partners or of limited partners or one const, or the rights or powers of, or restrictions on, the limited partners or ous, or the right oweed by any director, officer or other employee of us or our general partner, or owed by cur general partner, to us or the limited partners or of limited partners by agreement (and agreement for the duties, obligations or liabilities growers of, d) asserting a claim against up sequenced by the internal affairs doctrine. The foregoing provision will not apply to any claims as to which the Court of Chancery determines that there is an indispensable part on to subject to the jurisdiction of such court, which is rested in the exclusive jurisdiction of roum other than such court (including claims arising under the Securities Act and, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the United States federal district courts will be the sole and exclusive forum for resolving any action asserting a claim arising under the Securities Act creates concurrent jurisdiction for federal and state courts or all suits brought to enforce any duty or liability created by

the Securities Act or the rules or regulations thereunder. Accordingly, both state and federal courts have jurisdiction to entertain such Securities Act claims. To prevent having to litigate claims in multiple jurisdictions and the threat of inconsistent or contrary rulings by different courts, among other considerations, the partnership agreement provides that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, United States federal district courts shall be the exclusive forum for the resolution of any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act. There is uncertainty as to whether a court would enforce the forum provision with respect to claims under the federal securities laws. If a court were to find these provisions of our amended and restated agreement of limited partnership inapplicable to, or unenforceable in respect of, one or more of the specified types of actions or proceedings, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving such matters in other jurisdictions, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations.

Our partnership agreement also provides that each limited partner waives the right to trial by jury in any such claim, suit, action or proceeding, including any claim under the U.S. federal securities laws, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law. If a lawsuit is brought against us under our partnership agreement, it may be heard only by a judge or justice of the applicable trial court, which would be conducted according to different civil procedures and may result in different outcomes than a trial by jury would have, including results that could be less favorable to the plaintiffs in any such action. No unitholder cran waive compliance with respect to the U.S. federal securities laws and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder. If the partnership or one of the partnership unitholders opposed a jury trial demand based on the waiver, the applicable court would determine whether the waiver was enforceable based on the facts and circumstances of that case in accordance with applicable state and federal laws. To our knowledge, the enforceability of a contractual pre-dispute jury trial waiver in connection with claims arising under the U.S. federal securities laws has not been finally adjudicated by the United States Supreme Court. However, we believe that a contractual pre-dispute jury trial waiver provision is generally enforceable, including under the laws of the State of Delaware, which govern our partnership agreement. By unrehasing a common unit, a limited partner is irrevocably consenting to these limitations, provisions and obligations proceedings and submitting to the exclusive jurisdiction of the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware (or such other court) in connection with any such claims, suits, actions or proceedings. These provisions may have the effect of discouraging lawsuits against us, our general partner of under and our general partner's directors and offeres.

The NYSE does not require a publicly traded partnership like us to comply, and we do not intend to comply, with certain of its governance requirements generally applicable to corporations.

Because we are a publicly traded partnership, the NYSE does not require us to have a majority of independent directors on our general partner's board of directors or to establish a compensation committee or a nominating and corporate governance committee. Accordingly, unitholders will not have the same protections afforded to stockholders of certain corporations that are subject to all of the NYSE's corporate governance requirements.

Our unitholders' liability may not be limited if a court finds that unitholder action constitutes control of our business.

A general partner of a Delaware limited partnership generally has unlimited liability for the obligations of the partnership, except for those contractual obligations of the partnership that are expressly made without recourse to the general partner. Our partnership is organized under Delaware law and we conduct business in a number of other states. The limitations on the liability of holders of limited partner interests for the obligations of a limited partnership have not been clearly established in some of the other states in which we do business. A unitholder could be liable for our obligations as if it was a general partner if:

· a court or government agency determined that we were conducting business in a state but had not complied with that particular state's partnership statute; or

• a unitholder's right to approve some amendments to our partnership agreement or to take other actions under our partnership agreement constitutes "control" of our business.

Our unitholders may have liability to repay distributions that were wrongfully distributed to them.

Under certain circumstances, unitholders may have to repay amounts wrongfully returned or distributed to them. Under Section 17-607 of the Delaware Revised Uniform Limited Partnership Act, we may not make distributions to unitholders if the distribution would cause our liabilities to exceed the fair value of our assets. Liabilities to partners on account of their partnership interests and liabilities that are non-recourse to us are not counted for purposes of determining

whether a distribution is permitted. Delaware law provides that for a period of three years from the date of an impermissible distribution, limited partners who received the distribution and who knew at the time of the distribution that it violated Delaware law will be liable to the limited partnership for the distribution amount. Liabilities to partners on account of their partnership interest and liabilities that are non-recourse to the partnership are not counted for purposes of determining whether a distribution is permitted.

If our common unit price declines, our unitholders could lose a significant part of their investment.

- The market price of our common units is influenced by many factors, some of which are beyond our control. The market price of our common units could be subject to wide fluctuations in response to a number of factors, most of which we cannot control, including:
- changes in commodity prices;
- · changes in securities analysts' recommendations and their estimates of our financial performance;
- · public reaction to our press releases, announcements and filings with the SEC;
- fluctuations in broader securities market prices and volumes, particularly among securities of oil and natural gas companies and securities of publicly traded limited partnerships and limited liability companies;
- · changes in market valuations of similar companies;
- · departures of key personnel;
- commencement of or involvement in litigation;
- · variations in our quarterly results of operations or those of other oil and natural gas companies;
- · variations in the amount of our quarterly cash distributions to our unitholders;
- changes in tax law;
- an election by our general partner to convert or restructure us as a taxable entity;
- · future issuances and sales of our common units; and
- · changes in general conditions in the U.S. economy, financial markets or the oil and natural gas industry.

In recent years, the securities market has experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations. This volatility has had a significant effect on the market price of securities issued by many companies for reasons unrelated to the operating performance of these companies. Future market fluctuations may result in a lower price of our common units.

For as long as we are an emerging growth company, we will not be required to comply with certain reporting requirements that apply to other public companies, including those relating to auditing standards and disclosure about our executive compensation.

The JOBS Act contains provisions that, among other things, relax certain reporting requirements for "emerging growth companies," including certain requirements relating to auditing standards and compensation disclosure. We are classified as an emerging growth company, including standards are merging growth company, unlike other public companies, we will not be required to among other things, (1) provide an auditor's attestation report on management's assessment of the effectiveness of our system of internal control over financial reporting pursuant to Section 40(4) of the Sarbane-SOL49 (2) comply with any new requirements adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board ("PCAOB") required material addition are supplement to the auditor's proprint mich the additor's report in which the additor's new proprint addition or a supplement of the auditor's new proprint addition or a supplement of the additor's new proprint addition and the financial statements of the issuer, (3) comply with any new audit rules adopted by the PCAOB after April 5, 2012 unless the SEC determines otherwise or (4) provide certain disclosure regarding executive compensation.

Taking advantage of the longer phase-in periods for the adoption of new or revised financial accounting standards applicable to emerging growth companies may make our common units less attractive to investors.

We have elected to take advantage of all of the reduced reporting requirements and exemptions available to emerging growth companies under the JOBS Act, including the longer phase-in periods for the adoption of new or revised financial accounting standards under Section 107 of the JOBS Act, until we are no longer an emerging growth company. If we were to subsequently elect instead to comply with these public company effective dates, such election would be irrevocable pursuant to Section 107 of the JOBS Act.

Our election to use the phase-in periods permitted by this election may make it difficult to compare our financial statements to those of non-emerging growth companies and other emerging growth companies that have opted out of the longer phase-in periods under Section 107 of the JOBS Act and who will comply with new or revised financial accounting standards. We cannot predict if investors will find our common units less attractive because we elected to rely on these exemptions. If some investors find our common units less attractive as a result, there may be a less active trading market for our common units and supply to private companies.

If we fail to develop or maintain an effective system of internal controls, we may not be able to accurately report our financial results or prevent fraud. As a result, current and potential unitholders could lose confidence in our financial reporting, which would harm our business and the trading price of our units.

Effective internal controls are necessary for us to provide reliable financial reports, prevent fraud and operate successfully as a public company. If we cannot provide reliable financial reports or prevent fraud, our reputation and operating results would be harmed. We cannot be certain that our efforts to develop and maintain our internal controls will be successful, that we will be able to maintain adequate controls over our financial processes and reporting in the future or that we will be able to comply with our obligations under Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. Any failure to develop or maintain effective internal controls, ould likely have a negative effect on the trading price of our units.

Our general partner may elect to convert or restructure us from a partnership to an entity taxable as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes without unitholder consent.

Under our partnership agreement, our general partner may, without unitholder approval, cause us to be treated as an entity taxable as a corporation or subject to entity-level taxation for U.S. federal income tax purposes, whether by election of the partnership or conversion of the partnership or by any other means or methods. In addition and as part of such determination, affiliates of our general partner may choose to retain their partnership interests in us and cause us to enter into a transaction in which our interests held by other persons are converted into or exchanged for the general partner may the asy of the set of the determination, affiliates of our general partner may choose to retain their partnership interests in us and cause us to enter into a transaction in which our interests methods. In addition and may part to such actions for U.S. federal purposes, whose so ele assets are interests in us. The general partner may the asy of the foregoing actions if it in good find determines (meaning it subjectively believes) that such action is not adverse to our best interests. Any such event may be taxable to our uniniholder and may vary depending on the tomitholder's particular situation and may vary from the tax liability of us or of any affiliates of our general partner who choose to retain their partnership interests in us. Our general partner with have no duty or obligation to make any such determination or take any such actions, however, and may decline to do so free of any duty or obligation whatsoever to us or un imited partners, including any duty to act in a manner not adverse to the best interests.

We incur increased costs as a result of being a publicly traded partnership.

We have a limited history operating as a publicly traded partnership. As a publicly traded partnership, we incur significant legal, accounting and other expenses that we did not incur prior to our initial public offering. In addition, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as well as rules implemented by the SEC and the NYSE, require publicly traded entities to adopt various corporate governance practices that will further increase our costs. The amount of our expenses or reserves for expenses, including the costs of being a publicly traded partnership reduce the amount of cash we have for distribution to our unitholders is affected by the costs associated with being a public company.

As a result of our initial public offering, we became subject to the public reporting requirements of the Exchange Act. These rules and regulations have increased certain of our legal and financial compliance costs and made certain activities more time-consuming and costly. For example, as a result of becoming a publicly traded company, we are required to have at least three independent directors, create an audit committee and adopt policies regarding internal controls and disclosure controls and procedures, including the preparation of reports on internal controls example.

We also incur additional expense in order to obtain director and officer liability insurance. Because of the limitations in coverage for directors, it may be more difficult for us to attract and retain qualified persons to serve on the Board or as executive officers than it was prior to our initial public offering.

If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or reports about our business, if they adversely change their recommendations regarding our units or if our operating results do not meet their expectations, our unit price could decline.

The trading market for our common units is influenced by the research and reports that industry or securities analysts publish about us or our business. If one or more of these analysts cease coverage of our company or fail to publish reports on us regularly, we could lose visibility in the financial markets, which in turn could cause our unit price or trading volume to decline. Moreover, if one or more of the analysts who cover our company downgrades our common units or if our operating results do not meet their expectations, our unit price could decline.

Tax Risks to Common Unitholders

Our tax treatment depends on our status as a partnership for federal income tax purposes, as well as our not being subject to a material amount of entity-level taxation by individual states. If the Internal Revenue Service (the "IRS") were to treat us as a corporation for federal income tax purposes, or if we were otherwise subject to a material amount of entity-level taxation, then cash available for distribution to our unitholders could be reduced.

The anticipated after-tax economic benefit of an investment in our common units depends largely on our being treated as a partnership for federal income tax purposes. Despite the fact that we are organized as a limited partnership under Delaware law, we will be treated as a corporation for federal income tax purposes. Despite the fact that we are organized as a limited partnership under Delaware law, we will be treated as a corporation for federal income tax purposes. Despite the fact that we are organized as a limited partnership under Delaware law, we will be treated as a corporation for federal income tax purposes or otherwise subject us to taxation as an entity. We have not requested, and do not plan to request, a ruling from the IRS with respect to our classification as partnership for federal income tax purposes.

If we were treated as a corporation for federal income tax purposes, we would pay federal income tax on our taxable income at the corporate tax rate and we would also likely pay additional state and local income taxes at varying rates. Distributions to our unitholders would generally be taxed again as corporation, the cash available for distribution to our unitholders could flow through to our unitholders. Because a tax would be imposed upon us as a corporation, the cash available for distribution to our unitholders could flow through to our unitholders. Which would cause a rate would be imposed upon us as a corporation, the cash available for distribution to our unitholders could be reduced. Thus, treatment of us as a corporation could result in a reduction in the vanifest and easi-flow and after-tax return to would cause are reduction in the value of our common units.

At the state level, several states have been evaluating ways to subject partnerships to entity-level taxation through the imposition of state income, franchise, capital, and other forms of business taxes, as well as subjecting nonresident partners to taxation through the imposition of state income, franchise, capital, and other forms of business taxes, as well as subjecting nonresident partners to taxation through the imposition of withholding obligations and composite, combined, group, block, or similar filing obligations on nonresident partners receiving a distributive share of state "sourced" income. We currently own property or do business in New Mexico, Texas and Colorado, among other states. Imposition on us of any of these taxes in jurisdictions in which we own assets or conduct business or an increase in the existing tax rates could result in a reduction in the anticipated cash-flow and after-tax return to our unitholders, which would cause a reduction in the value of our common units.

The tax treatment of publicly traded partnerships or an investment in our common units could be subject to potential legislative, judicial or administrative changes and differing interpretations, possibly on a retroactive basis.

The present federal income tax treatment of publicly traded partnerships, including us, or an investment in our common units, may be modified by administrative, legislative or judicial interpretation. From time to time, members of

Congress propose and consider substantive changes to the existing federal income tax laws that affect publicly traded partnerships or an investment in our common units, including elimination of partnership tax treatment for certain publicly traded partnerships.

Any changes to federal income tax laws and interpretations thereof may or may not be applied retroactively and could make it more difficult or impossible for us to be treated as a partnership for federal income tax purposes or otherwise adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations. Any such changes or interpretations thereof could adversely impact the value of an investment in our common units.

Certain U.S. federal income tax incentives currently available with respect to oil and natural gas exploration and production may be reduced or eliminated as a result of future legislation.

In recent years, legislation has been proposed that would, if enacted, make significant changes to United States tax laws, including the reduction or elimination of certain key U.S. federal income tax incentives currently available to oil and natural gas exploration and production companies. These changes include, but are not limited to, (i) the repeal of the percentage depletion allowance for oil and natural gas properties, (ii) the elimination of current deductions for intangible drilling and development costs, and (iii) and extension of the amortization period for certain geological and geophysical expenditures. It is unclear whether these or ismilar changes will be enacted and, if enacted, how soon any such changes could become effective. The passage of any legislation as a result of these proposals or any other hanges could become effective. The passage of any legislation as a result of these proposals or any such change scould become effective. The passage of any legislation as a result of these proposals or any such change scould become effective. The passage of any content score allocable to our units.

We will prorate our items of income, gain, loss and deduction between transferors and transferees of our common units each month based upon the ownership of our common units on the first day of each month, instead of on the basis of the date a particular common unit is transferred.

We will generally prorate our items of income, gain, loss and deduction between transferors and transferees of our common units each month based upon the ownership of the units on the first day of each month, instead of on the basis of the date a particular unit is transferred. Treasury Regulations allow a similar monthly simplifying convention, but such regulations do not specifically authorize all aspects of our proration method. If the IRS were to successfully challenge our proration method, we may be required to change the allocation of items of income, gain, loss and deduction among our unitholders.

A successful IRS contest of the federal income tax positions we take may adversely impact the market for our common units and the cost of any IRS contest will reduce our cash available for distribution to unitholders.

The IRS has made no determination as to our status as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes. The IRS may adopt positions that differ from the positions we take, even positions taken with advice of counsel. It may be necessary to resort to administrative or court proceedings to sustain some or all of the positions we take and such positions may not ultimately be sustained. A court may not agree with some or all of the positions we take. As a result, any such contest with the IRS may materially and adversely impact the market for our common units and the price at which our common units trade. In addition, our costs of any contest with the IRS, principally legal, accounting and related fees, will be indirectly borne by our unitholders because the costs will reduce our cash available for distribution.

If the IRS makes audit adjustments to our income tax returns, it (and some states) may assess and collect any taxes (including any applicable penalties and interest) resulting from such audit adjustment directly from us, in which case we would pay the taxes directly to the IRS. If we bear such payment, our cash available for distribution to our unitholders might be substantially reduced.

Pursuant to the Bipartisan Budget Act of 2015, if the IRS makes audit adjustments to our income tax returns, it (and some states) may assess and collect any taxes (including any applicable penalties and interest) resulting from such audit adjustment directly from us. Our general partner would cause us to pay the taxes (including any applicable penalties and interest) resulting and interest) of the IRS. As a result, our current unitholders may bear some or all of the tax liability resulting from such audit adjustment, even if such unitholders did not own common units in us during the tax year under audit. If, as a result adjustment adjustment, even or make payments of taxes, penalties and interest, or cash available for distribution to our unitholders.

Our unitholders may be required to pay taxes on their share of our income even if they do not receive any cash distributions from us.

Because our unitholders will be treated as partners to whom we will allocate taxable income which could be different in amount from the cash that we distribute, our unitholders may be required to pay federal income taxes and, in some cases, state and local income taxes on their share of our taxable income, whether or not they receive any cash distributions from us. Our common unitholders may not receive cash distributions from us equal to their share of our taxable income or even equal to the actual tax liability resulting from their share of our taxable income.

Tax gains or losses on the disposition of our common units could be more or less than expected.

If our unitholders sell their common units, they will recognize a gain or loss equal to the difference between the amount realized and their tax basis in those common units. Because distributions in excess of a unitholder's allocable share of our net taxable income decrease the unitholder's tax basis in the unitholder's to any of such prior excess distributions with respect to the common units a unitholder sells will, in effect, become taxable income to the unitholder if the unitholder's tax basis in those common units, the amount, if any, of such prior excess distributions with respect to the common units a unitholder sells will, in effect, become taxable income to the unitholder if the unitholder's organized to a substantial portion of the amount realized, whether or not representing gain, may be taxed as ordinary income due to potential recapital witholder's share of our nonrecourse liabilities, a unitholder that sells common units may incur a tax liability in excess of the amount of the cash received if non the sale.

Unitholders may be subject to limitation on their ability to deduct interest expense incurred by us.

Our ability to deduct interest paid or accrued on indebtedness properly allocable to a trade or business interest") may be limited in certain circumstances. Should our ability to deduct business interest be limited, the amount of taxable income allocated to our unitholders in the taxable year in which the limitation is in effect may increase. However, in certain circumstances, a unitholder may be able to utilize a portion of a business interest deduction subject to this limitation in future taxable years. Prospective unitholders should consult their tax advisors regarding the impact of this business interest deduction limitation on an investment in our common units.

Tax-exempt entities face unique tax issues from owning our common units that may result in adverse tax consequences to them.

Investments in our common units by tax-exempt entities, such as individual retirement accounts ("IRAs") or other retirement plans, and non-U.S. persons raise issues unique to them. For example, virtually all of our income allocated to unitholders who are organizations exempt from federal income tax, including IRAs and other retirement plans, will be unrelated business taxable income and will be taxable to them. A tax-exempt entity with more than one unrelated trade or business (including IRAs and other retirement plans, will be unrelated business taxable income of such tax-exempt entity separately with respect to each such trade or business (including IRAs and other retirement plans, and non-U.S. persons raise issues unrelated trade or business (including IRAs and other retirement plans, will be unrelated business taxable income of such tax-exempt entity separately with respect to each such trade or business (including IRAs and other retirement plans, will be unrelated business taxable income of such tax-exempt entities to utilize losses from an investment in our partnership to offset unrelated business taxable income from another unrelated trade or business and vice versa. Tax-exempt entities should consult at a advisor regarding the impact of these rules on an investment in our common units.

Non-U.S. unitholders will be subject to U.S. taxes and withholding with respect to their income and gain from owning our common units.

Non-U.S. unitholders are generally taxed and subject to income tax filing requirements by the United States on income effectively connected with a U.S. trade or business ("effectively connected income"). Income allocated to our unitholders and any gain from the sale of our common units will generally be considered to be "effectively connected" with a U.S. trade or business. As a result, distributions to a non-U.S. unitholder will be subject to S. the highest applicable effective tax rate and a non-U.S. unitholder who sells or otherwise disposes of a common unit will also be subject to U.S. theelar lincome tax rate and a non-U.S. unitholder who sells or otherwise disposes of a common unit will also be subject to U.S. therein the subject to S. the subject to S

Moreover, upon the sale, exchange or other disposition of a common unit by a non-U.S. unitholder, the transferee is generally required to withhold 10% of the amount realized on such sale, exchange or other disposition if any portion of the gain on such sale, exchange or other disposition would be treated as effectively connected with a U.S. trade or business.

The U.S. Department of the Treasury and the IRS have issued final regulations providing guidance on the application of these rules for transfers of certain publicly traded partnership interests, including transfers of our common units. Under these regulations, the "amount realized" on a transfer of our common units will generally be the amount of gross proceeds paid to the broker effecting the applicable transfer on behalf of the transferor, and such broker will generally be responsible for the relevant withholding obligations. Distributions to non-U.S. unitholders may also be subject to additional withholding under these rules to the extent a portion of a distribution is attributable to an amount in excess of our cumulative net income that has not previously been distributed. Non-U.S. unitholders should consult their tax advisors regarding the impact of these rules on an investment in our common units.

We will treat each purchaser of our common units as having the same tax benefits without regard to the common units purchased. The IRS may challenge this treatment, which could adversely affect the value of our common units.

Because we cannot match transferors and transferors and transferees of common units, we will adopt depreciation, depletion and amortization positions that may not conform to all aspects of existing Treasury Regulations. A successful IRS challenge to those positions could adversely affect the amount of tax benefits available to a common unitholder. It also could affect the timing of these tax benefits or the amount of gain from a sale of common units and could have a negative impact on the value of our common units or result in audit adjustments to the unitholder's tax returns.

Our common unitholders will likely be subject to state and local taxes and return filing requirements in states where they do not live as a result of an investment in our common units.

In addition to federal income taxes, our common unitholders will likely be subject to other taxes, such as state and local income taxes, unincorporated business taxes and estate, inheritance or intangible taxes imposed by the various jurisdictions in which we do business or own property now or in the future, even if the unitholder does not live in any of those jurisdictions. Our common unitholders will likely be required to file state and local income tax returns and pay state and local income taxes in some or all of these various jurisdictions. Further, our unitholders may be subject to penalties for failure to comply with those requirements. We currently own property or conduct business in New Mexico, Colorado, Montana, Mississippi and North Dakota acch impose a personal income tax. Texas does not currently impose a personal income tax or individuals, but it does impose an entry level tax (to which we will be subject) on corporations and other entities. As we make acquisitions or expand our business, we may control assets or conduct business in additional states that impose a personal or corporate income tax. It is the responsibility of each unitholder to file its own federal, state and local tax returns, as applicable.

A unitholder whose common units are the subject of a securities loan (e.g., a loan to a "short seller" to cover a short sale of common units) may be considered as having disposed of those common units. If so, the unitholder would no longer be treated for tax purposes as a partner with respect to those common units during the period of the loan and may recognize gain or loss from the disposition.

Because there are no specific rules governing the U.S. federal income tax consequence of loaning a partnership interest, a unitholder whose common units are the subject of a securities loan may be considered to have disposed of the loaned units. In that case, the unitholder may no longer be treated for tax purposes as a partner with respect to those common units during the period of the loan and the unitholder may recognize gain or loss from such disposition. Moreover, during the period of the loan, any of our income, gain, loss or deduction with respect to those common units may not be reportable by the unitholder and any cash distributions received by the unitholder as to be common units could be fully taxable as ordinary income. Unitholders desiring to assure their status as partners and avoid the risk of gain recognition from a securities loan are urged to consult a tax advisor to determine whether it is advisable to modify any applicable brokerage account agreements to prohibit their brokers from leading their common units.

We will adopt certain valuation methodologies in determining a unitholder's allocations of income, gain, loss and deduction. The IRS may challenge these methods or the resulting allocations and such a challenge could adversely affect the value of our common units

In determining the items of income, gain, loss and deduction allocable to our unitholders, we must routinely determine the fair market value of our respective assets. Although we may from time to time consult with professional appraisers regarding valuation matters, we will make fair market value estimates using a methodology based on the market value of our common units as a means to measure the fair market value of our respective assets. The IRS may challenge these valuation methods and the resulting allocations of income, gain, loss and deduction.

A successful IRS challenge to these methods or allocations could adversely affect the amount, character and timing of taxable income or loss being allocated to our unitholders. It also could affect the amount of gain from our unitholders' sale of common units and could have a negative impact on the value of the common units or result in audit adjustments to our unitholders' tax returns without the benefit of additional deductions.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 1C. Cybersecurity

Cybersecurity Risk Management and Strategy

We have developed and implemented a cybersecurity risk management program intended to protect the confidentiality, integrity, and availability of our critical systems and information.

Our cybersecurity risk management program is part of our overall enterprise risk management program, and shares common reporting channels and governance processes that apply across the enterprise risk management program to other legal, compliance, strategic, operational, and financial risk areas.

Key elements of our cybersecurity risk management program include the following:

- risk assessments designed to help identify material cybersecurity risks to our critical systems, information, products, services, and our broader enterprise IT environment;
- a team of IT and risk management professionals principally responsible for directing (1) our cybersecurity risk assessment processes, (2) our security processes, and (3) our response to cybersecurity incidents; and
- · cybersecurity awareness training of all our employees.

We have not identified risks from known cybersecurity threats, including as a result of any prior cybersecurity incidents, that have materially affected us, including our operations, business strategy, results of operations, or financial conditionWe face risks from cybersecurity threats that, if realized, are reasonably likely to materially affect us, including our operations, business strategy, results of operations, or financial condition. See "Risk Factors – Our business could be negatively affected by security threats, including cybersecurity threats, and other disruptions".

Cybersecurity Governance

Our Board considers cybersecurity risk as part of its risk oversight function and has delegated to the Audit Committee oversight of cybersecurity and other information technology risks. The Audit Committee oversees management's design, implementation and enforcement of our cybersecurity risk management program described above.

Our Manager of Information Technology periodically reports to the Audit Committee and leads the Company's overall cybersecurity function. The Audit Committee receives reports from our IT team on our cybersecurity risks, including briefings on our cyber risk management program and cybersecurity incidents.

Our IT team, including our Manager of Information Technology, oversees efforts to prevent, detect, mitigate, and remediate cybersecurity risks and incidents that impact our systems and information through various means, which include briefings from internal personnel; threat intelligence and other information obtained from governmental, public or private sources, including external cybersecurity service providers; and alerts and reports produced by security tools deployed in our corporate IT environment.

Our Manager of Information Technology is responsible for assessing and managing our material risks from cybersecurity threats, and has primary responsibility for leading our overall cybersecurity risk management programOur Manager of Information Technology has over 20 years of experience in the cybersecurity field.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

We are party to lawsuits arising in the ordinary course of our business. We cannot predict the outcome of any such lawsuits with certainty, but management believes it is remote that pending or threatened legal matters will have a material adverse impact on our financial condition. Due to the nature of our business, we are, from time to time, involved in other routine litigation or subject to disputes or claims related to our business activities, including workers' compensation claims

and employment-related disputes. In the opinion of our management, none of these other pending litigation matters, disputes or claims against us, if decided adversely, will have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, eash flows or results of operations.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

None.

Part II

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Unitholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Market Information and Holders

Our common units are listed and traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "TXO." As of March 4, 2025, there were 108 record holders. Our common units began publicly trading on the NYSE on January 27, 2023. Prior to that time, there was no public market for our common units.

Since the closing of our initial public offering on January 31, 2023, we have made the following quarterly distributions as indicated in the table belowOur fourth quarter distribution of \$0.61 per unit with respect to cash available for distribution for the three months ended December 31, 2024, was declared on March 04, 2025 and will be paid on March 21, 2025 to unitholders of record on March 14, 2025. Our partnership agreement requires us to distribute all of our available cash within 60 days following the end of each quarter (other than the fourth quarter of each fiscal year), and within 90 days following the end of the fourth quarter of each fiscal year. See the "Cash Distribution Policy" section below for a discussion of our policy regarding distribution payments.

| | | Distributi | on per Unit | Payment Date |
|--|----------------------|------------|-------------|-------------------|
| | First Quarter, 2023 | s | 0.50 | May 30, 2023 |
| | Second Quarter, 2023 | S | 0.48 | August 25, 2023 |
| | Third Quarter, 2023 | \$ | 0.52 | November 27, 2023 |
| | Fourth Quarter, 2023 | S | 0.58 | March 28, 2024 |
| | First Quarter, 2024 | \$ | 0.65 | May 29, 2024 |
| | Second Quarter, 2024 | S | 0.57 | August 27, 2024 |
| | Third Quarter, 2024 | \$ | 0.58 | November 22, 2024 |

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

None.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

None.

Cash Distribution Policy

Our partnership agreement requires us to distribute all of our available cash each quarter. Our cash distribution policy reflects a basic judgment that our unitholders generally will be better served by us distributing our available cash, after expenses and reserves, rather than retaining it. However, other than the requirement in our partnership agreement to distribute all of our available cash each quarter, we have no legal obligation to make quarterly cash distributions from our available cash in the aforementioned or any other amount, and our general partner has considerable discretion to determine the amount of cash available for distribution each quarter.

Because our policy will be to distribute all available cash we generate each quarter, without reserving cash for future distributions or borrowing to pay distributions during periods of low revenue, our unitholders will have direct exposure to fluctuations in the amount of cash generated by our business. Our quarterly cash distributions from our available cash, if any, will not be stable and will vary from quarter to quarter as a direct result of variations in the performance of our operators and revenue caused by fluctuations in the prices of oil and natural gas. Such variations may be significant.

Available cash generally means, for any quarter, all cash and cash equivalents on hand at the end of that quarter:

less, the amount of cash reserves established by our general partner to:

• provide for the proper conduct of our business, which could include, but is not limited to, amounts reserved for capital expenditures, working capital and operating expenses;

· comply with applicable law, any of our debt instruments or other agreements; or

provide funds for distributions to our unitholders for any one or more of the next four quarters;

plus, all cash on hand on the date of determination resulting from dividends or distributions received after the end of the quarter from equity interests in any person other than a subsidiary in respect of operations conducted by such person during the quarter;

plus, if our general partner so determines, all or a portion of cash on hand on the date of determination resulting from working capital borrowings made after the end of the quarter.

The purpose and effect of the last bullet point above is to allow our general partner, if it so decides, to use cash from working capital borrowings made after the end of the quarter but on or before the date of determination of available cash for that quarter to pay distributions to unitholders. Working capital borrowings are generally borrowings that are made under a credit facility, commercial paper facility or similar financing arrangement and in all cases are used solely for working capital purposes or to pay distributions to partners and with the intent of the borrower to repay such borrowings within twelve months from sources other than additional working capital borrowings.

Item 6. [Reserved]

Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with our audited financial statements as of and for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 and related notes thereto, included in Item 8. Financial Statements. The following discussion contains forward-looking statements that reflect our future plans, estimates, beliefs and expected performance. These forward-looking statements are dependent upon events, risks and uncertainties that may be outside of our control. Our actual results could differ materially from those disclosed in these forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to, market prices for oil and natural gas, production volumes, estimates of proved reserves, capital expenditures, economic and competitive conditions, regulatory changes and other uncertainties, awell as those following disclosed below and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, particulatory in "Risk Factors" and "Forward-Looking statements," all of which are difficult to predict. In light of these risks, uncertainties and assumptions, the forward-looking statements discussed may not occur. We do not undertake any obligation to publicly update any forward-looking statements except as otherwise required by applicable law.

We have applied provisions of the SEC's FAST Act Modernization and Simplification of Regulation S-K, which limits the discussion to the two most recent fiscal years. This discussion and analysis deals with comparisons of material changes the consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023. For the comparison of the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, see Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023.

Unless otherwise indicated, throughout this discussion the term "MBoe" refers to thousands of barrels of oil equivalent quantities produced for the indicated period, with natural gas and NGL quantities converted to Bbl on an energy equivalent ratio of six Mcf to one barrel of oil.

Overview

We are an independent oil and natural gas company focused on the acquisition, development, optimization and exploitation of conventional oil, natural gas and natural gas liquid reserves in North America. Our properties are predominately located in the Permian Basin of New Mexico and Texas, the San Juan Basin of New Mexico and Colorado and the Williston Basin of Montana and North Dakota.

Recent Developments

Mancos Shale Development

The Mancos Shale is a large natural gas field, located in the San Juan Basin, where we hold an approximately 58,500 contiguous-acre position that is held by production. We have identified a 3,500-acre block as Phase I for developing and monetizing reserves, representing approximately 6% of our current Mancos position. Since our position is not subject to any leasehold expiration dates, we expect to develop this acreage at a measured pace as commodity prices allow. As of December 31, 2024, we do not have any proved reserves associated with our current Mancos position. Please see "Risk Factors—Risk Related to Our Business and the Oil, Natural Gas and NGI. Industry—Reserve estimates depend

on many assumptions that may ultimately be inaccurate. Any material inaccuracies in reserve estimates or underlying assumptions will materially affect the quantities and present value of our reserves."

Equity Offering

On June 28, 2024, we completed the Offering for the sale of 6.5 million common units at a price of \$20.00 per common unit, which resulted in proceeds of \$122.5 million net of underwriting discounts, commissions and other costs. On July 2, 2024, we completed the sale of an additional 975,000 common units at a price of \$20.00 per common unit pursuant to the underwriter's exercise in full of its option to purchase additional common units in the Offering, resulting in additional proceeds of \$18.7 million net of underwriting discounts, commissions and other costs. We used the net proceeds from the Offering to fund a portion of the cash consideration for the Williston Acquisitions.

Market Outlook

The oil and natural gas industry is cyclical and commodity prices are highly volatile. For example, during the period from January 1, 2022 through December 31, 2024, prices for crude oil and natural gas reached a high of \$123.70 per Bbl and \$9.68 per MMBtu, respectively, and a low of \$65.75 per Bbl and \$1.58 per MMBtu, respectively. Oil prices increased drastically in the first half of 2022 due to demand, domestic supply reductions, OPEC control measures and market disruptions resulting from the Russia-Ukraine war and sanctions on Russia. Oil prices moderated over the second half of 2022 and the first half of 2022 before initially increasing in the second half of 2023 as a result of expected supply constraints and hostilities in the Middle East. Since these concerns did not materialize, oil prices higher in the first half of 2024. Howerer, increased supply led to lower prices in the second half of \$72.23 per Bl as of January 30, 2025. These prices have been very volatile and experience large swings, sometimes on a day-to-day or week-to-week basis.

We expect the crude oil and natural gas markets will continue to be volatile in the future. Our revenue, profitability and future growth are highly dependent on the prices we receive for our oil and natural gas production. Please see "Risk Factors—Risks Related to the Natural Gas, NGL and Oil Industry and Our Business—Commodity prices are volatile—A sustained decline in commodity prices may adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations and our ability to meet our capital expenditure obligations and financial commitments."

With our anticipated cash flows from our long-lived property base, we intend to provide dynamic allocation of funds to prudently meet our goals. These goals include the highest projected economic returns on our capital budget, acquisition opportunities that fulfill our strategy, and cash distributions for the life of our legacy assets. From time to time, we may choose to prioritize the repayment of debt incurred in acquisitions to support the longer-term financial stewardship of our business. At other times, given fluctuations in industry costs and commodity prices, we may modify our capital budget or cash distributions. We will use all of these tools to support our underlying strategy as a "production and distribution" enterprise.

Concerns over global economic conditions, energy costs, supply chain disruptions, increased demand, labor shortages associated with a fully employed U.S. labor force, geopolitical issues, inflation, the availability and cost of credit and the United States financial markets and other factors have contributed to increased economic uncertainty and diminished expectations for the global economy. During the year ended December 31, 2022, the U.S. economy experienced the highest rate of inflation in the past 40 years. Rising inflation has been pervasive since 2022, increasing the cost of salaries, wages, supplies, material, freight, and energy. While we have seen inflation moderate in 2024, inflation continues to run higher than the Federal Reserve target, resulting in higher costs. We continue to undertake actions and implement plans to address these pressures and protect the requisite access to commodities and services, however, these mitigation efforts may not succeed or be insufficient. Nevertheless, we expect for the foresceable future to expertince inflationary pressure on our costs structure. Principally, commodity costs for steel and chemicals required for drilling, higher transportation and fuel costs and wage increases have increased our operating costs. We do not expect these cost increases to reverse in the short term. Typically, as prices for oil and natural gas increases, so do associated cost delines are likely to lag and may not adjust downward in proportion to prices. We cannot predict the future inflation rises do not begin to reverse or start to increase again, we may experience a higher cost environment going forward. If we are unable to recover higher costs through higher commodity prices, our current revenue stream, estimates of future reserves, borrowing base calculations, impairment



assessments of oil and natural gas properties, and values of properties in purchase and sale transactions would all be significantly impacted.

We are taking actions to mitigate inflationary pressures. We are working closely with other suppliers and contractors to ensure availability of supplies on site, especially fuel, steel and chemical supplies which are critical to many of our operations. However, these mitigation efforts may not succeed or be insufficient.

Sources of Our Revenue

Our revenues are derived from the sale of our oil, NGLs and natural gas production. Our revenues are influenced by production volumes and realized prices on the sale of oil, NGLs, and natural gas including the effect of our commodities derivative contracts. We sell oil, natural gas and NGLs at a specific delivery point, pay transportation to third parties and receive proceeds from the purchaser with no transportation deduction. As a result, we record transportation costs we pay to third parties as taxes, transportation and other conditions that we generally cannot control. Our revenues may vary significantly from period to period as a result of changes in volumes of production sold or changes in commodity prices. The following table presents the breakdown of our revenues including both the realized and unrealized effects of our commodity derivative contracts for the periods specified below:

| | For the Year Ended December 31, | | | |
|--------------------------|------------------------------------|------|------|--|
| | 2024 | 2023 | 2022 | |
| Crude oil sales | 70 % | 48 % | 65 % | |
| Natural gas sales | 20 % | 44 % | 18 % | |
| Natural gas liquid sales | 10 % | 8 % | 17 % | |

The following table presents that breakdown of our revenues for the periods specified below excluding the unrealized effects of our commodity derivative contracts.

| | | For the Year Ended December 31, | | | |
|--------------------------|------|------------------------------------|------|--|--|
| | 2024 | 2023 | 2022 | | |
| Crude oil sales | 66 % | 63 % | 48 % | | |
| Natural gas sales | 24 % | 27 % | 40 % | | |
| Natural gas liquid sales | 10 % | 10 % | 12 % | | |

Revenue excluding the unrealized effects of commodity derivative contracts is a non-GAAP supplemental financial measure that management and external users of our combined financial statements, such as investors, lenders and others (including industry analysts and rating agencies who will be using such measure), may use for the periods presented to more effectively evaluate our operating performance and our results of operation from period to period without giving effect to non-cash gains and losses. The GAAP measures most directly comparable to revenue excluding the unrealized effects of commodity derivative contracts is GAAP revenue. You should not consider revenue excluding the unrealized effects of commodity derivative contracts in isolation or as a substitute for analysis of our results as reported under GAAP.

Production volumes

Our ability to generate sufficient cash from operations to pay cash distributions to unitholders is a function of two primary variables: (i) production volumes and (ii) commodity prices. Production volumes directly impact our revenue. Any negative effect on production volumes could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of

operations and cash available for distribution. The following table presents historical production volumes for our properties for the periods specified below:

| | | For the Year Ended December 31, | | | |
|------------------------------|--------|------------------------------------|--------|--|--|
| | 2024 | 2023 | 2022 | | |
| Oil and condensate (MBbls) | 2,716 | 2,376 | 2,206 | | |
| Natural gas liquids (MBbls) | 1,211 | 1,232 | 1,334 | | |
| Natural gas (MMcf) | 27,790 | 28,739 | 29,557 | | |
| Total (MBoe) | 8,559 | 8,397 | 8,466 | | |
| Average net sales (MBoe/day) | 23 | 23 | 23 | | |

Sales volumes directly impact our results of operations. For more information about sales volumes, see "-Historical Results of Operations."

As reservoir pressures decline, production from a given well or formation decreases. Maintaining or growing our future production and reserves will depend on our ability to continue to replace current production with new reserves. Accordingly, we plan to focus on maintaining reserves through both the drill bit and acquisitions. Our ability to add reserves through development projects and acquisitions is dependent on many factors, including our ability to raise capital, obtain regulatory approvals, procure contract drilling rigs and personnel, and successfully identify and consummate acquisitions. See "Risk Factors—Risk Related to Our Business and the Oil, Natural Gas and NGL Industry" for a discussion of these and other risks affecting our proved reserves and production.

Realized commodity prices

Our results of operations depend on many factors, particularly the price of our commodity production and our ability to market our production effectively. Oil and natural gas prices have historically been volatile. During the period from January 1, 2022 through December 31, 2024 prices for crude oil and natural gas reached a high of \$123.70 per Bbl and \$9.68 per MMBtu, respectively. A future decline in commodity prices may adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations. Lower commodity prices may also result in a reduction in the borrowing base under our Credit Facility, which is redetermined semi-annually. See "—Liquidity and Capital Resources—Revolving credit agreement."

The NYMEX WTI, for oil prices, and NYMEX Henry Hub, for gas prices, are widely used benchmarks for the pricing of oil and natural gas in the United States. The price we receive for our oil and natural gas production is generally different than the NYMEX price because of adjustments for delivery location ("basis"), relative quality and other factors. For example, most of our gas is sold at the San Juan basis. As such, our revenues are sensitive to the price of the

underlying commodity to which they relate. The following is a comparison of average pricing excluding and including the effects of derivatives:

| | | For the Year Ended December 31, | | | |
|--|----|------------------------------------|--------|-----------|--|
| | | 2024 | 2023 | 2022 | |
| Average prices: | | | | | |
| Oil (Bbl) | | | | | |
| Average NYMEX Price | S | 75.76 \$ | 77.60 | \$ 94.33 | |
| Average Realized Price (excluding derivatives) | s | 72.92 \$ | 75.94 | \$ 93.69 | |
| Average Realized Price (including derivatives) | S | 73.01 \$ | 76.92 | \$ 72.93 | |
| Differential to NYMEX | s | (2.84) \$ | (1.66) | \$ (0.64) | |
| Natural Gas (Mcf) | | | | | |
| Average NYMEX Price | s | 2.41 \$ | 2.66 | \$ 6.55 | |
| Average Realized Price (excluding derivatives) | s | 2.08 \$ | 5.20 | \$ 6.62 | |
| Average Realized Price (including derivatives) | s | 1.98 \$ | 5.87 | \$ 1.48 | |
| Differential to NYMEX | s | (0.33) \$ | 2.54 | \$ 0.07 | |
| Natural gas liquids (Bbl) | | | | | |
| Average Realized Price (excluding derivatives) | s | 24.30 \$ | 22.53 | \$ 35.47 | |
| Average Realized Price (including derivatives) | s | 24.30 \$ | 23.70 | \$ 31.28 | |
| High and low NYMEX prices: | | | | | |
| Oil (Bbl) | | | | | |
| High | \$ | 86.91 \$ | 93.68 | \$ 123.70 | |
| Low | s | 65.75 \$ | 66.74 | \$ 71.02 | |
| Natural gas (MMBtu) | | | | | |
| High | s | 3.95 \$ | 4.17 | \$ 9.68 | |
| Low | s | 1.58 \$ | 1.99 | \$ 3.72 | |

Hedging activities

To achieve more predictable cash flow and to reduce our exposure to adverse fluctuations in commodity prices, from time to time we enter into derivative arrangements for our production. In most of our current positions, our hedging activity may also reduce our ability to benefit from increases in commodity prices. We will sustain losses to the extent our derivatives contract prices are lower than market prices, and conversely, we will recognize gains to the extent our derivatives contract prices. Our policy is to opportunistically hedge a portion of our production at commodity prices management deems attractive. We are also subject to certain hedging requirements pursuant to our Credit Facility. See "—Liquidity and Capital Resources—Revolving credit agreement." While there is a risk we may not be able to realize the full benefits of rising prices, management may continue its hedging strategy because of the benefits of predictable, stable cash flows. See "—Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure About Market Risk—Commodity Price Risk" for information regarding our exposure to market risk, including the effects of changes in commodity prices, and our commodity derivative contracts.

The price we receive for our oil and natural gas production is generally less than the NYMEX prices because of adjustments for basis, relative quality and other factors. We have entered into basis swap agreements for a portion of our gas production that effectively fix the basis adjustment for our delivery locations.

75

In the year ended December 31, 2024, all of our hedging activities increased oil revenue \$0.2 million and decreased NGL revenue \$0.0 million and gas revenue \$2.8 million. In the year ended December 31, 2023, all of our hedging

activities increased oil revenue \$2.3 million, NGL revenue \$1.4 million and gas revenue \$19.4 million. In the year ended December 31, 2022, all of our hedging activities decreased oil revenue \$45.8 million, NGL revenue \$5.6 million and gas revenue \$15.1.8 million.

The following tables summarize our open oil, NGL and natural gas hedging positions as of December 31, 2024. Prices to be realized for hedged production will be less than these NYMEX prices because of location, quality and other adjustments.

| Crude Oil—Swaps Production Period | Bbls per Day | Weighted Average NYMEX Price per Bbl |
|---|---------------|---|
| January 2025 - September 2026 | 2,000 \$ | 70.49 |
| October 2026 - December 2026 | 375 \$ | 64.16 |
| Natural Gas—Swaps Production Period | MMBtu per Day | Weighted Average NYMEX Price per MMBtu |
| January 2025 - March 2026 | 50,000 \$ | 3.21 |
| April 2026 - September 2026 | 35,000 \$ | 3.25 |
| October 2026 - December 2026 | 42,500 \$ | 3.90 |
| Natural Gas Basis Swaps—San Juan Production Period | MMBtu per Day | Weighted Average Sell Basis Price per MMBTU (a) |
| January 2025 - December 2025 | 50,000 \$ | (0.01) |

(a) Reductions to NYMEX gas price for delivery location

Principal Components of Our Cost Structure

Production expenses

Production expenses are the costs incurred in the operation of producing properties and include workover costs. Expenses for labor, overhead and repairs and maintenance comprise the most significant components of production expenses. Lease operating expenses do not include general and administrative expenses or severance or ad valorem taxes. We evaluate production expenses on a per Boe basis to monitor changes in production expenses to determine that costs are at an acceptable level. We monitor our operations to ensure that we are incurring lease operating expenses at an acceptable level. Although we strive to reduce our lease operating expenses, these expenses can increase or decrease on a per unit basis as a result of various factors as we operate and develop our properties or make acquisitions of properties.

Taxes, transportation, and other expenses

Taxes, transportation, and other expenses consist primarily of gathering and processing fees, transportation costs, severance taxes, and ad valorem taxes. Gathering, processing and transportation costs are recognized when control of the natural gas we sell occurs at the tailgate of the processing plant. Severance taxes are paid on produced oil and natural gas based on a percentage of net revenues from production sold at fixed rates established by state or local taxing authorities. In general, the severance taxes we pay correlate to the changes in oil and natural gas revenues. We are also subject to ad valorem taxes, in the counties where our production sold at fixed rates, transportation, and other expenses on a per Boe basis to monitor costs to ensure that they are at acceptable levels. Taxes, transportation, and other expenses on a per Boe basis to monitor costs to ensure that they are at acceptable levels. Taxes, transportation, and other expenses on a per Boe basis to monitor costs to ensure that they are at acceptable levels. Taxes, transportation, and other expenses on a per Boe basis to monitor costs to ensure that they are at acceptable levels. Taxes, transportation, and other expenses on a per Boe basis to monitor costs to ensure that they are at acceptable levels. Taxes, transportation, and sequisitions.

Depletion, depreciation, and amortization

Depreciation, depletion, and amortization ("DD&A") is the systematic expensing of the capitalized costs incurred to acquire, explore and develop oil and natural gas. We follow the successful efforts method of accounting, capitalizing costs of successful acquisitions and exploratory wells, which are then allocated to each unit of production using the unit of production method, and expensing costs of unsuccessful exploratory wells. Exploratory geological and geophysical costs

are expensed as incurred. All developmental costs are capitalized. We generally pursue acquisition and development of proved reserves as opposed to exploration activities. Changes in DD&A are a result of production and changes in the estimated reserves during the period.

General and administrative expenses

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of personnel related costs and are partially offset by certain reimbursements of overhead expenses. However, we do not expect to experience a material change in our cash cost structure, other than as set forth below under "Factors Affecting the Comparability of Our Financial Condition and Results of Operations."

Interest expense

Interest expense is primarily a result of interest on our borrowings on our Credit Facility to fund operations and acquisitions of properties as well as the amortization of debt issuance costs associated with these borrowings. Interest expense can fluctuate with our level of indebtedness as well as changes in interest rates.

Income tax

Texas does not currently impose a personal income tax on individuals, but it does impose an entity level tax (to which we are subject) on corporations and other entities. While we do not pay income tax in Texas, we are subject to Texas franchise taxes.

How We Evaluate Our Operations

We use a variety of financial and operational metrics to assess the performance of our operations, including:

- production volumes;
- · realized prices on the sale of oil, NGLs and natural gas
- production expenses;
- · acquisition and development expenditures
- Adjusted EBITDAX; and
- Cash Available for Distribution.

Adjusted EBITDAX

We define Adjusted EBITDAX as net income (loss) before (1) interest income, (2) interest expenses, (3) depreciation, depletion and amortization, (4) impairment expenses, (5) accretion of discount on asset retirement obligations, (6) exploration expenses, (7) unrealized (gain) losses on commodity derivative contracts, (8) non-cash incentive compensation, (9) non-cash (gain) loss on forgiveness of debt and (10) certain other non-cash expenses.

Adjusted EBITDAX is not a measure of net income as determined by U.S. GAAP. Management believes Adjusted EBITDAX is useful because it allows them to more effectively evaluate the financial performance of our assets from period and against our peers without regard to financing methods or capital structure.

Cash Available for Distribution

We use cash available for distribution to assess our ability to internally fund our exploration and development activities, pay distributions, and to service or incur additional debt. We define cash available for distribution as Adjusted EBITDAX less cash interest expense, exploration expense and development costs. Development costs include all of our capital expenditures made for oil and gas properties, other than acquisitions. Cash available for distribution will not reflect changes in working capital balances.

You should not infer from our presentation of Adjusted EBITDAX that its results will be unaffected by unusual or non-recurring items. You should not consider Adjusted EBITDAX or cash available for distribution in isolation or as a substitute for analysis of our results as reported under GAAP. Additionally, because Adjusted EBITDAX and cash available for distribution may be defined differently by other companies in our industry, our definition of Adjusted EBITDAX and cash available for distribution may be defined differently by other companies, thereby diminishing their utility.

Reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDAX and Cash Available for Distribution to GAAP Financial Measures

| | | 2024 | 2023 | 2022 |
|--|----------|----------|----------------|------------|
| | | | (in thousands) | |
| Net income (loss) | s | 23,496 | \$ (103,987) | \$ (7,668) |
| Interest expense | | 7,873 | 4,423 | 8,198 |
| Interest income | | (1,078) | (461) | (143) |
| Depreciation, depletion and amortization | | 52,409 | 44,288 | 41,364 |
| Impairment of long-lived assets | | _ | 223,384 | _ |
| Accretion of discount in asset retirement obligation | | 11,623 | 8,644 | 6,055 |
| Exploration expense | | 373 | 151 | 360 |
| Unrealized (gain)/loss on derivatives | | 7,399 | (106,247) | 113,217 |
| Non-cash incentive compensation | | 6,165 | 3,470 | _ |
| Non-recurring (gain)/loss | S | 394 | \$ 209 | \$ 23 |
| Adjusted EBITDAX | \$ | 108,654 | \$ 73,874 | \$ 161,406 |
| Cash Interest expense | | (6,974) | (3,677) | (7,506) |
| Cash Interest income | | 1,078 | 461 | 143 |
| Exploration expense | | (373) | (151) | (360) |
| Development costs | | (23,242) | (35,799) | (23,720) |
| Cash Available for Distribution | <u>s</u> | 79,143 | \$ 34,708 | \$ 129,963 |
| Net cash provided by operating activities | \$ | 109,299 | \$ 77,150 | \$ 136,380 |
| Changes in operating assets and liabilities | | (6,914) | (6,643) | 17,303 |
| Development costs | | (23,242) | (35,799) | (23,720) |
| Cash Available for Distribution | S | 79,143 | \$ 34,708 | \$ 129,963 |

Results of Operations

| | | For the year ended December 31, | | | | |
|--|------|---------------------------------|--------------|----|----------|--|
| | 2024 | | 2023 | | 2022 | |
| | | (in thou | isands) | | | |
| evenues: | | | | | | |
| Oil and condensate sales | \$ | 198,324 | \$ 182,733 | \$ | 160,864 | |
| Natural gas liquids sales | | 29,430 | 29,193 | | 41,731 | |
| Gas sales | | 55,056 | 168,792 | | 43,802 | |
| Total revenues | | 282,810 | 380,718 | | 246,397 | |
| xpenses: | | | | | | |
| Production | | 150,295 | 144,730 | | 127,661 | |
| Exploration | | 373 | 151 | | 360 | |
| Taxes, transportation, and other | | 60,442 | 75,415 | | 94,991 | |
| Depreciation, depletion and amortization | | 52,409 | 44,288 | | 41,364 | |
| Impairment of long-lived assets | | _ | 223,384 | | | |
| Accretion of discount in asset retirement obligation | | 11,623 | 8,644 | | 6,055 | |
| General and administrative | | 14,529 | 7,887 | | 1,646 | |
| Total expenses | | 289,671 | 504,499 | | 272,077 | |
| perating (loss) income | | (6,861) | (123,781) | | (25,680) | |
| ther income (expense): | | | | | | |
| Other income | | 37,152 | 23,756 | | 26,067 | |
| Interest income | | 1,078 | 461 | | 143 | |
| Interest expense | | (7,873) | (4,423) | | (8,198) | |
| Total other income | | 30,357 | 19,794 | | 18,012 | |
| t income (loss) | S | 23,496 | \$ (103,987) | \$ | (7,668) | |

The following table provides a summary of our sales volumes, average prices (both including and excluding the effects of derivatives) and operating expenses on a per Boe basis for the periods indicated:

| | | For the year ended December 31, | | | |
|--|----|---------------------------------|----------|--------|--|
| | | 2024 | 2023 | 2022 | |
| Sales: | | | | | |
| Oil and condensate sales (MBbls) | | 2,716 | 2,376 | 2,206 | |
| Natural gas liquids sales (MBbls) | | 1,211 | 1,232 | 1,334 | |
| Natural gas sales (MMcf) | | 27,790 | 28,739 | 29,557 | |
| Total (MBoe) | | 8,559 | 8,397 | 8,466 | |
| Total (MBoe/d) | | 23 | 23 | 23 | |
| Average sales prices: | | | | | |
| Oil and condensate excluding the effects of derivatives (per Bbl) | S | 72.92 \$ | 75.94 \$ | 93.69 | |
| Oil and condensate (per Bbl) (1) | S | 73.01 \$ | 76.92 \$ | 72.93 | |
| Natural gas liquids excluding the effects of derivatives (per Bbl) | S | 24.30 \$ | 22.53 \$ | 35.47 | |
| Natural gas liquids (per Bbl) (2) | S | 24.30 \$ | 23.70 \$ | 31.28 | |
| Natural gas excluding the effects of derivatives (per Mcf) | \$ | 2.08 \$ | 5.20 \$ | 6.62 | |
| Natural gas (per Mcf) (3) | \$ | 1.98 \$ | 5.87 \$ | 1.48 | |
| Expense per Boe: | | | | | |
| Production | S | 17.56 \$ | 17.24 \$ | 15.08 | |
| Taxes, transportation and other | S | 7.06 \$ | 8.98 \$ | 11.22 | |
| Depreciation, depletion and amortization | S | 6.12 \$ | 5.27 \$ | 4.89 | |
| General and administrative expenses | S | 1.70 \$ | 0.94 \$ | 0.19 | |

 $\overline{(1)}$

Ol and condensate prices include both realized and unrealized losses from derivatives. The unrealized gains were \$5.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 and \$9.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. and s0.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2024. The realized losses were \$13.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. and s0.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2024. The realized losses were \$10.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2024. The realized losses were \$10.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2024. The realized gains were \$0.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. The realized gains were \$0.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. The realized gains were \$0.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. The realized gains were \$0.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. The realized gains were \$0.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. The realized losses were \$1.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 and s0.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. The realized gains were \$0.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 and s0.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. The realized losses were \$1.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 and ender 24.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 and s0.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 and s0.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 and realized losses were \$1.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 and realized losses were \$1.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 unrealized and unrealized losses were \$9.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, unrealized and unrealized losses were \$9.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. The realized gains were \$1.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 and trealized losses were \$9.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 and \$2.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 and unrealized losses were \$9.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. (2)

(3)

Year Ended December 31, 2024 Compared to the Year Ended December 31, 2023

Revenues

Revenues decreased \$97.9 million, or 26%, from \$380.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 to \$282.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2024. The decrease was primarily attributable to a decrease in the average selling price, excluding the effects of derivatives, on oil of 4%, resulted in a decrease in revenue of \$32.7 million, of which \$113.6 million were related to increased unrealized losses partially offset by an increase in production of 162 MBee which resulted in increased revenue of \$22.4 million primarily as a result of the acquisition of producing assets in the Williston Basin being offset by natural declines in San Juan Basin and an increase in the average selling price, excluding the effects of 8%, resulted in an increase in revenue of \$2.2 million, of which \$11.6 million were related to increased nervatives of 162 MBee which resulted in increased revenue of \$2.2 million, of start of the acquisition of producing assets in the Williston Basin being offset by natural declines in San Juan Basin and an increase in the average selling price, excluding the effects of derivatives, on NGLs of 8%, resulting in an increase in revenue of \$2.2 million.

Production expenses

Production expenses increased \$5.6 million, or 4%, from \$144.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 to \$150.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2024. Of this increase, \$10.0 million is attributable to production from the

Williston Basin acquisitions. This increase was partially offset by decreased maintenance and energy costs on our historical properties.

On a per unit basis, production expenses increased from \$17.24 per Boe sold for the year ended December 31, 2023 to \$17.56 per Boe sold for the year ended December 31, 2024. The increase is primarily related to the increased costs per Boe from our historical properties as decreased production more than offset decreased costs in these properties. This increase was partially offset by lower costs per Boe from the Williston Basin acquisitions.

Taxes, transportation, and other

Taxes, transportation, and other decreased \$15.0 million, or 20%, from \$75.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 to \$60.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2024. The decrease is primarily attributable to the decrease in oil, NGLs and natural gas prices as well as decreased NGLs and natural gas volumes.

On a per unit basis, taxes, transportation, and other decreased from \$8,98 per Boe sold for the year ended December 31, 2023 to \$7.06 per Boe sold for the year ended December 31, 2024. The decrease is primarily attributable to the decrease in oil, NGLs and natural gas prices.

Depreciation, depletion, and amortization

Depreciation, depletion, and amortization increased \$8.1 million, or 18%, from \$44.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 to \$52.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2024. The increase is primarily attributable to the increased production associated withe Williston Basin acquisitions of \$10.4 million which has a higher rate than the historical properties, partially offset by decreased production on our historical properties.

On a per unit basis, depreciation, depletion, and amortization increased from \$5.27 per Boe sold for the year ended December 31, 2023 to \$6.12 per Boe sold for the year ended December 31, 2024. The increase is primarily related to the production associated with Williston Basin acquisitions which has a higher rate than the historical properties.

Impairment of long-lived assets

We did not record an impairment of long-lived assets for the year ended December 31, 2024. We recorded an impairment of long-lived assets of \$223.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. The impairment was related toour assets in the Texas Permian Basin, that is within our Cross Timbers joint venture, primarily due to a lower net commodity price environment and higher costs as well as a change in our development plans to reduce the duration of the proved undeveloped reserves from five years to two years.

General and administrative

General and administrative ("G&A") expenses increased \$6.6 million, or 84%, from \$7.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 to \$14.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2024. The increase is primarily attributable to higher personnel costs of \$4.8 million due in part to amortization of unit awards and additional expenses related to being a public company.

On a per unit basis, G&A expense increased from \$0.94 per Boe sold for the year ended December 31, 2023 to \$1.70 per Boe sold for the year ended December 31, 2024. The increase is primarily related to increased costs partially offset by increased production.

Other income

Other income increased \$13.4 million, or 56%, from \$23.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 to \$37.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2024. The increase is primarily attributable to \$9.7 million in bonus receipts on term assignment of leases, higher CO; and plant income of \$3.1 million and a \$0.7 million increase in marketing income. The CO; and plant income is ancillary to the operations of the gas processing plant in the Permian Basin in New Mexico and CG assets in Colorado.

Interest expense

Interest expense increased \$3.5 million, or 78%, from \$4.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 to \$7.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2024. The increase is primarily attributable to increased borrowings due take Williston Basin acquisitions and a higher interest rate.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our primary sources of liquidity and capital are cash flows generated by operating activities and borrowings under our Credit Facility. Outstanding borrowings under our Credit Facility were \$15.0.0 million at December 31, 2024 and \$21.0 million at December 31, 2023, and the remaining availability under our Credit Facility was \$152.0 million at December 31, 2024 and \$144.0 million at December 31, 2023. Additionally, we had negative net working capital (including cash and excluding the effects of derivative instruments) of \$2.5 million at December 31, 2023.

On June 28, 2024, we completed the Offering for the sale of 6.5 million common units at a price of \$20.00 per common unit which resulted in proceeds of \$12.5 million net of underwriting discounts, commissions and other costs. On July 2, 2024, we completed the sale of an additional 975,000 common units at a price of \$20.00 per common unit parsuant to the underwriter's exercise in full of its option to purchase additional common units in the Offering, resulting in additional proceeds of \$18.7 million net of underwriting discounts, commissions and other costs. We used the net proceeds from the Offering to fund a portion of the cash consideration for the Williston Acquisitions.

Our net credit facility debt as of December 31, 2024 was \$142.7 million (less cash of \$7.3 million). These borrowings under our Credit Facility, which increased our net debt-to-EBITDAX ratio to approximately one times, were incurred to fund the remainder of the Williston Basin Acquisitions. We expect to carry this level of debt moving forward.

As a publicly traded partnership, our primary sources of liquidity and capital resources are from cash flow generated by operating activities and borrowings under our Credit Facility. Historically, our primary sources of liquidity have also included capital contributions by our pre-IPO equity holders, but we do not expect to rely on pre-IPO equity holders for capital going forward. We may need to utilize the public equity or debt markets and bank financings to fund future acquisitions or capital expenditures, but the price at which our common units will trade could be diminished as a result of the limited voting rights of uniholders. We expect to be able to issue additional equity and debt securities from time to time as market conditions allow to facilitate future acquisitions, to need no urability to finance our operations, including funding capital expenditures and acquisitions, to need to our indebtedness woll depend on our ability to generate cash is able to a number of factors. Some of which are beyond our control, including commodity prices, particularly for oil and natural gas, and our ongoing efforts to manage operating costs and maintenance capital expenditures, as well as general economic, financial, competitive, legislative, regulatory, weather and other factors.

Our partnership agreement requires that we distribute all of our available cash (as defined in the partnership agreement) to our unitholders. Our quarterly cash distributions may vary from quarter to quarter as a direct result of variations in the performance of our business, including those caused by fluctuations in the prices of oil and natural gas. Such variations may be significant and quarterly distributions paid to our unitholders may be zero. Our fourth quarter distribution of \$0.61 per unit with respect to cash available for distribution for the three months ended December 31, 2024, was declared on March 04, 2025 and will be paid on March 21, 2025 to unitholders of record on March 14, 2025.

In addition, our partnership agreement permits us to borrow funds to make distributions to our unitholders. We may, but are under no obligation to, borrow to make distributions to our unitholders, for example, in circumstances where we believe that the distribution level is sustainable over the long-term, but short-term factors have caused available cash from operations to be insufficient to sustain our level of distributions. For example, we intend to opportunistically hedge a portion of our production. We generally will be required to settle our commodity hedge derivatives within twenty-five days of the end of the month. As is typical in the oil and gas industry, we do not generally receive the proceeds from the sale of our hedged production until 20 to 60 days following the end of the month. As a result, when commodity prices increase above the fixed price in the derivative contracts, we will be required to pay the derivative contractary the difference between the fixed price in the derivative contract and the market price before we receive the proceeds from the sale of the hedged production. If this occurs, we may borrow to fund our distributions.



Our acquisition and development expenditures consist of acquisitions of proved, unproved and other property and development expenditures. Our capital expenditures including acquisitions were \$288.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 and \$46.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2024.

We incurred costs of approximately \$28.0 million for drilling, completion and recompletion activities and facilities costs in 2024 and we have budgeted approximately \$30 - \$50 million for such costs in 2025. We expect to fund these capital expenditures from cash flow from operations.

The amount and timing of these capital expenditures is substantially within our control and subject to management's discretion. We retain the flexibility to defer a portion of these planned capital expenditures depending on a variety of factors, including, but not limited to the prevailing and anticipated prices for oil, NGLs and natural gas, the availability of necessary equipment, infrastructure and capital, seasonal conditions and drilling and acquisition costs. Any postponement or elimination of our development program could result in a reduction of proved reserve volumes, production and cash flow, including distributions to unitholders.

Based on current commodity prices and our drilling success rate to date, we expect to be able to fund our distributions, meet our debt obligations and fund ou2025 capital development programs from cash flow from operations.

If cash flow from operations does not meet our expectations, we may reduce our expected level of capital expenditures and/or distributions to unitholders. Alternatively, we may fund these expenditures using borrowings under our Credit Facility, issuances of debt and equity securities or from other sources, such as asset sales. We cannot assure you that necessary capital will be available on acceptable terms or at all. Our ability to raise funds through the incurrence of additional indebtedness could be limited by covenants in our debt arrangements. If we are unable to obtain funds when needed or on acceptable terms, we may not be able to complete acquisitions that may be favorable to us, finance the capital expenditures necessary to maintain our production or proved reserves, or make distributions to unitholders.

Cash flows

The following table summarizes our cash flows for the periods indicated (in thousands):

| | For the Year Ended December 31, | | | |
|---|---------------------------------|-----------|--------|--------|
| | 2024 | 2023 | 2022 | |
| Net cash provided by operating activities | \$ 109,299 | \$ 77,150 | \$ 136 | 6,380 |
| Net cash used in investing activities | (288,283) | (46,220) | (86 | 6,670) |
| Net cash (used by) provided by financing activities | 181,784 | (35,629) | (48 | 8,053) |

Year Ended December 31, 2024 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2023

Net cash provided by operating activities

Net cash provided by operating activities increased \$32.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 compared to the year ended December 31, 2023 primarily as a result of increased production and lower expenses partially offset by lower oil and natural gas prices in 2024 compared to 2023.

Net cash used by investing activities

Net cash used by investing activities increased \$242.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 compared to the year ended December 31, 2023 due to an increase in proved property and other property acquisitions of \$254.6 million related to the Williston Basin Acquisitions partially offset by a decrease in development costs of \$12.6 million.

Net cash provided by (used by) financing activities

| | For the Year Ended December 31, | | | |
|--|---------------------------------|----------------|--------------|--|
| - | 2024 2023 | | 2022 | |
| | | (in thousands) | | |
| Proceeds from long-term debt \$ | \$ 251,000 | \$ 86,000 | \$ 1,461,000 | |
| Payments on long-term debt | (122,000) | (178,000) | (1,493,000) | |
| Proceeds from initial public offering | _ | 106,277 | _ | |
| Net proceeds from public offering | 141,233 | _ | _ | |
| Debt issuance costs | (3,173) | (144) | (161) | |
| Capitalized offering costs | _ | _ | (3,738) | |
| Proceeds from sale of units to cover withholding taxes | 930 | — | _ | |
| Withholding taxes paid on vesting of restricted units | (851) | _ | _ | |
| Proceeds from exercise of Series 3 warrants | _ | — | 1,029 | |
| Distributions | (85,355) | (49,762) | (13,183) | |
| Net cash provided by (used by) financing activities | \$ 181,784 | \$ (35,629) | \$ (48,053) | |

Net cash provided by financing activities increased \$217.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 compared to the year ended December 31, 2023 due to an increase in net borrowings under our credit facility of \$221.0 million and increased proceeds from public offerings of \$35.0 million partially offset by increased distributions to unitholders of \$35.6 million and increased debt offering costs of \$3.0 million.

Revolving credit agreement

On August 30, 2024, we entered into Amendment No. 4 and Borrowing Base Agreement ("Amendment No. 4") on our senior secured credit facility (the "Credit Facility") with certain commercial banks, as the lenders, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as the administrative agent. We use the Credit Facility for general corporate purposes. Amendment No. 4 extended the maturity date of the Credit Facility to August 30, 2028, increased the borrowing base from \$165 million to \$275 million and jointrows: including distributions to our unitholders. Our obligations under the Credit Facility is escured by substantial and 10 or arsests; including (i) our interest in Creos Timbers, (ii) and receivables owed to us by the joint venture and (iv) any oil and gas properties owned directly by us and our wholly-owned subsidiaries. In connection with entering into the Credit Facility, we incurred Si. 11. With cereated Secure and the Credit Facility. We incurred Si. 11. Million of Si. 25 million. These costs are being amortized over the life of the Credit Facility. We incurred Si. 11. Million cereated security as counted by the security as counted by the security and security as counted by used and our wholly-owned subsidiaries. In connection with entering into the Credit Facility, we incurred Si. 11. Million of face and expenses of approximately \$62. million. These costs are being amortized over the life of the Credit Facility. We incurred Si. 11. Million of financing fees and expenses in conjunction with Amendment No. 4. Such amortized expenses are recorded as interest expense on the statements of operations. As of December 31, 2024, we had \$150 million in borrowings outstanding under our Credit Facility and \$125 million in availability.

Under our Credit Facility, the borrowing base is determined based on the value of our oil and natural gas properties and the oil and gas properties of our wholly owned subsidiaries. The borrowing base is subject to further adjustments for asset dispositions, material title deficiencies, certain terminations of hedge agreements and issuances of permitted additional indebtedness.

Redetermination of the borrowing base under the Credit Facility is based primarily on reserve reports that reflect commodity prices at such time and occurs semi-annually, in March and September, as well as upon requested interim redeterminations by the lenders at their sole discretion. We also have the right to request additional borrowing base redeterminations each year at our discretion. Significant declines in commodity prices may result in a decrease in the borrowing base. These borrowing base declines can be offset by any commodity price hedges we enter.

Our Credit Facility contains certain customary representations, warranties and covenants, including but not limited to, limitations on incurring debt and liens, limitations on merging or consolidating with another company, limitations on making certain restricted payments, limitations on investments, limitations on paying distributions on, redeeming, or repurchasing common units, limitations on entering into transactions with affiliates, and limitations on asset sales. The Credit Facility also contains customary events of default, including non-payment, breach of covenants, materially incorrect



representations, cross-default, bankruptcy and change of control. If an event of default occurs and is continuing, the lenders may declare all amounts outstanding under the Credit Facility to be immediately due and payable

At our election, interest on borrowings under the Credit Facility is determined by reference to either the secured overnight financing rate ("SOFR") plus an applicable margin between 3.00% and 4.00% per annum (depending on the then-current level of borrowings under the Credit Facility) or the alternate base rate ("ABR") plus an applicable intergent base rate ("ABR") plus and applicable intergent base rate ("ABR") plus and applicable intergent base rate ("ABR") plus and aplus applicable intergent base rate ("ABR") plus and aplus applicab

We are required to maintain (i) a current ratio greater than 1.0 to 1.0 and current assets shall include de availability under the credit facility but shall exclude the fair value of derivative instruments and any advances under the facility and (ii) a ratio of total indebtedness-to-EBITDAX of not preater than 3.0 to 1.0. For purposes of the total net debt-to-EBITDAX ratio ("Leverage Ratio"), total net debt includes total debt for borrowed money (including capital leases and purchase money debt), minus unrestricted cash and cash equivalents on hand at such time (not exceeding \$15.0 million in the aggregate), minus the unpid balance of the FAM Loan. EBITDAX means sum of (i) net timeome plus interest expense; income taxes paid, depreciation, depletion and amortization; exploration expenses, including workover expenses; noncash charges including unrealized losses on derivative instruments; and, any extraordinary or non-recurring income and any non-cash income including unrealized losses on derivative instruments. Effective with the Second Amendment entered in June 2023 (the "Second Amendment"), our hedge requirements are based on availability under the Credit facility is greater than 0.75 to 1.00, we are required to hedge at least 50% of reasonably anticipated projected production of proved developed producing reserves for the 24 months following the end of the most recent quarter. If the Leverage Ratio is is less than 0.57 to 1.00 and availability under the Credit Facility is greater than 6.0% of the neurent borrowing base, the minimum required hedge volume. Our Credit Facility prohibits us from hedging more than 90% of our reasonably projected production for any fiscal year. Under the terms of the Credit Facility, we were in compliance with all of our debt covenants as of December 31, 2023. Additionally, we believe we have adequate liquidity to continue as a going concern for at least the next twelve months from the date of this report.

Our Credit Facility permits us to make distributions of 100% of our "Distributable Cash Flow" so long as (i) at the time of any such distribution and immediately after giving effect thereto, no default, event of default or borrowing base deficiency has occurred and is continuing, (ii) the our ratio of total net debt-to-EBITDAX does not exceed 2.00 to 1.00 as of the last day of the fiscal quarter most recently ended for which our financial statements have been delivered (determined on a pro forma basis after giving effect to such distribution) and (iii) after giving effect to such distribution, there is at least 20% of total borrowings then available under our Credit Facility, "Distributable Cash Flow" is defined, generally, to mean (a) our EBITDAX does not exceed 2.00 to 1.00 as of the last day of the inscent way of the sum of (i) capital expenditures paid in cash, (ii) cash interest exceed) and our EBITDAX does not exceed a cash (or period "minus (b) the sum of (i) capital expenditures paid in cash, (ii) cash interest exceed) in working exploration expenses or costs paid in cash, (ii) cash interest exceed, expense, (iii) cash interest exceed) in working exploration expenses or costs paid in cash, (ii) cash interest expense, (iii) cash interest exceed, expense, (iii) cash interest exceed, expense, (iii) cash interest exceed, exploration expenses or costs paid in cash, (i) the externation of EBITDAX, any other cash charge that reduces our earnings. The amount of Distributable Cash Flow with respect to any fiscal quarter is further reduced by all prior distributions of Distributable Cash Flow uring the applicable rolling period.

Contractual obligations and commitments

We have not guaranteed the debt or obligations of any other party, nor do we have any other arrangements or relationships with other entities that could potentially result in consolidated debt or losses.

Derivative contracts

We have entered into derivative instruments to hedge our exposure to commodity price fluctuations. If market prices are higher than the contract prices when the cash settlement amount is calculated, we are required to pay the contract

counterparties. As of December 31, 2024, the current liability related to such contracts was \$5.8 million and the non-current liability was \$8.0 million. Such payments will generally be funded by higher prices received from the sale of oil, NGLs and natural gas.

For further information on derivative contracts, see Note 9 in the financial statements included in Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

Asset Retirement Obligation

At December 31, 2024, we had asset retirement obligations of \$190.9 million inclusive of a current portion of \$2.0 million. For further information on asset retirement obligations, see Note 7 in the financial statements included in Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

Factors Affecting the Comparability of Our Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Our historical financial condition and results of operations for the periods presented may not be comparable, either from period to period or going forward, primarily for the following reasons:

Property acquisition

We have completed three significant acquisitions in the past two years that affect the comparability of results of operations between 2022, 2023 and 2024 to some extent. We intend to continue to grow our operations through prudent acquisitions. Additionally, it is possible that we will effect divestitures of certain of our assets. We may enter into acquisitions and/or divestitures in the ordinary course of business that may affect our future operations, including our revenues and operating expenses. The following is a summary of our significant acquisition activity that occurred from the beginning of 2022 to the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

- Additional Interest Vacuum Acquisition. The acquisition in August 2022 of additional interest in our producing properties and a gas processing plant in the Permian Basin of New Mexico for approximately \$52.8 million.
- Williston Basin Acquisitions. The acquisition in August 2024 of producing properties in the Williston Basin of Montana and North Dakota for approximately \$312.6 million.

Supply, demand, market risk and their impact on oil prices.

The oil and natural gas industry is cyclical and commodity prices are highly volatile. During the period from January 1, 2022 through December 31, 2024, prices for crude oil and natural gas reached a high of \$123.70 per Bbl and \$9.68 per MMBtu, respectively, and a low of \$65.75 per Bbl and \$1.58 per MMBtu, respectively. Oil prices increased drastically in the first half of 2022 due to demand, domestic supply reductions, OPEC control measures and market disruptions resulting from the Russia-Ukraine war and sanctions on Russia. Oil prices moderated over the second half of 2022 and the first half of 2023 before initially increasing in the second half of 2024. Howere, increased supply led to lower prices in the second half of 2024 declining to \$72.73 per Bbl as of January 30, 2025. Natural gas prices reached a high of \$9.68 per MMbtu in August 2022 before declining to 1.58 per MMBtu in March 2024 and then rebounding to \$3.05 per MMbtu as of January 30, 2025.

Other factors impacting supply and demand include weather conditions, pipeline capacity constraints, inventory storage levels, basis differentials, export capacity, strength of the U.S. dollar as well as other factors, the majority of which are outside of our control. As a result of these external factors, we expect global commodity price volatility will continue throughout 2025. Our revenue, profitability and future growth are highly dependent on the prices we receive for our oil and natural gas production. Please see "Risk Factors—Risks Related to the Natural Gas, NGL and Oil Industry and Our Business—Commodity prices are volatile—A sustained decline in commodity prices may adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations and our ability to meet our capital expenditure obligations and financial commitments."



Public company expenses

We incurred in 2023 and 2024 and expect to incur in 2025 incremental costs related to our transition to a publicly traded partnership, including the costs associated with the initial implementation of our internal controls and testing. We also incurred additional significant and recurring expenses as a publicly traded partnership, including the costs associated with the initial implementation of our internal controls and testing. We also incurred additional significant and recurring expenses as a publicly traded partnership, including the costs associated with the initial implementation of our internal controls and testing. We also incurred additional significant and recurring expenses as a publicly traded partnership, including costs associated with the employment of additional personnel, compliance under the Exchange Act, annual and quarterly reports to unitholders, tax return preparation, independent auditor fees, investor relations activities, registrar and transfer agent fees, incremental director and officer liability insurance costs and independent director compensation. The direct, incremental general and administrative costs are not included in our historical financial statements prior to going public in January 2023.

Derivatives

To reduce the impact of fluctuations in oil, NGL and natural gas prices on our revenues, we periodically enter into commodity derivative contracts with respect to certain of our oil, NGL and natural gas production through various transactions that limit the risks of fluctuations of future prices. We plan to continue our practice of opportunistically entering into such transactions to reduce the impact of commodity price volatility on our cash flow from operations.

Impairment

We evaluate our producing properties for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. When assessing proved properties for impairment, we compare the expected undiscounted future cash flows of the proved properties to the carrying amount of the proved properties to the carrying amount of the proved properties externated fair value, which is measured as the present value of the expected future cash flows of such properties. We record any impairments to accumulated depreciation, depletion and amortization on the balance sheets. The factors used to determine fair value include estimates of proved property impairment test is primarily impacted by future commodity prices, changes in estimated reserve quantities, estimates of future production, overall proved property balances, and depletion expense. If pricing conditions decline or are depressed, or if there is a negative impact on one or more of the other components of the calculation such as a change in our future capital plans, we may incur proved property impairments in future precise. We did not recognize an impairment of long-lived assets during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2022. We recorded an impairment of long-lived assets of \$223.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2023.

Critical accounting policies and estimates

Our financial position and results of operations are significantly affected by accounting policies and estimates related to our oil and gas properties, proved reserves, asset retirement obligation and commodity prices and risk management, as summarized below. See Note 1 of the notes to the audited financial statements included in Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data for an expanded discussion of our significant accounting policies and estimates made by management.

Property and equipment

A majority of the property costs reflected in the accompanying balance sheet are from the acquisition of proved properties. Successful drill well costs are transferred to proved properties generally within one month of the well completion date.

Depreciation, depletion and amortization (DD&A) of proved producing properties is computed on the unit-of- production method based on estimated proved oil and gas reserves. Repairs and maintenance are expensed, while renewals and betterments are generally capitalized.

If conditions indicate that proved properties may be impaired, the carrying value of property is compared to management's future estimated pre-tax undiscounted cash flow from properties generally aggregated on a field-level basis. If impairment is necessary, the asset carrying value is written down to fair value, typically a discounted present value of estimated future cash flows. We record any impairments to accumulated depreciation, depletion and amortization on the balance sheets. Cash flow pricing estimates are based on estimated reserves and production information and pricing assumptions that management believes are reasonable.



The impairment assessment process is primarily dependent upon the estimate of proved reserves. Any overstatement of estimated proved reserve quantities would result in an overstatement of estimated future net cash flows, which could result in an understated assessment of impairment. The subjective ince prices are largely dependent upon supply and demand resulting from global and national conditions generally beyond our control. However, management's assessment of product prices is subjective since prices are largely dependent upon supply and demand resulting from global and national conditions generally beyond our control. However, management's assessment of product prices, the potential impact on impairment has not been significant recently since product prices have been substantially higher than our net acquisition and development costs per Boe. Prior to 2022, our historical impairment of proved properties included 5311.5 million of proved property impairments from 2014 through 2021. We fid not recognize an impairment of long-lived assets for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2022. We recorded an impairment of fuely enduce the quart ned development plans to reduce the duration of the proved networkers from two years. We believe that a sensitivity analysis regarding the effect of changes in assumptions on estimated impairment is impracticable to provide because of the number of assumptions and variables involved which have interdependent effects on the potential outcome.

Costs of retired, exchanged, sold or abandoned properties that constitute a part of an amortization base are charged or credited, net of proceeds, to accumulated depreciation, depletion and amortization unless doing so significantly affects the unit-of-production amortization rate, in which case a gain or loss is recognized currently. Gains or losses from the disposal of other properties are recognized currently.

Oil and natural gas reserves

Our proved oil and natural gas reserves are estimated by independent petroleum engineers. Reserve engineering is a subjective process that is dependent upon the quality of available data and the interpretation thereof, including evaluation and extrapolations of well flow rates and reservoir pressure. Estimates by different engineers often vary, sometimes significantly. In addition, physical factors such as the results of drilling, testing and production, subsequent to the date of an estimate, as well as economic factors such as changes in product prices, may justify revision of such estimates. Because proved reserves are required to be estimated using the 12-month average prices, estimated reserve quantities can be significantly impacted by changes in product prices.

Proved reserves, as defined by the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") and adopted by the SEC, are limited to known reservoirs that indicate economic producibility through actual production or conclusive formation tests, and generally cannot extend beyond the immediate adjoining undrilled portion.

DD&A of producing properties is computed on the unit-of-production method based on estimated proved oil and natural gas reserves. While total DD&A expense for the life of a property is limited to the property's total cost, proved reserve revisions result in a change in timing of when DD&A expense is recognized. Downward revisions of proved reserves result in an acceleration of DD&A expense, while upward revisions tend to lower the rate of DD&A expense recognition. During 2024, net downward revisions to proved reserves on a Boe basis occurred, which, assuming no other changes to reserves, would result in an increase in DD&A expense of 14% in 2025.

The standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows and changes in such cash flows, are prepared using assumptions required by FASB and the SEC. Such assumptions include 12-month average oil and natural gas prices, based on the first-day-of-the-month price for each month in the period, and year end costs for estimated future development and production expenditures. Discounted future net cash flows are calculated using a 10% rate. Changes in any of these assumptions could have a significant impact on the standardized measure. Accordingly, the standardized measure does not represent management's estimated current market value of proved reserves.



Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure About Market Risk

We are exposed to market risk, including the effects of adverse changes in commodity prices and interest rates as described below. The primary objective of the following information is to provide quantitative and qualitative information about our potential exposure to market risks. The term "market risk" refers to the risk of loss arising from adverse changes in commodity prices and interest rates. The disclosures are not meant to be precise indicators of expected future losses, but rather indicators of reasonably possible losses. All of our market risk sensitive instruments were entered into for purposes other than speculative trading. Also, gains and losses on these instruments are generally offset by losses and gains on the offsetting expenses.

Commodity price risk

Our major market risk exposure is in the pricing that we receive for our oil, NGL and natural gas production. Pricing for oil, NGLs, and natural gas has been volatile and unpredictable for several years, and this volatility is expected to continue in the future. The prices we receive for our oil, NGL, and natural gas production depend on many factors outside of our control, such as the strength of the global economy and global supply and demand for the commodities we produce.

To reduce the impact of fluctuations in oil, NGL and natural gas prices on our revenues, we periodically enter into commodity derivative contracts with respect to certain of our oil, NGL and natural gas production through various transactions that limit the risks of fluctuations of future prices. We plan to continue our practice of entering into such transactions to reduce the impact of commodity price volatility on our cash flow from operations. Future transactions may include price swaps whereby we will receive a fixed price for our production and pay a variable market price to the contract counterparty. Additionally, we may enter into collars, whereby we receive the excess, if any, of the floating rate or pay the excess, if any, of the floating rate over the fixed ceiling. These hedging activities are intended to limit our exposure to product price volatility and to maintain stable cash flows.

As of December 31, 2024, the fair market value of our oil, NGL and natural gas derivative contracts was a net liability of \$5.4 million. Based upon our open commodity derivative positions aDecember 31, 2024, a hypothetical 10% change in the NYMEX WTI and Henry Hub prices and basis prices would change our net oil and natural gas derivative liability \$20.6 million.

| (in thousands) | Fair Valu | e at December 31, 2024 | Hypothetical Price Increase or Decrease of 10% |
|--|-----------|---------------------------|--|
| Derivative asset (liability) – Crude Oil | s | 2,678 \$ | (8,947) |
| Derivative asset (liability) – Natural Gas Liquids | S | — \$ | |
| Derivative asset (liability) – Natural Gas | S | (8,069) \$ | (11,691) |
| | \$ | (5,391) \$ | (20,638) |

The hypothetical change in fair value could be a gain or loss depending on whether prices increase or decrease.

Counterparty and customer credit risk

Our cash and cash equivalents are exposed to concentrations of credit risk. We manage and control this risk by investing these funds in major financial institutions. We often have balances in excess of the federally insured limits.

We sell oil, NGL and natural gas production to various types of customers. Credit is extended based on an evaluation of the customer's financial condition and historical payment record. The future availability of a ready market for our production depends on numerous factors outside of our control, none of which can be predicted with certainty. Sales to two purchasers for the year ended December 31, 2024, two purchasers for the year ended December 31, 2024, two purchasers for the year ended December 31, 2022, were greater than 10% of total revenues. See "Business—Operations—Marketing and Customers." We do not believe the loss of any single purchaser would materially impact our operating results because oil, NGLs and natural gas are fungible products with well-established markets and numerous purchasers.



At December 31, 2024, we had commodity derivative contracts with counterparties. We are currently not required to provide collateral or other security to counterparties to support derivative instruments; however, to minimize the credit risk in derivative instruments, it is our policy to enter into derivative contracts only with counterparties that are creditworthy financial institutions deemed by management as competent and competitive market makers. Additionally, we use master netting arrangements to minimize tredit risk exposure. The creditworthiness of our counterparties is subject to periodic review.

Interest rate risk

At December 31, 2024, we had \$150.0 million of variable rate debt outstanding. Assuming no change in the amount outstanding, the impact on interest expense of al% increase or decrease in the average interest rate would be approximately\$1.5 million per year. See "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources—Revolving credit agreement."

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Unitholders and Board of Directors TXO Partners, L.P. and TXO Partners GP, LLC:

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of TXO Partners, L.P. and subsidiaries (the Partnership) as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the related consolidated statements of operations, partners' capital, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2024, and the related consolidated statements of operations, partners' capital, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2024, and the related notes (collectively, the consolidated financial statements). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Partnership as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2024, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Partnership's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Partnership in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Partnership is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits, we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Partnership's internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our option.

/s/ KPMG LLP

We have served as the Partnership's auditor since 2012.

Fort Worth, Texas Auditor Firm ID 185 March 4, 2025

| <i>(in thousands)</i> | s) | |
|--|----------------------|----------------------|
| | December 31, 2024 | December 31, 2023 |
| ASSETS | | |
| Current Assets: | | |
| Cash and cash equivalents | \$ 7,3 | 05 \$ 4,505 |
| Accounts receivable, net | 39,6 | 39 32,226 |
| Derivative fair value | 6,4 | 12 6,052 |
| Other | 11,0 | 11 12,406 |
| Total Current Assets | 64,4 | 17 55,189 |
| Property and Equipment, at cost—successful efforts method: | | |
| Proved properties | 1,912,6 | 24 1,540,105 |
| Unproved properties | 18,7 | 18,479 |
| Other | 85,4 | 25 83,854 |
| Total Property and Equipment | 2,016,7 | 55 1,642,438 |
| Accumulated depreciation, depletion and amortization | (1,065,3 | 54) (1,013,115) |
| Net Property and Equipment | 951,3 | 629,323 |
| Other Assets: | | |
| Note receivable from related party | 7,1 | 31 7,131 |
| Derivative fair value | 2,0 | |
| Other | 5,8 | 3,970 |
| Total Other Assets | 15,0 | 11,101 |
| TOTAL ASSETS | \$ 1,030,8 | 41 \$ 695,613 |
| LIABILITIES AND PARTNERS' CAPITAL | | |
| Current Liabilities: | | |
| Accounts payable | \$ 18,2 | 17 \$ 8,598 |
| Accrued liabilities | 38,9 | 27 23,362 |
| Derivative fair value | 5,8 | 46 4,045 |
| Asset retirement obligation, current portion | 2,0 | 00 1,750 |
| Other current liabilities | 1,3 | 47 1,361 |
| Total Current Liabilities | 66,3 | 37 39,116 |
| Long-term Debt | 157,1 | 28,100 |
| Other Liabilities: | | |
| Asset retirement obligation | 188,9 | 04 152,222 |
| Derivative fair value | 8,0 | |
| Other liabilities | 1,0 | 52 2,377 |
| Total Other Liabilities | 197,9 | 38 154,599 |
| Commitments and Contingencies | | |
| Partners' Capital: | | |
| Partners' capital | 609,4 | 473,798 |
| TOTAL LIABILITIES AND PARTNERS' CAPITAL | \$ 1,030,8 | 41 \$ 695,613 |

TXO PARTNERS, L.P. Consolidated Balance Sheets

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

TXO PARTNERS, L.P. Consolidated Statements of Operations (in thousands)

| | | | Years ended December 31, | | |
|--|----------|---------|--------------------------|------------|--|
| | | 2024 | 2023 | 2022 | |
| REVENUES | | | | | |
| Oil and condensate | \$ | 198,324 | \$ 182,733 | \$ 160,864 | |
| Natural gas liquids | | 29,430 | 29,193 | 41,731 | |
| Gas | | 55,056 | 168,792 | 43,802 | |
| Total Revenues | | 282,810 | 380,718 | 246,397 | |
| EXPENSES | | | | | |
| Production | | 150,295 | 144,730 | 127,661 | |
| Exploration | | 373 | 151 | 360 | |
| Taxes, transportation and other | | 60,442 | 75,415 | 94,991 | |
| Depreciation, depletion, and amortization | | 52,409 | 44,288 | 41,364 | |
| Impairment | | — | 223,384 | — | |
| Accretion of discount in asset retirement obligation | | 11,623 | 8,644 | 6,055 | |
| General and administrative | | 14,529 | 7,887 | 1,646 | |
| Total Expenses | | 289,671 | 504,499 | 272,077 | |
| OPERATING LOSS | | (6,861) | (123,781) | (25,680) | |
| OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE) | | | | | |
| Other income | | 37,152 | 23,756 | 26,067 | |
| Interest income | | 1,078 | 461 | 143 | |
| Interest expense | | (7,873) | (4,423) | (8,198 | |
| Other Income (Expense) | | 30,357 | 19,794 | 18,012 | |
| NET INCOME (LOSS) | <u>s</u> | 23,496 | \$ (103,987) | \$ (7,668 | |
| NET INCOME (LOSS) PER COMMON UNIT | | | | | |
| Basic | | \$0.66 | \$(3.44) | \$(0.31 | |
| Diluted | | \$0.65 | \$(3.44) | \$(0.31 | |
| WEIGHTED AVERAGE COMMON UNITS OUTSTANDING | | | | | |
| Basic | | 35,559 | 30,265 | 25,000 | |
| | | 36,132 | 30,265 | 25,000 | |
| Diluted | | 30,132 | 30,265 | 25,000 | |
| | | | | | |

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

TXO PARTNERS, L.P. Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (in thousands)

| | | Years ended December 31, | | |
|---|---|--------------------------|--------------|------------|
| | | 2024 | 2023 | 2021 |
| OPERATING ACTIVITIES | | | | |
| Net income (loss) | s | 23,496 | \$ (103,987) | \$ (7,668 |
| Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities, net of effects of assets acquired and liabilities assumed: | | | | |
| Depreciation, depletion, and amortization | | 52,409 | 44,288 | 41,364 |
| Impairment of long-lived assets | | _ | 223,384 | - |
| Accretion of discount in asset retirement obligation | | 11,623 | 8,644 | 6,055 |
| Derivative fair value (gain) loss | | 2,566 | (23,179) | 203,214 |
| Net cash received from (paid to) counterparties | | 4,833 | (83,068) | (89,997 |
| Non-cash incentive compensation | | 6,165 | 3,470 | — |
| Other non-cash items | | 1,293 | 955 | 715 |
| Changes in operating assets and liabilities(a) | | 6,914 | 6,643 | (17,303 |
| Cash Provided by Operating Activities | | 109,299 | 77,150 | 136,380 |
| INVESTING ACTIVITIES | | | | |
| Proceeds from sale of property and equipment | | 122 | - | 320 |
| Proved property acquisitions | | (263,652) | (8,700) | (50,264 |
| Development costs | | (23,242) | (35,799) | (23,720 |
| Unproved property acquisitions | | (227) | (72) | (50 |
| Other property additions | | (1,284) | (1,649) | (12,956 |
| Cash Used by Investing Activities | | (288,283) | (46,220) | (86,670 |
| FINANCING ACTIVITIES | | | | |
| Proceeds from long-term debt | | 251,000 | 86,000 | 1,461,000 |
| Payments on long-term debt | | (122,000) | (178,000) | (1,493,000 |
| Exercise of Series 3 Warrants | | — | — | 1,029 |
| Net proceeds from initial public offering | | _ | 106,277 | |
| Net proceeds from public offering | | 141,233 | — | — |
| Debt issuance costs | | (3,173) | (144) | (161 |
| Capitalized offering costs | | — | — | (3,738 |
| Proceeds from sale of units to cover withholding taxes | | 930 | — | |
| Withholding taxes paid on vesting of restricted units | | (851) | — | — |
| Distributions | | (85,355) | (49,762) | (13,183 |
| Cash Provided by (Used by) Financing Activities | | 181,784 | (35,629) | (48,053 |
| INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS | | 2,800 | (4,699) | 1,657 |
| Cash and Cash Equivalents, beginning of period | | 4,505 | 9,204 | 7,547 |
| Cash and Cash Equivalents, end of period | s | 7,305 | \$ 4,505 | \$ 9,204 |
| (a) Changes in Operating Assets and Liabilities | | | | |
| Accounts receivable | s | (7,991) | \$ 19,683 | \$ (22,753 |
| Other assets | | 1,628 | (546) | (5,704 |
| Aid-in-construction asset | | - | - | 238 |
| Current liabilities | | 14,777 | (10,877) | 12,401 |
| Other operating liabilities | | (1,500) | (1,617) | (1,485 |
| | s | 6.914 | \$ 6,643 | \$ (17,303 |

accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

TXO PARTNERS, L.P. Consolidated Statements of Partners' Capital (in thousands)

| | Series 3 | Preferred | Series | 5 Preferred | Comm | on Units | Total |
|---|----------|-----------|--------|-------------|--------|------------|------------|
| | Units | s | Units | s | Units | s | s |
| Balances, December 31, 2021 | 1,372 | \$ 34,295 | \$ 2 | \$ 206,074 | 13,966 | \$ 300,990 | \$ 541,359 |
| Net loss | _ | _ | _ | _ | _ | (7,668) | (7,668) |
| Increase in partners' equity from in-kind distributions | _ | _ | _ | _ | 38 | 1,715 | 1,715 |
| In-kind distributions | _ | _ | _ | _ | _ | (1,715) | (1,715) |
| Distributions | _ | _ | _ | _ | _ | (13,183) | (13,183) |
| Conversion of Series 3 equity to Common equity | (1,372) | (34,295) | — | _ | 271 | 34,295 | _ |
| Exercise of Series 3 Warrants | _ | _ | _ | _ | 81 | 1,029 | 1,029 |
| Balances, December 31, 2022 | _ | s — | 2 | \$ 206,074 | 14,356 | \$ 315,463 | \$ 521,537 |
| Net loss | _ | _ | _ | _ | _ | (103,987) | (103,987) |
| Net proceeds from initial public offering | _ | _ | _ | _ | 5,750 | 102,540 | 102,540 |
| Expensing of unit awards | — | — | — | _ | _ | 3,470 | 3,470 |
| Distributions to unitholders | — | — | — | _ | — | (49,762) | (49,762) |
| Conversion of Series 5 preferred to Common equity | | | (2) | (206,074) | 10,644 | 206,074 | _ |
| Balances, December 31, 2023 | _ | s — | _ | s — | 30,750 | \$ 473,798 | \$ 473,798 |
| Net income | — | — | — | _ | _ | 23,496 | 23,496 |
| Net proceeds from sale of units | _ | — | — | _ | 7,475 | 141,233 | 141,233 |
| Units issued in acquisition of oil and gas properties | — | — | — | _ | 2,500 | 50,000 | 50,000 |
| Proceeds from sale of units to cover withholding taxes | _ | — | — | _ | 188 | 930 | 930 |
| Withholding taxes paid on vesting of restricted units | _ | _ | _ | _ | _ | (851) | (851) |
| Expensing of unit awards | _ | — | — | _ | — | 6,165 | 6,165 |
| Distributions to unitholders | — | — | — | _ | — | (85,355) | (85,355) |
| Balances, December 31, 2024 | — | s — | | s — | 40,913 | \$ 609,416 | \$ 609,416 |

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

TXO PARTNERS, L.P. Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Organization and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

TXO Partners, L.P. (TXO Partners or the Partnership) is an independent oil and gas company that was formed as a Delaware limited partnership in January 2012 (with an effective inception of operations at January 18, 2012). The operations of TXO Partners are governed by the provisions of the partnership agreement, as amended, executed by the general partner, TXO GP, LLC (the General Partner) and the limited partners. The General Partner is the manager and operator of TXO Partners. The General Partner is managed by the board of directors and executive officers of our General Partner. The board of directors is made up of three officers and four independent directors each of whom was appointed by MomingStar Oil & Gas, LLC ("MSOG"), as the sole member of our General Partner. Pursuant to applicable provisions of the Delaware Revised Uniform Limited Partnership Act (the "Delaware Act") and the limited partnership agreement, the debts, obligations and liabilities of TXO Partners, except as expressly required in the limited partnership agreement or the Delaware Revised Uniform Limited Partnership agreement or the partnership agreement.

TXO Partners' assets include its investment in an unincorporated joint venture. TXO Partners owns50% of the joint venture, and TXO Partners is the manager of the joint venture. The joint venture is governed by a Member Management Committee (MMC) and is comprised of six representatives, three from each group, with each group having one voting member. All matters that come before the MMC require the unanimous consent of the voting members. On the last day of each calendar quarter, the joint venture distributes all excess cash to the members based on their ownership percentage of 50% each, except for earnings from the note receivable which is owned5% by TXO Partners. The joint venture's properties are located primarily in the San Juan Basin of New Mexico and Colorado and the Permian Basin of West Texas and New Mexico.

TXO Partners also has a wholly-owned subsidiary, MorningStar Operating, LLC which owns oil and gas assets primarily in the San Juan Basin of New Mexico and Colorado, the Permian Basin of West Texas and New Mexico and the Williston Basin of Montana and North Dakota.

In accordance with oil and gas accounting guidance, we account for our undivided interest in our investment in the joint venture using the proportionate consolidation method. Under this method, we consolidate our proportionate share of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses of the joint venture. As discussed above, we own 50% of the oil and gas assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, but we only own5% of the note receivable from related party and related interest income.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of TXO Partners, its wholly-owned subsidiaries and our undivided interests in the joint venture. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.



Reorganization and Public Listing of Common Units

In January 2023, we completed a series of reorganization transactions in conjunction with publicly listing our common units on the New York Stock Exchange. These included the following transactions (the Reorganization Transactions):

- We effectuated a one-for-25.33 reverse unit split; We caused the exchange of all outstanding Series 5 preferred units for 10,644,484 common units, resulting in our capital structure to consist of a single class of common units; All limited partner holders party to our amended and restated agreement of limited partnership contributed all of the outstanding equity interests in us to a new parent company, MorningStar Partners II, L.P., a Delaware limited partnership ("MSP II") in exchange for equity interests in MSP II; and We amended our governing documents to, among other things, (i) change our name from "MorningStar Partners, L.P." to "TXO Partners, L.P." and (ii) reflect TXO GP, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, as our new non-economic general partner.
- As a result of these transactions, the capital structure has been reflected as if the new number of units had been in place for all periods presented.

Basis of Presentation

The accounts of TXO Partners are presented in the accompanying financial statements. These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP.

Liquidity

Our primary sources of liquidity are cash provided by operating activities, borrowings under our credit facility and equity raised from partners. Short-term liquidity needs are provided by borrowings under our credit facility. We believe that we have a sufficient combination of resources and operating flexibility to ensure that we meet our current obligations and our future debt covenants for at least the next 12 months from the date of issuance of these financial statements. See Note 4.

Use of Estimates in the Preparation of Financial Statements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual amounts could differ from these estimates, and changes in these estimates are recorded when known. Significant items subject to such estimates and assumptions include the following:

- estimates of proved reserves and related estimates of the present value of future revenues;
- the recoverability of oil and gas properties; .
- estimates of revenue earned but not yet received; •
- asset retirement obligations;
- valuation of derivative instruments; and
- legal and environmental risks and exposure.

Property and Equipment

We follow the successful efforts method of accounting, capitalizing costs of successful exploratory wells and expensing costs of unsuccessful exploratory wells. Exploratory geological and geophysical costs are expensed as incurred. All developmental costs are capitalized. We generally pursue acquisition and development of proved reserves as opposed

to exploration activities. All of the proved property costs reflected in the accompanying balance sheet are from TXO Partners, our wholly-owned subsidiary, MorningStar Operating, LLC, and ou£0% share of the joint venture's proved properties as of December 31, 2024 and 2023. Proved properties balances include costs of \$8.5 million at December 31, 2024 and \$3.0 million at December 31, 2023 related to wells in process of drilling. Successful drill well costs are transferred to proved properties generally within one month of the well completion date.

Depreciation, depletion, and amortization (DD&A) of proved producing properties is computed on the unit-of-production method based on estimated proved oil and gas reserves. Other property and equipment is generally depreciated using the straight-line method over estimated useful lives which range from three to seven years, except for the gas processing plant which is being depreciated over an estimated useful live of14 years. Repairs and maintenance are expensed, while renewals and betterments are generally capitalized.

If conditions indicate that proved properties may be impaired, the carrying value of property is compared to management's future estimated pre-tax undiscounted cash flow from properties generally aggregated on a field-level basis. If impairment is necessary, the asset carrying value is written down to fair value, typically a discounted present value of estimated future cash flows. Cash flow pricing estimates are based on estimated reserves and production information and pricing assumptions that management believes are reasonable. During the years ended December 31, 2023, we recognize an impairment of long-lived assets of \$223.4 million for our assets in the Texas Permian Basin, that is within our Cross Timbers joint venture, primarily due to a lower net commodity price environment and increased costs as well as a change in our development plans to reduce the duration of the proved undeveloped reserves from five years to two years. We recorded the impairment to accumulated depreciation, depletion and amortization on the balance sheets.

Costs of retired, sold or abandoned properties that constitute a part of an amortization base are charged or credited, net of proceeds, to accumulated depreciation, depletion, and amortization unless doing so significantly affects the unit-of-production amortization rate, in which case a gain or loss is recognized currently. Gains or losses from the disposal of other properties are recognized in the current period.

Asset Retirement Obligation

If the fair value for asset retirement obligation can be reasonably estimated, the liability is recognized in the period when it is incurred. Oil and gas producing companies incur this liability upon acquiring or drilling a well. The retirement obligation is recorded as a liability at its estimated present value at the asset's inception, with an offsetting increase to proved properties on the balance sheet. Periodic accretion of discount of the estimated liability is recorded as an expense in the statements of operations. See Note 7.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents are considered to be all highly liquid investments having an original maturity of three months or less.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Fair value is defined as the price at which an asset could be exchanged in a current transaction between knowledgeable, willing parties. A liability's fair value is defined as the amount that would be paid to transfer the liability to a new obligor, not the amount that would be paid to settle the liability with the creditor. Where available, fair value is based on observable market prices or parameters or derived from such prices or parameters. Where observable prices or inputs are not available, use of unobservable prices or inputs are used to estimate the current fair value, often using an internal valuation model. These valuation techniques involve some level of management estimation and judgment, the degree of which is dependent on the item being valued.

Assets and liabilities recorded at fair value in the consolidated balance sheets are categorized based upon the level of judgment associated with the inputs used to measure their fair value. Hierarchical levels directly related to the amount of subjectivity associated with the inputs to fair valuation of these assets and liabilities are as follows:

Level I-Inputs are unadjusted, quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date.

Level II—Inputs (other than quoted prices included in Level I) are either directly or indirectly observable for the asset or liability through correlation with market data at the measurement date and for the duration of the instrument's anticipated life.

Level III—Inputs reflect management's best estimate of what market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Consideration is given to the risk inherent in the valuation technique and the risk inherent in the inputs to the model.

Income Taxes

TXO Partners is a limited partnership treated as a partnership for federal and state income tax purposes, with the exception of the state of Texas, with income tax liabilities and/or benefits of the Partnership passed through to the partners. As such, with the exception of the state of Texas, we are not a taxable entity, we do not directly pay federal and state income tax and recognition has not been given to federal and state income taxes for our operations, except as described below.

Limited partnerships are subject to state income taxes in Texas. Due to immateriality, income taxes related to the Texas margin tax have been included in general and administrative expenses on the statement of operations and no deferred tax amounts were calculated. Derivatives

We opportunistically use derivatives to hedge against changes in cash flows related to product price, as opposed to their use for trading purposes. We record all derivatives on the balance sheet at fair value. We generally determine the fair value of futures contracts and swap contracts based on the difference between the derivative's fixed contract price and the underlying market price at the determination date. See Note 9.

We do not designate these derivative contracts as cash flow hedges. Changes in the fair value of commodity price derivatives are recognized currently in earnings. Realized and unrealized gains and losses on commodity derivatives are recognized in oil and gas revenues. Settlements of derivatives are included in cash flows from operating activities.

Revenue Recognition

Oil, gas and natural gas liquids revenues are recognized upon the satisfaction of the performance obligation which occurs at the point in time when control of the product transfers to a customer, in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Partnership expects to be entitled in exchange for the product. See Note 13 for further discussion.

Loss Contingencies

When management determines that it is probable that an asset has been impaired or a liability has been incurred, we accrue our best estimate of the loss if it can be reasonably estimated. Any legal costs related to litigation are expensed as incurred.

Unit-Based Compensation

We recognize compensation related to all unit-based awards in the financial statements based on their estimated grant-date fair value. We estimate expected forfeitures and we recognize compensation expense only for those awards expected to vest. Compensation expense is amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated service period. All compensation is recognized by the time the award vests. See Note 12.

Segment

We evaluated how TXO Partners is organized and managed and have identified only one reporting segment, which is the exploration and production of oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids. The operating segments within the reportable segment have been aggregated based on the similarity of their economic and other characteristics, including product type

and services. All of our assets are located in the United States, and all revenues are attributable to United States customers. See Note 15

Significant Purchasers

Our production is sold to various purchasers, based on their credit rating and the location of our production. Sales to two purchasers for the year ended December 31, 2024, two purchasers for the year ended December 31, 2023, and two purchasers for the year ended December 31, 2024, as shown in the table below, were greater than 10% of total revenues. We believe that alternative purchasers are available, if necessary, to purchase production at prices substantially similar to those received from these significant purchasers.

| Customer | 2024 | 2023 | 2022 |
|------------|------|------|------|
| Customer A | 33 % | 31 % | 24 % |
| Customer B | 12 % | % | % |
| Customer C | % | 11 % | — % |
| Customer D | % | % | 11 % |
| | | | |

Earnings per Common Unit

We report basic earnings per unit, which excludes the effect of potentially dilutive securities, and diluted earnings per common unit, which includes the effect of all potentially dilutive securities unless their impact is antidilutiveSee Note 11.

2. Acquisitions

In August 2024, we completed the acquisition of producing properties from Eagle Mountain Energy Partners and VR 4-ELM, LP, located in the Elm Coulee field in Montana and the Russian Creek field in North Dakota which are part of the Greater Williston Basin, for cash consideration of \$245.6 million and 2.5 million common units of TXO valued at \$50.0 million (the "EMEP Acquisition"), subject to customary purchase price adjustments. Our preliminary purchase price allocation included \$315.9 million to proved properties, \$0.6 million to other properties, \$0.6 million to asset retirement obligation. The cash portion of the acquisition was funded by a combination of cash on hand from the public offering (Note 10) and borrowings under our Credit Facility (Note 4).

Additionally, in August 2024, we completed the acquisition of producing properties from Kaiser-Francis Oil Company in the Russian Creek field in North Dakota for cash consideration o\$17.0 million (the "KFOC Acquisition"), subject to customary purchase price adjustments. Our preliminary purchase price allocation included \$19.1 million to proved properties, \$0.5 million to current liabilities and \$1.6 million to asset retirement obligation. The acquisition was funded by cash on hand from the public offering (Note 10). In the statements of operations for the twelve months ended December 31, 2024, we recorded \$39.8 million of revenues and net income of \$17.5 million from these acquisitions.

During 2023, we completed multiple acquisitions of producing properties primarily in the Permian Basin of New Mexico for approximately \$.7 million. Our purchase price allocation included \$10.3 million to proved properties, \$1.4 million to asset retirement obligation and a \$0.2 million reduction to other current assets. The acquisitions were funded by borrowings from our credit facility.

In August 2022, we completed the acquisition of additional interest in our producing properties and gas processing plant in the Permian Basin of New Mexico from Vendera Resources for approximately \$2.8 million. Our purchase price allocation included \$50.0 million to proved properties, \$9.8 million to other proved properties, \$9.8 million to other proventies, \$3.7 million as a reduction to other current assets, \$0.2 million to other current liabilities and \$3.1 million to asset retirement obligation. The acquisition was funded by borrowings from our credit facility.

In February 2022, we completed the acquisition of producing properties in the Permian Basin of Texas from Kaiser Francis for approximately \$.8 million. Our purchase price allocation included \$4.0 million to proved properties and \$0.2 million to asset retirement obligation. The acquisition was funded by cash on hand.



Pro forma financial information (Unaudited)

The following unaudited pro forma financial information represents a summary of the condensed consolidated results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, assuming the EMEP Acquisition and KFOC Acquisition had been completed as of January 1, 2023. The pro forma financial information is provided for illustrative purposes only and does not purport to represent what the actual consolidated results of operations would have been. Future results may vary significantly from the results reflected because of various factors.

| | Twelve Months Ended December 31, | | | | | |
|---------------------------------------|----------------------------------|---------|----|----------|--|--|
| (in thousands, except per share data) | 2024 202 | | | 2023 | | |
| | | | | | | |
| Total revenue | S | 338,159 | \$ | 478,662 | | |
| Net income (loss) | \$ | 26,098 | S | (78,298) | | |

3. Related Party Transactions

We earned management fees from the joint venture of \$5.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, \$6.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, and \$5.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2022. As of December 31, 2024, we had a note receivable from related party outstanding with a highly-rated, offshore subsidiary of our joint venture partner (Note 5). On September 30, 2016, TXO Partners entered in a loan agreement with the joint venture (Note 4).

Since the purpose of the management fees is to share costs between the various entities, the management fees from the joint venture and Southland are included as a reduction of general and administrative expenses in our statements of operations.

We occupy a building owned by MorningStar Capital LLC, a limited liability company owned by our Chief Executive Officer and the Chairman of the Board. In lieu of paying rent, we paid property taxes and paid for repairs and maintenance on behalf of MorningStar Capital LLC of \$0.8 million in 2024, \$0.8 million in 2023 and \$0.9 million in 2022.

4. Debt

| (in thousands) | December 31, 2024 | December 31, 2023 |
|---|----------------------|----------------------|
| November 2021 Credit Facility, at 8.3% at December 31, 2024 and 8.6% at December 31, 2023 | \$ 150,000 | \$ 21,000 |
| September 2016 Loan, 8.0% at December 31, 2024 and 8.7% at December 31, 2023 | \$ 7,100 | \$ 7,100 |
| Total Long-term Debt | \$ 157,100 | \$ 28,100 |

November 2021 Credit Facility

On August 30, 2024, we entered into Amendment No. 4 and Borrowing Base Agreement ("Amendment No. 4") on our senior secured credit facility (the "Credit Facility") with certain commercial banks, as the lenders, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as the administrative agent. We use the Credit Facility for general corporate purposes. Amendment No. 4 extended the maturity date of the Credit Facility to August 30, 2028, increased the borrowing base from \$165 million to \$275 million and joined certain new Lenders to the Credit Facility. In connection with the Credit Facility, Sin Million as of December 31, 2023 and \$3.0 million as of December 31, 2023 and \$3.0 million of financing fees and expenses in conjunction with Amendment No. 4. These costs are being amortized over the life of the credit facility. Such amortized expenses are recorded as interest expense on the statements of operations.

Redetermination of the borrowing base under the credit facility, is based primarily on reserve reports that reflect commodity prices at such time, occurs semi-annually, in March and September, as well as upon requested interim redeterminations, by the lenders at their sole discretion. We also have the right to request additional borrowing base redeterminations each year at our discretion. Significant declines in commodity prices may result in a decrease in the

borrowing base. These borrowing base declines can be offset by any commodity price hedges we enter. Our obligations under the credit facility are secured by substantially all assets of the Partnership, including, without limitation, (i) our interest in the joint venture, (ii) all our deposit accounts, securities accounts, and commodities accounts, (iii) any receivables owed to us by the joint venture and (iv) any oil and gas properties owned directly by TXO Partners or its wholly-owned subsidiaries. We are required to maintain (i) a current ratio greater than 1.0 to 1.0 and current assets fall include availability under the credit facility but shall exclude value the fair value din joint are debt-to-EBITDAX for any creater than 2.0 to 1.0. For purposes of the total net debt-to-EBITDAX frait ("Leverage Ratio"), total net debt includes total debt for borrowed money (including capital leases and purchase money debt), minus unrestricted cash and cash equivalents on hand at such time (not exceeding \$15 0 million in the aggregate), minus (ti) any creativation; exploration, exploration; exploration; exploration; exploration expenses; non-cash charges inducing unrealized gaiss on derivative instruments. Effective with the Second Amendment, our hedge requirements are based on availability under the Credit Facility and the Leverage Ratio. If the Leverage Ratio is greater than 0.75 to 1.00, we are required to hedge at least 50% of the the numerative digatio is less than 0.5% for the 12 months following the end of the most recent quarter. If the Leverage Ratio is less than 0.5% of the the numerative bases, there would be no minimum required hedge volume Out De5% for the 12 months following the end of the most recent quarter. If the Leverage Ratio is less than 0.5% of the 2 months following the end of the most recent quarter. If the Leverage Ratio is less than 0.5% of the 2 months following the end of the most recent quarter. If the Leverage Ratio is less than 0.5% of our leasonably projected production or proved developed

At our election, interest on borrowings under the credit facility is determined by reference to either the secured overnight financing rate ("SOFR") plus an applicable margin between 0.00% and 4.00% per annum (depending on the then-current level of borrowings under the Credit Facility) or the alternate base rate ("ABR") plus an applicable margin between 2.00% and 3.00% per annum (depending on the then-current level of borrowings under the Credit Facility). Interest is generally payable quarterly for loans bearing interest based on the ABR and at the end of the applicable interest period for loans bearing interest at SOFR. We are required to pay a commitment fee to the lenders under the Credit Facility, which accrues at a rate per annum of 0.5% on the average daily unused amount of the lesser of: (i) the maximum commitment amount of the lenders and (ii) the then-effective borrowing base. The weighted average interest rate on credit facility borrowings was 8.6% in 2023.

September 2016 Loan

On September 30, 2016, TXO Partners entered into an unsecured loan agreement with the joint venture (the "FAM Loan"). The proceeds for the loan were taken from the cash held by the offshore subsidiary of Exxon Mobil Corporation and the loan was assigned to the offshore subsidiary (Note 5). The loan matures on November 29, 2028, but is automatically extended should our credit facility be extended. In all instances, this loan will mature ninety-one days after the maturity of the Credit Facility. Interest on the loan is the lesser of (a) SOFR plus three and one-quarter of one percent (3.25%) per annum, adjusted monthly or (b) the highest rate permitted by applicable law. Though the note is unsecured, we are required to stay in compliance with terms of our Credit Facility. The weighted average interest rate on loan w&6% in 2024 and 8.5% in 2023.

5. Note Receivable from Related Party

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, we, through our5% ownership interest in investment assets at the joint venture, had a note receivable totaling \$7.1 million outstanding with a highly-rated, offshore subsidiary of our joint venture partner. Under the terms of the agreement, there is no stated maturity date and, the joint venture may demand repayment of all or any portion of the outstanding balance on two business days' notice. Interest is earned based on the one-month SOFR rate per an active international exchange and is paid monthly. Interest income totaled 50.4 million in 2023, and \$0.1 million in 2024, so and \$0.1 million in 2024.

The note receivable is treated as a non-current asset, since the joint venture does not have any intention of demanding repayment of all or any portion of the outstanding balance at this time. Repayment would require the approval of the joint venture MMC.

6. Commitments and Contingencies

From time to time, the Partnership is subject to various claims and legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business. In the opinion of management, the ultimate disposition of these matters will not have a material adverse effect on the Partnership.

To date, our expenditures to comply with environmental or safety regulations have not been significant and are not expected to be significant in the future. However, new regulations, enforcement policies, claims for damages or other events could result in significant future costs.

Commodity Commitments

During 2024, 2023 and 2022, we entered into futures contracts and swap agreements that effectively fixed crude oil, NGL and natural gas prices on a portion of our production. See Note 9.

7. Asset Retirement Obligation

Our asset retirement obligation primarily represents the estimated present value of the amount we will incur to plug, abandon and remediate our proved producing properties at the end of their productive lives, in accordance with applicable state and federal laws. We determine our asset retirement obligation by calculating the present value of estimated cash flows related to the liability. The following is a summary of asset retirement obligation activity for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023: (in thousands)

| | | 2024 | | 2023 |
|--|----|---------|----|---------|
| Asset retirement obligation, January 1 | s | 153,972 | \$ | 126,458 |
| Revisions in the estimated cash flows (1) | | 8,490 | | 18,741 |
| Liability incurred upon acquiring and drilling wells | | 18,408 | | 1,420 |
| Liability settled upon plugging and abandoning wells | | (1,589) | | (1,291) |
| Accretion of discount expense | | 11,623 | | 8,644 |
| Asset retirement obligation, December 31 | | 190,904 | | 153,972 |
| Less current portion | | (2,000) | | (1,750) |
| Asset retirement obligation, long term | \$ | 188,904 | \$ | 152,222 |
| | | | | |

(1) Revisions in the estimated cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 are primarily the result of revised cost estimates.

8. Fair Value

We opportunistically use commodity-based and financial derivative contracts to manage exposures to commodity price. We do not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for speculative or trading purposes. We periodically enter into futures contracts, costless collars, energy swaps, swaptions and basis swaps to hedge our exposure to price fluctuations on crude oil, natural gas liquids and natural gas sales (Note 9).



Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Because of their short-term maturity, the fair value of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and accounts payable approximates their carrying values at December 31, 2024 and 2023The following are estimated fair values and carrying values of our other financial instruments at each of these dates:

| | Asset (Liability) | | | | | |
|------------------------------------|--------------------|---------------|--------------------|---------------|--|--|
| | Decembe | r 31, 2024 | December 31, 2023 | | | |
| (in thousands) | Carrying Amount | Fair Value | Carrying Amount | Fair Value | | |
| Note receivable from related party | \$ 7,131 | \$ 7,131 | \$ 7,131 | \$ 7,131 | | |
| Long-term debt | \$ (157,100) | \$ (157,100) | \$ (28,100) | \$ (28,100) | | |
| Derivative asset | \$ 8,477 | \$ 8,477 | \$ 6,052 | \$ 6,052 | | |
| Derivative liability | \$ (13,868) | \$ (13,868) | \$ (4,045) | \$ (4,045) | | |

The fair value of our note receivable from related party approximates the carrying amount because the interest rate is based on current market interest rates and can be called upotwo business days' notice (Note 5). The fair value of our long-term debt approximates the carrying amount because the interest rate is reset periodically at then current market rates (Note 4).

The fair value of our note receivable from related party (Note 5), net derivative asset (liability) (Note 9) and our long-term debt (Note 4) is measured using Level II inputs, and are determined by either market prices on an active market for similar assets or other marketcorroborated prices. Counterparty credit risk is considered when determining the fair value of our notes receivable and net derivative asset (liability). Since our counterparty is highly rated, the fair value of our note receivable from related party does not require an adjustment to account for the risk of nonperformance by the counterparty, however, an adjustment for counterparty credit risk, including our own credit risk, has been applied to the net derivative asset (liability).

The following table summarizes our fair value measurements and the level within the fair value hierarchy in which the fair value measurements fall.

| | Fair Value Measurements | | | | | | |
|------------------------------------|---|--|---|--|--|--|--|
| | Dece | mber 31, 2024 | December 31, 2023 | | | | |
| (in thousands) | Significant Other Observable Inputs (Level 2) | Significant Unobservable Inputs (Level 3) | Significant Other Observable Inputs (Level 2) | Significant Unobservable Inputs (Level 3) | | | |
| Note receivable from related party | \$ 7,13 | 1 <u>\$</u> — | \$ 7,131 | <u>s </u> | | | |
| Long-term debt | \$ (157,10 | 0) <mark>\$</mark> — | \$ (28,100) | s — | | | |
| Derivative asset | \$ 8,47 | 7 \$ | \$ 6,052 | s — | | | |
| Derivative liability | \$ (13,86 | <u>s)</u> <u>s</u> — | \$ (4,045) | s — | | | |

Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Nonrecurring Basis

Certain assets and liabilities are measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis. These assets and liabilities are not measured at fair value on an ongoing basis, but are subject to fair value adjustments whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying value of those assets may not be recoverable and are based upon Level 3 inputs. These assets and liabilities can include assets and liabilities acquired in a business combination, proved and unproved crude oil, natural gas liquids and natural gas properties, asset retirement obligations and other long-lived assets that are written down to fair value when they are impaired.

We periodically review our long-lived assets to be held and used, including proved oil and natural gas properties, whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying value of those assets may not be recoverable. We review our oil and natural gas properties by asset group. The estimated future net cash flows are based upon the underlying reserves and anticipated future pricing. An impairment loss is recognized if the sum of the expected undiscounted future net cash flows is less than the

carrying amount of a particular asset, the Partnership recognizes an impairment loss for the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds the estimated fair value of such assets We record any impairments to accumulated depreciation, depletion and amortization on the balance sheets. The fair value of the proved properties is measured based on the income approach, which incomportances a number of assumptions involving expectations of future product prices, which the Partnership bases on the forward-price curves, estimates of oil and gas reserves, estimates data with the variable constant at a role. "A fair value of a log sheets are categorized as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy. We did not recognize an impairment of long-lived assets during the years endedDecember 31, 2024 and 2022. We recorded an impairment of long-lived assets of \$223.4 million for the year endedDecember 31, 2023.

Commodity Price Hedging Instruments

We periodically enter into futures contracts, energy swaps, options, collars and basis swaps to hedge our exposure to price fluctuations on crude oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids sales. When actual commodity prices exceed the fixed price provided by these contracts we pay this excess to the counterparty, and when the commodity prices are below the contractually provided fixed price, we receive this difference from the counterparty. See Note 9.

The fair value of our derivatives contracts consists of the following:

| | Asset De | rivatives | Liability Derivatives | | | |
|----|----------------------|--|--|---|--|--|
| | Decemb | oer 31, | December 31, | | | |
| | 2024 | 2023 | 2024 | 2023 | | |
| | | | | | | |
| \$ | 2,730 | s — | \$ (52) | \$ (3,163) | | |
| \$ | _ | \$ 477 | s — | s — | | |
| s | 5,747 | \$ 5,575 | \$ (13,816) | \$ (882) | | |
| s | 8,477 | \$ 6,052 | \$ (13,868) | \$ (4,045) | | |
| | \$ \$ \$ \$ | Decemi 2024 \$ 2,730 \$ — \$ 5,747 | \$ 2,730 S — S — S 477 S 5,747 S 5,575 | December 31, December 31, 2024 2023 2024 \$ 2,730 \$ - \$ (52) \$ 2,730 \$ - \$ (52) \$ - \$ 477 \$ - \$ 5,747 \$ 5,575 \$ (13,816) | | |

Derivative fair value (gain) loss, included as part of the related revenue line on the consolidated statements of operations, comprises the following realized and unrealized components:

| (in thousands) | 2024 | 2023 | 2022 |
|---|------------|--------------|------------|
| Net cash (received from) paid to counterparties | \$ (4,833) | \$ 83,068 | \$ 89,997 |
| Non-cash change in derivative fair value | \$ 7,399 | \$ (106,247) | \$ 113,217 |
| Derivative fair value (gain) loss | \$ 2,566 | \$ (23,179) | \$ 203,214 |

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Our receivables are from a diverse group of companies including major energy companies, pipeline companies, local distribution companies and end-users in various industries. Letters of credit or other appropriate security are obtained as considered necessary to limit risk of loss from the other companies. Including the bank that issued the letter of credit, we currently have greater concentrations of credit with several investment-grade (BBB- or better) rated companies.

9. Commodity Sales Commitments

Our policy is to consider hedging a portion of our production at commodity prices the general partner deems attractive. While there is a risk we may not be able to realize the benefit of rising prices, the general partner may enter into hedging agreements because of the benefits of predictable, stable cash flows.

We enter futures contracts, energy swaps, options and basis swaps to hedge our exposure to price fluctuations on crude oil, natural gas liquids and natural gas sales. When actual commodity prices exceed the fixed price provided by these contracts we pay this excess to the counterparty, and when the commodity prices are below the contractually provided fixed price, we receive this difference from the counterparty. We also enter costless price collars, which set a ceiling and floor price to hedge our exposure to price fluctuations on crude oil or natural gas sales. When actual commodity prices exceed the ceiling price provided by these contracts we pay this excess to the counterparty. We also enter costless price collars, which set a ceiling and floor price to hedge our exposure to price fluctuations on crude oil or natural gas sales. When actual commodity prices exceed the ceiling price provided by these contracts we pay this excess to the counterparty, and when the commodity prices are below the floor price, we receive this difference from the counterparty. If the actual commodity price scales the ceiling and floor price, there is no cash settlement.

Crude Oil

We have entered into crude oil futures contracts and swap agreements that effectively fix prices for the production and periods shown below. Prices to be realized for hedged production may be less than these fixed prices because of location, quality and other adjustments. See Note 8.

| Production Period | Bbls per Day | Weighted Aver NYMEX Price per Bbl(| |
|-------------------------------|--------------|--|-------|
| January 2025 - September 2026 | 2,000 | S S | 70.49 |
| October 2026 - December 2026 | 375 | s | 64.16 |

Net settlement losses on oil futures and sell basis swap contracts decreased oil revenues by \$5.6 million in 2024, \$7.1 million in 2023 and \$32.8 million in 2022. An unrealized gain in 2024 and 2023 and an unrealized loss in 2022 to record the fair value of derivative contracts increased oil revenues by \$5.8 million in 2024 and \$9.5 million in 2023 and decreased oil revenues by \$1.0 million in 2022.

Natural Gas Liquids

Our natural gas liquids futures contracts and swap agreements for ethane that effectively fixed prices on our natural gas liquids production expired in June 2024.

Net settlement gains in 2024 and 2023 and losses in 2022 on NGL futures contracts and swap agreements increased NGL revenues by \$0.5 million in 2024 and \$0.4 million in 2023 and decreased revenues by \$4.6 million in 2022. An unrealized loss in 2024 and 2022 and an unrealized gain in 2023 to record the fair value of derivative contracts decreased NGL revenues by \$0.5 million in 2024, increased NGL revenues by \$1.0 million in 2023 and decreased NGL revenues by \$1.0 million in 2023.

Natural Gas

We have entered into natural gas futures contracts and swap agreements that effectively fix prices for the production and periods shown below. Prices to be realized for hedged production may be less than these fixed prices because of location, quality and other adjustments. See Note 8.

| Production Period | MMBtu per Day | Weighted Average NYMEX Price per MMBtu |
|------------------------------|---------------|--|
| January 2025 - March 2026 | 50,000 \$ | 3.21 |
| April 2026 - September 2026 | 35,000 \$ | 3.25 |
| October 2026 - December 2026 | 42,500 \$ | 3.90 |

The price we receive for our gas production is generally less than the NYMEX price because of adjustments for delivery location ("basis"), relative quality and other factors. We have entered sell basis swap agreements that effectively fix the basis adjustment for the San Juan Basin delivery location of the production and periods shown below.

| | | Weighted Average Sell Basis |
|------------------------------|---------------|--------------------------------|
| Production Period | MMBtu per Day | Price per MMBtu(a) |
| January 2025 - December 2025 | 50,000 \$ | (0.01) |
| | | |

(a) Reductions to NYMEX gas price for delivery location

Net settlement gains on gas futures and sell basis swap contracts in 2024 and losses in 2023 and 2022 increased gas revenues by \$0.0 million in 2024 and decreased revenues by \$76.4 million in 2023 and \$52.6 million in 2022. An unrealized loss in 2024 and 2022 and an unrealized gain in 2023 to record the fair value of derivative contracts decreased gas revenues by \$12.8 million in 2024, increased gas revenues by \$95.8 million in 2023 and decreased gas revenues by \$92.0 million in 2022.

10. Partners' Capital

Partners' Units

On June 28, 2024, we completed an underwritten public offering for the sale of6.5 million common units at a price of \$20.00 per common unit resulting in proceeds of \$122.5 million net of underwriting discounts, commissions and other costs ("the Offering"). On July 2, 2024, we completed the sale of an additional 975,000 common units at a price of \$20.00 per common unit pursuant to the underwriter's exercise in full of its option to purchase additional common units in the Offering, resulting in additional proceeds of \$8.7 million net of underwriting discounts, commissions and other costs. We used the net proceeds of \$8.7 million net of underwriting to fund a portion of the cash consideration for the EMEP Acquisition and the KFOC Acquisition (Note 2).

On August 30, 2024, as part of the consideration paid in the EMEP Acquisition, we issued 2.5 million common units of TXO valued at \$50.0 million (Note 2).

Distributions

During 2023, we paid no in-kind distributions to our Series 5 Preferred holders. During 2022, we paid in-kind distributions of 37,615 units with a value of \$1.7 million to our Series 3 Preferred holders.

During 2024, we paid \$85.4 million of cash distributions to our Common unitholders. The following is a summary of our 2024 distributions.

| 2024 | Distributi | on per Unit | Payment Date |
|----------------------|------------|-------------|-------------------|
| Fourth Quarter, 2023 | s | 0.58 | March 27, 2024 |
| First Quarter, 2024 | s | 0.65 | May 29, 2024 |
| Second Quarter, 2024 | s | 0.57 | August 27, 2024 |
| Third Ouarter, 2024 | S | 0.58 | November 22, 2024 |

During 2023, we paid \$49.8 million of cash distributions to our Common unitholders. The following is a summary of our 2023 distributions:

| 2023 | Distri | Distribution per Unit Payment D | |
|----------------------|--------|---------------------------------|-------------------|
| First Quarter, 2023 | S | 0.50 | May 30, 2023 |
| Second Quarter, 2023 | S | 0.48 | August 25, 2023 |
| Third Quarter, 2023 | S | 0.52 | November 27, 2023 |

Our fourth quarter distribution of \$0.61 per unit with respect to cash available for distribution for the three months ended December 31, 2024, was declared on March 04, 2025 and will be paid on March 21, 2025 to unitholders of record on March 14, 2025.

The determination of the amount of future distributions on the Common Units, if any, to be declared and paid is at the sole discretion of the general partner and will depend on our financial condition, earnings and cash flow from operations, the level of debt outstanding, the level of our capital expenditures, our future business prospects and other matters the general partner deems relevant.

See Note 12.

11. Earnings per Unit

The following represents basic and diluted earnings (loss) per Common Unit upon the Reorganization (See Note 1) and corresponding issuance of 0.8 million Common Units:

| | (in thousands, except per unit data) | Net (loss) income | | Units | (Loss) Income per Unit |
|------|--------------------------------------|-------------------|-----------|--------|------------------------|
| 2024 | | | <u>`</u> | | · · · · |
| | Basic | | 23,496 | 35,559 | \$0.66 |
| | Effect of dilutive securities | | _ | 573 | |
| | Diluted | \$ | 23,496 | 36,132 | \$0.65 |
| | | | | | |
| 2023 | | | | | |
| | Basic | | (103,987) | 30,265 | \$(3.44) |
| | Effect of dilutive securities | | — | | |
| | Diluted | \$ | (103,987) | 30,265 | \$(3.44) |
| | | | | | |
| 2022 | | | | | |
| | Basic | | (7,668) | 25,000 | \$(0.31) |
| | Effect of dilutive securities | | — | — | |
| | Diluted | \$ | (7,668) | 25,000 | \$(0.31) |
| | | S | | | S |

All restricted units, totaling 538 thousand units, were excluded from the calculation of earnings per share for the year ended December 31, 2023, because the units were anti-dilutive.

12. Employee Benefit Plans

Unit Incentive Plans

At the time of the public offering in January 2023, we adopted a new long-term incentive plan. Under the 2023 Long-Term Incentive Plan (LTIP), the general partner may issue long-term equity-based awards to directors, officers and employees of our general partner or its affiliates, or to any consultants, affiliates of our general partner or other individuals who perform services for us. The LTIP provides for the grant, from time to time at the discretion of the board of directors of our general partner or any delegate thereof, of cash awards, unit awards, restricted units, phantom units, unit options, unit appreciation rights, distribution equivalent rights and other unit-based awards. Under the terms of the LTIP, 2.0 million units are available for grants of awards.

In January 2025, the compensation committee approved grants of 301,180 time-vesting phantom units with distribution equivalent rights to the non-employee directors, officers and certain key employees. These phantom units will vest ratably over a three-year period for the officers and key employees and will fully vest on the one-year anniversary of the grant for the non-employee directors. The phantom units will be settled in common units and distribution equivalents will be paid to holders of outstanding phantom units, including unvested phantom units.

Additionally, in January 2025, the compensation committee approved grants of 249,380 performance-vesting phantom units to the officers and certain key employees. These performance-based phantom units will be earned based on the Company's performance during the 2025 calendar year according to certain performance objectives and will vest in one-half increments on January 31, 2027 and January 31, 2028. Prior to determination of the achievement of the performance objectives, distribution equivalent rights will be paid according to the target number of phantom units grants; following determination of the number of earned phantom units will be

settled in common units and distribution equivalents will be paid to holders of outstanding phantom units, including unvested phantom units.

In January 2024, the compensation committee approved grants of 208,875 time-vesting phantom units with distribution equivalent rights to the non-employee directors, officers and certain key employees. These phantom units will vest ratably over a three-year period for the officers and key employees and will fully vest on the one-year anniversary of the grant for the non-employee directors. The phantom units will be settled in common units and distribution equivalents will be paid to holders of outstanding phantom units, including unvested phantom units.

Additionally, in January 2024, the compensation committee approved grants of 159,475 performance-vesting phantom units to the officers and certain key employees. Based on the results of the Company's performance during 2024 according to certain performance objectives, 215,977 performance-vesting phantom units were earned and will vest in one-half increments on January 31, 2026 and January 31, 2027. The phantom units will be settled in common units and distribution equivalents will be paid to holders of outstanding phantom units, including unvested phantom units.

In connection with the offering, the board approved grants of 545,000 phantom units with distribution equivalent rights to the non-employee directors, officers and certain key employees. These phantom units will vest ratably over a three-year period for the officers and key employees and fully vested on the one-year anniversary of the grant for the non-employee directors. The phantom units will be settled in common units and distribution equivalents will be paid to holders of outstanding phantom units.

| | | Value | Units | |
|----------------------------------|---|-------------|-----------|--|
| Outstanding at December 31, 2022 | _ | \$ _ | _ | |
| Grants | | \$ 20.00 | 545,000 | |
| Forfeitures | | \$ 20.00 | (10,000) | |
| Outstanding at December 31, 2023 | | \$ 20.00 | 535,000 | |
| Grants | | \$ 18.62 | 208,875 | |
| Vesting | | \$ 20.00 | (188,332) | |
| Outstanding at December 31, 2024 | | \$ 19.48 | 555,543 | |
| | | | | |

We recognized non-cash restricted unit compensation expense of \$6.2 million in 2024, \$3.5 million in 2023 and \$0.0 million in 2022. Total deferred compensation at December 31, 2024 related to restricted units was \$9.2 million. We estimate that incentive compensation for service periods after December 31, 2024 will be approximately \$6.1 million in 2025, \$2.9 million in 2027. The weighted-average remaining vesting period is 1.4 years for restricted units.

13. Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The Partnership recognizes sales of oil, natural gas, and NGLs when it satisfies a performance obligation by transferring control of the product to a customer, in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the artnership expects to be entitled in exchange for the product.

As discussed in Note 9, the Partnership recognizes the impact of derivative gains and losses as a component of revenue. See table below for the reconciliation of revenue from contracts with customers and derivative gains and losses.

| | | | Year l December | | | |
|---------------------------------------|----------------------|------------|------------------------|-------------|---|-------------------|
| | Oil and condensat | 2 | Natural gas liquids | Natural gas | | Total Revenues |
| | | | (in tho | usands) | | |
| Revenue from customers | \$ | 198,083 \$ | 29,433 | \$ 57,860 | S | 285,376 |
| Unrealized gain (loss) on derivatives | | 5,842 | (477) | (12,764 |) | (7,399) |
| Realized gain (loss) on derivatives | | (5,601) | 474 | 9,960 |) | 4,833 |
| Total Revenues | \$ | 198,324 \$ | 29,430 | \$ 55,050 | s | 282,810 |

| | | | | r Ended er 31, 2023 | | |
|---------------------------------------|----|---------------|------------------------|------------------------|----|-------------------|
| | | and ensate | Natural gas liquids | Natural gas | | Total Revenues |
| | | | (in the | ousands) | | |
| Revenue from customers | S | 180,403 | \$ 27,752 | \$ 149,384 | \$ | 357,539 |
| Unrealized gain (loss) on derivatives | | 9,462 | 1,001 | 95,784 | | 106,247 |
| Realized gain (loss) on derivatives | | (7,132) | 440 | (76,376) | | (83,068) |
| Total Revenues | \$ | 182,733 | \$ 29,193 | \$ 168,792 | S | 380,718 |
| | - | | | | | |

| | | Year Ended December 31, 2022 | | | |
|---------------------------------------|----------------------|---------------------------------|------------------------|-------------|-------------------|
| | Oil and condensat | e | Natural gas liquids | Natural gas | Total Revenues |
| | | | (in thou | sands) | |
| Revenue from customers | S | 206,656 \$ | 47,323 | \$ 195,632 | \$ 449,611 |
| Unrealized gain (loss) on derivatives | | (12,972) | (1,005) | (99,240) | (113,217) |
| Realized gain (loss) on derivatives | | (32,820) | (4,587) | (52,590) | (89,997) |
| Total Revenues | \$ | 160,864 \$ | 41,731 | \$ 43,802 | \$ 246,397 |

Natural Gas and NGL Sales

Under our natural gas processing contracts, we deliver natural gas to a midstream processing entity at the wellhead or at the inlet of a facility. The midstream provider gathers and processes the product and both the residue gas and the resulting natural gas liquids are sold at the tailgate of the plant. The Partnership's natural gas roduction is primarily sold under market-sensitive contracts that are typically priced at a differential to the published natural gas index price for the producing area due to the natural gas quality and the proximity to the market. We evaluated these arrangements and determined that control of the products transfers at the tailgate of the plant, meaning that the Partnership's is the principal and the third-party purchaser is its customer. As such, we present the gas and NGL sales on a gross basis and the related gathering and processing costs as a component of taxes, transportation, and other on the statement of operations.

Oil and Condensate Sales

Oil production is typically sold at the wellhead or at the outlet of a gathering system under market-sensitive contracts at an index price, net of pricing differentials. ThPartnership recognizes revenue upon the satisfaction of the performance obligation which occurs at the point in time when control of the product transfers to a customer, in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Partnership expects to be entitled in exchange for the product.

Production imbalances

The Partnership uses the sales method to account for production imbalances. If thePartnership's sales volumes for a well exceed thePartnership's proportionate share of production from the well, a liability is recognized to the extent that thePartnership's share of estimated remaining recoverable reserves from the well is insufficient to satisfy the imbalance. No receivables are recorded for those wells on which the Partnership has taken less than its proportionate share of production.

Contract Balances

Under the Partnership's product sales contracts, its customers are invoiced once the Partnership's performance obligations have been satisfied, at which point payment is unconditional. Accordingly, the Partnership's product sales contracts do not give rise to contract assets or contract liabilities.

Performance Obligations

The majority of the Partnership's sales are short-term in nature with a contract term of one year or less. For those contracts, the Partnership has utilized the practical expedient in ASC 606-10-50-14 exempting the Partnership from

disclosures of the transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligations if the performance obligation is part of a contract that has an original duration of one year or less.

For the Partnership's product sales that have a contract term greater than one year, the Partnership has utilized the practical expedient in ASC 606-10-50-14(a), which states the Partnership is not required to disclose the transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligations if the variable consideration is allocated entirely to a wholly unsatisfied performance obligation. Under these contracts, each unit of product generally represents a separate performance obligation; therefore, future volumes are wholly unsatisfied and disclosure of the transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligation is not required.

14. Accrued Liabilities

Accrued liabilities consist of the following at December 31, 2024 and 2023:

| | December 31, | | |
|----|--|---|--|
| | 2024 | 2023 | |
| s | 22,818 | \$ | 17,443 |
| S | 5,401 | \$ | 676 |
| S | 4,841 | \$ | |
| S | 3,056 | \$ | 2,177 |
| S | 2,567 | \$ | 2,828 |
| \$ | 244 | \$ | 238 |
| \$ | 38,927 | \$ | 23,362 |
| | \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ | 2024 \$ 22,818 \$ 5,401 \$ 4,841 \$ 3,056 \$ 2,567 \$ 244 | 2024 2023 S 22,818 5 S 5,401 5 S 4,841 5 S 3,056 5 S 2,567 5 S 2,244 5 |



15. Segment Reporting

We have one reportable segment, our exploration and production of oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids segment ("E&P segment"). Our E&P segment derives revenues from customers by selling oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids under contracts of various terms and durations (See Note 13). The operating segments within the reportable segment have been aggregated based on the similarity of their economic and other characteristics, including product type and services. All of our assets are located in the United States, and all revenues are attributable to United States customers.

The Partnership's Chief Operating Decision Maker ("CODM") is a group of executives, including the President of Business Operations and Chief Financial Officer and the President of Production and Development. The CODM assesses performance for the E&P segment and decides how to allocate resources based on cash provided by operations which is also reported on the statement of cash flows as consolidated cash provided by operations. The measure of segment assets is reported on the balance sheet as total consolidated assets.

The CODM uses net income to evaluate income generated from segment assets in deciding whether to reinvest profits into the E&P segment or to pay distributions.

Selected financial information related to ourone reportable segment is included below:

| (in thousands) | | Years ended December 31, | |
|--|------------|--------------------------|------------|
| | 2024 | 2023 | 2022 |
| REVENUES | | | |
| Oil and condensate | \$ 198,324 | \$ 182,733 | \$ 160,864 |
| Natural gas liquids | 29,430 | 29,193 | 41,731 |
| Gas | 55,056 | 168,792 | 43,802 |
| Total Revenues | 282,810 | 380,718 | 246,397 |
| EXPENSES | | | |
| Production | 150,295 | 144,730 | 127,661 |
| Exploration | 373 | 151 | 360 |
| Taxes, transportation and other | 60,442 | 75,415 | 94,991 |
| Depreciation, depletion, and amortization | 52,409 | 44,288 | 41,364 |
| Impairment | — | 223,384 | — |
| Accretion of discount in asset retirement obligation | 11,623 | 8,644 | 6,055 |
| General and administrative | 14,529 | 7,887 | 1,646 |
| Total Expenses | 289,671 | 504,499 | 272,077 |
| OPERATING LOSS | (6,861) | (123,781) | (25,680) |
| OTHER INCOME | | | |
| Other income | 37,152 | 23,756 | 26,067 |
| SEGMENT INCOME (LOSS) FROM OPERATIONS | 30,291 | \$ (100,025) | \$ 387 |
| Reconciliation: | | | |
| Interest income | 1,078 | 461 | 143 |
| Interest expense | (7,873) | (4,423) | (8,198) |
| Other Expense | (6,795) | (3,962) | (8,055) |
| NET INCOME (LOSS) | \$ 23,496 | \$ (103,987) | \$ (7,668) |
| CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES | \$ 109,299 | \$ 77,150 | \$ 136,380 |

16. Supplemental Cash Flow Information

The statement of cash flows excludes the following non-cash transactions:

The issuance of 2.5 million common units to partially fund the EMEP Acquisition (Note 2).

The payment of in-kind dividends of 37,615 units in 2022 (Note 12).

- The exchange of 2,061.22 Series 5 Preferred Units for 10,644,482 Common Units in 2023 (Note 10).
- · Accrued capital expenditures were \$5.4 million at December 31, 2024 and \$0.7 million at December 31, 2023.

Interest payments totaled \$7.0 million in 2024, \$3.5 million in 2023 and \$7.9 million in 2022. State income tax payments totaled \$1.9 million in 2024, \$3.6 million in 2023 and \$0.5 million in 2022.

17. Subsequent Events

We have evaluated subsequent events through the date the financial statements were available to be issued.

18. Supplementary Financial Information for Oil and Gas Producing Activities (Unaudited)

All of our operations are directly related to oil and gas producing activities located in the United States primarily in the San Juan Basin of New Mexico and Colorado, the Permian Basin of West Texas and New Mexico and the Williston Basin of Montana and North Dakota.

Costs Incurred Related to Oil and Gas Producing Activities

The following table summarizes costs incurred whether such costs are capitalized or expensed for financial reporting purposes for each year:

(in thousands)

| | 2024 | 2023 | 2022 |
|---|------------|-----------|-----------|
| Acquisition of proved properties, net | \$ 317,684 | \$ 8,895 | \$ 57,392 |
| Acquisition of unproved properties | 227 | 72 | 50 |
| Development | 27,967 | 29,820 | 29,833 |
| Asset retirement obligation incurred upon acquisition | 18,408 | 1,420 | 3,357 |
| Total costs incurred | \$ 364,286 | \$ 40,207 | \$ 90,632 |

Proved Reserves

Our proved oil and gas reserves have been estimated by independent petroleum engineers. Proved reserves are those quantities of oil and natural gas, which, by analysis of geoscience and engineering data can be estimated with reasonable certainty to be economically producible from a given date forward, from known reservoirs and under existing economic conditions, operating methods, and government regulation before the time at which contracts providing the right to operate expire, unless evidence indicates that renewal is reasonably certain. Proved developed reserves are the quantities expected to be recovered through existing wells with existing equipment and operating methods in which the cost of the required equipment is relatively minor compared with the cost of a new well. Due to the inherent uncertainties and the limited nature of reservoir data, such estimates are substantially different from the original estimate. Revisions result primarily from new information obtained from development drilling and production history and from changes in economic factors. Proved reserves exclude volumes deliverable to others under production production production payments or retained interests.

Standardized Measure

The standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows and changes in such cash flows are prepared using assumptions required by the Financial Accounting Standards Board. Such assumptions include the use of 12-month average prices for oil and gas, based on the first-day-of-the-month price for each month in the period, and year end costs for estimated future development and production expenditures to produce year-end estimated proved reserves. Discounted future net cash flows are calculated using a 10% rate. No provision is included for federal income taxes since our future net cash flows are not subject to taxation. Limited liability companies are subject to the Texas margin tax.

Estimated well abandonment costs, net of salvage values, are deducted from the standardized measure using year-end costs and discounted at the 10% rate. Such abandonment costs are recorded as a liability on the consolidated balance sheet, using estimated values as of the projected abandonment date and discounted using a risk-adjusted rate at the time the well is drilled or acquired (Note 7).

The standardized measure does not represent management's estimate of our future cash flows or the value of proved oil and natural gas reserves. Probable and possible reserves, which may become proved in the future, are excluded from the calculations. Furthermore, prices used to determine the standardized measure are influenced by supply and demand as effected by recent economic conditions as well as other factors and may not be the most representative in estimating future revenues or reserve data.

| Proved Reserves | Oil (Bbls) | Natural Gas Liquids (Bbls) | Gas (Mcf) | Oil Equivalents (Boc) |
|---------------------------------------|---------------|----------------------------------|--------------|-----------------------------|
| (in thousands) | (155) | (111) | () | (11) |
| December 31, 2021 | 48,605.6 | 18,027.6 | 379,275.9 | 129,845.9 |
| Extensions, additions and discoveries | 943.6 | 131.0 | 1,804.9 | 1,375.4 |
| Revisions | 925.3 | 4,320.1 | 56,198.3 | 14,611.7 |
| Production | (2,205.7) | (1,334.3) | (29,556.9) | (8,466.1) |
| Purchase in place | 5,240.4 | 788.0 | 155.0 | 6,054.2 |
| December 31, 2022 | 53,509.2 | 21,932.4 | 407,877.2 | 143,421.1 |
| Extensions, additions and discoveries | 71.7 | 0.0 | 7,050.2 | 1,246.7 |
| Revisions | (11,628.5) | (5,245.0) | (121,848.5) | (37,181.5) |
| Production | (2,375.6) | (1,231.8) | (28,738.7) | (8,397.2) |
| Purchase in place | 876.3 | 27.4 | 1,487.4 | 1,151.6 |
| December 31, 2023 | 40,453.1 | 15,483.0 | 265,827.6 | 100,240.7 |
| Extensions, additions and discoveries | 22.5 | 0.6 | 2,400.1 | 423.1 |
| Revisions | (1,521.1) | (2,841.5) | (56,249.2) | (13,737.3) |
| Production | (2,716.4) | (1,211.4) | (27,789.8) | (8,559.5) |
| Purchase in place | 10,953.8 | 2,363.7 | 12,847.0 | 15,458.6 |
| December 31, 2024 | 47,191.9 | 13,794.4 | 197,035.7 | 93,825.6 |

| Proved Developed Reserves | Oil (Bbls) | Natural Gas Liquids (Bbls) | Gas (Mcf) | Oil Equivalents (Boe) |
|---|---------------|----------------------------------|--------------|-----------------------------|
| (in thousands) | 20 207 0 | 17 424 2 | 262 214 0 | 106 611 2 |
| December 31, 2021 | 30,207.9 | 17,434.2 | 353,214.9 | 106,511.3 |
| December 31, 2022 | 34,672.0 | 20,723.6 | 385,188.6 | 119,593.7 |
| December 31, 2023 | 30,959.4 | 15,110.9 | 264,934.4 | 90,226.0 |
| December 31, 2024 | 37,894.6 | 13,194.9 | 196,013.7 | 83,758.5 |
| Proved Undeveloped Reserves (in thousands) | Oil (Bbls) | Natural Gas Liquids (Bbls) | Gas (Mcf) | Oil Equivalents (Boe) |
| December 31, 2021 | 18,397.7 | 593.4 | 26,061.0 | 23,334.6 |
| December 31, 2022 | 18,837.2 | 1,208.8 | 22,688.6 | 23,827.4 |
| December 31, 2023 | 9,493.7 | 372.1 | 893.2 | 10,014.7 |
| December 31, 2024 | 9,297.3 | 599.5 | 1,022.0 | 10,067.1 |

In 2024, the 15.5 Mboe of purchases in place represent the reserves acquired primarily from Eagle Mountain (4.2 MBoe) and Kaiser Francis (1.3 Mboe). The 0.4 MBoe of extensions, additions and discoveries in proved reserves in 2024 were primarily related to drilling in the San Juan Basin and Permian Basin. The 13.7 MBoe of downward revisions in

proved reserves for 2024 were the result of lower commodity prices (10.0 MBoe) and changes in the development plan (3.7 MBoe).

In 2023, the 1.2 Mboe of purchases in place represent the reserves acquired from multiple acquisitions. The 1.2 MBoe of extensions, additions and discoveries in proved reserves in 2023 were primarily related to drilling in the San Juan Basin and Permian Basin. The 37.2 MBoe of downward revisions in proved reserves for 2023 were the result of a combination of lower commodity prices and higher costs (22.6 MBoe) and changes in the development plan (14.6 MBoe).

In 2022, the 6.1 Mboe of purchases in place represent the reserves acquired from Vendera 6.6 MBoe) and Kaiser Francis (0.4 MBoe). The 1.4 MBoe of extensions, additions and discoveries in proved reserves in 2022 were primarily related to drilling in the San Juan Basin. The 14.6 Mboe of upward revisions in proved reserves for 2022 were the result of a combination of higher commodity prices (4.9 Mboe) partially offset by changes in the development plan (0.2 Mboe).

| Standardized Measure of Discounted Future Net Cash Flows Relating to Proved Reserves (in thousands) | December 31, 2024 | December 31, 2023 | December 31, 2022 |
|---|--------------------------|----------------------|----------------------|
| Future cash inflows | \$ 4,187,103 | \$ 4,101,171 | \$ 7,663,099 |
| Future costs: | | | |
| Production | (450,156) | (2,091,880) | (2,906,249) |
| Development | (2,077,469) | (353,191) | (414,061) |
| Future income tax | (1,738) | (2,143) | (7,467) |
| Future net cash flows | 1,657,740 | 1,653,957 | 4,335,322 |
| 10% annual discount | (681,153) | (763,365) | (2,365,504) |
| Standardized measure | \$ 976,587 | \$ 890,592 | \$ 1,969,818 |

| hanges in Standardized Measure of | | For the Year Ended December 31, | | | | | |
|--|----|------------------------------------|----|-------------|----|-----------|--|
| iscounted Future Net Cash Flows | | 2024 | | 2023 | | 2022 | |
| n thousands) | | | - | | | | |
| tandardized measure, beginning of period | \$ | 890,592 | \$ | 1,969,818 | \$ | 986,617 | |
| evisions: | | | | | | | |
| Prices and costs | | (187,581) | | (1,053,775) | | 745,577 | |
| Quantity estimates | | (11,034) | | (147,398) | | 213,687 | |
| Income tax | | 67 | | 2,250 | | (1,491) | |
| Future development costs | | 7,054 | | (106) | | (2,521) | |
| Accretion of discount | | 89,059 | | 196,982 | | 98,662 | |
| Production rates and other | | (2,940) | | 22,868 | | (39,947) | |
| Net revisions | | (105,375) | | (979,179) | | 1,013,967 | |
| dditions and discoveries | | (4,279) | | (8,047) | | 25,502 | |
| roduction | | (74,639) | | (137,393) | | (226,960) | |
| evelopment costs | | 27,967 | | 29,820 | | 29,833 | |
| urchases in place | | 242,321 | | 15,573 | | 140,859 | |
| Net change | | 85,995 | - | (1,079,226) | | 983,201 | |
| tandardized measure, December 31 | s | 976,587 (a) | \$ | 890,592 (b) | \$ | 1,969,818 | |

(a)

(b)

The December 31, 2024 standardized messure includes a reduction of \$ 392.1 million (\$392.9 million before income tax) for estimated property abandonment costs. The consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2024 includes a liability of \$ 190.9 million for the same asset retirement obligation, which was calculated using different cost and present value assumptions. The December 31, 2024 standardized messure includes a reduction of \$ 292.0 million (\$292.5 million before income tax) for estimated property abandonment costs. The consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2023 includes a liability of \$ 154.0 million for the same asset retirement obligation, which was calculated using different cost and present value assumptions. The December 31, 2023 tandardized messure includes a reduction of \$ 248.0 million before income tax) for estimated property abandonment costs. The consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2022 includes a liability of \$ 154.0 million for the same asset retirement obligation, which was calculated using different cost and present value assumptions. (c)

Price and cost revisions are primarily the net result of changes in prices, based on beginning of year reserve estimates. Quantity estimate revisions are primarily the result of the extended economic life of proved reserves and proved undeveloped reserve additions attributable to increased development activity.

Average realized oil prices used in the estimation of proved reserves and calculation of the standardized measure were \$3.73 for 2024, \$76.58 for 2023 and \$92.94 for 2022. Average realized natural gas liquids prices were \$1.70 for 2024, \$18.44 for 2023 and \$29.72 for 2022. Average realized gas prices were \$1.14 for 2024, \$1.58 for 2023 and \$4.35 for 2022. We used 12-month average oil and gas prices, based on the first-day-of-the-month price for each month in the period.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosures

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act as of December 31, 2024. Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that as of December 31, 2024, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed in the reports we file and submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported as and when required, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer and

Management's Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements in a timely manner. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

As of December 31, 2024, management assessed the effectiveness of TXO's internal control over financial reporting based on the criteria established in "Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013)" issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this assessment, management determined that TXO maintained effective internal control over financial reporting at December 31, 2024.

Pursuant to the JOBS Act, our independent registered public accounting firm will not be required to attest to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002 for up to five years or through such earlier date that we are no longer an "emerging growth company" as defined in the JOBS Act.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting identified in connection with the evaluation required by Rule 13a-15(d) and 15d-15(d) of the Exchange Act that occurred during the quarterly period ended December 31, 2024 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information

On November 8, 2024, Gary D. Simpson, the Company's President of Production and Development, adopted a Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement that is intended to satisfy the affirmative defense of Rule 10b5-1(c) of the Securities Act for the sale of the Company's common units to cover taxes due in connection with the vesting of phantom units after February 6, 2025. The duration of this arrangement is until the final vesting date or forfeiture of the applicable phantom units. The number of common units that will be sold under this arrangement is not currently determinable as the number will vary based on the extent to which vesting conditions are astisfied and the market price of our common units at the more stellement.

No other directors or executive officers of the Company adopted, modified or terminated any contract, instruction or written plan for the purchase or sale of the Company's securities that was intended to satisfy the affirmative defense conditions of Rule 10b5-1(c) or any non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement, (as defined in Item 408(c) of Regulation S-K) during the quarter ended December 31, 2024.



Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections.

None.

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Management of TXO Partners

We are managed and operated by our general partner, which is managed by the board of directors (the "Board") and executive officers of our general partner. The sole member of our general partner is controlled by the Founders. Our unitholders are not entitled to elect our general partner or its directors or otherwise directly participate in our management or operations. Our general partner owes certain contractual duties to us as well as to its owners.

Our general partner has seven directors, each of whom was appointed by MorningStar Oil & Gas, LLC ("MSOG"), as the sole member of our general partner. Four of our directors are independent as defined under the standards established by the NYSE and the Exchange Act. The NYSE does not require a listed publicly traded partnership, such as ours, to have a majority of independent directors on the Board or to establish a compensation committee or a nominating committee. However, our general partner is required to have an audit committee of at least three members, and all its members are required to meet the independence and experience standards established by the NYSE and the Exchange Act. We have three independent members of the audit committee.

Our operations are conducted through, and our assets are owned by, various subsidiaries. However, we do not have any employees. Our general partner has the sole responsibility for providing the personnel necessary to conduct our operations, whether through directly hiring personnel or by obtaining services of personnel employeed by third parties, but we sometimes refer to these individuals, for drafting convenience only, in this Annual Report on Form 10-K as our employees because they provide services directly to us.

Neither our general partner nor the Founders will receive any management fee or other compensation in connection with our general partner's management of our business, but we will reimburse our general partner and its affiliates for all expenses they incur and payments they make on our behalf. Our partnership agreement does not set a limit on the amount of expenses for which our general partner and its affiliates may be reimbursed. These expenses include salary, benefits, bonus, long term incentives and other amounts paid to persons who perform services for us or on our behalf.

In evaluating director candidates, our general partner will assess whether a candidate possesses the integrity, judgment, knowledge, experience, skill and expertise that are likely to enhance the board's ability to manage and direct our affairs and business, including, when applicable, to enhance the ability of committees of the Board to fulfill their duties.

The following table sets forth certain information regarding the current executive officers and directors of our general partner.

| Name | Age | Position |
|----------------------|-----|--|
| Bob R. Simpson | 76 | Chief Executive Officer, Chairman and Director |
| Brent W. Clum | 61 | President of Business Operations and Chief Financial Officer, Director |
| Gary D. Simpson | 61 | President of Production and Development |
| Scott T. Agosta | 60 | Chief Accounting Officer |
| Keith A. Hutton | 66 | Director |
| Phillip R. Kevil | 74 | Director |
| Rick J. Settle | 34 | Director |
| J. Luther King, Jr. | 84 | Director |
| William H. Adams III | 66 | Director |

Bob R. Simpson—Chief Executive Officer, Chairman and Director. Bob R. Simpson founded TXO Partners in June 2012 and has served as a Director and the Chairman of the Board since its founding and has served as our Chief Executive Officer since July 2022. Mr. Simpson previously served as the Chairman and a Director of Southland from February 2015 until January 2020. From August 2010 until September of 2020, Mr. Simpson served as Co-Chairman of the Rangers Baseball Express and since September of 2020, he has served as Chair of the Executive Officer of XTO (a company he founded) until 2008 and as Chairman of XTO until 2010 when

XTO merged with Exxon for \$41 billion in one of the largest transactions in history for an independent oil and gas company. Mr. Simpson attended Baylor University, where he earned a B.B.A. in Accounting magna cum laude and then an M.B.A. He served in the Texas Army National Guard after graduation and then earned his certified public accountant ("CPA") designation. Mr. Simpson is the uncle of Gary D. Simpson, President of Production and Development of the Partnership.

We believe that Mr. Simpson's extensive industry background, leadership experience on private boards, and deep knowledge of our business make him well suited to serve as a member of our board of directors.

Brent W. Clum—President of Business Operations, Chief Financial Officer and Director. Brent W. Clum has served as our Chief Financial Officer since the founding of TXO Partners in June 2012, and has served as the President of Business Operations and as a Director since July 2022. Mr. Clum served as Chief Financial Officer and Director of Southland from Fobrary 2015 until January 2020. Since August 2010, he has served as Chairman of the Finance and Audit Committee of Rangers Baseball Express. He served as Senior Vice President and Treasurer of XTO from 2020 until the Exxon acquisition. Prior to joining XTO, Mr. Clum worked as a portfolio manager at Luther King Capital Management, served as A Managing Director at Invesso and was an Analyst for T. Rower and Audit Committee of Rangers Baseball Express and Ranger at Luther King Capital Management, served as A Managing Director at Invessor and was an Analyst for T. Rower and Associates. He graduated from Baylor University with a Bachelors in Business Administration. He is a CPA and a chartered financial analyst ("CFA").

We believe that Mr. Clum's industry experience, his previous leadership positions and finance-related roles, as well as his deep knowledge of our business make him well suited to serve as a member of our board of directors

Gary D. Simpson—President of Production and Development. Gary D. Simpson has served as President of Production and Development of TXO Partners since November 2024. Mr. Simpson served as Senior Vice President of the General Partner since January 2023. Mr. Simpson has been a consultant at the Partnership since its founding in 2012. Prior to joining the Partnership, Mr. Simpson served as Senior Vice President of Investor Relations & Finance and board member at XTO Energy Inc., prior to its acquisition by ExxoMobil Corporation in 2010. Mr. Simpson is prior company affiliations include XTO Energy Inc., prior to its acquisition by ExxoMobil Corporation in 2010. Mr. Simpson is prior company affiliations include XTO Energy Inc., prior to its acquisition by ExxoMobil Corporation. Mr. Simpson received a Bachelor of Science, magna cum laude, in Petroleum Engineering from Texas A&M University in 1985 and a Master of Fine Arts from the American Film Institute in 1996. Mr. Simpson is the nephev of Bob R. Simpson, Chief Executive Officer, Chairman and Director of the Partnership.

Keith A. Hutton—Director. Keith A. Hutton served as our President of Production and Development from July 2022 until November 2024 and as a Director since our founding in June 2012. He previously served as our Chief Executive Officer from our founding in June 2012 until Junuary 2020. Mr. Hutton served as Director of Southland from February 2015 until January 2020. Mr. Hutton also served as Chief Executive Officer and Director of XTO until the time of the Exxon acquisition. He remained a consultant with Exxon until January 2012. Mr. Hutton held various management positions for XTO over his 25-year career and was promoted to CEO in December 2008. Prior to joining XTO Energy in 1987, Mr. Hutton was employed with Sun Oil Company in both the international and domestic divisions for ff over years. He graduated from Texas A&M University with a B.S. in Petroleum Engineering and was named a Harold Vance Department of Petroleum Engineering Distinguished Graduate in 2009.

We believe that Mr. Hutton's background in the energy industry and his experience as an executive make him well suited to serve as a member of our board of directors.

Phillip R. Kevil—Director. Phillip R. Kevil has served as a Director of TXO Partners since January 2023. He previously served as a Director and as a member of the Audit Committee for XTO from 2004 until 2010. He also served as Vice President – Tax at XTO from 1987 until 1997. Mr. Kevil was responsible for all tax functions for Southland Royalty Company (formerly listed on the New York Stock Exchange) from 1975 until 1986. He graduated from the University of Texas at Arlington with a B.A in Accounting. He is a CPA.

We believe that Mr. Kevil's experience in corporate finance and the energy industry, as well has his previous experience as a director and audit committee member of a public company, make him well suited to serve as a member of our board of directors.

Rick J. Settle—Director. Rick J. Settle has served as a Director of TXO Partners since July 2020. Mr. Settle is a Principal at LKCM Headwater Investments, the private equity arm of Luther King Capital Management, and has previously served as a Vice President and Associate since joining the firm in October 2014. Prior to becoming a Principal at LKCM Headwater, Mr. Settle worked as a financial analyst for Citigroup. Additionally, Mr. Settle currently serves on the board of several private companies. He graduated from the Texas Christian University with a B.B.A. in Finance, Entrepreneurial Management. He is a CFA.

We believe that Mr. Settle's deep knowledge of the energy industry and corporate finance make him well suited to serve as a member of our board of directors.

J. Luther King, Jr.—Director. J. Luther King, Jr. has served as Director of TXO Partners since 2016. He served as Director of Tyler Technologies, Inc. (NYSE: TYL) from May 2004 until May 2021, serving on the Compensation and Audit Committees throughout his tenure at the company. Additionally, he has served as Director of LKCM Funds since February 1994. Mr. King also previously served as Director of Encore Energy Partners LP (Nasdaq: ENP) and as Director of TXO. Over the course of his carered, has served on the boards of several publicly traded companies, three of which were listed on the NYSE. In his position as a director of these companies, Mr. King also served as Evered as Director of both Audit and Compensation Committees. Mr. King users and Served as Director of Latter Events (Device) and Compensation Committees. Mr. King asserved as Director of these companies, the served as Director of the contract and Compensation Committees. Mr. King users and Served as Director of Latter Events (Device) and Compensation Committees. Mr. King users and Served as Director Post-and Nas recognized by CFA Magazine as "Most Inspiring" in the Investment Advisory Profession in 2007. Additionally, Mr. King is a founding member of the Strategic Advisory Porfession in 2007. Additionally, Mr. King is a founding member of the Strategic Advisory Porfession in 2007. Additionally, Mr. King is a founding member of the Strategic Advisory Porfession in 2007. Additionally, Mr. King is a founding member of the Strategic Advisory Porfession in 2007. Additionally, Mr. King is a founding member of the Strategic Advisory Board of the CFA Societ or Dallas/Fort Worth.

We believe that Mr. King's experience serving on the boards of other public companies, along with his deep knowledge of our business and extensive industry experience, make him well suited to serve as a member of our board of directors.

William H. Adams III—Director. Bill H. Adams has served as Director of TXO Partners since January 2023. He also serves as Director of Kimbell Royalty GP, LLC (NYSE: KRP), a position he has held since January 2017. In this position, Mr. Adams has served on the Audit, Compensation and Conflicts Committees of the company. Additionally, Mr. Adams has served on the Graduate Structure of Graham Savings Bank since 2018. Mr. Adams has also held the position of Chairman and has been a principal owner of Texas Appliance Stupply, Inc., a wholesale and the compose 2007. Prior to its sale to Excom Mobil Corporation in 2010, he served on the bard of directors of XTO Energy Inc., where he chaired the Compensation and has been a privately metric and a 25-year career in commercial and energy banking, most recently as Executive Regional President of Texas Bank in Fort Worth, before retiring in 2006. He also served as President of Frost Bank-Arlington. Mr. Adams received a B.B.A. in Finance from Texas Tech University.

We believe that Mr. Adams' strong track record of leading companies, including his participation on the boards of several companies, and his knowledge of the industry, make him well suited to serve as a member of our board of directors.

Southland Bankruptcy

On January 27, 2020, Southland filed a voluntary petition in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware (the "Bankruptcy Court"). With the approval of the Bankruptcy Court, in May 2020 Southland sold its assets in the San Juan Basin to TXO Partners for \$10.2 million. At the time of filing for bankruptcy and the Bankruptcy Court's approval of its plan of reorganization, Bob R. Simpson, Scott T. Agosta, Keith A. Hutton, and Brent W. Clum were acting or former officers of Southland and were affiliates of TXO Partners. As of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, none of these individuals are employed by or affiliated with Southland.

Board of Directors

We are managed and operated by the board of directors and executive officers of our general partner, TXO Partners GP, LLC. The sole member of our general partner is MorningStar Oil & Gas, LLC ("MSOG"), the majority of ownership interests of which are owned by the Founders. As the sole member of our general partner, MSOG is entitled under the amended and restated limited liability company agreement of our general partner to appoint all directors of the Board. The

number of directors shall be fixed from time to time by MSOG. As of March 4, 2025, the Board consisted of seven persons.

As a limited partnership, we are not required by the rules of the NYSE to seek unitholder approval for the election of any of our directors. In evaluating director candidates, MSOG will assess whether a candidate possesses the integrity, judgment, knowledge, experience, skills and expertise that are likely to enhance the Board's ability to manage and direct our affairs and business, including, when applicable, to enhance the ability of the committees of the Board to fulfill their duties.

Our general partner's directors hold office until the earlier of their death, resignation, retirement, disqualification or removal or until their successors have been duly elected and qualified.

Director Independence

Four directors qualify as "independent" under the listing standards of the NYSE and our governance guidelines. Our Board has affirmatively determined that the directors who qualify as "independent" under the NYSE's listing standards, SEC rules and our governance guidelines are Phillip R. Kevil, Rick J. Settle, J. Luther King, Ir. and Bill H. Adams III.

Board Leadership Structure

Leadership of our general partner's board of directors is vested in a Chairman of the Board. Mr. Bob Simpson currently serves as a Director and the Chairman of the Board, and we have no policy with respect to the separation of the offices of chairman of the Board and chief executive officer. Instead, that relationship is defined and governed by the amended and restated limited liability company agreement of our general partner, which permits the same person to hold both offices.

Board Role in Risk Oversight

Our corporate governance guidelines provide that the Board is responsible for reviewing the process for assessing the major risks facing us and the options for their mitigation. This responsibility is largely satisfied by our audit committee, which is responsible for reviewing and discussing with management and our independent registered public accounting firm our major risk exposures and the policies management has implemented to monitor such exposures, including our financial risk exposures and risk management policies. A current copy of the corporate governance guidelines is posted on our investor relations website under the Corporate Governance tab, available at www.txopartners.com/investors.

Committees of the Board of Directors

The Board has an audit committee, a compensation committee, a conflicts committee, and such other committee as the Board shall determine from time to time. The NYSE listing rules do not require a listed limited partnership to establish a compensation committee or a nominating and corporate governance committee. However, we have established a compensation committee that will have the responsibilities set forth below.

Audit Committee

We are required to have an audit committee of at least three members, and all its members are required to meet the independence and experience standards established by the NYSE listing rules and rules of the SEC. The audit committee assists the Board in its oversight of the integrity of our financial statements and our compliance with legal and regulatory requirements and partnership policies and controls. The audit committee has the sole authority to (1) retain and terminate our independent registered public accounting firm, (2) approve all auditing services and teates fees and the terms thereof performed by our independent registered public accounting firm. Our independent registered public accounting firm and (3) pre-approve any non-audit services and tax services to be rendered by our independent registered public accounting firm. Un independent registered public accounting firm will be given unrestricted access to the audit committee and objectivity of our management. Rick J. Settle, Public Rick and William H. Adams III currently serve on the audit committee and so determined that Rick J. Settle has "accounting or related financial management expertise" and constitutes an "audit committee financial expert," in accordance with SEC and NYSE rules and regulations. The audit committee outer a written charter



that satisfies the applicable standards of the SEC and the NYSE. A current copy of the audit committee charter is posted on our investor relations website under the Corporate Governance tab, available awww.txopartners.com/investors

Conflicts Committee

In accordance with the terms of our partnership agreement, at least two members of the Board will serve on our conflicts committee to review specific matters that may involve conflicts of interest. The members of our conflicts committee cannot be officers or employees of its affiliates, and must meet the independence and experience standards established by the NYSE and the Exchange Act to serve on an audit committee of a board of directors. In addition, the members of our conflicts committee cannot own any interest in our general partner or its affiliates or any interest in us or our subsidiaries other than common units or awards, if any, under our incentive compensation plan. Rick J. Settle, Phillip R. Kevil and William H. Adams III currently serve as members of our conflicts committee. The Board has determined that each member of the conflicts committee meets the independence requirements of the NYSE and the SEC, as applicable.

Compensation Committee

The members of our compensation committee are Phillip R. Kevil, J. Luther King, Jr. and William H. Adams III, who also serves as chair of the compensation committee. Each of the members of our compensation committee are independent under the applicable rules and regulations of the NYSE, are a "non-employee director" as defined in Rule 16b-3 promulgated under the Exchange Act and are an "outside director" as that term is defined in Section 162(m)). The compensation committee operates under a written charter that satisfies the applicable standards of the SEC and the NYSE. A current copy of the compensation committee charter is posted on our investor relations website under the Corporate Governance tab, available at *www.txopartners.com/investors*.

The compensation committee's responsibilities include:

- · annually reviewing and approving corporate goals and objectives relevant to compensation of our chief executive officer and our other executive officers;
- annually reviewing and making recommendations to our board of directors with respect to the compensation of our chief executive officer and determining the compensation for our other executive officers;
- · reviewing and making recommendations to our board of directors with respect to director compensation; and
- overseeing and administering our equity incentive plans.

From time to time, our compensation committee may use outside compensation consultants to assist it in analyzing our compensation programs and in determining appropriate levels of compensation and benefits. The compensation committee will review and evaluate, at least annually, the performance of the compensation committee and its members, including compliance by the compensation committee with its charter.

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

The Board has adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to all directors, officers and employees of our general partner and its affiliates, including our principal executive officers, principal financial officer, and principal accounting officer. The Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is available on our investor relations website at *www.tcapartners.com/investors* under the Corporate Governance tab. In addition, we intend to post on our website all disclosures that are required by law or the NYSE listing standards concerning any amendments to, or waivers from, any provision of our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics. The information contained on our website is not incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Insider Trading Policies and Procedures

We have adopted insider trading policies and procedures applicable to our directors, officers, and employees, and have implemented processes for the Partnership, that we believe are reasonably designed to promote compliance with

insider trading laws, rules, and regulations, and the New York Stock Exchange listing standards. A copy of our Insider Trading Policies and Procedures is filed as Exhibit 19.1 to this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Executive Sessions of Independent Directors

In accordance with our Corporate Governance Guidelines, the Board holds executive sessions of independent directors on a regularly scheduled basis but no less than twice per year. If the Chairman of the Board is a member of management or does not otherwise qualify as independent, the independent directors may elect a lead director. The lead director's responsibilities include, but are not limited to: presiding over all meetings of the Board at which the Chairman of the Board is not present, including any executive sessions of the independent directors; approving Board meeting schedules and agendas; and acting as the liaison between the independent directors and the Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board. At such times as the Chairman of the Board director, the Chairman of the Board will serve as lead director. The Board may modify its leadership structure in the future as it deems appropriate.

Communications with Directors

Unitholders and other interested parties wishing to communicate with our Board or with non-management directors may send a written communication addressed to:

TXO Partners, L.P. 400 West, 7th Street, Fort Worth, Texas 76102 Attention: Secretary

Such communications should specify the intended recipient or recipients.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

General

We do not directly employ any of the persons responsible for managing our business. Our general partner's executive officers manage our business as part of the services provided by our general partner to us under our partnership agreement. Although all of the employees that conduct our business are either employed by our general partner or its subsidiaries, we sometimes refer to these individuals in this Annual Report on Form 10-K as our employees.

All of our general partner's executive officers and other employees necessary to operate our business are employed and compensated by either our general partner or a subsidiary of the general partner, subject to reimbursement by our general partner. The compensation for all of our executive officers will be indirectly paid by us to the extent provided for in the partnership agreement because we will reimburse our general partner for compensation it pays related to management of our business.

Our compensation committee is responsible for reviewing and making recommendations to our board of directors with respect to the compensation of our chief executive officer and determining the compensation of our other executive officers. Our predecessor historically compensated certain of its executive officers primarily with base salary and cash bonuses. However, the compensation committee may consider the compensation structures and levels that they believe will be necessary for executive recruitment and retention for us as a public company.

Emerging Growth Company Status

As an emerging growth company we are exempt from certain requirements related to executive compensation, including the requirements to hold a nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation and to provide information relating to the ratio of total compensation of our chief executive officer to the median of the annual total compensation of all of our employees, each as required by the Investor Protection and Securities Reform Act of 2010, which is part of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act. The rules applicable to emerging growth companies require compensation disclosure for any individuals serving as our principal executive officer during the last completed fiscal year and the two most highly compensated executive officers other than our principal executive officers had they remained

employed as of the last day of the year. We refer to these officers as our "Named Executive Officers" or "NEOs". Our NEOs for 2024 consist of the following three individuals:

Bob R. Simpson, our Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board;

- Brent W. Clum, our President of Business Operations, Chief Financial Officer, and Director; and
- · Scott T. Agosta, our Chief Accounting Officer.

2024 Summary Compensation Table

The following table sets forth compensation for our NEOs, for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022.

| | | Salary | Bonus | Stock Awards | Value of All Other Compensation | Total Compensation |
|---|------|---------|---------|--------------------|---------------------------------------|-----------------------|
| Name and Principal Position | Year | (\$) | (\$) | (S) ⁽¹⁾ | (\$) ⁽²⁾ | (\$) |
| Bob R. Simpson | 2024 | _ | - | — | — | — |
| CEO, Chairman, and Director ⁽³⁾ | 2023 | _ | — | _ | — | — |
| | 2022 | — | — | — | — | — |
| Brent W. Clum | 2024 | 400,000 | 607,250 | 1,489,600 | 305,014 | 2,801,864 |
| President of Business Operations, CFO, and Director | 2023 | 375,000 | 330,000 | 1,000,000 | 95,838 | 1,800,838 |
| | 2022 | 262,500 | 220,000 | _ | 9,150 | 491,650 |
| Scott T. Agosta | 2024 | 309,000 | 192,500 | 595,840 | 189,822 | 1,287,162 |
| Chief Accounting Officer | 2023 | 300,000 | 105,000 | 1,000,000 | 105,930 | 1,510,930 |
| | 2022 | 280,000 | 100,000 | _ | 9,150 | 389,150 |

(1)

Amounts reported represent the aggregate grant date fair value of common units awarded to each NEO, calculated in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards Codification Topic 718, Compensation – Stock Compensation, based on the fair market value of a common unit as of the grant date and the number of common units subject to award. The assumptions used in determining the valuation of the unit awards are found in Note 12 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. The assumptions used in discounting Standards State financial Statements and \$75,000 for Mr. Agosta in 2023 and matching contributions made on behalf of employees under our 401(k) plan in 2024 (35,281 for Mr. Imm and \$34,296 for Mr. Agosta), 2023 (202,383 for Mr. Clum and \$30,950 for Mr. Agosta) and 2022. With appointed a Chief Executive Officer or as Chairman and Director of the Board in 2022, 2023 or 2024. (2) (3)

Narrative to 2024 Summary Compensation Table

Annual Base Salaries

For the 2024 year, the NEOs received an annual base salary to provide a fixed component of compensation reflecting the executive's skill set, experience, role and responsibilities. The 2024 annual base salaries for our NEOs were as set forth in the Summary Compensation Table.

2024 Annual Performance Bonus

The NEOs are eligible to receive a discretionary annual cash bonus which was determined by the board of directors. The 2024 annual performance bonuses for our NEOs were set forth in the Summary Compensation Table.

Other Elements of Compensation

Retirement Plan

We maintain a 401(k) retirement savings plan that allows employees to contribute and defer a portion of their wages. Regardless of an employees' decision to participate in the 401(k) plan, we make a non-elective contribution equal to 3% of each employees' wages. Additionally, we have the ability to make a discretionary annual match as determined by the general partner. Effective January 1, 2023, we began matching employee contributions up to 7% of wages, subject to annual dollar maximums established by the federal government and plan limitations. We believe that providing a vehicle for tax-deferred retirement savings through our 401(k) plan adds to the overall desirability of our executive compensation package and further incentivizes our employees, including our NEOs, in accordance with our compensation policies.

The employer matching contributions to the 401(k) retirement savings plan on behalf of our participating NEOs are set forth above in the 2024 Summary Compensation Table in the column titled "Value of All Other Compensation."

We do not maintain, sponsor, contribute to or otherwise have any liability with respect to any single or multiemployer defined benefit pension plan or nonqualified deferred compensation plan.

Long-Term Incentive Plan

We have adopted the TXO Partners, L.P. 2023 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the "LTIP") under which our general partner may issue long-term equity based awards to directors, officers and employees of our general partner or its affiliates, or to any consultants, affiliates of our general partner or other individuals who perform services for us. These awards will be intended to compensate the recipients thereof based on the performance of our common units and their continued service during the vesting period, as well as to align their long-term interests with those of our unitholders. We will be responsible for the cost of awards granted under the LTIP and all determinations with respect to awards to be made under the LTIP will be made by the board of directors of our general partner or any committee thereof that may be established for such purpose or by any delegate of the board of directors or such committee, subject to applicable law, which we refer to as the plan administrator. The Compensation Committee of the board of directors of our general partner has been designated as the plan administrator. The following description reflects the terms of the LTIP.

General

The LTIP provides for the grant, from time to time at the discretion of the board of directors of our general partner or any delegate thereof, subject to applicable law, of cash awards, unit awards, restricted units, phantom units, unit appreciation rights, distribution equivalent rights, profits interest units and other unit-based awards. The purpose of awards under the LTIP is to provide additional incentive compensation to individuals providing services to us, and to align the economic interests of such individuals with the interests of our unitholders. The LTIP limits the number of units that may be delivered pursuant to vested awards to common units, subject to proportionate adjustment in the event of unit splits and similar events. Common units subject to awards that are cancelled, forfeited, withheld to satisfy exercise prices or tax withholding obligations or otherwise terminated without delivery of the common units will be available for delivery pursuant to other awards.

Cash Awards

The plan administrator of the LTIP, in its discretion, may grant cash awards, either as standalone awards or in tandem with other awards. A cash award is an award denominated in cash.

Restricted Units and Phantom Units

A restricted unit is a common unit that is subject to forfeiture. Upon vesting, the forfeiture restrictions lapse and the recipient holds a common unit that is not subject to forfeiture. A phantom unit is a notional unit that entitles the grantee to receive a common unit upon the vesting of the phantom unit or on a deferred basis upon specified future dates or events or, in the discretion of the plan administrator, cash equal to the fair market value of a common unit. The plan administrator of the LTIP may make grants of restricted units and phantom units under the LTIP that contain such terms, consistent with the LTIP, as the plan administrator may determine are appropriate, including the period over which restricted units or phantom units will vest. The plan administrator of the LTIP may, in its discretion, base vesting on the grantee's completion of a

period of service or upon the achievement of specified financial objectives or other criteria or upon a change of control (as defined in the LTIP) or as otherwise described in an award agreement.

Distributions made by us with respect to awards of restricted units may be subject to the same vesting requirements as the restricted units.

Distribution Equivalent Rights

The plan administrator of the LTIP, in its discretion, may also grant distribution equivalent rights, either as standalone awards or in tandem with other awards. Distribution equivalent rights are rights to receive an amount in cash, restricted units or phantom units equal to all or a portion of the cash distributions made on units during the period an award remains outstanding.

Unit Options and Unit Appreciation Rights

The LTIP may also permit the grant of options covering common units. Unit options represent the right to purchase a number of common units at a specified exercise price. Unit appreciation rights represent the right to receive the appreciation in the value of a number of common units at a specified exercise price. Unit appreciation rights represent the right to receive the appreciation in the value of a number of common units over a specified exercise price, either in cash or in common units. Unit options and unit appreciation rights may be granted to such eligible individuals and with such terms as the plan administrator of the LTIP may determine, consistent with the LTIP; however, a unit option or unit appreciation right must have an exercise price equal to at least the fair market value of a common unit on the date of grant.

Unit Awards

Awards covering common units may be granted under the LTIP with such terms and conditions, including restrictions on transferability, as the plan administrator of the LTIP may establish.

Profits Interest Units

Awards granted to grantees who are partners, or granted to grantees in anticipation of the grantee becoming a partner or granted as otherwise determined by the plan administrator, may consist of profits interest units. The plan administrator will determine the applicable vesting dates, conditions to vesting and restrictions on transferability and any other restrictions for profits interest awards.

Other Unit-Based Awards

The LTIP may also permit the grant of "other unit-based awards," which are awards that, in whole or in part, are valued or based on or related to the value of a common unit. The vesting of another unit-based award may be based on a participant's continued service, the achievement of performance criteria or other measures. On vesting or on a deferred basis upon specified future dates or events, another unit-based award may be paid in cash and/or in units (including restricted units) or any combination thereof as the plan administrator of the LTIP may determine.

Source of Common Units

Common units to be delivered with respect to awards may be newly-issued units, common units acquired by us or our general partner in the open market, common units already owned by our general partner or us, common units acquired by our general partner directly from us or any other person or any combination of the foregoing.

Equity Award Timing Policies and Practices

We do not grant equity awards in anticipation of the release of material nonpublic information and we do not time the release of material nonpublic information for the purpose of affecting the value of executive compensation. We do not currently grant unit options or optionlike equity awards to our employees or directors. Accordingly, we do not currently have a formal practice or policy with respect to the grant of unit options or option-like awards. In the event we determine to grant unit options or option-like awards, the Board will evaluate the appropriate steps to take in relation to the foregoing.

Anti-Dilution Adjustments and Change in Control

If an "equity restructuring" event occurs that could result in an additional compensation expense under applicable accounting standards if adjustments to awards under the LTIP with respect to such event were discretionary, the plan administrator of the LTIP will equitably adjust the number and type of units were to such event were discretionary, the plan administrator of the LTIP. With respect to which future awards may be granted under the LTIP. With respect to other similar events, including, for example, a combination or exchange of units, a merger or consolidation or a extraordinary distribution of our assets to unitholders, that would not result in an accounting charge if adjustment to awards were discretionary, the plan administrator of the LTIP shall have discretion to adjust awards in the manner if deems appropriate and to make equitable adjustments, if any, with respect to the number of units, and or units or other securities available for grant under the LTIP. Furthermore, upon any such event, including a change in control of us or our general partner, or a change in any law or regulation affecting the LTIP or outstanding awards or any relevant change in accounting principles, the plan administrator of the LTIP and the kind of units or other securities available for grant under the LTIP. Furthermore, upon any such event, including a change in control of us or our general partner, or a change in any law or regulation affecting the LTIP or outstanding awards or any relevant change in accounting principles, the plan administrator of the LTIP will generally have discretion to i) accelerate the time of exercisability or vesting or payment of an award, (iii) prequire awards to be surredeved in exchange for a cash payment or substitue other there rights or property for the award (iii) provide for the award to be assumed by a successor or one of its affiliates, with appropriate adjustments thereto, (iv) cancel unvested awards without payment or (v) make other adjustments to awards as the plan administrator de

Termination of Service

The consequences of the termination of a grantee's membership on the board of directors of our general partner or other service arrangement will generally be determined by the plan administrator in the terms of the relevant award agreement.

Amendment or Termination of Long-Term Incentive Plan

The plan administrator of the LTIP, at its discretion, may terminate the LTIP at any time with respect to the common units for which a grant has not previously been made. The plan administrator of the LTIP also has the right to alter or amend the LTIP or any part of it from time to time or to amend any outstanding award made under the LTIP, provided that no change in any outstanding award may be made that would materially impair the vested rights of the participant without the consent of the affected participant or result in taxation to the participant under Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code.

Grants Made in 2023 in Connection with the Initial Public Offering

In connection with the closing of our initial public offering, we made awards of 50,000 phantom units with distribution equivalent rights to each of Mr. Clum and Mr. Agosta as long-term incentive awards pursuant to the LTIP. These phantom units will vest in one-third increments on each of the first three anniversaries of the pricing date of our initial public offering for the officers and key employees and will fully vest on the one-year anniversary of the grant for the non-employee directors provided that the recipient remains employed or a member of the Board, as applicable, through the anniversary date, and will be settled in common units as soon as reasonably practicable after the vesting date. Distribution equivalents will be paid to holders of outstanding phantom units, including unvested phantom units, on the next payroll dates after the distribution is paid to holders of countstanding the holders.

All outstanding and unvested phantom units will vest in the event that the officer's employment is terminated without "cause" or by the officer for "good reason" (each as defined in the LTIP and the award agreement) within the two-year period following a "change in control" (as defined in the LTIP). Similarly, all outstanding and unvested phantom units held by a director will vest in the event of a change of control. Additionally, the Compensation Committee may determine, in its discretion, to vest unvested phantom units in the event that the officer's employment is terminated for reasons other than "cause" or the director ceases to be a member of the Board as a result of a termination of "service" (as defined in the LTIP).

2024 Annual Grants

In January 2024, we made awards of 56,000 time-vesting phantom units with distribution equivalent rights to our NEOs as annual long-term incentive awards pursuant to the LTIP, with 40,000 time-vesting phantom units granted to Mr.

Clum and 16,000 time-vesting phantom units granted to Mr. Agosta. These phantom units will vest in one- third increments on January 31, 2025, 2026 and 2027.

In addition, in January 2024, we made awards of 56,000 performance-based phantom units with distribution equivalent rights to our NEOs as annual long-term incentive awards pursuant to the LTIP, with 40,000 performance-based phantom units granted to Mr. Clum and 16,000 performance during the 2024 calendar year according to the performance objectives set forth in the table below, final performance awards of \$4,280 units were carned with 60,200 units earned by Mr. Clum and 24,080 units will vest in on-half increments on January 31, 2027. Prior to determination of the achievement of the performance objectives, set forth in the table below, final performance awards of \$4,280 units were paid according to the target number of phantom unit grants; following the determination of the number of earned phantom units, distribution equivalent rights will be paid according to the number of earned phantom units.

| Objective | Weight | Target Level | Potential Earned Unit Percentages | Level of Actual Achievement | Percentage of Units Actually Earned |
|--|--------|---------------------------|---|-----------------------------|-------------------------------------|
| Distributions to Unitholders | 34% | \$1.45 - \$1.75 | Below target level: 50% | \$2.41 | 200% |
| Lease Operating Expenses plus Cash General and Operating Expenses per Boe | 33% | \$16.50 - \$17.50 per boe | Within target level: 100% Above target level: 200% | \$18.54 | 50% |
| Discretionary factors | 33% | n/a | 50-200% | | 200% |

Both the time-vesting and performance-based phantom units will be settled in common units as soon as reasonably practicable after the vesting date. Distribution equivalents will be paid to holders of outstanding phantom units, including unvested phantom units, on the next payroll dates after the distribution is paid to holders of common units.

2025 Annual Grants

In January 2025, we made awards of 73,880 time-vesting phantom units with distribution equivalent rights to our NEOs as annual long-term incentive awards pursuant to the LTIP, with 52,770 time-vesting phantom units granted to Mr. Clum and 21,110 time-vesting phantom units granted to Mr. Clum and 21,110 time-vesting phantom units granted to Mr. Clum and 21,120 time-vesting phantom units granted to Mr. Clum and 21,120 time-vesting phantom units granted to Mr. Clum and 21,120 time-vesting phantom units granted to Mr. Clum and 21,120 time-vesting phantom units granted to Mr. Agosta. These phantom units will vest in one- third increments on January 31, 2026, 2027 and 2028.

In addition, in January 2025, we made awards of 73,880 performance-based phantom units with distribution equivalent rights to our NEOs as annual long-term incentive awards pursuant to the LTIP, with 52,770 performance-based phantom units granted to Mr. Clum and 21,110 performance-based phantom units granted to Mr. Agosta. These performance-based phantom units with distribution equivalent rights to our NEOs as annual long-term incentive awards pursuant to the LTIP, with 52,770 performance-based phantom units granted to Mr. Clum and 21,110 performance-based phantom units granted to Mr. Agosta. These performance-based phantom units will be earned based on the Company's performance during the 2025 calendar year according to the performance objectives set forth in the table below and will vest in one-half increments on January 31, 2027. Prior to determination of the antivement of the performance objectives, distribution equivalent rights will be paid according to the target number of phantom units grants; following determination of the number of earned phantom units based on achievement of the performance objectives, distribution equivalent rights will be paid according to the number of earned phantom units.

| Objective | Weight | Target Level | Potential Earned Unit Percentages |
|---|--------|--------------|---|
| Distributions to Unitholders | 34% | | Below target level: 50% |
| Lease Operating Expenses plus Cash General and Operating Expenses per Boe | 33% | | Within target level: 100% Above target level: 200% |
| Discretionary factors | 33% | n/a | 50 - 200% |

Both the time-vesting and performance-based phantom units will be settled in common units as soon as reasonably practicable after the vesting date. Distribution equivalents will be paid to holders of outstanding phantom units, including unvested phantom units, on the next payroll dates after the distribution is paid to holders of common units.

Outstanding Equity Awards at 2024 Year-End

The following table shows outstanding equity awards held by the NEOs as of December 31, 2024.

| | Name | Number of Phantom Units That Have Not Vested (#) (1) | Market Value of Phantom Units That Have Not Vested (\$) | Number of Unearned Phantom Units That Have Not Vested | Market Value of Unearned Phantom Units That Have Not Vested |
|---------------------|---|---|--|--|--|
| Bob R. Simpson | | _ | _ | | |
| Brent W. Clum | | | | | |
| | January 31, 2023 | 33,333 | 561,328 | _ | _ |
| | January 31, 2024 | 100,200 | 1,687,368 | — | _ |
| Scott T. Agosta | | | | | |
| | January 31, 2023 | 33,333 | 561,328 | — | _ |
| | January 31, 2024 | 40,080 | 674,947 | _ | _ |
| (1) Consists of tim | ne-vested phantom units and earned perfor | mance-based phantom units that remain subject to t | ime-vesting. See "2024 Annual Grants." | | - |

Employment Contracts, Termination of Employment, Change-in-Control Arrangements

We currently do not have any employment agreements or other plans or arrangements with our executive officers that would result in payments to be made by us to an NEO upon the resignation, retirement or any other termination of an NEO's employment or upon a change in control.

Compensation of Directors

Officers or employees of our general partner or its affiliates who also serve as directors will not receive additional compensation for their service as a director of our general partner. The non-employee director compensation program consists of annual equity-based awards granted under the LTIP. These grants totaled 3,900 to each non-employee director with an additional 1,600 units, or a total of 5,500 units, for each chair of a committee of the board of directors in 2025.

Non-employee directors will also receive reimbursement for out-of-pocket expenses they incur in connection with attending meetings of the board of directors or its committees. Each director will be indemnified for his or her actions associated with being a director to the fullest extent permitted under Delaware law.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owner and Management and Related Unitholder Matters

The following table sets forth certain information regarding the beneficial ownership of our common units by:

- · beneficial owners of more than 5% of our common units;
- · each named executive officer of our general partner; and
- · all directors and executive officers of our general partner as a group.

The percentage of units beneficially owned is based on 41,167,625 common units outstanding as of March 4, 2025.

| | Common Units to be Beneficially Owned | Percentage of Common Units to be Beneficially Owned |
|---|--|---|
| Name of Beneficial Owner(1) | | |
| 5% Unitholders: | | |
| Luther King Capital Management(2) | 2,561,530 | 6 % |
| Named Executive Officers and Directors | | |
| Bob R. Simpson | 4,500,000 | 11 % |
| Brent W. Clum(3) | 470,337 | 1 % |
| Gary D. Simpson(4) | 239,570 | 1 % |
| Scott T. Agosta(5) | 159,498 | * |
| Keith A. Hutton | 4,120,215 | 10 % |
| Phillip R. Kevil(6) | 24,384 | * |
| Rick J. Settle(7) | 26,716 | * |
| J. Luther King, Jr.(2)(8) | 3,308,874 | 8 % |
| William H. Adams III(9) | 98,284 | * |
| All executive officers and directors as a group (9 persons) | 12,947,878 | 31 % |

Represents less than 1%
 Beneficial ownership is determined under the rules of the SEC and generally includes voting or investment power with respect to securities. Each of the holders listed has sole voting and investment power with respect to the common units beneficially owned by the holder unless noted otherwise, subject to community independence of the sole for address for each beneficial owner histed below is 400 W ft hs., Fort Work, TX 76102.
 Represents (0), 1189.400 common units held by PLCM Investment Partnership, LP, and (0), 1273, 1200 common units held by PLCM Private Discipline Master Fund, SPC.
 LKCM Investment Partnership, CP, LLC. is the general partner of LKCM Investment Partnership, LP, and J. Luther King, Jr. serves as the President and has voting and investment power over the securities held by LKCM Investment Partnership GP, LLC. LKCM Private Discipline Management, LP. is the sole holder of management shares of LKCM Private Discipline Master Fund, SPC.
 Accordingly, J. Luther King may be deemed to share beneficial ownership of the common units held by PLKCM Private Discipline Management, LP.
 Accordingly, J. Luther King may be deemed to share beneficial ownership of the common units held by PLKCM Investment Partnership, LP, and PDLP Morningstar, J. Luther King disclaims beneficial ownership of such common units. Each plantom units. Beach Plantom units and vill be settled in common unit and will be settled in common units under vigo plantom units. Methy plantom units. Common units held by spose.
 Includes 15,503 common units underlying plantom units. Includes 1,360 common units held by spose.
 Includes 5,500 common units underlying plantom units.
 Includes 5,500 common units underlying plantom units.
 Includes 5,500 common units underlying plantom units.
 Includes 5,500 common unit

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The Founders own 9,090,552 common units representing an approximately 22% limited partner interest in us, and MSOG, which is majority-owned by the Founders, own and control our general partner. The Founders, who majority-own MSOG, indirectly appoint all of the directors of our general partner, which owns a non-economic general partner interest in us. These percentages do not reflect any common units that may be issued under the long-term incentive plan.

Distributions and Payments to Our General Partner and Its Affiliates

The following table summarizes the distributions and payments to be made by us to our general partner and its affiliates in connection with our formation, ongoing operation and liquidation. These distributions and payments were determined by and among affiliated entities and, consequently, were not the result of arm's length negotiations.

| Operational Stage | |
|--|--|
| Distributions of available cash to affiliates of our general partner | We make cash distributions to our unitholders, including affiliates of our general partner, pro rata. |
| | The Founders, who own a majority of MSOG, which owns and controls our general partner, also own 9,090,552 common units, representing approximately 22% of our outstanding common units and would receive a pro rata percentage of the cash distributions that we distribute in respect thereof. |
| Payments to our general partner and its affiliates | Our general partner will not receive a management fee or other compensation for its management of our partnership, but we will reimburse our general partner and its affiliates for costs and expenses they incur and payments they make on our behalf. Our partnership agreement does not set a limit on the amount of expenses for which our general partner may be reimbursed. These expenses include salary, bonus, incentive compensation and other amounts paid to persons who perform services for us or on our behalf and expenses allocated to our general partner by its affiliates. Our partnership agreement provides that our general partner will determine the expenses that are allocable to us. |
| Withdrawal or removal of our general partner | If our general partner withdraws or is removed, its non-economic general partner interest will either be sold to the new general partner for cash or converted into common units, in each case for an amount equal to the fair market value of those interests. |
| Liquidation Stage | |
| Liquidation | Upon our liquidation, the partners, including our general partner with respect to any common units or other units then held by our general partner, will be entitled to receive liquidating distributions according to their respective capital account balances. |

Other Transactions with Related Persons

We occupy a building owned by MorningStar Capital LLC, a limited liability company owned by Mr. Simpson, our Chief Executive Officer and the Chairman of the Board. In lieu of paying rent, we paid property taxes and paid for repairs and maintenance on behalf of MorningStar Capital LLC in the amount of \$0.8 million in 2022, \$0.8 million in 2022.

Procedures for Review, Approval or Ratification of Transactions with Related Persons

The Board has adopted policies for the review, approval and ratification of transactions with related persons. The Board has adopted a written code of business conduct and ethics, under which a director would be expected to bring to the attention of the chief executive officer or the Board any conflict or potential conflict of interest that may arise between the director in his or her personal capacity or any affiliate of the director in his or her personal capacity, on the one hand, and us or our general partner on the other. The resolution of any such conflict or potential conflict should, at the discretion of the Board in light of the circumstances, be determined by a majority of the disinterested directors.

If a conflict or potential conflict of interest arises between our general partner or its affiliates, on the one hand, and us or our unitholders, on the other hand, the resolution of any such conflict or potential conflict should be addressed by the Board in accordance with the provisions of our partnership agreement. At the discretion of the Board in light of the circumstances, the resolution may be determined by the Board in its entirety, by the conflicts committee of the Board or by approval of our unitholders (other than the general partner and its affiliates).

Under our code of business conduct, any executive officer will be required to avoid personal conflicts of interest unless approved by the Board.

The code of business conduct and ethics described above was adopted in connection with the closing of our initial public offering, and as a result, the transactions described above were not reviewed according to such procedures.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

| The following table sets forth the aggregat | e fees billed by KPMG LLP for | r the fiscal years ended December | 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023: |
|---|-------------------------------|-----------------------------------|---------------------------------|
| | | | |

| | | 2024 | 2023 |
|------------------------|---|-----------|-----------------|
| Audit Fees (1) | s | 818,000 | \$ 543,366 |
| Audit Related Fees (2) | | 310,000 | |
| Tax Fees (3) | | 247,175 | 458,128 |
| All Other Fees | | _ | |
| Total | S | 1,375,175 | \$ 1,001,494 |

Audit Fees include fees for the annual financial statement audit and interim reviews included in our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q. Audit fees also include amounts related to services in connection with transactions, comfort letters, regulatory filings and consents. Audit Related Fees are for services related to audits for 3-05 purposes. (1)

(2) (3) Tax Fees include fees for tax compliance.

Policy for Approval of Audit and Non-Audit Services

The audit committee, or the chair of the audit committee, must pre-approve any audit and non-audit services and tax services and related fees and the terms thereof provided by the independent auditor, unless the engagement is entered into pursuant to appropriate preapproval policies established by the audit committee or if such service falls within available exceptions under SEC rules. All services and fees that occurred after our initial public offering were reviewed and approved by the audit committee before the respective services were rendered.



Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

| Exhibit Number | Description |
|-------------------|--|
| 3.1 | Amended and Restated Certificate of Limited Partnership of TXO Partners, L.P. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 9, 2023) |
| 3.2 | Amended and Restated Certificate of Formation of TXO Partners, GP, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 9, 2023) |
| 3.3 | Seventh Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of TXO Partners, L.P. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 31, 2023) |
| 3.4 | Amendment No. 1 to the Seventh Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of TXO Partners, L.P. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 9, 2023) |
| 3.5 | Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of TXO Partners GP, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.4 to Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 31, 2023) |
| 3.6 | Amendment No. 1 to the Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of TXO Partners GP, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.4 to Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 9, 2023) |
| 4.1 | Description of Common Units (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 31, 2023) |
| 10.1# | Credit Agreement, among MorningStar Partners, L.P., the lenders party thereto and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent, dated November 1, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-1/A filed on January 18, 2023) |
| 10.2# | Amendment No. 1 to the Credit Agreement and Borrowing Base Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-1/A filed on January 18, 2023) |
| 10.3# | Amendment No. 2 to the Credit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on August 8, 2023) |
| 10.4 | Amendment No. 3 to the Credit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 5, 2024) |
| 10.5^ | Amendment No. 4 to the Credit Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 30, 2024) |
| 10.6 | TXO Partners GP, LLC 2023 Long-Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 31, 2023) |
| 10.7 | Form of 2023 Long-Term Incentive Plan Phantom Unit Agreement (Directors) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 31, 2023) |
| 10.8 | Form of 2023 Long-Term Incentive Plan Phantom Unit Agreement (Executives) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 31, 2023) |
| 10.9#^ | Limited Liability Company Agreement of Cross Timbers Energy, LLC, dated as of June 13, 2013, by and among XTO Energy Inc., XH LLC, HHE Energy Company and TXO Partners, L.P. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-1/A filed on January 18, 2023) |
| 10.10 | Contribution and Exchange Agreement, dated January 31, 2023, by and among TXO Partners, L.P., MorningStar Oil & Gas, LLC, MorningStar Partners II, L.P. and the Limited Partners party theret (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 31, 2023) |
| 10.11 | Form of Indemnification Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 31, 2023) |

- 19.1* Insider Trading Policies and Procedures
- 21.1* List of Subsidiaries of TXO Partners, L.P.
- 23.1* Consent of Cawley, Gillespie & Associates
- 23.2* Consent of KPMG LLP
- 31.1*
- Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a) 31.2* Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a)
- 32.1** Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350
- 32.2** Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350
- TXO Partners, L.P. Policy for Recovery of Erroneously Awarded Compensation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 97.0 to Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 5, 2024) 97.0
- 99.1* Report of Cawley, Gillespie & Associates of reserves as of December 31, 2024

Filed herewith.
 Filed herewith.
 Furnished herewith.
 If The schedules and chibits to this agreement have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(a)(5) of Regulation S-K. A copy of any omitted schedule and/or exhibit will be furnished to the SEC upon request.
 Portions of this exhibit have been reducted pursuant to Item 601(b)(10)(iv) of Regulation S-K.

None.

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of August 30, 2024, among TXO Partners, L.P., EMEP Acquisitions, LLC, and VR4-ELM, LP (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 30, 2024) 10.12

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Act of 1933, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the City of Fort Worth, State of Texas, on March 4, 2025.

TXO Partners, L.P.

By: TXO Partners GP, LLC, its general partner

By: /s/ Bob R. Simpson Name: Bob R. Simpson Title: Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, this report has been signed below by the following persons in the capacities and the dates indicated. Name Title Date Chief Executive Officer and Director (principal executive officer) /s/ Bob R. Simpson Bob R. Simpson March 4, 2025 President of Business Operations, Chief Financial Officer and Director (principal financial officer) /s/ Brent W. Clum Brent W. Clum March 4, 2025 Chief Accounting Officer (principal accounting officer) /s/ Scott T. Agosta Scott T. Agosta March 4, 2025 /s/ Phillip R. Kevil Director Phillip R. Kevil March 4, 2025 /s/ Keith A. Hutton Director Keith A. Hutton March 4, 2025 /s/ Rick J. Settle Director Rick J. Settle March 4, 2025 /s/ J. Luther King, Jr. Director J. Luther King, Jr. March 4, 2025 /s/ William H. Adams III Director William H. Adams III March 4, 2025

TXO Partners, L.P. Insider Trading Compliance Policy

Contents

i

Page

•

I

- II. Explanation of Insider Trading 2
- III. Statement of Procedures to Prevent Insider Trading 6
- IV. Additional Prohibited Transactions 10
- V. Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plans, Section 16, and Rule 144 12
- VI. Certification of Compliance 15

TXO Partners, L.P. Insider Trading Compliance Policy

Federal laws and regulations prohibit trading in the securities of a company while in possession of material nonpublic information and in breach of a duty of trust or confidence. These laws and regulations also prohibit anyone who is aware of material nonpublic information from providing this information to others who may trade. Violating such laws and regulations can undermine investor trust, harm the company's reputation, and result in your dismissal or even serious criminal and civil charges against you and the Partnership Group. The Partnership Group reserves the right to take disciplinary or other measure(s) it determines in its sole discretion to be appropriate in any particular situation, including disclosure of wrongdoing to governmental authorities.

This Insider Trading Compliance Policy (this '<u>Policy</u>") outlines your responsibilities to avoid insider trading and implements certain procedures to help you avoid even the appearance of insider trading. In this Policy, we refer to (i) TXO Partners, L.P. and its subsidiaries as the "<u>Partnership</u>," (ii) TXO Partners GP, LLC as our "General Partner" and (iii) the Partnership together with the General Partner and its subsidiaries as the "<u>Partnership</u>."

I. <u>Summary</u>

Preventing insider trading is necessary to comply with securities laws and to preserve the reputation and integrity of the Partnership Group. "Insider trading" occurs when any person purchases or sells a security while in possession of material nonpublic information relating to the security. Insider trading is a crime. The criminal penalties for violating insider trading laws include imprisonment and fines of up to \$5 million for individuals and \$25 million for corporations. Insider trading may also result in civil penalties, including disgorgement of profits and civil fines. Insider trading is also prohibited by this Policy, and violation of this Policy may result in Partnership-imposed sanctions, including removal or dismissal for cause.

This Policy applies to all officers, directors, and employees of the Partnership Group. For purposes of this Policy, "officers" refer to those individuals who meet the definition of "officer" under Section 16 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (as amended, the "Exchange Act"). As someone subject to this Policy, you are responsible for ensuring that members of your household also comply with this Policy. This Policy also applies to any entities you control, including any corporations, limited liability companies, partnerships, or trusts, and transactions by such entities should be treated for the purposes of this Policy and applicable securities laws as if they were for your own account. The Partnership may determine that this Policy applies to additional persons with access to material nonpublic information, such as contractors or consultants. This Policy extends to all activities within and outside your Partnership Group duties. Every officer, director, and employee must review this Policy. Questions regarding the Policy should be directed to the General Partner's Compliance Officer (as defined below).

The General Counsel or, if there is no General Counsel, the Chief Financial Officer, of the General Partner (such officer, the "<u>Compliance Officer</u>") shall be responsible for the administration of this Policy.

ii

In the absence of the Compliance Officer, responsibility for administering this Policy will rest with the Chief Accounting Officer or such other employee as may be designated by the Compliance Officer.

In all cases, as someone subject to this Policy, you bear full responsibility for ensuring your compliance with this Policy, and also for ensuring that members of your household (and individuals not residing in your household but whose transactions are subject to your influence or control) and entities under your influence or control are in compliance with this Policy.

Actions taken by the Partnership Group, the Compliance Officer, or any other Partnership Group personnel do not constitute legal advice, nor do they insulate you from the consequences of noncompliance with this Policy.

II. Explanation of Insider Trading

"Insider trading" refers to the purchase, sale, gift or other transfer of a security while in possession of material nonpublic information relating to the security.

"Securities" includes common units and other equity securities of the Partnership, bonds, notes, debentures, options, warrants, and other convertible securities, as well as derivative instruments.

"Purchase" and "sale" are defined broadly under the federal securities law. "Purchase" includes not only the actual purchase of a security, but any contract to purchase or otherwise acquire a security. "Sale" includes not only the actual sale of a security, but any contract to sell or otherwise dispose of a security. These definitions extend to a broad range of transactions, including conventional cash-for-units transactions, conversions, the exercise of unit options, and acquisitions and exercises of warrants or puts, calls, or other derivative securities.

A. What Facts Are Material?

The materiality of a fact depends upon the circumstances. A fact is considered "<u>material</u>" if there is a substantial likelihood that a reasonable investor would consider it important in making a decision to buy, sell, or hold a security, or if the fact is likely to have a significant effect on the market price of the security. Material information can be positive or negative and can relate to virtually any aspect of the Partnership Group's business or to any type of security, debt, or equity. Also, information that something is likely to happen in the future—or even just that it may happen—could be deemed material.

Examples of material information include (but are not limited to) information about distributions; corporate earnings or earnings forecasts; possible mergers, acquisitions, tender offers, or dispositions; important business developments such as major contracts or cancellations, drilling results, developments regarding strategic collaborators, or the status of regulatory submissions; management or control changes; significant borrowing or financing developments, including pending public sales or offerings of debt or equity securities; defaults on borrowings; bankruptcies; cybersecurity or data security incidents; and significant litigation or regulatory actions. Moreover, material information does not have to be related to the

iii

Partnership Group's business. For example, the contents of a forthcoming newspaper column that is expected to affect the market price of a security can be material.

Questions regarding material information should be directed to the Compliance Officer. A good rule of thumb: When in doubt, do not trade.

B. What Is Nonpublic?

Information is "nonpublic" if it is not available to the general public. In order for information to be considered public, it must be widely disseminated in a manner making it generally available to investors through newswire services such as Dow Jones, Reuters, Bloomberg, Business Wire, The Wall Street Journal, Associated Press, or United Press International; a broadcast on widely available radio or television programs; publication in a widely available newspaper, magazine, or news website; a Regulation FD-compliant conference call; or public disclosure documents filed with the US Securities and Exchange Commission (the "<u>SEC</u>") that are available on the SEC's website. Note that simply posting information to the Partnership's website may not be sufficient disclosure to make the information public. The Compliance Officer has sole discretion to decide whether information is public for purposes of this Policy.

The circulation of rumors, even if accurate and reported in the media, does not constitute public dissemination. In addition, even after a public announcement, a reasonable period of time may need to lapse in order for the market to react to the information. Generally, the passage of two full trading days following release of the information to the public, is a reasonable waiting period before such information is deemed to be public.

C. Who Is an Insider?

"Insiders" include officers, directors, and any employees of the Partnership Group, or anyone else who has material nonpublic information about the Partnership Group. Insiders have independent duties to the Partnership and its unitholders not to trade on material nonpublic information relating to the Partnership's securities. Insiders may not trade in the Partnership's securities while in possession of material nonpublic information relating to the Partnership's not trade in the Partnership's protection or anyone outside the Partnership Group (except in accordance with the Partnership's policies regarding the protection or authorized external disclosure of Partnership Group information) or to anyone within the Partnership Group other than on a "need-to-know" basis.

As someone subject to this Policy, you are responsible for ensuring that members of your household also comply with this Policy. This includes family members residing with you, anyone else living in your household, and any family members not living with you whose transactions in the Partnership's securities are directed by you, or subject to your influence and control. This Policy also applies to any entities you control, including any corporations, partnerships, or trusts, and transactions by these entities should be treated for the purposes of this Policy and applicable securities laws as if they were for your own account.



D. Trading by Persons Other Than Insiders

Insiders may be liable for communicating or tipping material nonpublic information to a third party (<u>tippee</u>"), and insider trading violations are not limited to trading or tipping by insiders. Persons other than insiders can also be liable for insider trading, including tippees who trade on material nonpublic information tipped to them or individuals who trade on material nonpublic information that has been misappropriated. Insiders may be held liable for tipping even if they receive no personal benefit from tipping and even if no close personal relationship exists between them and the tippee.

Tippees inherit an insider's duties and are liable for trading on material nonpublic information illegally tipped to them by an insider. Similarly, just as insiders are liable for the insider trading of their tippees, so are tippees who pass the information along to others who trade. In other words, a tippee's liability for insider trading is no different from that of an insider. Tippees can obtain material nonpublic information by receiving overt tips from others or through, among other things, conversations at social, business, or other gatherings.

E. Penalties for Engaging in Insider Trading

Penalties for trading on or tipping material nonpublic information can extend significantly beyond any profits made or losses avoided, both for individuals engaging in such unlawful conduct and their employers. The SEC and Department of Justice have made the civil and criminal prosecution of insider trading violations a top priority. Enforcement remedies available to the government or private plaintiffs under the federal securities laws include:

- SEC administrative sanctions;
- securities industry self-regulatory organization sanctions;
- civil injunctions;

I

- damage awards to private plaintiffs;
- disgorgement of all profits;
- civil fines for the violator of up to three times the amount of profit gained or loss avoided;
- civil fines for the employer or other controlling person of a violator (i.e., where the violator is an employee or other controlled person) of up to the greater of \$1.425 million or three times the amount of profit gained or loss avoided by the violator;
- criminal fines for individual violators of up to \$5 million (\$25 million for an entity); and
- jail sentences of up to 20 years.

In addition, insider trading could result in serious sanctions by the Partnership Group, including dismissal. Insider trading violations are not limited to violations of the federal



securities laws. Other federal and state civil or criminal laws, such as the laws prohibiting mail and wire fraud and the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act (RICO), may also be violated in connection with insider trading.

F. Size of Transaction and Reason for Transaction Do Not Matter

The size of the transaction or the amount of profit received does not have to be significant to result in prosecution. The SEC has the ability to monitor even the smallest trades, and the SEC performs routine market surveillance. Brokers or dealers are required by law to inform the SEC of any possible violations by people who may have material nonpublic information. The SEC aggressively investigates even small insider trading violations.

G. Examples of Insider Trading

Examples of insider trading cases include actions brought against officers, directors, and employees who traded in the Partnership's securities after learning of significant confidential corporate developments; friends, business associates, family members, and other tippees of such officers, directors, and employees who traded in the securities after receiving such information; government employees who learned of such information in the course of their employment; and other persons who misappropriated, and took advantage of, confidential information from their employers.

The following are illustrations of insider trading violations. These illustrations are hypothetical and, consequently, not intended to reflect on the actual activities or business of the Partnership Group or any other entity.

Trading by Insider

An officer of X Corporation learns that earnings to be reported by X Corporation will increase dramatically. Prior to the public announcement of such earnings, the officer purchases X Corporation's shares. The officer, an insider, is liable for all profits as well as penalties of up to three times the amount of all profits. The officer is also subject to, among other things, criminal prosecution, including up to \$5 million in additional fines and 20 years in jail. Depending upon the circumstances, X Corporation and the individual to whom the officer reports could also be liable as controlling persons.

Trading by Tippee

T

An officer of X Corporation tells a friend that X Corporation is about to publicly announce that it has concluded an agreement for a major acquisition. This tip causes the friend to purchase X Corporation's shares in advance of the announcement. The officer is jointly liable with his friend for all of the friend's profits, and each is liable for all civil penalties of up to three times the amount of the friend's profits. The officer and his friend are also subject to criminal prosecution and other remedies and sanctions, as described above.



H. Prohibition of Records Falsification and False Statements

Section 13(b)(2) of the 1934 Act requires companies subject to the 1934 Act to maintain proper internal books and records and to devise and maintain an adequate system of internal accounting controls. The SEC has supplemented the statutory requirements by adopting rules that prohibit (i) any person from falsifying records or accounts subject to the above requirements, and (ii) officers or directors from making any materially false, misleading, or incomplete statement to any accountant in connection with any audit or filing with the SEC. These provisions reflect the SEC's intent to discourage officers, directors, and other persons with access to the Partnership's books and records from taking action that might result in the communication of materially misleading financial information to the investing public. Falsifying records or accounts or making materially false, misleading, or incomplete statements in connection with an audit or filing with the SEC could also result in criminal penalties for obstruction of justice.

III. Statement of Procedures to Prevent Insider Trading

The following procedures have been established, and will be maintained and enforced, by the Partnership Group to prevent insider trading.

A. Blackout Periods

The period during which the Partnership prepares quarterly financials is a sensitive time for insider trading purposes, as Partnership Group personnel may be more likely to possess, or be presumed to possess, material nonpublic information. To avoid the appearance of impropriety and assist Partnership Group personnel in planning transactions in the Partnership's securities for appropriate times, no officer, director, or employee shall purchase or sell any security of the Partnership during the period beginning on the last day of any fiscal quarter of the Partnership and ending upon completion of the second full trading day after the public release of earnings data for such fiscal quarter, or during any other trading suspension period declared by the Partnership, except for:

- purchases of the Partnership's securities from the Partnership or sales of the Partnership's securities to the Partnership;
- exercises of unit options or other equity awards, the surrender of units to the Partnership in payment of the exercise price or in satisfaction of any tax withholding obligations in a manner permitted by the applicable equity award agreement, or the vesting of equity-based awards that do not involve a market sale of the Partnership's securities (the cashless exercise of Partnership unit options through a broker *does* involve a market sale of the Partnership's securities, and therefore would not qualify under this exception); and
- purchases or sales of the Partnership's securities made pursuant to any binding contract, specific instruction, or written plan entered into while the purchaser or seller, as applicable, was unaware of any material nonpublic information and which contract, instruction, or plan (i) meets all requirements of the affirmative defense provided by Rule 10b5-1, (ii) was precleared in advance pursuant to this Policy, and (iii) has not been amended or modified in any respect after such

initial preclearance without such amendment or modification being precleared in advance pursuant to this Policy. For more information about Rule 10b5-1 trading plans, see Section V below.

Exceptions to the blackout period policy may be approved only by the Compliance Officer or, in the case of exceptions for directors, the Board of Directors or Audit Committee of the Board of Directors.

From time to time, events will occur that are material to the Partnership Group and cause certain officers, directors, or employees to be in possession of material nonpublic information. When that happens, the Partnership, through the Board of Directors or the Compliance Officer, will recommend that those in possession of the material nonpublic information suspend all trading in the Partnership's securities until the information is no longer material or has been publicly disclosed.

When such event-specific blackout periods occur, those subject to it will be notified by the Partnership. The event-specific blackout period will not be announced to those not subject to it, and those subject to it or otherwise aware of it should not disclose it to others.

Even if the Partnership has not notified you that you are subject to an event-specific blackout period, if you are aware of material nonpublic information about the Partnership Group, you should not trade in Partnership securities. Any failure by the Partnership to designate you as subject to an event-specific blackout period, or to notify you of such designation, does not relieve you of your obligation not to trade in the Partnership's securities while possessing material nonpublic information.

No officer, director, or employee shall directly or indirectly communicate (or <u>tip</u>") material nonpublic information to anyone outside the Partnership Group (except in accordance with the Partnership's policies regarding the protection or authorized external disclosure of Partnership information) or to anyone within the Partnership Group other than on a "need-to-know" basis.

B. Preclearance of All Trades and Purchases of the Partnership's Securities on Margin by Officers, Directors and Certain Covered Employees

To provide assistance in preventing inadvertent violations of applicable securities laws and to avoid the appearance of impropriety in connection with the purchase and sale of the Partnership's securities, all transactions in the Partnership's securities (including, without limitation, acquisitions and dispositions of Partnership units, the exercise of unit options, elective transactions under 401(k)/ESPP/deferred compensation plans, and the sale of Partnership units issued upon exercise of unit options) by officers, directors, and certain other employees designated from time to time by the Compliance Officer (each, a "<u>Covered Person</u>") must be precleared by the Compliance Officer, except for certain exempt transactions as explained in Section V of this Policy.

Purchasing on the margin means borrowing from a brokerage firm, bank, or other entity in order to purchase the Partnership's securities (other than in connection with a cashless

viii

Т

exercise of the Partnership's unit options under the Partnership's equity plans). Margin purchases of the Partnership's securities by any Covered Person must be precleared by the Compliance Officer. Pledging the Partnership's securities as collateral to secure loans must also be precleared by the Compliance Officer. This preclearance requirement means, among other things, that you cannot hold the Partnership's securities in a "margin account" (which would allow you to borrow against your holdings to buy securities) without being precleared by the Compliance Officer.

Preclearance does not relieve you of your responsibility under SEC rules. A request for preclearance may be oral or in writing (including by e-mail), should be made at least two business days in advance of the proposed transaction, and should include the identity of the Covered Person, the type of proposed transaction (for example, an open market purchase, a privately negotiated sale, an option exercise, etc.), the proposed date of the transaction, and the number of units or other securities to be involved. In addition, the Covered Person must execute a certification (in the form approved by the Compliance Officer) that he or she is not aware of material nonpublic information about the Partnership Group. The Compliance Officer shall have sole discretion to decide whether to clear any contemplated transaction. (The General Partner's Chief Executive Officer shall have sole discretion to decide whether to clear transactions by the Compliance Officer or persons or entities subject to this policy as a result of their relationship with the Compliance Officer.) All trades and margin purchases that are precleared must be effected within five business days of receipt of the preclearance, unless a specific exception has been granted by the Compliance Officer. A precleared trade or margin purchase (or any portion of a precleared trade or margin purchase) that has not been effected during the five business day period must be precleared again prior to execution. Notwithstanding receipt of preclearance, if the Covered Person becomes aware of material nonpublic information or becomes subject to a blackout period before the transaction is effected, the transaction may not be completed.

None of the Partnership, the Compliance Officer, or the Partnership's other employees will have any liability for any delay in reviewing, or refusal of, a request for preclearance submitted pursuant to this Section III.B. Notwithstanding any preclearance of a transaction pursuant to this Section III.B, none of the Partnership Group, the Compliance Officer, or the Partnership Group's other employees assumes any liability for the legality or consequences of such transaction to the person engaging in such transaction.

C. Post-Termination Transactions

Laws prohibiting insider trading continue to apply to transactions in the Partnership's securities even after your termination of service to the Partnership Group. If you are in possession of material nonpublic information when your service to the Partnership Group terminates, you may not trade in the Partnership's securities until that information has become public or is no longer material.

ix

D. Information Relating to the Partnership Group

1. Access to Information

Access to material nonpublic information about the Partnership Group, including the Partnership's business, earnings, or prospects, should be limited to officers, directors, and employees of the Partnership Group on a "need-to-know" basis. In addition, such information should not be communicated to anyone outside the Partnership Group under any circumstances (except in accordance with the Partnership's policies regarding the protection or authorized external disclosure of Partnership Group information) or to anyone within the Partnership Group on an other than "need-to-know" basis.

In communicating material nonpublic information to employees of the Partnership Group, all officers, directors, and employees must take care to emphasize the need for confidential treatment of such information and adherence to the Partnership's policies with regard to confidential information.

2. Inquiries From Third Parties

Inquiries from third parties, such as industry analysts or members of the media, about the Partnership Group should be directed to the Partnership Group's CFO at bclum@txopartners.com.

E. Limitations on Access to Partnership Group Information

The following procedures are designed to maintain confidentiality with respect to the Partnership Group's business operations and activities.

All officers, directors, and employees should take all steps and precautions necessary to restrict access to, and secure, material nonpublic information by, among other things:

- maintaining the confidentiality of Partnership Group-related transactions;
- conducting their business and social activities so as not to risk inadvertent disclosure of confidential information. Review of confidential documents in public places should be conducted so as to prevent access by unauthorized persons;
- restricting access to documents and files (including computer files) containing material nonpublic information to individuals on a "need-to-know" basis (including maintaining control over the distribution of documents and drafts of documents);
- promptly removing and cleaning up all confidential documents and other materials from conference rooms following the conclusion of any meetings;
- disposing of all confidential documents and other papers once there is no longer any business or other legally required need, through shredders when appropriate;



- restricting access to areas likely to contain confidential documents or material nonpublic information;
- safeguarding laptop computers, tablets, memory sticks, CDs, and other items that contain confidential information; and
- avoiding the discussion of material nonpublic information in places where the information could be overheard by others, such as in elevators, restrooms, hallways, restaurants, airplanes, or taxicabs.

Personnel involved with material nonpublic information, to the extent feasible, should conduct their business and activities in areas separate from other Partnership Group activities.

IV. Additional Prohibited Transactions

The Partnership has determined that there is a heightened legal risk and/or the appearance of improper or inappropriate conduct if the persons subject to this Policy engage in certain types of transactions. Therefore, officers, directors, and employees shall comply with the following policies with respect to certain transactions in the Partnership securities:

A. Short Sales

Short sales of the Partnership's securities evidence an expectation on the part of the seller that the securities will decline in value, and therefore signal to the market that the seller has no confidence in the Partnership or its short-term prospects. In addition, short sales may reduce the seller's incentive to improve the Partnership's performance. For these reasons, short sales of the Partnership's securities are prohibited by this Policy. In addition, as noted below, Section 16(c) of the 1934 Act absolutely prohibits Section 16 reporting persons from making short sales of the Partnership's equity securities, i.e., sales of units that the insider does not own at the time of sale, or sales of units against which the insider does not deliver the units within 20 days after the sale.

B. Publicly Traded Options

A transaction in options is, in effect, a bet on the short-term movement of the Partnership's units and therefore creates the appearance that an officer, director, or employee is trading based on material nonpublic information. Transactions in options may also focus an officer's, director's, or employee's attention on short-term performance at the expense of the Partnership's long-term objectives. Accordingly, transactions in puts, calls, or other derivative securities involving the Partnership's equity securities, on an exchange or in any other organized market, are prohibited by this Policy.

C. Hedging Transactions

Certain forms of hedging or monetization transactions, such as zero-cost collars and forward sale contracts, allow an officer, director, or employee to lock in much of the value of his or her unit holdings, often in exchange for all or part of the potential for upside appreciation in the units. Such transactions allow the officer, director, or employee to continue to own the



covered securities, but without the full risks and rewards of ownership. When that occurs, the officer, director, or employee may no longer have the same objectives as the Partnership's other unitholders. Therefore, such transactions involving the Partnership's equity securities are prohibited by this Policy.

D. Director and Executive Officer Cashless Exercises

The Partnership will not arrange with brokers to administer cashless exercises on behalf of directors and executive officers of the Partnership. Directors and executive officers of the Partnership Group may use the cashless exercise feature of their equity awards only if (i) the director or officer retains a broker independently of the Partnership, (ii) the Partnership's involvement is limited to confirming that it will deliver the unit promptly upon payment of the exercise price, and (iii) the director or officer uses a cashless exercise arrangement, in which the Partnership agrees to deliver units against the payment of the purchase price on the same day the sale of the units underlying the equity award settles. Under a cashless exercise, a broker, the issuer, and the issuer's transfer agent work together to make all transactions settle simultaneously. This approach is to avoid any inference that the Partnership has "extended credit" in the form of a personal loan to the director or executive officer. Questions about cashless exercises should be directed to the Compliance Officer.

E. Partnership Distributions

Nothing in this Policy is intended to limit the ability of a venture capital partnership or other similar entity with which a director is affiliated to distribute Partnership securities to its partners, members, or other similar persons. It is the responsibility of each affected director and the affiliated entity, in consultation with their own counsel (as appropriate), to determine the timing of any distributions, based on all relevant facts and circumstances and applicable securities laws.

V. Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plans, Section 16, and Rule 144

A. Rule 10b5-1 Trading Plans

T

The trading restrictions set forth herein do not apply to transactions under a previously established contract, plan, or instruction to trade in the Partnership's units in accordance with the terms of Rule 10b5-1 and all applicable state laws (a "<u>Trading</u> <u>Plan</u>") that:

has been submitted to and preapproved by the Compliance Officer, or such other person as the Board of Directors may designate from time to time (the "<u>Authorizing Officer</u>"), (i) at least 30 days before the commencement of any transactions under the Trading Plan if you are an employee or other controlled person other than a director or officer and (ii) if you are a director or officer, the later of 90 days after the adoption or modification of such Trading Plan and two business days after the filing of a Form 10-Q or Form 10-K that covers the fiscal quarter in which such Trading Plan was adopted up to a maximum of 120 days after the adoption or modification of such Trading Plan;

- you adopted (i) in good faith and not as part of a plan or scheme to evade the prohibitions of Rule 10b-5 and (ii) at a time when you were not aware of material nonpublic information about the Partnership Group or the Partnership's securities; and
- either (i) specifies the amounts, prices, and dates of all security transactions under the Trading Plan, (ii) provides a written formula, algorithm, or computer program for determining the amount, price, and date of the transactions, or (iii) prohibits you from exercising any subsequent influence over the transactions.

You may adopt only one Trading Plan at a time; provided, however, that you may adopt Trading Plans that authorize sellto-cover transactions to satisfy tax withholding obligations incident to the vesting of equity awards even where another Trading Plan is in place so long as you (i) authorize an agent to sell only the securities necessary to satisfy such tax withholding obligations and (ii) do not otherwise control the timing of such sales. You may only amend or revoke a Trading Plan outside of quarterly trading blackout periods when you do not possess material nonpublic information. Any amendment or revocation of a Trading Plan must be preapproved by the Authorizing Officer at least 30 days before you trade under an amended or outside of a revoked Trading Plan, and at least 180 days before you establish a new Trading Plan.

The Partnership reserves the right to publicly announce, or respond to inquiries from the media regarding, the implementation of Trading Plans or the execution of transactions made under a Trading Plan. The Partnership also reserves the right from time to time to suspend, discontinue, or otherwise prohibit transactions under a Trading Plan if the Authorizing Officer or the Board of Directors, in its discretion, determines that such suspension, discontinuation, or other prohibition is in the best interests of the Partnership.

The cashless exercise of options under Trading Plans is permitted only through <u>"same-day sales</u>," in which the option holder does not pay for the units up front, but rather receives cash equal to the difference between the unit value and option exercise price. Transactions prohibited under Section IV of this Policy, including short sales and hedging transactions, may not be carried out through a Trading Plan.

Compliance of a Trading Plan with the terms of Rule 10b5-1 and the execution of transactions pursuant to the Trading Plan are the sole responsibility of the person initiating the Trading Plan, and none of the Partnership, the Authorizing Officer, or the Partnership's other employees assume any liability for any delay in reviewing and/or refusing a Trading Plan submitted for approval nor the legality or consequences relating to a person entering into or trading under a Trading Plan.

Trading Plans do not exempt you from complying with Section 16 short-swing profit rules or liability.

As long as a Trading Plan is in place, any trades during an open trading window must follow the terms of such Trading Plan.

xiii

B. Section 16: Insider Reporting Requirements, Short-Swing Profits, and Short Sales (Applicable to Executive Officers, Directors, and 10% Unitholders)

1. Reporting Obligations Under Section 16(a): SEC Forms 3, 4, and 5

Section 16(a) of the 1934 Act generally requires all executive officers, directors, and 10% unitholders (Section 16 Insiders"), within 10 days after becoming a Section 16 Insider, to file with the SEC an "Initial Statement of Beneficial Ownership of Securities" on SEC Form 3, listing the amount of the Partnership's units, options, and warrants that the Section 16 Insider beneficially owns. Following the initial filing on SEC Form 3, changes in beneficial ownership of the Partnership's units, options, and warrants must be reported on SEC Form 4, generally within two days after the date on which such change occurs, or in certain cases on Form 5, within 45 days after fiscal year-end. The two-day Form 4 deadline begins to run from the trade date rather than the settlement date. A Form 4 must be filed even if, as a result of balancing transactions, there has been no net change in holdings. In certain situations, purchases or sales of Partnership units made within six months *prior* to the filing of a Form 3 must be reported on Form 4. Similarly, certain purchases or sales of Partnership units made within six months *after* an officer or director ceases to be a Section 16 Insider must be reported on Form 4.

2. Recovery of Profits Under Section 16(b)

For the purpose of preventing the unfair use of information that may have been obtained by a Section 16 Insider, any profits realized by a Section 16 Insider from any "purchase" and "sale" of Partnership units during a six-month period, so called "short-swing profits," may be recovered by the Partnership. When such a purchase and sale occurs, good faith is no defense. The insider is liable, even if compelled to sell for personal reasons, and even if the sale takes place after full disclosure and without the use of any material nonpublic information.

The Section 16 Insider under Section 16(b) of the 1934 Act is only to the Partnership itself. The Partnership, however, cannot waive its right to short swing profits, and any Partnership unitholder can bring suit in the name of the Partnership. Reports of ownership filed with the SEC on Form 3, Form 4, or Form 5 pursuant to Section 16(a) (discussed above) are readily available to the public, and certain attorneys carefully monitor these reports for potential Section 16(b) violations. In addition, liabilities under Section 16(b) may require separate disclosure in the Partnership's annual report to the SEC on Form 10-K. No suit may be brought more than two years after the date the profit was realized. However, if the Section 16 Insider fails to file a report of the transaction under Section 16(a), as required, the two-year limitation period does not begin to run until after the transactions giving rise to the profit have been disclosed. Failure to report transactions and late filing of reports require separate disclosure in the Partnership's annual report on Form 10-K.

Section 16 Insiders should consult the Compliance Officer prior to engaging in any transactions involving the Partnership's securities, including, without limitation, the Partnership's units, options, or warrants.

xiv

3. Short Sales Prohibited Under Section 16(c)

Section 16(c) of the 1934 Act absolutely prohibits Section 16 Insiders from making short sales of the Partnership's equity securities. Short sales include sales of units that the Section 16 Insider does not own at the time of sale, or sales of units against which the Section 16 Insider does not deliver the units within 20 days after the sale. Under certain circumstances, the purchase or sale of put or call options, or the writing of such options, can result in a violation of Section 16(c). Section 16 Insiders violating Section 16(c) face criminal liability.

You should consult the Compliance Officer if you have any questions regarding reporting obligations, short-swing profits or short sales under Section 16.

C. Rule 144 (Applicable to Section 16 Insiders)

Rule 144 provides a safe harbor exemption to the registration requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, for certain resales of "restricted securities" and "control securities." "<u>Restricted securities</u>" are securities acquired from an issuer, or an affiliate of an issuer, in a transaction, or chain of transactions, not involving a public offering. "<u>Control securities</u>" are *any* securities owned by directors, executive officers, or other "<u>affiliates</u>" of the issuer, including units purchased in the open market and units received upon exercise of unit options. Unregistered sales of Partnership securities by affiliates (generally, Section 16 Insiders of the Partnership) must comply with the requirements of Rule 144, which are summarized below:

- **Current Public Information.** The Partnership must have filed all SEC-required reports during the last 12 months.
- **Volume Limitations.** Total sales of Partnership common units by a covered individual for any three-month period may not exceed the *greater* of: (i) 1% of the total number of outstanding Partnership common units, as reflected in the most recent report or statement published by the Partnership, or (ii) the average weekly reported volume of such units traded during the four calendar weeks preceding the filing of the requisite Form 144.
- Method of Sale. The units must be sold either in a "broker's transaction" or in a transaction directly with a "market maker." A "broker's transaction" is one in which the broker does no more than execute the sale order and receive the usual and customary commission. Neither the broker nor the selling person can solicit or arrange for the sale order. In addition, the selling person or member of the Board of Directors must not pay any fee or commission other than to the broker. A "market maker" includes a specialist permitted to act as a dealer, a dealer acting in the position of a block positioner, and a dealer who holds himself out as being willing to buy and sell Partnership common units for his own account on a regular and continuous basis.
- **Notice of Proposed Sale.** A notice of the sale (a Form 144) must be filed with the SEC at the time of the sale. Brokers generally have internal procedures for executing sales under Rule 144, and will assist you in completing the Form 144 and in complying with the other requirements of Rule 144.

If you are subject to Rule 144, you must instruct your broker who handles trades in Partnership securities to follow the brokerage firm's Rule 144 compliance procedures in connection with all trades.

VI. <u>Certification of Compliance</u>

T

All Covered Persons may be asked periodically to certify their compliance with the terms and provisions of the Policy.

Exhibit 21.1

List of Subsidiaries of TXO Partners, L.P.

Legal Name CT Field Services, LLC MorningStar Operating LLC Jurisdiction of Incorporation or Organization Delaware Delaware

CAWLEY, GILLESPIE & ASSOCIATES, INC.

6500 RIVER PLACE BLVD, SUITE 3-200 AUSTIN, TEXAS 78730-1111 512-249-7000 PETROLEUM CONSULTANTS

306 WEST SEVENTH STREET, SUITE 302 FORT WORTH, TEXAS 76102-4987 817- 336-2461 www.cgaus.com 1000 LOUISIANA STREET, SUITE 1900 HOUSTON, TEXAS 77002-5008 713-651-9944

As independent petroleum engineers, we hereby consent to the inclusion in TXO Partners, L.P.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K, of our reserves reports of TXO Partners, L.P. proved oil and natural gas reserves estimates and associated estimates of future net revenues and their present value as of December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, included in or made a part of the Annual Report on Form 10-K, to the inclusion of its summary report dated January 15, 2025, January 19, 2024 and February 17, 2023, respectively, as exhibits to the Annual Report on Form 10-K.

CAWLEY, GILLESPIE & ASSOCIATES, INC. Texas Registered Engineering Firm

W. lodd Bask

W. Todd Brooker, P.E. President

Austin, Texas March 4, 2025 KPMG LLP 201 Main Street Suite 2200 Fort Worth, TX 76102

Exhibit 23.2

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statements (Nos. 333-277671 and 333-281885) on Form S-3 and in the registration statement (No. 333-271045) on Form S-8 of our report dated March 4, 2025, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of TXO Partners, L.P.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Fort Worth, Texas March 4, 2025 I, Bob R. Simpson, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of TXO Partners, L.P.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

|US-DOCS\141341123.1||

Date: March 4, 2025

s/ Bob R. Simpson

Chief Executive Officer

TXO Partners GP, LLC, its general partner

|US-DOCS\141341123.1||

I, Brent W. Clum, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of TXO Partners, L.P.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 4, 2025

s/ Brent W. Clum

President of Business Operations and Chief Financial Officer

TXO Partners GP, LLC, its general partner

|US-DOCS\141342751.1||

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as created by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the undersigned officer of TXO Partners, L.P. (the "*Partnership*") hereby certifies, to such officer's knowledge, that:

(i) the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Partnership for the annual period ended December 31, 2024 (the "*Report*") fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(ii) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Partnership.

Dated: March 4, 2025

<u>s/ Bob R. Simpson</u> Bob R. Simpson Chief Executive Officer TXO Partners GP, LLC, its general partner

The foregoing certification is being furnished solely to accompany the Report pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, and is not being filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and is not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of the Partnership, whether made before or after the date hereof, regardless of any general incorporation language in such filing.

US-DOCS\141340910.1||

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as created by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the undersigned officer of TXO Partners, L.P. (the "*Partnership*") hereby certifies, to such officer's knowledge, that:

(i) the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Partnership for the annual period ended December 31, 2024 (the "*Report*") fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(ii) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Partnership.

Dated: March 4, 2025

s/ Brent W. Clum Brent W. Clum

President of Business Operations and Chief Financial Officer TXO Partners GP, LLC, its general partner

The foregoing certification is being furnished solely to accompany the Report pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, and is not being filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and is not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of the Partnership, whether made before or after the date hereof, regardless of any general incorporation language in such filing.

|US-DOCS\141341017.1||

Cawley, Gillespie & Associates, Inc.

petroleum consultants

6500 RIVER PLACE BLVD, SUITE 3-200 306 WEST SEVENTH STREET, SUITE 302 1000 LOUISIANA STREET, SUITE 1900 AUSTIN, TEXAS 78730-111 FORT WORTH, TEXAS 76102-4987 HOUSTON, TEXAS 77002-5008 512-249-7000 817- 336-2461 713-651-9944 www.gaus.com

January 15, 2025

Mr. Brent Clum Chief Financial Officer MorningStar Partners LP 400 West Seventh Street Fort Worth, TX 76102

Re: Reserve Evaluation – SEC Pricing *TXO Energy Partners, L.P. Interests* Total Proved Reserves As of December 31, 2024

Pursuant to the Guidelines of the Securities and Exchange Commission for Reporting Corporate Reserves and <u>Future Net Revenue</u>

Dear Mr. Clum:

(1) Operating expense includes but is not limited to, direct operating costs, maintenance, well service, compressor service, tubing/pump

repair, compression fees, gathering expenses, transportation costs and water disposal costs

(2) Future development costs include but is not limited to, re-completion costs, future drilling costs, newlift installations and pumping units

As requested, this report was filings made with the *Securities and*

prepared January 15, 2025 for TXO Energy Partners, L.P. ("TXO") for the purpose of public disclosure by TXO in filings made with the *Securities and Exchange Commission* ("SEC") in accordance with the disclosure requirements set forth in the SEC regulations. We evaluated 100% of TXO reserves, which are made up of oil and gas properties in various states. This report utilized an effective date of December 31, 2024, was prepared using constant prices and costs, and conforms to Item 1202(a)(8) of Regulation S-K and other rules of the SEC. The results of this evaluation are presented in the accompanying tabulation, with a composite summary of the values presented below:

| | | Proved Developed Producing | Proved Developed Non-Producing | Proved Developed | Proved Undeveloped | Total Proved |
|------------------|--------|----------------------------------|--------------------------------------|---------------------|-----------------------|-----------------|
| Net Reserves | - | | | | T | |
| Oil | – Mbbl | 36,725 | 1,169 | 37,895 | 9,297 | 47,192 |
| Gas | - MMcf | 195,623 | 391 | 196,014 | 1,022 | 197,036 |
| NGL | – Mbbl | 13,115 | 80 | 13,195 | 599 | 13,794 |
| Revenue | | | | | | |
| Oil | – M\$ | 2,705,659 | 86,453 | 2,792,112 | 687,527 | 3,479,639 |
| Gas | – M\$ | 223,067 | 161 | 223,229 | 474 | 223,702 |
| NGL | – M\$ | 234,541 | 1,081 | 235,622 | 8,477 | 244,099 |
| Other | – M\$ | 244,195 | 0 | 244,195 | 0 | 244,195 |
| Net Profits Paid | - M\$ | 4,531 | 0 | 4,531 | 0 | 4,531 |
| Severance Taxes | - M\$ | 222,238 | 4,473 | 226,711 | 46,992 | 273,703 |

| Ad Valorem Taxes | - M\$ | 43,154 | 2,238 | 45,392 | 11,127 | 56,518 |
|-----------------------------|-------|-----------|--------|-----------|---------|-----------|
| Operating Expenses | - M\$ | 1,613,155 | 21,147 | 1,634,302 | 112,946 | 1,747,248 |
| Investments | - M\$ | 0 | 4,423 | 4,423 | 52,875 | 57,298 |
| Net Operating Income (BFIT) | - M\$ | 1,524,384 | 55,414 | 1,579,798 | 472,539 | 2,052,337 |
| Discounted at 10% | – M\$ | 849,479 | 29,553 | 879,032 | 153,444 | 1,032,476 |

Future revenue is prior to deducting state production taxes and ad valorem taxes. Future Net Cash Flow (Net Operating Income – BFIT) is after deducting these taxes, future capital costs and operating expenses, but before consideration of federal income taxes. In accordance with SEC guidelines, the future net cash flow has been discounted at an annual rate of ten (10) percent to determine its "present worth". The present worth is shown to indicate the effect of time on the value of money and should not be construed as being the fair market value of the properties by Cawley, Gillespie & Associates, Inc. ("CG&A").

The oil reserves include oil and condensate. Oil and natural gas liquid ("NGL") volumes are expressed in barrels (42 U.S. gallons). Gas volumes are expressed in thousands of standard cubic feet (Mcf) at contract temperature and pressure base. Our estimates are for proved reserves only and do not include any probable or possible reserves nor have any values been attributed to interest in acreage beyond the location for which undeveloped reserves have been estimated.

Hydrocarbon Pricing

The base SEC oil and gas prices calculated for December 31, 2024 were \$75.48/bbl and \$2.130/MMBTU, respectively. As specified by the SEC, a company must use a 12-month average price, calculated as the unweighted arithmetic average of the first-day-of-the-month price for each month within the 12-month period prior to the end of the reporting period. The base oil price is based upon WTI-Cushing spot prices (EIA) during 2024 and the base gas price is based upon Henry Hub spot prices (Platts Gas Daily) during 2024. Furthermore, NGL prices were adjusted on a per-property basis and averaged 22.8% of the net oil price on a composite basis.

The base prices shown above were adjusted for differentials on a per-property basis, which may include local basis differentials, transportation, gas shrinkage, gas heating value (BTU content) and/or crude quality and gravity corrections. After these adjustments, the net realized prices for the SEC price case over the life of the proved properties was estimated to be \$73.734 per barrel for oil, \$1.135 per MCF for gas and \$17.695 per barrel for NGLs. All economic factors were held constant in accordance with SEC guidelines.

Economic Parameters

Ownership was accepted as furnished and has not been independently confirmed. Oil and gas price differentials, gas shrinkage, ad valorem taxes, lease operating expenses (LOE) and future development costs (capital investments) were forecast by TXO by field or by property using the latest historical data available. However, all commercial parameters appear to be reasonable and appropriate based on our review and were held constant (not escalated) throughout the life of the properties in accordance with SEC guidelines.

SEC Conformance and Regulations

The reserve classifications and the economic considerations used herein conform to the criteria of the SEC. The reserves and economics are predicated on regulatory agency classifications, rules, policies, laws, taxes and royalties currently in effect except as noted herein. Government policies and market conditions different from those employed in this report may cause (1) the total quantity of oil or gas to be recovered, (2) actual production rates, (3) prices received, or (4) operating and capital costs to vary from those presented in this report. However, we do not anticipate nor are we aware of any legislative changes or restrictive regulatory actions that may impact the recovery of reserves.

CG&A evaluated 27 PDNP and 34 PUD locations, targeting various reservoirs in various states. Non-producing and undeveloped reserves were assigned based on regional type curves and analogy to recent, modern completions. Furthermore, the development schedule and capital costs for drilling and completion were provided by TXO and accepted as provided. However, our review showed the development plan and related capital to be reasonable and appropriate for this evaluation.

Reserve Estimation Methods

Reserves for proved developed producing wells were estimated using production performance methods for the vast majority of properties. Certain new producing properties with very little production history were forecast using a combination of production performance and analogy to similar production, both of which are considered to provide a relatively high degree of accuracy. All reserve estimates involve an assessment of the uncertainty relating to the likelihood that the actual remaining quantities recovered will be greater or less than the estimated quantities determined as of the date the estimate is made. The uncertainty depends mainly on the amount of the reliable geologic and engineering data available at the time of the estimate and the interpretation of such data, as well as the inherent uncertainty may be conveyed by placing reserves into one of two principal classifications, either proved or unproved. Unproved reserves are less certain to be recovered than proved reserves and may be further sub-classified as probable and possible reserves to denote progressively increasing uncertainty in their recoverability. This report addresses only the proved reserves attributable to the properties evaluated herein.

Non-producing reserve estimates, for both developed and undeveloped properties, were forecast using either volumetric or analogy methods, or a combination of both. These methods provide a relatively high degree of accuracy for predicting proved developed non-producing and proved undeveloped reserves. The assumptions, data, methods and procedures used herein are appropriate for the purpose served by this report.

General Discussion

An on-site field inspection of the properties has not been performed. The mechanical operation or condition of the wells and their related facilities have <u>not</u> been examined nor have the wells been tested by CG&A. Possible environmental liability related to the properties has not been investigated nor considered. The cost of plugging and the salvage value of equipment at abandonment have not been included as directed.

The estimates and forecasts were based upon interpretations of data furnished by your office and available from our files. To some extent information from public records has been used to check and/or supplement these data. The basic engineering and geological data were subject to third party reservations and qualifications. Nothing has come to our attention, however, that would cause us to believe that we are not justified in relying on such data. All estimates represent our best judgment based on the data available at the time of preparation. Due to inherent uncertainties in future production rates, commodity prices and geologic conditions, it should be realized that the reserve estimates, the reserves actually recovered, the revenue derived therefrom and the actual cost incurred could be more or less than the estimated amounts.

Cawley, Gillespie & Associates, Inc. is a Texas Registered Engineering Firm (F-693), made up of independent registered professional engineers and geologists that have provided petroleum consulting services to the oil and gas industry for over 60 years. The lead evaluator preparing this report was W. Todd Brooker, P.E., President at Cawley, Gillespie & Associates, Inc. and a State of Texas Licensed Professional Engineer (License #83462). We do not own an interest in the properties or TXO Energy Partners, L.P. and are not employed on a contingent basis. We have used all methods and procedures that we consider necessary under the circumstances to prepare this report. Our work-papers and related data utilized in the preparation of these estimates are available in our office.

The professional qualifications of the undersigned, the technical person primarily responsible for the preparation of this report, are included as an attachment to this letter. This letter is for the use of TXO Energy Partners, L.P. This letter should not be used, circulated, or quoted for any other purpose without the express written consent of Cawley, Gillespie & Associates, Inc. or except as required by law.

Sincerely,

CAWLEY, GILLESPIE & ASSOCIATES, INC.

D. Lodd Bask



Texas Registered Engineering Firm F-693

W. Todd Brooker, P.E. President

TXO Energy Partners, L.P. Interests Reserve Evaluation – SEC Pricing January 15, 2025 Page 5

Kellie D. Jordan

Kellie Jordan Senior Engineer